Retinoic Acid Signaling in Late Vestibular Development of the Inner Ear and Techniques for Visualizing the Zebrafish Inner Ear

by

Kacey Mackowetzky

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

In

Molecular Biology and Genetics

Department of Biological Sciences University of Alberta

© Kacey Mackowetzky, 2021

Abstract

The vertebrate inner ear is a labyrinthine sensory organ responsible for perceiving sound and body motion. A wide range of disorders of the inner ear can arise from congenital disorders, necessitating the identification of molecular components or pathways involved in its development to better understand the causative factors behind inner ear dysfunction. However, while a considerable amount work has been invested in understanding the auditory system, there is a dearth of knowledge concerning the complex developmental programme behind the apparatuses of the inner ear responsible for vestibular function. This applies particularly to our understanding of the diverse roles independent genes or pathways play at later stages of otic development, an area of research that also suffers from a lack of biological tools that can be utilized to analyze inner ear structure and function.

Previous research has identified key cell signaling pathways involved with inner ear development. However, the early disruption of these pathways often produces profound phenotypes that obscure or hinder the manifestation of those that might appear later, complicating our analysis of their roles in late otic development. This applies to the Retinoic Acid (RA) signaling pathway, the disruption of which can generate robust disease phenotypes that preclude the analysis of its involvement in the later development of key vestibular structures. Therefore, using zebrafish as a model organism, we observed for changes to inner ear morphogenesis following late exposure to an RA agonist or antagonist. In doing so, we identified novel RA-responsive transcriptional targets in the inner ear and defined a role for this pathway in semi-circular canal morphogenesis and otolith maintenance. Our work has identified unique roles for this pathway at later stages of development, signifying that the disease phenotypes observed in human patients or other model

organisms are not solely the result of early disruptions to RA signaling prior to or at the onset of otic development.

In trying to identify biological tools that could be used in the analysis of later stages of inner ear development, we performed a screen of transgenic zebrafish lines at the National Institute of Genetics in Japan. At this institute, the Kawakami laboratory has utilized the Tol2 transposon system to generate various gene or enhancer trap lines expressing a zebrafish-optimized form of yeast Gal4 in various embryonic and larval tissues. Through our screen, we identified six lines with unique otic expression patterns that can be used to drive the expression of a visual reporter or other genetic constructs within the ear. Each line can therefore be used in future research to visualize and measure distinct vestibular features of the inner ear or manipulate target gene expression in these structures.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Kacey Mackowetzky. This study, of which this thesis is a part, has received the necessary research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Animal Policy and Welfare Committee. The author of this thesis has met the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC) mandatory training requirements for animal users on the Care and Use of Animals in Research, Teaching, and Testing.

A portion of Chapter 1 is in revision at the *Journal of Anatomy*:

Mackowetzky, K., Yoon, K. H., Mackowetzky, E., Waskiewicz, A. J., 2021. Development and evolution of the vestibular apparatuses of the inner ear.

Kacey Mackowetzky wrote the main body of this manuscript, the information presented in Table 1, and the figure legends for Figures 1-4. Kevin Yoon drew the illustrations for Figures 2-4 and edited the manuscript. Emily Mackowetzky drew the illustration for Figure 1. Andrew J. Waskiewicz was the supervisory author and edited the manuscript.

In Chapter 3, the equipment and software utilized in the behavioral assay was provided by Dr. Keith Tierney, with Danielle Philibert providing the necessary training. Hayley Todesco and Jainil Doshi contributed to this assay by editing and confirming the larval traces generated by Noldus.

In both Chapter 3 and 4, the enhancer and gene trap GFF transgenic lines were developed by the Kawakami laboratory at the National Institute of Genetics, Japan. They were provided to us following an in-person screen by the author at their facility.

Unless otherwise specified, the data presented in this thesis is the author's original work.

iv

Acknowledgments:

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Andrew Waskiewicz for giving me the opportunity to learn and grow in his lab. Any amount of critical thinking that I've developed in the sciences is due largely in part to your feedback and support. Thank you for allowing me to embark on this incredible journey with my project.

Thank you to my committee members, both old and new, Dr. Heather McDermid, Dr. Keith Tierney, and Dr. Daniel Graf. Your mentorship and feedback have been invaluable to me.

Thank you also to my lab mates. Lyndsay Selland, Sonya Widen, and Paul Chrystal, you have been incredible role models and valuable sources of information in the lab. Melissa Wilson, Renée Dicipulo, Sabrina Fox, and Jens Herzog, you have always been such wonderful friends and true pillars of support. Kevin Yoon, starting grad school with you made this journey a little less scary. Being your labmate and friend these many years has been a true delight.

Thank you, of course, to my family. Mom, thank you for pushing me as hard as you do toward success and supporting me when I'm down. Andrea, Anton, Emily, and Jeremiah, thank you for your continuous love and your belief in my abilities. Aunty Joyce, Uncle Howard, and Allan, the happiness you bring me has carried me through the toughest stretches of my degree. Dad, thank you for your support and your fresh insights on the many places my degree might take me. To all of you, including the newest members of our family, I can never say thank you enough.

Finally, thank you to my many friends who have kept me sane and happy in these trying times. When this pandemic is over and I can see your smiling faces in person again, the first round will be on me.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction 1
1.1 Review of the development and evolution of the vestibular apparatuses of the inner ear 2
1.1.1 Introduction
1.1.2 Anatomy and Function of the Inner Ear Vestibular System
1.1.3 Overview of Development of the Vestibular Structures of Inner Ear
1.1.4 The Otic placode and Formation of the Otic Vesicle
1.1.5 Axial Patterning of Inner Ear
1.1.6 Vestibular Neuronal and Sensorial Development
1.1.7 Semi-circular Canal Development16
1.1.8 Production and maintenance of endolymph18
1.1.9 Otoconia (otolith) formation and tethering
1.1.10 Evolution of the vertebrate inner ear
1.1.11 Concluding remarks
1.2 Zebrafish as a model for inner ear development
1.3 Retinoic acid synthesis in the ear and its signaling pathway
1.4 Summary and Outline of Research Performed
1.5 Tables
1.6. Figures
1.7 References
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods
2.1 Ethics statement
2.2 Animal care and fish lines
2.3 Pharmacological treatments
2.4 Behavioral testing
2.5 Template mRNA extraction
2.6 Template mRNA purification
2.7 Probe synthesis and purification for whole mount mRNA in situ hybridization
2.8 Whole mount mRNA in situ hybridization95
2.9 Immunohistochemistry: Active Caspase
2.10 Immunohistochemistry: Phospho-histone H3

2.11 Dil injections into the inner ear	
2.12 Mounting and imaging embryos	
2.13 Statistical analyses	
2.14 Tables	100
2.15 References	101
Chapter 3: A Late Role for Retinoic Acid Signaling in Inner Ear Morphogenesis	and
Otolith Maintenance	103
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Results	110
3.2.1 Altering Retinoic Acid levels during later stages of inner ear development divestibular function	srupts 110
3.2.2 Perturbations of RA signaling during later stages of otic development impac dimensions and result in malformations of the semi-circular canals	t inner ear 111
3.2.3 Perturbations of RA signaling during later stages of inner ear development d expression of extracellular matrix genes	isrupt the 114
3.2.4 Perturbations of RA signaling during later stages of inner ear development d activity of other signaling pathways	isrupt the 116
3.2.5 Late ablation of RA signaling results in a loss or reduction in the size of otol otic development	iths late in 117
3.3 Discussion	119
3.4 Figures	125
3.5 References	141
Chapter 4: Utilizing the Gal4:UAS system to visualize vestibular features of the v	ertebrate
inner ear	
4.1 Introduction	155
4.2 Results	
4.2.1 Shelf screen analysis	160
4.2.2 nkgsaigff266c	161
4.2.3 nkgsaizgffd262a	
4.2.4 nkgsaizgffm789a	163
4.2.5 nkgsaizgffm1225a	
4.2.6 nkhspgff75a	164
4.2.7 nkhspgffdmc12a	
4.3 Discussion	166

4.4 Tables	
4.5 Figures	
4.6 References	
Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Directions	
5.1. Retinoic acid signaling in later stages of inner ear development	
5.2. The utilization of transgenic lines in the visualization of vestibular structures	
5.3. References	
Compiled references	

List of Tables

Chapter 1:

Table 1.5. 1. Genes associated with vestibular dysfunction in human syndromes or disease phenotypes, as well as their phenotypes in animal disease models 37	
Chapter 2:	
Table 2.14. 1. Plasmid based probes for <i>in situ</i> hybridization. 10	0
Table 2.14. 2. PCR based probes for <i>in situ</i> hybridization	0
Chapter 4:	
Table 4.4. 1. Summary of insertion locus and otic expression patterns (24 hpf – 5 dpf) for Gal4	
lriver transgenic zebrafish generated by the Kawakami laboratory at the National Institute of	
Genetics (NIG), Japan	0

List of Figures

Chapter 1:

Figure 1.6. 1. Schematic illustration of the adult human inner ear, with an emphasis on the	
vestibular apparatuses	. 47
Figure 1.6. 2. Transverse images portraying early inner ear development	. 48
Figure 1.6. 3. Axial patterning regulators of the inner ear	. 49
Figure 1.6. 4. Semi-circular canal morphogenesis	. 50

Chapter 3:

Figure 3.4. 1. Circling behavioral phenotype assay following pharmacological perturbations of
the Retinoic Acid signaling pathway in zebrafish larvae
Figure 3.4. 2. Dimensional alterations and the occurrence of morphological irregularities in
response to pharmacological perturbations of the Retinoic Acid signaling pathway in zebrafish
larvae at 3 and 5 dpf 127
Figure 3.4. 3. Inner ear traces representing the morphological irregularities that occur in response
to pharmacological perturbations of the Retinoic Acid signaling pathway in zebrafish larvae at 3
and 5 dpf 129
Figure 3.4. 4. In situ hybridization analysis of the expression of the extracellular matrix proteins
or regulating enzyme vcana, hapln1a, ugdh, and has3 following pharmacological perturbations
of the Retinoic Acid signaling pathway in zebrafish embryos
Figure 3.4. 5. Otic expression of BMP, WNT, and SHH signaling in and around the otic vesicle
at the onset of semi-circular development at 48 hpf following pharmacological perturbations of
the Retinoic Acid signaling pathway in zebrafish embryos
Figure 3.4. 6. Changes in otolith size and number in response to pharmacological perturbations
of the Retinoic Acid signaling pathway in zebrafish larvae

Supplemental Figure 3.4. 1. In situ hybridization analysis of aldh1a3 and neurod1 otic
expression in zebrafish embryos134
Supplemental Figure 3.4. 2. Percentage of left- and right- handed circles completed in response
to pharmacological perturbations of the Retinoic Acid signaling pathway in zebrafish larvae . 135
Supplemental Figure 3.4. 3. Otic expression of the enhancer trap <i>nk12aEt</i> (insertion line
'hspGFFDMC12A') generated by the Kawakami Lab (NIG, Japan) 136
Supplemental Figure 3.4. 4. Immunohistochemistry analysis of apoptosis using an activated
caspase 3 antibody following perturbations of the Retinoic acid signaling pathway in zebrafish
larvae (3 dpf)
Supplemental Figure 3.4. 5. Immunohistochemistry analysis of cell proliferation using a
phospho-histone H3 (Ser10) antibody following perturbations of the Retinoic acid signaling
pathway in zebrafish larvae (2 dpf) 138

Supplemental Figure 3.4. 6. Immunohistochemistry analysis of cell proliferation using a	
phospho-histone H3 (Ser10) antibody following perturbations of the Retinoic acid signaling	
pathway in zebrafish larvae (3 dpf)	139

Chapter 4:

Figure 4.5. 1. Otic expression of the gene trap line <i>nkgsaigff266c</i> , which represents an insertior	n
in <i>ugdh</i> 1	72
Figure 4.5. 2. Otic expression of the gene trap line <i>nkgsaizgffd262a</i> , which represents an	
insertion in <i>otog</i>	73
Figure 4.5. 3. Otic expression of the gene trap line <i>nkgsaizgffm789a</i> , which represents an	
insertion in <i>cahz</i>	74
Figure 4.5. 4. Otic expression of the gene trap line <i>nkgsaizgffm1225a</i> 1	75
Figure 4.5. 5. Otic expression of the enhancer trap line <i>nkhspgff75a</i> 1	76
Figure 4.5. 6. Otic expression of the enhancer trap line <i>nkhspgffdmc12a</i> 1	77

List of Common Symbols, Nomenclatures, and Abbreviations

°C	Degrees Celsius
a	Anterior protrusion
ac	Anterior crista
ACUC	Alberta's Animal Care and Use Committee
AD	Autosomal dominant
ADH	Alcohol dehydrogenase
ALDH/RALDH	Aldehyde (Retinaldehyde) dehydrogenase
all	Anterior lateral line ganglia
ар	Anterior protrusion
AP	Anteroposterior
apl	Anterior pole
AR	Autosomal recessive
ARAT	Acyl-CoA:retinol acyltransferase
av	Anteroventral otic vesicle
BCIP	5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-phosphate, toluidine-salt solution
BMP	Bone morphogenetic protein
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CCAC	Canadian Council for Animal Care
CCMS	Cerebrocostomandibular syndrome
CCTV	Closed-circuit television
CHARGE	Coloboma, heart defects, atresia choanae, growth retardation, genital abnormalities, and ear abnormalities syndrome
CRABP	Cellular retinoic acid-binding protein
CRBP	Cellular retinol-binding protein
CSD	Cochleosaccular degeneration
DEAB	N,N-diethylaminobenzaldehyde
DEPC	Diethyl pyrocarbonate
DIG	Digoxigenin
DiI	1,1'-dioctadecyl-3,3,3',3'-tetramethylindocarbocyanine perchlorate
dls	Dorsolateral septum

DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNAse	Deoxyribonuclease
DV	Dorsoventral
dpf	Days post fertilization
ed	Endolymphatic duct
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EM	Embryo media
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
Flp	Flippase recombinase
FRT	Flippase recognition target
GFF/Gal4FF	A zebrafish-optimized form of Gal4
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
h	Hours
hpf	Hours post fertilization
kb	Kilobase
I	lateral protrusion
LADD	Lacrimo-auriculo-dento-digital syndrom
lc	lateral crista
lp	lateral protrusion
LRAT	Lecithin:retinol acyl-transferase
Μ	Molar
MFDGA	Mandibulofacial dysostosis type Guion-Almeida
mg	Milligram
min	Minutes
ml/mL	Millilitre
mm	Milimeters
mM	Millimolar
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MS222	Tricaine methanesulfonate/ethyl 3-aminobenzoate methanesulfate
Ν	Number (total) of individuals or cases in a population
NCOA/SRC	Nuclear receptor co-activators

NCOR	Nuclear receptor co-repressors
NBT	4-nitro blue tetrazolium chloride solution
ng	Nanogram
NIG	National Institute of Genetics (Mishima, Japan)
nM	Nanomolar
n.s.	Not (statistically) significant
NSD	Neuro-sensory competent domain
OMIM	Online mendelian inheritance in man
ОР	Otic placode
os	saccular otolith
ΟΤΧ	Orthodenticle homeobox 1
ou	utricular otolith
OV	Otic vesicle (otocyst)
р	posterior protrusion
рс	posterior crista
PBS	Phospho-buffered saline
PBSDTT	PBST + 1% DMSO + 0.1% Triton X-100
PBST	PBS + 0.1% Tween-20
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
РСѠН	Peripheral demyelinating neuropathy, central dysmyelination, Waardenburg syndrome, and Hirschsprung disease
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factors
РКА	Protein kinase A
рр	posterior protrusion
PPR	Pre-placodal region
Q	Q-value (from the Tukey Method), obtained by subtracting the smallest mean from the largest and dividing this product by the overall group standard error of the mean; indicates statistical significance between a pair
QT	Q-T interval on an electrocardiogram
RA	Retinoic acid
RAR	Retinoic acid receptor
RARE	Retinoic acid response element

RBP	Retinol binding protein
RE	Restriction endonuclease
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNA-seq	RNA-sequencing
RNAse	Ribonuclease
RXR	Retinoid x receptor
rpm	Revolutions per minute
RT	Room temperature
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
S	Saccule
SIX	Sino oculis homeobox
SSC	Saline sodium citrate
SD	Standard deviation
sec	Seconds
SHH	Sonic hedgehog
t	T-value, which measures the size of the difference in relation to the variation in the sample data
TL	Tüpfel long fin
Tm	Melting temperature
u	Utricle
UAS	Upstream activation sequence
UDP	Uridine diphosphate
um	Utricular macula
v	Ventral protrusion
vp	Ventral protrusion
VP16	Herpes simplex virus protein vmw65
WNT	Wingless-related integration site
ZIRC	Zebrafish International Resource Center
μΜ	Micromolars
μl	Microlitres

List of Gene Abbreviations

Aldh1a2, Raldh2	Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 family, member A2
Aldh1a3, Raldh3	Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 family, member A3
Atoh1	Atonal BHLH transcription factor 1
Atp2b1a	ATPase plasma membrane Ca2+ transporting 1a
Atp2b2	ATPase plasma membrane Ca2+ transporting 2
Bcdo2	β,β-carotene-9',10'-dioxygenase
Bcmo1	β,β- carotene-15,15'-monooxygenase
Bmp2b	Bone morphogenetic protein 2b
Bmp4	Bone morphogenetic protein 4
Cdh2	Cadherin 2, type 1, N-cadherin (neuronal)
Cdh23	Cadherin-related 23
Chd7	Chromodomain helicase DNA-binding protein 7
Chsy1	Chondroitin sulfate synthase
Clic5	Chloride intracellular channel 5
Coch	Coagulation factor C homology, cochlin
Col2a1a	Collagen, type II, alpha 1a
Cyp1b1	Cytochrome P450, family 1, subfamily B, polypeptide 1
Cyp26a1	Cytochrome P450, family 26, subfamily A, polypeptide 1
Cyp26b1	Cytochrome P450, family 26, subfamily B, polypeptide 1
Cyp26c1	Cytochrome P450, family 26, subfamily C, polypeptide 1
Cyp26d1	Cytochrome P450, family 26, subfamily D, polypeptide 1
Cx30.3	Connexin 30.3
Dl1	Delta-like 1
Dlx3b	Distal-less homeobox 3b
Dlx4b	Distal-less homeobox 4b
Dlx5	Distal-less homeobox 5
Dlx6	Distal-less homeobox 6
Eftud2	Elongation factor Tu GTP-binding domain-containing 2
Epha2	Ephrin receptor a2
Ephb2	Ephrin receptor b2

Esrp1	Epithelial splicing regulatory protein 1
Eya1	Eya transcription coactivator and phosphatase 1
Fgf3	Fibroblast growth factor 3
Fgf8	Fibroblast growth factor 8
Fgf10	Fibroblast growth factor 10
Fgfr2	Fibroblast growth factor receptor 2
Foxg1	Forkhead box G1
Foxil	Forkhead box I1
Gata3	GATA binding protein 3
Gbx2	Gastrulation brain homeobox 2
Gjb2	Gap junction protein beta-2
Gjb6	Gap junction protein beta-6
Gli2	GLI family zinc finger 2
Gli3	GLI family zinc finger 3
Gpr126, Adgrg6	Adhesion G protein-coupled receptor G6
Grh12	Grainyhead transcription factor 12
Has3	Hyaluronan synthase 3
Hapln1a	Hyaluronan and proteoglycan link protein 1a
Hapln3	Hyaluronan and proteoglycan link protein 3
Hmx2	H6 family homeobox 2
Hmx3	H6 family homeobox 3
Hoxa1	Homeobox A1
Hoxa2	Homeobox A2
Jag1	Jagged canonical Notch ligand 1
Kcne1	Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily E regulator subunit 1
Kcnq1	Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1
Lmo4	LIM domain only 4
Lmx1a	LIM homeobox transcription factor 1, alpha
Lrp2	Low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 2
Myh9	Myosin, heavy chain 9, non-muscle
Myo7a	Myosin VIIA
Ncs1a	Neuronal calcium sensor 1a
Neurod1	Neuronal differentiation 1

Neurog1	Neurogenin 1
Nr3b2/Esrrb	Estrogen related receptor beta
Ntn1	Netrin 1
Oc90	Otoconin 90
Otog	Otogelin
Otogl	Otogelin-like
Otol1	Otolin 1
Otop	Otopetrin
OtxA	Orthodenticle homeobox A
Otx1	Orthodenticle homeobox 1
Otx1b	Orthodenticle homeobox 1b
Otx2	Orthodenticle homeobox 2
Ptcha	Patched A
Pax2	Paired box 2
Pax2a	Paired box 2a
Pax8	Paired box 8
Pcdh15	Protocadherin-related 15
Pou3f4	POU domain, class 3, transcription factor 4
Raldh1	Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1
Raraa	Retinoic acid receptor, alpha a
Rarab	Retinoic acid receptor, alpha b
Rarya	Retinoic acid receptor, gamma a
Raryb	Retinoic acid receptor, gamma b
Rdh10	Retinol dehydrogenase 10
Ripply3	Ripply transcriptional repressor 3
Rps26	Ribosomal protein S26
Rxraa	Retinoid x receptor, alpha a
Rxrab	Retinoid x receptor, alpha b
Rxrβa	Retinoid x receptor, beta a
Rxrβb	Retinoid x receptor, beta b
Rxrya	Retinoid x receptor, gamma a
Rxryb	Retinoid x receptor, gamma b
Sema3e	Semaphorin 3E
Sema3e	Semaphorin 3E

Shh	Sonic hedgehog signaling molecule
Six1	SIX homeobox1
Slc12a2	Solute carrier family 12, member a2
Slc26a4	Solute carrier family 26, member a4
Smo	Smoothened, frizzled class receptor
Snrpb	Small nuclear ribonucleoprotein polypeptides B and B1
Snx10	Sorting nexin 10
So	Sine oculis
Sox2	SRY-box transcription factor 2
Sox10	SRY-box transcription factor 10
Stm	Starmaker
Tecta	Tectorin alpha
Tectb	Tectorin beta
Tbx1	T-box transcription factor 1
Tbx10a	T-box transcription factor 10a
Tfap2a	Transcription factor AP-2 alpha
Ugdh	UDP-glucose 6-dehydrogenase
Ush1c	Usher syndrome 1c, harmonin
Vcana	Versican a
Vcanb	Versican b
Wnt1	Wingless-type MMTV integration side family, member 1
Wnt3a	Wingless-type MMTV integration side family, member 3A

Chapter 1: Introduction

A portion of Chapter 1 (part 1.1) is in revision with the *Journal of Anatomy*: Mackowetzky, K., Yoon, K. H., Mackowetzky, E., Waskiewicz, A. J., 2021. Development and evolution of the vestibular apparatuses of the inner ear.

1.1 Review of the development and evolution of the vestibular apparatuses of the inner ear

1.1.1 Introduction

Our sensory organs provide us with a way to interact with the world by detecting chemical or physical stimuli, either internally or within our environment, and transducing these signals along neural circuits to the brain for processing and response determination (Vosshall & Carandini, 2009). The inner ear is one of the most fascinating sensory organs because it is responsible for two key systems of perception, the auditory system for perceiving sound and the vestibular system for sensing balance and spatial orientation ("Auditory and Vestibular Systems," 2005). Research into both systems is essential for understanding the diseases that impact inner ear function, but as 1-2 out of every 1,000 children born in the United States suffer from a hearing impairment, this has attracted a greater deal of research into the auditory system (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017). However, the necessity for research into the vestibular system remains, given that approximately 3.3 million (5.2%) children between the ages of 2-17 in the United States suffer from some form of vestibular dysfunction, as characterized by delayed motor development or chronic dizziness and balance issues (C.-M. Li, Hoffman, Ward, Cohen, & Rine, 2016). Head and neck injuries resulting in lesions to the inner ear and its internal circuit to the brain and congenital disorders whose symptoms do not present until later in life can also result in vestibular dysfunction, usually in the form of bouts of vertigo, the illusion of spinning or tilting, either of the environment or oneself (Gurr & Moffat, 2001; Kolev & Sergeeva, 2016). This illusory perception of motion confers physical risk, although sensory impairments associated with the inner ear also have an impact on mental health. Notably, disabilities related to inner ear dysfunction, particularly those that are acute, also contribute to a higher incidence of anxiety and depression (Yuan, Yu, Shi, Ke, & Zhang, 2015). Therefore, to combat health-related issues caused by vestibular disorders,

research into the development of the inner ear is essential for treating patients suffering from inner ear dysfunction and identifying preventative methods for birth defects associated with the vestibular system.

A growing body of work invested in comprehending the complex developmental programme behind the vestibular apparatuses of the inner ear has provided an extensive foundation for understanding diseases involved in this system. In fact, recent research in animal models has already helped to identify the genetic factors behind some disorders that include vestibular dysfunction, such as Branchio-oto-renal syndrome, Pendred syndrome, Jervell and Lang-Nielsen syndrome, Delpire-McNeill syndrome, and Usher syndrome (Table 1.5.1)(Ceruti, Stinckens, Cremers, & Casselman, 2002; Kulkarni, Rajput, Raglan, Abrams, & Bitner-Glindzicz, 2012; McNeill et al., 2020; Stinckens et al., 2001; Weil et al., 1996). Therefore, the purpose of this review is to give an overview of what is known about inner ear anatomy and function and to summarize the exciting research that has already been conducted on the development and evolution of this intricate sensory organ.

1.1.2 Anatomy and Function of the Inner Ear Vestibular System

The inner ear is a complex, labyrinthine structure situated within the temporal bone on each side of the head (Figure 1.6.1)(Bruss & Shohet, 2019). In humans, it is composed of a central vestibule connected to the cochlea on one side, which houses the auditory machinery of the ear, and three orthogonally situated semi-circular canals on the other. A series of mosaic patches— composed of mechanoreceptive hair cells and their support cells housed within the central vestibule and the semi-circular canals—represent the vestibular sensory organs of the ear.

The first of these vestibular organs, the semi-circular canals, each terminate in a sac that houses an sensory epithelium, or 'crista,' composed of hair cells and support cells sheathed by a gelatinous mass (Mescher, 2010). This gelatinous mass, known as cupula, extends from each sensory epithelia to the ampulla, a bulge situated directly across from an epithelium within a given canal. The hair cells within this epithelium are covered by stereocilia, mechanoreceptors that, when deflected, trigger the release of a chemical transmitter to the nerve terminals synapsed to the base of these cells (Barrett, Barman, Boitano, & Brooks, 2012). The deflection of these stereociliary bundles in the semi-circular canals is triggered in a unique way during angular, or 'rotational,' accelerations of the head. When the head turns, the inner ear moves with it, but the endolymph, a potassium-rich fluid contained within the inner ear, remains inert. Because this fluid remains stationary, it exerts force against the cupula, deflecting the stereocilia within to sense the speed of rotation relative to the axis of the semi-circular canal.

The second group of vestibular organs are known as the maculae, two sensory epithelia positioned such that one, the saccule, is oriented vertically within the vestibule, while the other, the utricle, is oriented horizontally (Purves et al., 2001). As such, they typically detect motion in the vertical and horizonal planes, respectively, although their anatomy and function differ from that of the semi-circular canals. Instead of detecting angular rotations, these sensory organs are responsible for detecting linear accelerations and the position of the head relative to gravity. Additionally, although the hair cells within the maculae are similarly covered by a heavy, gelatinous mass, it is embedded with small, calcium carbonate crystals known as otoliths or otoconia. This otolithic membrane moves according to the direction of gravity, such that when the head is tilted, the membrane shifts, bending the stereocilia of the underlying hair cells (Hain & Helminski, 2007).

Another important, though non-sensory, component of the vestibular system is the endolymphatic duct, which extends dorsally from the utricular and saccular ducts housed within the central vestibule and through the vestibular aqueduct to connect with the endolymphatic sac, which is partially contained between the bony labyrinth surrounding the ear and the posterior cranial fossa (Lo et al., 1997). While endolymph is produced primarily by the various secretory cells surrounding the maculae, this endolymphatic duct and sac system is predominantly responsible for regulating inner ear pressure by either decreasing it through the resorption of endolymph or by increasing it through the production of proteoglycans to attract and bind water (Wackym et al., 1987).

1.1.3 Overview of Development of the Vestibular Structures of Inner Ear

While vestibular disorders can arise from physical trauma to the head or neck (Kolev & Sergeeva, 2016), they can also occur from the improper development of the vestibular structures previously described. As such, understanding the developmental programme of the inner ear and identifying the genes involved in this process can be informative for elucidating the mechanisms behind inner ear dysfunction, whether they appear at birth or manifest later in life. This in turn allows for the identification of potential targets for gene therapy and the development of chemical therapeutic agents for preventative strategies and treatment of vestibular defects.

The aim of the following sections is to discuss some of the most important discoveries already made in animal models concerning the developmental programme of the inner ear. It will outline the first step of inner ear development, the induction of the otic placode, which is the source of all inner ear cell types, and the subsequent formation of the otic vesicle, a closed off portion of the neural ectoderm that is subjected to signaling cues that pattern, or confer an identity on, the various otic cell types that will eventually arise in this sensory organ (Figure 1.6.2). These sections will also provide a summary description of how the vestibular structures are thereby formed, highlighting genes that have also been identified in human patients suffering from vestibular disorders, some of which can be found in Table 1.

1.1.4 The Otic placode and Formation of the Otic Vesicle

Important discoveries have already been made concerning the developmental plan of the inner ear leading up to the induction of an ectodermal thickening known as the otic placode. Studies in zebrafish have demonstrated that Bone Morphogenetic Protein (BMP) signaling in the late blastula and early gastrula stages of development establishes the competence of the preplacodal region (PPR) within the ectoderm at the neural plate border where the otic placode originates by inducing the expression of the inner ear marker *foxi1* and other transcription factors (Figure 1.6.2)(Kwon, Bhat, Sweet, Cornell, & Riley, 2010). It is also known that the PPR does not expand from the head into the embryonic trunk due to canonical WNT signaling, which instead promotes neural crest formation posterior to this placodal region (Litsiou, Hanson, & Streit, 2005). Subsequently, PPR specification is co-operatively achieved by the dorsal expression of Fibroblast Growth Factors (FGF) and Platelet-derived Growth Factors (PDGF), which promote the expression of BMP-antagonists. Studies using the aquatic frog *Xenopus* have unveiled another key player for PPR specification, the Retinoic Acid (RA) signaling pathway, which both restricts the posterior domain of *fgf8* expression in the PPR and induces the expression of the posteriorly restricted PPR genes tbx1 and ripply3 (Arima et al., 2005; Janesick, Shiotsugu, Taketani, & Blumberg, 2012; Shiotsugu et al., 2004).

Following PPR induction, this region is segregated into several domains fated for the placodal development of different sensory tissues, such as the Otic/Epibranchial Precursor Domain that gives rise to both the otic and epibranchial placodes (Figure 1.6.2)(Freter, Muta, Mak, Rinkwitz, & Ladher, 2008; Ohyama, Mohamed, Taketo, Dufort, & Groves, 2006; Gerhard Schlosser & Ahrens, 2004). This entire domain is defined in zebrafish by the ectodermal expression of the Pax transcription factors, pax2a and pax8, although the subsequent gradient expression of *pax2a* within this region during somitogenesis further defines the individual placodal fates in zebrafish alone; lower levels favour an epibranchial fate, while higher levels direct an otic fate through the promotion of canonical WNT signaling (McCarroll et al., 2012; Ohyama et al., 2006; Gerhard Schlosser & Ahrens, 2004). However, in Xenopus and chick, otic placodal fate relies instead on the expression of Gbx2 (Steventon, Mayor, & Streit, 2012). It is also important to note that, while various cell fates are not specified until later patterning of the ear, *foxi1*, which enables the expression of *pax8* at this time, provides otic cells with the competence to embark on a neuronal fate, and dlx3b/4b, which subsequently enable pax2a activation, then promote sensory fate while restricting neuronal fate (Hans, Irmscher, & Brand, 2013; Hans, Liu, & Westerfield, 2004). Other factors implicated in otic induction that are highly conserved across vertebrates include Fgf3 and Fgf8, with additional FGFs participating in this process in a species dependent manner (Alvarez et al., 2003; Freter et al., 2008; Ladher, Wright, Moon, Mansour, & Schoenwolf, 2005; Léger & Brand, 2002; D. Liu et al., 2003; Mansour, Goddard, & Capecchi, 1993; Maroon et al., 2002; K. Martin & Groves, 2006; Maulding, Padanad, Dong, & Riley, 2014; Padanad, Bhat, Guo, & Riley, 2012; B.-Y. Park & Saint-Jeannet, 2008; B. T. Phillips, Bolding, & Riley, 2001; Wright & Mansour, 2003). While the loss of activity from any one FGF gene does not appear to

prevent otic induction, impairing at least two members of this family of signalling molecules will result in a complete loss or deficiency of otic tissues.

Once the otic placode is induced, it invaginates into an otic cup in amniotes (Figure 1.6.2A) or cavitates in fish (Figure 1.6.2B) to then form the otic vesicle/otocyst (Kaufman, 1992; Maroon et al., 2002; G. Schlosser & Northcutt, 2000). While the molecular mechanisms behind its cavitation in fish are yet unknown, it is understood that the invagination of this vesicle in amniotes first requires an expansion at the basal aspect of the otic cells, followed by an apical constriction (Sai, Yonemura, & Ladher, 2014). Both stages are driven by the activation of myosin-II, although it triggers the depolymerization of actin basally, in response to localized FGF signaling, and actomyosin contraction apically, which is a RhoA-dependent process (Sai & Ladher, 2008; Sai et al., 2014).

1.1.5 Axial Patterning of Inner Ear

During and after vesicle formation, otic cells will take on a neural, sensory, or non-sensory cell fate. Cells destined to take on a neural or sensory fate originate in the neural-sensory-competent domain (NSD) that originates within the anterior region of the developing vesicle (Fekete & Wu, 2002). Cells within this region that express *Neurog1* are specified to become neuroblasts, which delaminate from the vesicle ventrally, form a transient amplifying population, and give rise to the afferent neurons of the vestibulocochlear (VIII) cranial ganglion, whereas cells that instead express *NeuroD1* are later fated to give rise to hair cells (Sapède, Dyballa, & Pujades, 2012). The posterior region of the otic vesicle gives rise to predominantly non-sensory tissues, although the posterior crista is eventually situated within this area. When considering what factors determine the anteroposterior asymmetry of the ear and direct differential cell fates along this axis,

the RA and FGF signaling pathways have been identified as key factors (Bok et al., 2011; Maier & Whitfield, 2014). Studies in zebrafish and chick show that the expression of *fgf3* in the hindbrain confers an anterior identity within the otic placode, while RA signaling, induced by the expression of *aldh1a3* in the head mesenchyme posteroventral to the placode, promotes the posterior expression of *tbx1*, a negative regulator of neurogenesis within the ear (Figure 3A)(Bok et al., 2011; Maier & Whitfield, 2014; Radosevic, 2011; Radosevic, Robert-Moreno, Coolen, Bally-Cuif, & Alsina, 2011; Raft, Nowotschin, Liao, & Morrow, 2004).

Once the otic vesicle is formed, FGF and RA signaling continue to maintain anteroposterior patterning of the ear (Maier & Whitfield, 2014). Both within the anterior aspect of the vesicle and directly ventral to it, the expression of FGFs in zebrafish induce the expression of aldh1a3 within the posterior region of the NSD to create a localized source of RA signaling (Figure 1.6.3A). At this point, FGF and RA create a negative feedback loop that regulates the development of sensory hair cells. More precisely, high FGF levels of signaling in the anterior otic vesicle promote the expression of *otx1b*, which restricts neurogenesis and promotes the development of structural cells, with lower levels allowing for the development of sensory cells. Concurrently, RA signaling both restricts otx1b expression posteriorly to permit the development of sensory cells and instead promotes tbx1 expression to allow for the maturation of otic neuroblasts. However, the FGF and RA signaling pathways are not the only players in anteroposterior patterning and neurogenesis. Sonic Hedgehog (SHH) signaling is also believed to be involved in this process, as murine Shh-/mutants display reduced Neurog1 and Neurod1 expression, although the underlying mechanism by which this pathway regulates these genes is not yet well understood (M. M. Riccomagno, Martinu, Mulheisen, Wu, & Epstein, 2002).

Patterning of the inner ear is not limited to the anteroposterior axis; in fact, patterning along the dorsoventral axis is crucial for promoting the development of vestibular versus auditory structures of the inner ear. Of course, identities along the dorsoventral axis are shifted more along the anteroposterior axis in fish-for example, the auditory organ of the amniote inner ear, the cochlea, is situated more ventrally than the auditory organ of the zebrafish inner ear, the saccule, which is more posterior—but the same signaling factors are implicated in conferring similar otic identities regardless of the ultimate 'orientation' of the dorsoventral axis (Bok, Bronner-Fraser, & Wu, 2005; K. L. Hammond, Loynes, Folarin, Smith, & Whitfield, 2003; W. Liu et al., 2002; M. M. Riccomagno et al., 2002; Martin M. Riccomagno, Takada, & Epstein, 2005; Waldman, Castillo, & Collazo, 2007). Sonic Hedgehog (SHH), secreted from the floor plate and notochord, has been identified as a key regulator of dorsoventral identities in many species (though 'anteroposterior' identities in fish), as mediated by opposing gradients of the Gli3 repressor within the dorsal domain of the otic epithelium and Gli2/3 activators ventrally (Figure 1.6.3B)(Bok et al., 2007; Brown & Epstein, 2011; K. L. Hammond et al., 2003; Hartwell et al., 2019). An absence of SHH signaling during inner ear development, as achieved in mouse embryos mutant in Smo, an essential transducer of this pathway, results in a wide range of morphological abnormalities later in otic development (Brown & Epstein, 2011). These abnormalities include missing ventral otic derivatives, such as the saccular macula and cochlear duct, and the malformation or absence of dorsal derivatives, such as the utricular macula, endolymphatic duct, and semi-circular canals. Complimentary to this data, ectopic SHH signaling within and around the inner ear results in a complete absence of vestibular structures and a malformed cochlear duct (M. M. Riccomagno et al., 2002). Through these studies, it has been determined that SHH is required for specifying otic cells within the ventral region that would normally express the ventral markers Otx1, Otx2, and

Pax2, as *Shh*^{-/-} mutants display the reduced or absent expression of these genes. Ectopic SHH signaling has demonstrated that it also regulates cochlear formation through *Brn4* and *Tbx1* expression in the periotic mesenchyme, expanding the former ventrally and the latter dorsally, and through *Pax2* expression in the otic epithelium, which is expanded from the ventromedial region to throughout the vesicle.

However, SHH does not act alone in determining dorsoventral identities. The canonical WNT signaling pathway has also been implicated as a key player in specifying dorsal otic fates, with a loss of signaling during otic development resulting in missing vestibular structures, although due to the fact that some cells populating the cochlea are presumed to be exposed to WNT signals early on in inner ear development, a truncation of the cochlear duct is also observed (Martin M. Riccomagno et al., 2005). As to how WNT specifies dorsal fates, this is accomplished through the secretion of the canonical WNT ligands Wnt1 and Wnt3a from the dorsal hindbrain (Figure 1.6.2B). In Wnt1-/-; Wnt3a-/- mutants, there is a loss of Dlx5, Dlx6, and Gbx2 expression in the dorsal region. Conversely, increased WNT signaling, as achieved through lithium chloride treatment, results in the ventral expansion of these genes in wild type embryos and rescued expression in $Wnt1^{-/-}$; $Wnt3a^{-/-}$ mutants. When taking into consideration any possible cross-talk between SHH and WNT at this stage of development, the observed dorsal expansion of the SHH effector *Gli1* in *Wnt1^{-/-}; Wnt3a^{-/-}* mutants suggests that WNT acts to restrict SHH signaling to the ventromedial region of the ear. However, the failed restriction of SHH signaling with lithium chloride treatment in these mutants implies that WNT does not act alone in this process.

More recently, the BMP pathway has been suggested to aid in dorsal specification, as seen with the loss of one or more semi-circular canals with reduced signaling in chick embryos, as well as the restriction of SHH in the ear (Figure 1.6.3B)(Ohta & Schoenwolf, 2018; Ohta, Wang,

Mansour, & Schoenwolf, 2016). BMP ligands expressed in the dorsal hindbrain and otic epithelium promote the expression of the dorsal markers Hmx3, through the non-canonical activation of cAMP-dependent Kinase A (PKA), and Dlx5, through the canonical Smad-dependent pathway (Ohta et al., 2016). Because the PKA phosphorylation of Gli2/3 results in the processing of Gli repressors, non-canonical BMP signaling can negatively regulate SHH through the reduced expression of the SHH target gene Otx2 via the overexpression of the BMP ligand Bmp4. Additionally, loss of BMP signaling in the otic epithelium results in the expansion of both Otx2 and Pax2 expression. Together, this suggests that there is an intricate network of cross-talk between these pathways, where SHH acts as a ventralizing agent that favors the development of the auditory structures of the inner ear while WNT and BMP act as dorsalizing agents that predominantly promote the development of more vestibular structures.

The final axis of the inner ear is the mediolateral, although little is known about how it is established. Research in chick embryos show that some of the genes already discussed, such as *Pax2* and *Gbx2*, have distinct dorsomedial expression patterns in the ear (Brigande, Kiernan, Gao, Iten, & Fekete, 2000; Choo et al., 2006). Interestingly, the *Pax2* expression domain is thought to mark one side of the medial-lateral boundary of the inner ear, on the other side of which we see the ventrolateral expression of *SOHo* (Brigande et al., 2000). In fact, the dorsal boundary between the expression pattern of these two genes marks the location of the endolymphatic duct's outgrowth, and *Pax2*^{-/-} mutants display malformed endolymphatic ducts that are fused with the common crux, the branching point between the anterior and posterior semi-circular canals, and which are often not properly restricted from the saccular compartment (Brigande et al., 2000; Burton, Cole, Mulheisen, Chang, & Wu, 2004). *Gbx2*^{-/-} mutants also display abnormalities of this channel, most commonly in the form of an absent endolymphatic duct (Choo et al., 2006). Less is

known about how lateral structures of the ear are specified, but fate-mapping studies in chick through the injection of fluorescent carbocyanine dyes into the cells of the rim of the otic cup suggest that the establishment of the mediolateral axis depends on the establishment of the other axes first (Brigande et al., 2000). This research suggests that while the otic vesicle/otocyst is forming, the lateral region of the otic vesicle that gives rise to the canals first originates in the dorsal region.

1.1.6 Vestibular Neuronal and Sensorial Development

While most genes involved in the specification of different cell fates appear once patterning of the otic vesicle is complete, neuronal specification occurs as early as the formation of the Otic/Epibranchial Precursor Domain, with the early expression of *foxi1* imparting the competence for neuronal cell fate and *dlx3b* and *dlx4b* subsequently promoting sensory fate (Hans et al., 2013; Hans et al., 2004). In mouse embryos, once patterning of the otic vesicle is complete and the NSD is defined by FGF and RA signaling, it is within this region that the expression of the additional neuronal and sensory markers Eval, Six1, and Sox2 overlap (Kiernan et al., 2005; P. X. Xu et al., 1999; W. Zheng et al., 2003; D. Zou et al., 2008). Both human EYA1 and SIX1 have been implicated in Branchio-oto-renal syndrome, which is usually characterized by hearing impairments and kidney and urinary tract malformations but can also include vestibular abnormalities, such as a truncated posterior semi-circular canal or an enlarged endolymphatic sac and duct (Abdelhak et al., 1997; Ceruti, Stinckens, Cremers, & Casselman, 2002; Melnick, Bixler, Nance, Silk, & Yune, 1976; Ruf et al., 2004). Studies in mice models have shown that loss of either otic Eya1 or Six1 results in the decreased expression of the sensorineural markers NeuorG1 and *NeuroD1* and that their co-overexpression is capable of inducing neurogenesis in the ear (M.

Ahmed, Xu, & Xu, 2012). Sox2 has also been determined to be required for the expression of both *NeuroG1* and *NeuroD1* and is engaged in an inhibitory feedback loop with these genes, ultimately controlling the number of neuroblasts that give rise to the afferent neurons of the VIII cranial ganglion (Evsen, Sugahara, Uchikawa, Kondoh, & Wu, 2013; Steevens, Sookiasian, Glatzer, & Kiernan, 2017). It is also possible that Sox2 accomplishes this by interacting with either Eval or Six1, as they have already been shown to co-operatively promote the expression of other otic markers in cochlear cell cultures (M. Ahmed et al., 2012). This includes *Atoh1*, which initiates hair cell differentiation in *NeuroD1* positive cells (P. Chen, Johnson, Zoghbi, & Segil, 2002; N. Pan et al., 2011). It is important to also note that Notch signaling plays an important role within this region for determining hair cell and support cell fates (W. Pan et al., 2013; Petrovic et al., 2014). Initially, as directed through the Notch ligand Jag1, Notch-mediated lateral induction induces Sox2 expression to specify the prosensory domain and prevent early hair cell differentiation. Once Atoh1 is expressed, it in turn induces *Dl1*, another Notch ligand. This creates a competition between Di1 and Jag1 for Notch, where the former favors the development of support cells and the latter the development of hair cells, creating a latticed pattern of the two cell types within this sensory domain.

Knowing that the NSD gives rise to the various sensory epithelia found in the mature inner ear, it is important to recognize that mediolateral patterning plays a role in how the neuroblasts in the pre-segregated domain are determined to form ganglia of either the vestibular or auditory branches of the VIII cranial nerve. It has been discovered that otic cells that express Fgf3 within the anterolateral region of this domain delaminate first and generate vestibular neurons (Bell et al., 2008; Koo et al., 2009). Meanwhile, cells that express *Gata3* and *Lmx1a* within the medial region delaminate later and generate auditory neurons (Koo et al., 2009; Koundakjian, Appler, & Goodrich, 2007; Lawoko-Kerali et al., 2004). However, another possible player in the process is *Myo7A*, which encodes the unconventional myosin VIIA, a critical motor protein that in chick embryos is expressed in differentiating vestibular neurons before subsequently being restricted to the vestibular afferents of the cristae (K. Nguyen, A. L. Hall, & J. M. Jones, 2015). It's possible that *Myo7A* therefore acts in the innervation of these afferents or axonal migration and pathfinding, although most research into this gene has focused on the role it plays later in organizing the stereocilia bundles of vestibular and auditory hair cells and, therefore, its connection to Usher Syndrome type 1 in human patients (Ernest et al., 2000; Gibson et al., 1995; K. Nguyen et al., 2015; Weil et al., 1996).

Further studies have demonstrated that NSD separation into the individual sensory epithelia requires restriction of Lmx1a expression to the non-sensory domain in mice (Nichols et al., 2008). As for the separation between more distinct regions of the initial sensory domain, Fgf10 appears to play an important role in the separation of the cristae, as mutants lack a posterior crista, only producing reduced and malformed anterior and lateral cristae (Pauley et al., 2003). Another player is Foxg1, whose null mutants often have fused anterior and lateral cristae (Hwang, Simeone, Lai, & Wu, 2009). Otx1 also seems to play a role in cristae separation, as null mutants in mice and zebrafish lack a lateral crista, as well as a lateral canal (Fritzsch, Signore, & Simeone, 2001; Katherine L. Hammond & Whitfield, 2006; H. Morsli et al., 1999). However, these mutants also possess a fused utricle and saccule, which additionally implicates Otx1 in the proper segregation of the two maculae.

1.1.7 Semi-circular Canal Development

The cells that give rise to the semi-circular canals, which are responsible for detecting angular accelerations of the head, originate in a lateral region of the vesicle adjacent to where the presumptive cristae will form (Brigande et al., 2000; W. Chang, J. V. Brigande, D. M. Fekete, & D. K. Wu, 2004). In fact, the cristae are likely responsible for inducing the formation of the canal ducts through the BMP and FGF signaling pathways, as *Bmp4* in mice, chick, and zebrafish is essential for regulating *Bmp2* and *Dlx5*, two key players in canal formation, and *Fgf10^{-/-}* mutants in chick lack all three canals (Weise Chang, John V. Brigande, Donna M. Fekete, & Doris K. Wu, 2004; Chang et al., 2008; Katherine L. Hammond et al., 2009; Omata et al., 2007). *Fgf3* has also been identified as another FGF involved in canal morphogenesis, as knockouts in mice occasionally lack a posterior canal (Mansour et al., 1993; Pauley et al., 2003).

Although there are morphological variations in how the canals are formed across vertebrates, the end result is three semi-circular canals situated at right angles relative to one another. In zebrafish and *Xenopus*, we see an outgrowth of protrusions that bulge into the vesicle and fuse at a central point to form the pillars around which the three canals are formed (Figure 1.6.4A)(Paterson, 1949; Robert Earle Waterman & Danny H Bell, 1984). In both of these species, glycosaminoglycan hyaluronan production is essential for these outgrowths, although other factors discovered in zebrafish have also been implicated in the formation of these protrusions, such as *atropin2*, *atp1a1a.2*, *atp2b1a*, *cdh2*, *grhl2*, *fgf8*, *ncs1a*, and *otx1* (Asai et al., 2006; Blabb-Clendenon et al., 2006; Blasiole et al., 2006; Blasiole et al., 2005; Busch-Nentwich, Söllner, Roehl, & Nicolson, 2004; Cruz, Shiao, Liao, Huang, & Hwang, 2009; Haddon & Lewis, 1991; Katherine L. Hammond & Whitfield, 2006; Han et al., 2011; Neuhauss et al., 1996). More recently, *gpr126*, an adhesion G protein-couple receptor gene expressed in the protrusions, has been identified as an

important regulator of genes that encode extracellular matrix core proteins or are involved with modifying the extracellular matrix, such as *chsy1*, *has3*, *hapln1a*, *hapln3*, *ugdh*, and *vcana* (Geng et al., 2013). Changes to the extracellular matrix can understandably impact the proliferation or migration of cells within a given tissue, directly affecting tissue morphology, although they could also contribute to signal transduction processes. Future research could therefore focus on determining what signaling pathways might direct or be directed by such changes to the extracellular matrix during semi-circular canal morphogenesis.

In amniotes, morphogenesis of the semi-circular canals begins with the formation of two out-pouches, one vertical, situated dorsally, and one horizontal, which forms laterally around the middle of the otocyst (Bissonnette & Fekete, 1996; Fekete, 1999; Kopecky, Johnson, Schmitz, Santi, & Fritzsch, 2012). The canonical WNT signaling pathway is believed to play an essential role leading up to this stage by promoting cell proliferation and repressing apoptosis, likely ensuring that a sufficient number of cells are available for the formation of these out-pouches (Noda et al., 2012). With the ventral out-pouch, opposing epithelial extend toward one another to form a fusion plate, which fuses and then is resorbed through apoptosis to create two canals along the rim, the anterior and posterior, which are connected centrally at the common crus (Figure 1.6.4B). The horizontal out-pouch undergoes a similar process of fusion and resorption to give rise to the lateral canal. Despite the division between horizontal canal formation and that of the anterior and posterior canals in amniotes, *Lmo4* in mouse embryos appears to be responsible for the outgrowth of both pouches by regulating cell proliferation and maintaining the expression of many players in canal morphogenesis, including Bmp4, Fgf10, Gata3, and Dlx5 (Deng, Pan, Xie, & Gan, 2010). Here also, the canonical WNT signaling pathway has been identified as an important factor behind semi-circular morphogenesis for its role in inducing the expression of *Netrin1*, which
induces fusion and resorption of the fusion plate by promoting periotic mesenchymal proliferation to push the opposing epithelial together and the detachment of the fusion plate from the basement membrane (Noda et al., 2012; Salminen, Meyer, Bober, & Gruss, 2000).

1.1.8 Production and maintenance of endolymph

During its development, the otic vesicle is filled with endolymph, a fluid that is essential for sensory hair cell function and proper otoconia composition. With respect to hair cell function, the endolymph has a high concentration of potassium, which flows through the transducer channels of these cells with the deflection of their stereocilia and, thereby, triggers their depolarization (Battey, 2000; Bosher & Warren, 1968). Upon depolarization, the hair cells release neurotransmitters at their synapses with the afferent neurons of the vestibulocochlear nerve, the first step in triggering the perception of motion or sound. Some genes in human patients with auditory or vestibular impairments, such as those suffering from Jervell and Lang-Nielsen syndrome and Delpire-McNeill syndrome, have been implicated in controlling the composition or homeostasis of endolymph (Kulkarni, Rajput, Raglan, Abrams, & Bitner-Glindzicz, 2012; McNeill et al., 2020). Mutations in animal models often resulting in reduced endolymphatic volume and potential, commonly leading to a shrinkage or collapse of the membranous labyrinth and hair cell death (Blasiole et al., 2006; Casimiro et al., 2001; Cruz et al., 2009; Delpire, Lu, England, Dull, & Thorne, 1999; Dixon et al., 1999; Flagella et al., 1999). These genes include Slc12a2, which encodes the basal Na-K-1Cl co-transporter that pumps potassium from the hair cells into the homologous epithelial 'dark' cells surrounding the vestibular sensory epithelia, and both Kcnq1 and Kcne1, the subunits of KvLQT1, a channel on the apical side of dark cells

responsible for returning potassium to the endolymph (Blasiole et al., 2006; Casimiro et al., 2001; Cruz et al., 2009; Delpire et al., 1999; Dixon et al., 1999; Flagella et al., 1999).

Dark cells, like the marginal cells of the cochlea, are also responsible for producing endolymph during otic development, although there appears to be some variation in the composition and function of endolymph-producing cells surrounding the various sensory epithelia between species (Dohlman, 1965; Harada, Tagashira, & Hirakawa, 1989; Hommerich, 1990; Kimura, Lundquist, & Wersaell, 1964; Villegas, Merker, Helling, Clarke, & Scherer, 2001; Wangemann, 1995). However, one gene that has been found to be essential for the development and function of both dark and marginal cells is the estrogen-related receptor beta, *Nr3b2* (J. Chen & Nathans, 2007; Wangemann, 1995). In *Nr3b2^{-/-}* mouse mutants, these cells lack multiple ion channels and transporters and possess the characteristic narrowing of the membranous labyrinth of the semi-circular canals normally found with improper endolymph composition or homeostasis (J. Chen & Nathans, 2007).

1.1.9 Otoconia (otolith) formation and tethering

To enable the detection of gravity and linear accelerations, the maculae rely on a collection of calcium carbonite crystallites embedded in a gelatinous matrix of proteoglycans and proteins that overlay the hair cells (Ross & Pote, 1984). These bio-mineral structures are called otoliths in fish and otoconia in most other vertebrates, and while there are structural differences between the two, there is a significant overlap in the genes responsible for otoconia and otolith formation. Some of these shared genes are involved in endolymph composition, which has a direct effect on the composition of these bio-mineral structures, impacting their size and shape. These include the anion transporter Pendred, which is encoded by *Slc26a4*, and those encoding the enzyme Carbonic Anhydrase, which are together responsible for maintaining an alkaline endolymphatic pH,

primarily through the production or transport of HCO_3^- (L. A. Everett et al., 2001; Kido et al., 1991; H. M. Kim & Wangemann, 2010, 2011; Nakaya et al., 2007; Tsujikawa et al., 1993). Human patients with mutations in *SLC26A4* suffer from the characteristic enlarged vestibular aqueduct associated with Pendred syndrome, which typically results in progressive hearing loss and often episodic vertigo (Stinckens et al., 2001). Other genes encode proteins that are responsible for the mobilization of calcium, such as *Otop1*, which also participates in protein secretion, and *Atp2b2*, a calmodulin-sensitive plasma membrane calcium-ATPase that increases calcium concentration around the maculae (Blasiole et al., 2006; Hughes, Saito, Schlesinger, & Ornitz, 2007; E. Kim et al., 2010; E. Kim et al., 2011; Kozel et al., 1998). The loss of either of these genes in animal models results in the complete absence of otoliths or otoconia (Blasiole et al., 2006; Hughes et al., 2007; H. M. Kim & Wangemann, 2010, 2011; Kozel et al., 1998).

Other key players in otoconia or otolith formation are the proteins that make up the otolithic membrane, which are collectively referred to as otoconins, although there is some variation in the role each gene plays between species. These encode, for example: Oc90, which recruits calcium and other otoconial matrix components to facilitate crystal nucleation and growth; Otolin-1, a collagen that interacts with Oc90 to act as a scaffold in the same processes; and keratan sulfate proteoglycans, which interact with both Oc90 and Otolin-1, as well as other proteoglycans and collagens, to attract calcium (Deans, Peterson, & Wong, 2010; Killick & Richardson, 1997; Lu et al., 2010; Petko, Millimaki, Canfield, Riley, & Levenson, 2008; Xu et al., 2010; H. Yang et al., 2011; X. Zhao, Yang, Yamoah, & Lundberg, 2007). Null mutants in mice and zebrafish in these genes often result in lost or greatly reduced otoconia or otoliths (Deans et al., 2010; Killick & Richardson, 1997; Lu et al., 2010; Murayama, Herbomel, Kawakami, Takeda, & Nagasawa, 2005; Petko et al., 2008; Xu et al., 2007).

Another important step in otoconia or otolith formation is the tethering of these bio-crystals to their underlying sensory epithelia, a task shared by various glycoproteins. Two such glycoproteins are Otogelin, which is collagenous, and Otogelin-like, which is non-collagenous, and which together are necessary not only for the anchoring of the otolithic membrane to the maculae but also for the anchoring of the cupula to the crista of the semi-circular canals (Bonnet et al., 2013; Cohen-Salmon, El-Amraoui, Leibovici, & Petit, 1997; M. C. Simmler, M. Cohen-Salmon, et al., 2000; M. C. Simmler, I. Zwaenepoel, et al., 2000; Yariz et al., 2012). Other important factors for proper tethering include α -*Tectorin* and β -*tectorin*, which each encode non-collagenous glycoproteins that are expressed solely in the macular sensory epithelia (Legan, Rau, Keen, & Richardson, 1997; Rau, Legan, & Richardson, 1999). In mouse and zebrafish studies, null mutants of α -*Tectorin* have scattered otoconia and reduced otolithic membrane, whereas β -*tectorin* have fewer or fused otoliths (Legan et al., 2000; C. H. Yang et al., 2011).

1.1.10 Evolution of the vertebrate inner ear

To understand the development of an organ, it is important to consider the changes that it has undergone over the course of its evolution. For example, though considered a vertebrate invention, precursors to many inner ear components have been found in species of the Tunicata (Urochordata) subphylum, which possess mechanoreceptor cells embedded in a gelatinous material similar to the hair cells embedded in cupula within the cristae of the vertebrate semicircular canals (Bone & Ryan, 1978). These cupular organs possess cytologically similar support cells to those found in vertebrates, and their mechanoreceptor cells possess a comparable morphology of microvilli surrounding a non-motile cilium to the stereocilia surrounding the primary kinocilia of vertebrate hair cells, although the base of these non-vertebrate sensory cells are lacking afferent or efferent synapses. However, these mechanoreceptors are still capable of responding to near-field vibrations, triggering the protective closure of their siphons and retraction of their bodies. Additional similarities to the vertebrate inner ear, as found in ascidian species of the Tunicata, are that these sensory epithelia are found within an atrium that invaginates from the atrial primordia adjacent to the brain, much in the same way the vertebrate otic placode gives rise to the otic vesicle (H. Wada, Saiga, Satoh, & Holland, 1998). This implies that the inner ear is in fact a chordate invention, as even early Cyclostomata were found to have distinct semi-circular canals (Wever, 1974). By looking to the Agnatha, the sister group of jawed vertebrates, we can perhaps further understand how the inner ear more recently changed over the course of evolution to produce the intricate labyrinth gnathostomes possess today.

Currently, the Agnatha have provided us with some clues concerning the anatomical evolutionary origin of the inner ear. Instead of the three orthogonally-oriented canals found in gnathostomes, both Ostracoderms, which were the armored jawless fish of the Paleozoic, and lampreys possess two canals, an anterior and posterior, suggesting that the lateral canal is a more recent acquisition (Higuchi et al., 2019; Mazan, Jaillard, Baratte, & Janvier, 2000). Hagfish, on the other hand, posses one semi-circular canal that was first predicted to have formed around a solitary protrusion. While this initially suggests that the one-canal morphology is an ancestral trait, hagfish posses two ampullae; following the 'one ampulla per canal' theory, this could instead propose a two-canal situation in our common ancestor, one of which hagfish possibly lost over the course of evolution. Even though we are uncertain about the true ancestral state, a recent comparative analysis between extant cyclostomes has reinforced what we know about the highly conserved molecular mechanisms behind inner ear development (Higuchi et al., 2019). For example, in lampreys, it has been discovered that Tbx1/10A is expressed in the posterior domain

of the otic vesicle, where it plays a role in specifying the anteroposterior axis of the ear by suppressing genes involved in the neurogenesis and de-epithelialization of vestibular ganglionic cells, much like its homolog in jawed vertebrates, *TBX1* (Higuchi et al., 2019; Radosevic, 2011; Radosevic et al., 2011; Raft et al., 2004). Additionally, dorsoventral specification of the lamprey ear is reliant on Hedgehog signaling, much as it is in gnathostomes, with the expression of *patched A* originating in the ventral region of the vesicle (Higuchi et al., 2019). However, why cyclostomes failed to develop a lateral canal has yet to be determined. It was once assumed that the OTX family of transcription factors were responsible for lateral canal development, as mice mutant in *Otx1* are missing this third canal, but the expression of *OtxA* within the ventral domain of cyclostomes suggests that these transcription factors alone can not account for the evolution of this canal (Acampora et al., 1998; Higuchi et al., 2019; H. Morsli et al., 1999).

Beyond their use in comparative anatomical and molecular analyses, studies of the inner ear of the Agnatha also provide valuable insight into the evolution of motor behaviors. For example, one question that the Agnatha allows us to address is whether three orthogonally-oriented semi-circular canals are required for the detection of rotational accelerations on all three axes. To reiterate, lampreys posses only two canals, lacking the lateral canal found in gnathostomes that is responsible for detecting horizontal accelerations of the head (Maklad, Reed, Johnson, & Fritzsch, 2014). Does this then imply that they are unable to sense horizonal movement to some degree? Current analyses of their locomotion, a rhythmic undulation of the head and body in the horizontal plane, suggests that they would require the perception of horizontal accelerations to move efficiently. Additionally, while the innervation of the lamprey eye is unique, they posses caudal and rostral recti muscles, implying that they should be capable of the vestibulo-ocular reflex (i.e. stabilization of the eye) during horizontal movements of the head (Cohen, 1974; Maklad et al., 2014). In fact, a more in-depth analysis of the electrophysiological response of their vestibulocochlear nerve shows that stimuli in all planes, including the horizontal, elicit a response, even though the response from each of its two ampullae is somewhat modified from what is observed in higher vertebrates (Maklad et al., 2014). To summarize, this supports the idea that lamprey are able to perceive and react to stimuli on the horizontal plane, despite lacking a lateral canal.

Given that three unique canals are not required for sensing motion in a three-dimensional space, this gives rise to the question of how other changes in inner ear anatomy translate to differences in behavior. Studies have shown that the 'radius of curvature' of a canal, and therefore its overall size, plays a significant role in the agility of a species (Spoor et al., 2007). For example, it is found that primates and other mammals, such as galagos and tarsiers, possess a large canal radius relative to body mass, enabling them to move faster and with less circumspection than other mammals, such as extant sloths, which are well known for their slow locomotion (Billet, Germain, Ruf, de Muizon, & Hautier, 2013; Spoor et al., 2007). This correlation extends beyond mammals, such that when comparing fish with land-based vertebrates of the same size, a much greater curvature to body mass ratio is found, corresponding to a greater sensitivity to angular accelerations (G. M. Jones & Spells, 1963). However, the ears of these examples all possess an orthogonal three-canal system. When considering a species such as the hagfish, which have only a single vertical canal, it is interesting to see what other compensations need to be made to inner ear anatomy to allow for efficient movement (Higuchi et al., 2019; McVean, 2009) Hagfish also make a fascinating research subject for this topic of study because they do not have functional eyes, nor do they have a conventional 'neck,' which means the degree to which their canal needs to measure angular accelerations is not reliant on their ability to stabilize their gaze during motion (McVean, 2009). However, electrophysiological analyses indicate that hagfish can still detect rotational accelerations and on more than one axis, although with less sensitivity, especially on the horizonal plane. One reason their single canal detects accelerations on multiple axes could be because, unlike other fish, the internal radius of their canal is much larger than its radius of curvature. However, this anatomical difference might actually exist to compensate for the lack of cupula overlying the ampullae in the hagfish ear. Presently, it is thought that the cupula serves to stabilize and protect the hair cell bundles of the ampullae (Dohlman, 1980). During an acceleration, this cupula is displaced, which bends the embedded hair cells and triggers a response. It is therefore hypothesized that a canal's curvature of radius must be large enough to reduce the time required for the cupula to return to its resting position and, therefore, allow the embedded hair cells to detect the next acceleration. In hagfish, this requirement for a large radius of curvature might simply not exist due to the lack of cupula (McVean, 1991). Altogether, while these studies have given us an idea of how inner ear anatomy affects the motor capabilities of a species, there is still a great deal we can learn about how the diverse assortment of species with a rudimentary inner ear system, or no inner ear at all, perceive and respond to motions of the head and body.

1.1.11 Concluding remarks

A great deal of research has been invested in understanding how the inner ear develops and how its developmental programme has evolved over the course of vertebrate history. This has aided the medical field considerably by providing insights into how mutant variants of human genes in animal models impact both their independent cellular function and the overall function of the inner ear. However, while many genetic factors have already been identified and investigated, there are still gaps in our knowledge concerning all the players involved in otic development and how they interact with other unknown or known factors. Nevertheless, headway has already been made in restoring vestibular function through gene editing tools in some animal models of vestibular diseases. This includes the intraperitoneal injection of antisense oligonucleotides to block the defective cryptic splice site of *Ush1c* or the supplemental knock-in of this gene with synthetic adeno-associated viral vectors to rescue vestibular function in mice models of Usher syndrome (Delmaghani & El-Amraoui, 2020; J. J. Lentz et al., 2013; B. Pan et al., 2017). While it remains to be seen how soon these techniques can be applied to human patients, continuing research into the developmental biology of the inner ear is essential in identifying new targets for this promising area of therapeutics.

1.2 Zebrafish as a model for inner ear development

Since their proposal as a model organism by George Streisinger in the 1970s and 1980s, zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) have been utilized in the biological sciences to elucidate many shared developmental, genetic, and behavioral processes in vertebrates (G. Streisinger, 1984; George Streisinger, Walker, Dower, Knauber, & Singer, 1981). The external fertilization of the zebrafish makes it an ideal model for the preservation of its mother for future experimentation and for the easy observation and genetic manipulation of embryogenesis, which is aided by the embryo's robustness, large size, and early optical transparency (Dahm, 2006). Additionally, its embryonic development is rapid, with the formation of the head, trunk muscles, and other organs beginning as early as 19 hpf. By 4-5 dpf, the main and posterior chambers of its swim bladder inflate, allowing for the observation of complex swimming behaviors, although earlier reflexes, such as burst swimming for escaping predators, are already evident within the first two days of embryogenesis (reviewed in Kalueff et al., 2013; Winata et al., 2009).

While differences exist in the roles of some genes between zebrafish and mammals, this is an advantage in some respects when considering research into therapeutics for human disorders (Jurynec et al., 2008; Rederstorff et al., 2011). For example, zebrafish have the ability to regenerate their hearts, spinal cord, hair cells, retinal neurons, and photoreceptors, which has aided in the discovery of genetic factors involved with the reconstruction of these cell types and tissues without scarring post-injury (Bernardos, Barthel, Meyers, & Raymond, 2007; Goldshmit et al., 2012; Head, Gacioch, Pennisi, & Meyers, 2013; Lush & Piotrowski, 2014; Poss, Wilson, & Keating, 2002; Steiner, Kim, Cabot, & Hudspeth, 2014). However, even with their differences to mammals, zebrafish are still a powerful model organism for inner ear development given the similar anatomy and function of their vestibular apparatuses to that of other vertebrates (Abbas & Whitfield, 2010; Baxendale & Whitfield, 2014). Already, they have contributed to our understanding of several aspects of vertebrate otic development, such as: the establishment of the pre-placodal region of the ectoderm and otic/epibranchial precursor domain; anteroposterior patterning of the otic vesicle; neurogenesis; semi-circular canal development; and otoconia/otolith formation and tethering (Katherine L. Hammond & Whitfield, 2006; Kwon et al., 2010; Maier & Whitfield, 2014; McCarroll et al., 2012; Murayama et al., 2005; Ohyama et al., 2006; Petko et al., 2008; Riley & Moorman, 2000; R. E. Waterman & D. H. Bell, 1984; Tanya T Whitfield et al., 1996; C. H. Yang et al., 2011). Therefore, there is still a great deal we can learn about inner ear development by looking to zebrafish as a model organism.

1.3 Retinoic acid synthesis in the ear and its signaling pathway

Retinoic acid (RA) is a small, polar morphogen derived from vitamin A (all-*trans* retinol) that exists in many forms in the body, although all-*trans*-RA is the primary ligand utilized in

development as a regulator of gene transcription, while 11-*cis*-RA acts as a vital chromophore that mediates dim-light vision in the vertebrate eye (Cunningham & Duester, 2015; Kono, Goletz, & Crouch, 2008). The metabolism of RA begins with the absorption of all-*trans* retinol in the small intestine, where it is esterified into retinyl ester by acyl-CoA:retinol acyltransferase (ARAT) and lecithin:retinol acyl-transferase (LRAT) prior to its transportation through the bloodstream to the liver for storage, though the liver is also capable of synthesizing retinyl esters (Batten et al., 2004; Fortuna, Trugo, & Borojevic, 2001; Helgerud, Petersen, & Norum, 1982; MacDonald & Ong, 1988). When RA is required elsewhere in the body, these esters can be re-hydrolyzed into retinol and bound to retinol binding protein (RBP) for transport to target tissues (Bashor & Chytil, 1975; Muto & Goodman, 1972; Ong & Chytil, 1975). At this point, they can be stored again intracellularly either through re-esterification via LRAT or by being bound to cellular retinol-binding protein (CRBP), which prevents the non-specific oxidation of retinol (Ong & Chytil, 1976; Penzes & Napoli, 1999).

CRBP is also necessary for presenting all-*trans* retinol to Retinol Dehydrogenase 10 (RDH10), a member of the short-chain dehydrogenase/reductase family that oxidizes retinol esters into all-*trans* retinal (retinaldehyde) during prenatal development (G. Duester, 2000; Penzes & Napoli, 1999; Sandell et al., 2007). Members of the alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) family are also capable of synthesizing all-*trans* retinal from all-*trans* retinol; however, this is accomplished in the absence of CRBP, and the ADH family has only been implicated in essential RA metabolism during postnatal development and growth (Deltour, Foglio, & Duester, 1999; Kedishvili et al., 1998; Molotkov, Deltour, Foglio, Cuenca, & Duester, 2002). Once all-*trans* retinal is made available to the cell, it is finally oxidized into RA primarily by retinaldehyde dehydrogenases (RALDH; also known as ALDH), which are active in specific spatiotemporal domains and whose

targeted deletions result in distinct developmental defects, highlighting them as the rate-limiting enzymes in RA synthesis (Gregg Duester, Mic, & Molotkov, 2003). Studies in mice have identified Raldh1, Raldh2, and Raldh3 as the essential players in mammalian RA metabolism, although Raldh2 plays a dominant role, with mouse Raldh2 mutants recapitulating widespread vitamin A deficiency phenotypes (Karen Niederreither, Subbarayan, Dollé, & Chambon, 1999; Karen Niederreither, Vermot, Fraulob, Chambon, & Dollé, 2002). Further studies have found that Raldh2 is required for the production of almost all embryonic RA and plays an essential role in somitogenesis, forelimb development, and organogenesis of the kidneys, heart, and lungs, whereas Raldh1 and Raldh3 are primarily required for the development of sensory tissues (Dupé et al., 2003; Fan et al., 2003; Mic, Haselbeck, Cuenca, & Duester, 2002; Karen Niederreither et al., 1999; Karen Niederreither et al., 2002; K. Niederreither, Vermot, Schuhbaur, Chambon, & Dollé, 2002). Notably, *Raldh2* expression in the somites is thought to contribute RA for the regulation of target genes relevant to early otic development that are expressed either within the otocyst or the hindbrain (Gale, Zile, & Maden, 1999; Karen Niederreither, Vermot, Schuhbaur, Chambon, & Dollé, 2000). With respect to the later spatiotemporal expression of Raldh genes within the inner ear itself, all three are detected within the otic epithelium, both in the vestibular and cochlear regions (Raymond Romand, Dollé, & Hashino, 2006; Raymond Romand et al., 2004). As to the vestibular expression of *Raldh1*, it is observed in the semicircular canals, common crus, endolymphatic duct, and the lateral border of the utricle (Raymond Romand et al., 2006; Raymond Romand et al., 2004). *Raldh2* is found within the epithelium adjacent to the cristae, presumably the dark cells of the lateral canal, and the non-sensory membranes overhanging the saccule (Raymond Romand et al., 2006; Raymond Romand et al., 2004). Finally, Raldh3 is expressed within the endolymphatic duct and the lateral canal, also presumably within the dark cells (Raymond Romand et al., 2006; Raymond Romand et al., 2004).

Zebrafish possess only two retinaldehyde dehydrogenase orthologs, *aldh1a2* and *aldh1a3*, with aldh1a2 serving as the main producer of RA during embryogenesis while aldh1a3 expression presents later in development and in more localized regions of the embryo (Cañestro, Postlethwait, Gonzàlez-Duarte, & Albalat, 2006; Silke Pittlik, Domingues, Meyer, & Begemann, 2008; Xi, Yue, & Yang, 2015). During early zebrafish development, aldh1a2 is first detected at 12 hpf in the paraxial mesoderm and by 15 hpf within the developing somites and head mesenchyme posteroventral to the otic placode (Begemann, Schilling, Rauch, Geisler, & Ingham, 2001; Grandel et al., 2002; Maier & Whitfield, 2014; S. Pittlik & Begemann, 2012). Expression of aldh1a2 is subsequently found in other developing tissues, although it persists adjacent to the otic vesicle only until 19 hpf, at which point its expression is greatly reduced (Begemann et al., 2001; Grandel et al., 2002; Maier & Whitfield, 2014). However, *aldh1a2* is not the sole producer of RA for the developing ear. As aldh1a2 expression decreases, aldh1a3 expression appears around 19 hpf within the anteroventral region of the otic vesicle (Maier & Whitfield, 2014; Silke Pittlik et al., 2008). It persists in this region until 36 hpf, presumably in the anterior macula (Silke Pittlik et al., 2008). aldh1a3 expression again appears at 48 hpf around the cristae of the semi-circular canals, within the utricular macula, and within a region of the dorsal otic epithelium that marks the endolymphatic duct. Unlike in mice, only one retinaldehyde dehydrogenase, *aldh1a3*, appears to be responsible for providing the zebrafish inner ear with RA during later stages of otic development.

There are other genes involved with RA synthesis, although their contribution to this process during otic development in zebrafish and other model organisms is unclear. This includes

cyp1b1 (*Cytochrome p450, family 1, subfamily B, polypeptide 1*), which is expressed in the ventral region of the inner ear in what appears to be either within or just ventral to the cristae, although it is involved in metabolic processes not limited to RA synthesis and no mutants for this gene have been observed for otic phenotypes (Chambers, Wilson, Maden, & Lumsden, 2007; Murray, Melvin, Greenlee, & Burke, 2001; Ramos, 1999; Sugden, Leonardo-Mendonça, Acuña-Castroviejo, & Siekmann, 2017). Other enzymes involved in RA metabolism are bmco1 (β , β -carotene-15,15'-monooxygenase) and bcdo2 (β , β -carotene-9',10'-dioxygenase), although the spatiotemporal expression patterns of each gene are far removed from the developing ear (Levi, Ziv, Admon, Levavi-Sivan, & Lubzens, 2012; Saunders et al., 2019).

Following the synthesis of RA, its distribution during embryogenesis is controlled by the Cytochrome p450 subfamily 26 (Cyp26) enzymes, which hydroxylate RA and target it for degradation (Fujii et al., 1997; J. A. White et al., 1996). Zebrafish possess four genes belonging to this subfamily, *cyp26a1*, *cyp26b1*, *cyp26c1*, and *cyp26d1*, although only the first three are found in mice (Fujii et al., 1997; Gu et al., 2006; MacLean et al., 2001; Tahayato, Dollé, & Petkovich, 2003; J. A. White et al., 1996). In mice, all *Cyp26* genes are expressed within the vestibular region of the inner ear. *Cyp26A1* expression is evident first in the ventrolateral otic epithelium and adjacent periotic mesenchyme, particularly surrounding the developing anterior and posterior semi-circular canals (de Roos et al., 1999; Fujii et al., 1997; Raymond Romand et al., 2004; Tahayato et al., 2003). Later, it is restricted to the endolymphatic duct (Raymond Romand et al., 2004). *Cyp26B1* is first found in two small isolated areas of the medial and lateral otic epithelium and subsequently in the periotic mesenchyme around the horizontal canal (Raymond Romand et al., 2006). Later in development, it is found within the cristae and the support cells of the maculae (Raymond Romand et al., 2004). *Cyp26C1* expression

is restricted to the ventral otic epithelium and surrounding mesenchyme (Raymond Romand et al., 2006; Tahayato et al., 2003). The only *cyp26* genes expressed within or around the developing zebrafish ear are *cyp26b1*, *cyp26c1*, and *cyp26d1*. At 48hpf, *cyp26b1* is evident in the what appears to be the dorsal otic vesicle (Q. Zhao, Dobbs-McAuliffe, & Linney, 2005). Both *cyp26c1* and *cyp26d1* are expressed much earlier; *cyp26c1* is evident in the head mesenchyme anterior and ventrolateral to the otic vesicle from 19-26 hpf, and *cyp26d1* is evident in the dorsal otic vesicle from 25-42 hpf (Gu, Xu, Wang, Gao, & Zhao, 2005; Maier & Whitfield, 2014). *cyp26c1* is again evident at 48 hpf in the periotic mesenchyme around the ventral aspect of the ear (Bohnsack & Kahana, 2013). Each of these genes is also expressed in the rhombomeres of the hindbrain, a tissue from which many markers are known to regulate otic development (Gu et al., 2005; Kwak, Phillips, Heck, & Riley, 2002; Lecaudey et al., 2007; Maier & Whitfield, 2014; Q. Zhao et al., 2005). Over the course of inner ear development, *cyb26a1* is expressed in the pharyngeal pouches ventral to the ear, but whether it partakes in otic development from this distance is unknown (Isken et al., 2008; van der Velden, Wang, Querol Cano, & Haramis, 2013).

Once RA is made available in the cell, it is transported into the nucleus by cellular retinoic acid-binding protein (CRABP) and presented to retinoic acid receptor (RAR) and retinoid X receptor heterodimers (RXR) (Aström et al., 1991; A. Budhu, Gillilan, & Noy, 2001; A. S. Budhu & Noy, 2002; Cai et al., 2012; Delva et al., 1999). These heterodimers are bound to retinoic acid receptor elements (RAREs) of target genes involved in cellular processes such as proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis, restricting their transcription by recruiting nuclear receptor co-repressors (NCORs) in the absence of RA (Chatzi, Brade, & Duester, 2011; J. D. Chen & Evans, 1995; De Genaro, Simón, Rotstein, & Politi, 2013; Hu, Gao, Liao, Tang, & Lu, 2013; Janesick et al., 2014; Kurokawa et al., 1995; Molotkova, Molotkov, & Duester, 2007; Rajaii, Bitzer, Xu, &

Sockanathan, 2008; Ribes, Wang, Dollé, & Niederreither, 2006; Weston, Blumberg, & Underhill, 2003). Once RA binds RAR-RXR, a conformational change in the heterodimer promotes the exchange of co-repressors for nuclear receptor co-activators (NCOAs; also known as SRCs), which specifically interact with RA-liganded RAR, the key regulatory component of RAR-RXR (Kashyap & Gudas, 2010; McInerney et al., 1998; Rochel et al., 2011). In zebrafish, there are four *rar* genes (*raraa, rarab, rarya,* and *raryb*) and six *rxr* genes (*rxraa, rxrab, rxr\u00cc\u00e7a, rxr\u00e7a,* and *rxr\u00e7b*), each of which has a distinct spatiotemporal expression pattern during embryogenesis (Hale et al., 2006; Tallafuss et al., 2006; Waxman & Yelon, 2007). While RXRs can be involved in cellular processes outside RA-mediated transcriptional regulation by forming heterodimeric complexes with other nuclear receptors (including vitamin D receptors, liver x receptors, thyroid-hormone receptors, and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors), RARs function primarily in the RA signaling pathway (Umesono & Evans, 1989; Willy & Mangelsdorf, 1998). During otic development, all four *rar* genes are expressed within the inner ear, imparting another layer of spatiotemporal regulation of the RA signaling pathway (Maier & Whitfield, 2014).

1.4 Summary and Outline of Research Performed

Our sensory organs provide us with the ability to perceive mechanical, chemical, or thermal stimuli and transduce this information to the brain for interpretation (Vosshall & Carandini, 2009). The stimuli that vertebrate inner ear is specialized to detect include sound and motion, although more research has been invested over the years in understanding how its auditory apparatus, the cochlea, detects sound. The detection of motion relies on the vestibular apparatuses of the inner ear. These include the semi-circular canals, which detect rotational accelerations of the head, and the maculae, sensory patches overlain by small calcium concretions that detect linear accelerations

and gravity (Hain & Helminski, 2007; Mescher, 2010; Purves et al., 2001). Congenital disorders of the inner ear can result in delayed motor development, chronic dizziness, or balance issues from birth, although symptoms can also appear later in life, such as bouts of vertigo, the illusionary spinning or tilting of oneself or the environment (Gurr & Moffat, 2001; C.-M. Li et al., 2016). To understand how dysgenesis of the inner ear contributes to vestibular dysfunction and to develop better treatments for people suffering from this dysfunction, further research needs to be conducted into the development of the vestibular apparatuses of the inner ear.

Much of what we already know about inner ear development pertains to the earliest stages of its developmental programme. This includes the specification of the pre-placodal region along the anterior edge of the neural plate where an ectodermal thickening known as the otic placode will be induced (Arima et al., 2005; Janesick et al., 2012; Litsiou et al., 2005; Hakim Morsli, Choo, Ryan, Johnson, & Wu, 1998; Shiotsugu et al., 2004). This placode is then invaginated in amniotes or cavitated in fish to form the otic vesicle (otocyst), which will be subjected to various signaling cues to pattern the sensory, non-sensory, or neuronal cell types that will form the vestibular apparatuses of the inner ear (Kaufman, 1992; Maroon et al., 2002; G. Schlosser & Northcutt, 2000). One signaling molecule that has already been implicated in early inner ear development is the vitamin A derivative retinoic acid (RA), which binds nuclear receptors upstream target genes to promote their transcription (Kashyap & Gudas, 2010; McInerney et al., 1998; Rochel et al., 2011). Severe embryological malformations of the inner ear arise with either elevated doses of vitamin A or inadequate nutrition during pregnancy; some of these defects include small or missing otic vesicles and epithelial atrophy (Chole & Quick, 1976; Kil et al., 2005; Löhle, 1985; Maden, Gale, Kostetskii, & Zile, 1996; Wackym et al., 1987; J. C. White, Highland, Kaiser, & Clagett-Dame, 2000). Animal models of mutations in the metabolizing enzymes for RA recapitulate these

phenotypes, and exogenous treatment with RA leads to the agenesis or dysgenesis of the maculae and semi-circular canals (Burk & Willhite, 1992; Frenz, Liu, Galinovic-Schwartz, & Van De Water, 1996; Granström, 1990; Jarvis, Johnston, & Sulik, 1990; Karen Niederreither et al., 1999; R. Romand et al., 2002). These malformations are reflected in human infants exposed to retinoids, resulting in the Mondini-Alexander defect, the symptoms of which include an enlarged saccule or utricle, and Michel aplasia, characterized by the agenesis of the inner ear or a rudimentary cavity void of vestibular or auditory structures (Berger, 2014; Lammer et al., 1985).

Research concerning the role RA plays in early inner development reveals that it is involved with several processes, including: (1) regulating the posterior expression of pre-placodal markers; (2) regulating the expression of negative regulators of neurogenesis in the otic vesicle; (3) promoting the development of sensory cells within the neuro-sensory-competent domain of the otic vesicle; and (4) allowing the maturation of the otic neuroblasts that give rise to the afferent neurons of the vestibulocochlear cranial ganglion (Arima et al., 2005; Bok et al., 2011; Janesick et al., 2012; Maier & Whitfield, 2014; Shiotsugu et al., 2004). Given the severity of inner ear malformations involving later structures of the inner ear and the expression of RA metabolizing genes throughout otic development, we hypothesized that this pathway also plays a late role in otic development, beyond the earlier patterning stages and coinciding with the morphogenesis of the canals. However, though research modeling mutations in the metabolizing enzymes of the RA pathway in non-human vertebrates result in the agenesis or dysgenesis of late otic structures, it is difficult to discern if RA plays an independent role at these stages or if earlier phenotypes generated by interfering with this pathway are contributing to or masking those that would appear later.

Therefore, in Chapter 3, we tested our hypothesis through the pharmacological treatment of zebrafish embryos with an RA agonist or antagonist beyond the point at which RA-responsive otic markers have been studied in the literature. Our work identified novel targets of the RA pathway expressed in the protrusions of the semi-circular canals that are involved with the extracellular matrix. We also demonstrate that RA impacts the levels of other signaling pathways involved in semi-circular canal morphogenesis, though unlike studies that investigate the role these independent pathways play in this process, canal morphogenesis is complete, if aberrant. We also find that late treatments with excess RA significantly impact the overall shape of the developing ear. Additionally, we demonstrate that ablating RA late in otic development results in a loss or reduction in the size of the otoliths, implicating a significant role for RA in otolith maintenance, at least in teleosts (Ono, Keller, et al., 2020; Ono, Sandell, Trainor, & Wu, 2020). In conclusion, our work shows that the RA signaling pathway has a unique and previously undescribed late phase of activity in otic development.

During our investigation of a late role for RA in otic development, one of the problems we encountered was the lack of a fast or reliable way to observe inner ear structures in zebrafish. Therefore, we sough to identify transgenic lines that could be utilized to visualize either the whole inner ear or key features of the inner ear during otic development, particularly at later stages. To do so, we performed a screen at the National Institute of Genetics, Japan, to identify zebrafish gene or enhancer trap lines expressing an engineered yeast Gal4 in various structures of the developing ear. In Chapter 4, we provide an analysis of the expression profiles of six lines that could facilitate research at later stages of otic development, either by enabling the visualization of distinct inner ear structures with the help of visual reporters, like GFP, or the manipulation of target gene expression.

1.5 Tables

Table 1.5. 1. Genes associated with vestibular dysfunction in human syndromes or disease phenotypes, as well as their phenotypes in animal disease models. OMIM reference numbers have been included where available.

Human gene name	Possible human	Animal model gene	Citations
	behavioral or	name and disease	
	anatomical phenotypes	phenotypes	
<i>CADHERIN 23;</i> <i>CDH23</i> (605516)	 Delayed motor skills associated and vestibular dysfunction Associated with Usher syndrome, type 1D (601067) and typed 1D/F digenic (601067); Deafness, autosomal recessive 12 (601386); and Pituitary adenoma multiple types 	- <i>Cdh23</i> (mouse): hyperactivity, head- tossing, and circling behavior; disorganized stereociliary bundles - <i>cdh23</i> (zebrafish): balance defects and circling swimming behavior; disorganized	- (Bolz et al., 2001) - (Di Palma et al., 2001) - (Holme & Steel, 2002) - (Smith, Lee, et al., 1992) - (Söllner et al., 2004) - (T. Wada et al., 2001) - (Q. Y. Zheng et al., 2004)
	(617540)	stereociliary bundles	
CHLORIDE INTRACELLULAR CHANNEL 5; CLIC5 (607293) CHROMODOMAIN HELICASE DNA- BINDING PROTEIN 7; CHD7 (608892)	 Vestibular dysfunction later in life Associated with Deafness, autosomal recessive 103 (616042) Semi-circular canal hypoplasia or agenesis Vestibulocochlear nerve hypoplasia Associated with CHARGE syndrome (214800) and 	 <i>Clic5</i> (mouse): impaired balance; reduced number and increased degeneration of hair cells; abnormal or missing stereocilia <i>Chd7</i> (mouse): head-shaking and circling; truncation or size-reduction of the posterior and lateral semi-circular canals; improper fusion 	- (Gagnon et al., 2006) - (Seco et al., 2015) - (E. A. Bosman et al., 2005) - (Jongmans et al., 2008) - (Van de Laar et al., 2007) - (Vissers et al., 2004)
	Hypogonadotropic hypogonadism 5 with or without anosmia (612370)	within the central pouch prior to canal formation	
COAGULATION FACTOR C HOMOLOGY; COCH (603196)	 Variable vestibular dysfunction Caused by mucopolysaccharide depositions within the inner ear, resulting in 	- <i>Coch</i> (mouse): vestibular dysfunction (as determined through analysis of vestibular- evoked potential)	 - (S. M. Jones et al., 2011) - (Khetarpal, Schuknecht, Gacek, & Holmes, 1991) - (Manolis et al., 1996) - (Robertson et al., 2006)

	the degeneration of dendritic fibers - Associated with Deafness, autosomal recessive 110 (618094)		
	and autosomal dominant 9 (601369)		
ELONGATION FACTOR Tu GTP- BINDING DOMAIN- CONTAINING 2; EFTUD2 (603892)	 Agenesis of lateral canals Associated with Mandibulofacial dysostosis, Guin- Almedia type (MFDGA) (610536) 		- (Gordon et al., 2012)
<i>EPHRIN RECEPTOR EPHA2; EPHA2</i> (176946)	 Enlarged vestibular aqueduct Associated with Pendred syndrome (274600) and Cataract 6, multiple types (116600) 		- (M. Li et al., 2020)
<i>EPHRIN RECEPTOR EPHB2; EPHB2</i> (600997)	 Enlarged vestibular aqueduct Associated with Pendred syndrome (274600); Bleeding disorder, platelet-type, 22 (618462); and prostate cancer/brain cancer susceptibility, somatic (603688) 	- <i>Ephb2</i> (mouse): abnormal otoconia; absence of the endolymphatic duct; dysplasia of endolymphatic fluid space (particularly of the semicircular canals); mis-localized endolymphatic sac ion-transport cells	- (Cowan, Yokoyama, Bianchi, Henkemeyer, & Fritzsch, 2000) - (M. Li et al., 2020) - (Raft et al., 2014)
<i>EPITHELIAL SPLICING REGULATORY PROTEIN 1; ESRP1</i> (612959)	 Hypoplasia of the lateral semi-circular canal (deficiency restricted to the central bony island) Associated with Deafness, autosomal recessive 109 (618013) 	- <i>Esrp1</i> (mouse): common crus and lateral semi-circular canal dysgenesis; low incidence of central cyst without vestibular outgrowths	- (Rohacek et al., 2017)
EYA TRANSCRIPTION COACTIVATOR AND PHOSPHATASE 1; EYA1 (601653)	 Enlarged vestibule; enlarged vestibular aqueduct; lateral semi- circular canal dysplasia Associated with Otofaciocervical 	- <i>Eya1</i> (mouse): inner ear agenesis; truncated endolymphatic duct, truncated anterior or posterior ampullae	 - (Ceruti et al., 2002) - (Kozlowski, Whitfield, Hukriede, Lam, & Weinberg, 2005) - (Namba, Abe, Shinkawa,

	syndrome (166780); Anterior segment anomalies with or without cataract (602588); Branchio-otic syndrome 1 (602588); and Branchio-oto-renal syndrome 1 with or without cataracts (113650)	and canals; absent semi-circular canals; small or missing maculae; reduced number of hair cells - eyal (zebrafish): imbalanced and circling swimming behavior; reduced response to	Kimberling, & Usami, 2001) - (Song et al., 2013) - (T.T. Whitfield et al., 1996) - (PX. Xu et al., 1999) - (Dan Zou et al., 2008)
		stimuli; small otoliths, absent hair cells in cristae; reduced number of hair cells in maculae	
FIBROBLAST GROWTH FACTOR 3; FGF3 (164950)	 Delayed gross motor skills in infancy due to balance impairment Inner ear agenesis (Michel aplasia) or hypoplasia (cystic vestibulum) Absence of the vestibulocochlear nerve Associated with Deafness, congenital with inner ear agenesis, microtia, and microdontia (610706) 	- Fgf3 (mouse): inner ear agenesis - fgf3 (zebrafish): inner ear agenesis	- (Alsmadi et al., 2009) - (Sensi et al., 2011) - (Tekin et al., 2007) - (Tekin et al., 2008) - (Wright & Mansour, 2003)
FIBROBLAST GROWTH FACTOR RECEPTOR 2; FGFR2 (176943)	- Semi-circular canal hypoplasia - Associated with Apert syndrome (101200); Antley-Bixler Syndrome without genital anomalies or disordered steroidogenesis (207410); Beare-Stevenson cutis gyrata syndrome (123790); Bent bone dysplasia syndrome (614592); Craniofacial- skeletal-dermatologic dysplasia (101600);	- Fgfr-2 (mouse; IIIb isoform): disrupted morphogenesis: dysgenesis of membranous labyrinth, resulting in cystic cavities; rudimentary vestibulocochlear ganglion and sensory patches	- (WJ. Park et al., 1995) - (Quintero-Rivera et al., 2006) - (T. J. Wang et al., 2002)

GAP JUNCTION PROTEIN, BETA-2; GJB2 (121011)	Craniosynostosis, nonspecific (N.A.); Crouzon syndrome (123500); Gastric cancer, somatic (613659); Jackson- Weiss syndrome (123150); LADD syndrome (149730); Pfeiffer syndrome (101600); Saethre- Chotzen syndrome (101400); Scaphocephaly and Axenfeld-Rieger anomaly (N.A.); and Scaphocephaly, maxillary retrusion, and mental retardation (609579) - Vertigo - Associated with Bart- Pumphrey syndrome (149200); Deafness, autosomal dominant 3A (601544) and autosomal recessive 1A (220290);	- <i>cx30.3</i> (zebrafish): reduced ear size	- (Chang-Chien et al., 2014) - (Dodson et al., 2011)
GAP IUNCTION	Hystrix-like ichthyosis with deafness (602540); Keratitis-ichthyosis- deafness syndrome (148210); Karetoderma, palmoplantar, with deafness (148350); and Vohwinkel syndrome (124500)		- (Dodson et al., 2011)
GAP JUNCTION PROTEIN, BETA-6; GJB6 (604418)	- vertigo - Associated with Deafness, autosomal dominant 3B (612643), autosomal recessive 1B (612645), and digenic GJB2/GJB6 (220290); also associated with Ectodermal dysplasia 2, Clouston type (129500)		- (Douson et al., 2011)

H6 FAMILY	- Unsteady, wide-based	- <i>Hmx2</i> (mouse):	- (Feng & Xu, 2010)
HOMEOBOX 2:	gait, and delayed	failed enlargement of	- (Miller et al., 2009)
<i>HMX2</i> (600647)	walking in children	the pars superior and	- (W. Wang, Chan,
	- Mondini	semi-circular canal	Baron, Van De Water, & Lufkin 2001)
	malformations: enlarged	aplasia	- (W. Wang, Grimmer,
	vestibule and	- <i>hmx2</i> (zebrafish):	Van De Water, &
	endolymphatic duct	larval circling,	Lufkin, 2004)
	(N.A)	looping, and spiraling	
		swimming behaviour;	
		mono-otolith (fused	
		otoliths) situated over	
		saccular macula;	
		reduced number of	
		utricular hair cells	
H6 FAMILY	- Unsteady, wide-based	- <i>Hmx3</i> (mouse): loss	- (Feng & Xu, 2010)
HOMEOBOX 3;	gait, and delayed	of hair cells; absence	- (Miller et al., 2009) (W. Wang et al
<i>HMX3</i> (613380)	walking	of lateral semi-	- (w. wang et al., 2004)
	- Mondini	circular duct crista	
	malformations: enlarged	- <i>hmx3</i> (zebrafish):	
	vestibule and	larval circling,	
	endolymphatic duct	looping, and spiraling	
	(N.A.)	swimming behaviour;	
		mono-otolith (fused	
		otoliths) situated over	
		saccular macula;	
		reduced number of	
HOMEODOV 11.	Somi oiroular aanal	Horal (mouse):	(Lufkin Dierich
HOVA1 (1A2055)	- Semi-circular canal	<i>-noxa1</i> (mouse):	LeMeur, Mark, &
110AAI (142955)	Associated with	malformations	Chambon, 1991)
	Athabaskin brainstem	including dilated	- (Pasqualetti, Neun,
	dysgenesis syndrome	membranous	Davenne, & Rijli,
	(601536) and Bosley-	labyrinth incomplete	- (Tischfield et al
	Salih-Alorainy	periotic capsule	2005)
	syndrome (601536)	ventromedially, and	
		missing semi-circular	
		canals	
HOMEOBOX A2;	- Inner ear agenesis		- (Alasti et al., 2008)
HOXA2 (604685)	- Associated with		
	Microtia, hearing		
	impairment, and cleft		
	palate (AR) (612290)		
	and Microtia with or		
	without hearing		
	impairment (AD)		
	(612290)		

JAGGED 1; JAG1 (601920)	 Vestibular pathology, as characterized with disequilibrium when walking Hypoplasia of the posterior canal and aplasia of the anterior canal Associated with Deafness, congenital heart defects, and embryotoxon (617992); Alagille syndrome 1 (118450); and Tetralogy of Fallot (187500) 	- Jag1 (mouse): heading- shaking/weaving behaviour and poor negative geotaxis (vertical climbing ability); missing ampullae	- (Le Caignec et al., 2002) - (Tsai et al., 2001)
<i>LIM HOMEOBOX TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR 1, ALPHA; LMX1A</i> (600298)	- Vertigo - Associated with Deafness, autosomal dominant 7 (601412)	- <i>Lmx1a</i> (mouse): impaired righting reflex, circling behaviour, hyperactivity, and ataxic gate	 (Bergstrom, Gagnon, & Eicher, 1999) (Millonig, Millen, & Hatten, 2000) (Wesdorp et al., 2018)
<i>LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN RECEPTOR- RELATED PROTEIN 2; LRP2</i> (600073)	 Malformation of the semi-circular canal and vestibule Associated with Donnai-Barrow syndrome (222448) 		- (S. Kantarci et al., 2007)
<i>LYSINE-SPECIFIC METHYLTRANSFER ASE 2D; KMT2D</i> (602113)	 Malformations associated with Mondini dysplasia: variable aplasia, hypoplasia, or dysplasia of the semi- circular canals and an enlarged endolymphatic sac and duct Associated with Kabuki syndrome 1 (147920) 	- <i>Kmt2d</i> (mouse): difficulty maintaining balance and gait abnormalities	- (Igawa, Nishizawa, Sugihara, & Inuyama, 2000) - (Yamamoto et al., 2019)
MYOSIN, HEAVY CHAIN 9, NONMUSCLE; MYH9 (160775)	 Scheibe dysplasia: cochleosaccular degeneration (CSD) Associated with Deafness, autosomal dominant 17 (603622) and Macrothrombocytopenia 		- (Lalwani et al., 1997) - (Lalwani et al., 1999)

	and granulocyte inclusions with or without nephritis or		
	sensormeural hearing		
MYOSIN VIIA; MYO7A (276903)	- Vestibular dysfunction - Associated with Usher syndrome type 1B (276900) and Deafness, autosomal dominant 11 (601317) and autosomal recessive 2 (600060)	 <i>Myo7a</i> (mouse): splayed/disorganized stereociliary bundles; hyperactivity, head- shaking, and circling behaviors <i>myo7aa</i> (zebrafish): splayed/disorganized stereociliary bundles; reduced response to auditory/vibrational stimuli and looping or corkscrewing swimming patterns 	- (Ernest et al., 2000) - (Gibson et al., 1995) - (Holme & Steel, 2002) - (Kristi Nguyen, Amanda L. Hall, & Jennifer M. Jones, 2015) - (Weil et al., 1996)
<i>OTOGELIN; OTOG</i> (604487)	- Delayed motor development; persistent vestibular hyporeflexia -Associated with Deafness, autosomal recessive 18B (614945)	- <i>Otog</i> (mouse): Abnormal head and body posture, abnormal landing pattern (commonly land on back), and circular underwater swimming behaviour; detached otoconia and ampullary cupula	- (Schraders et al., 2012) - (MC. Simmler et al., 2000)
<i>PAIRED BOX 2;</i> <i>PAX2</i> (167409)	 Enlarged chamber of the inner ear Associated with Papillorenal ('Renal- coloboma') syndrome (120330) and Glomerulosclerosis, focal segmental, 7 (616002) 	- <i>Pax2</i> (mouse): enlarged central vestibule; absent utricle, saccule, and ampullae	 - (Eccles & Schimmenti, 1999) - (Favor et al., 1996) - (Sanyanusin, McNoe, Sullivan, Weaver, & Eccles, 1995)
POTASSIUM CHANNEL, VOLTAGE-GATED, KQT-LIKE SUBUNIT SUBFAMILY, MEMBER 1; KCNQ1 (607542)	 Gross motor developmental delay and impaired balance Associated with Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome (220400); Long QT syndrome 1 (195200); Short QT 	- <i>Kcnq1</i> (mouse): head bobbing, intermittent bidirectional circling, and trouble landing on feet/righting themselves; reduced endolymph; shrunken	- (Casimiro et al., 2001) - (Winbo & Rydberg, 2015)

	syndrome 2 (609621);	or collapsed	
	and Atrial fibrillation,	vestibular epithelia;	
	Sami singular sanal	Daw 462 (manage)	(Cromors & Uuygon
POU DOMAIN,	- Semi-circular canal	- Poulifs (mouse)	- (Cremers & Huygen, 1984)
CLASS S, $TRANSCRIPTION$	Reduced vestibular	absent hair cells in	- (Crovetto, Whyte,
$FACTOR A \cdot POUSEA$	- Reduced Vestibular	cristae and maculae	Sarasola, Rodriguez,
(300039)	vestibular hyperactivity	loss of vestibular	& Garcia-Barcina,
(500057)	(nystagmus)	ganglia	- (Erkman et al., 1996)
	- Associated with	Sunghu	- (Shine & Watson,
	Deafness, X-linked 2		1967)
	(304400)		- (Xiang et al., 1997)
PROTOCADHERIN	- Delayed motor skills	- <i>Pcdh15</i> (mouse):	- (Z. M. Ahmed et al.,
<i>15; PCDH15</i>	associated and	impaired balance;	2003) - (Alagramam et al
	vestibular dysfunction	shorter, distorted	2001)
	- Associated with	stereociliary bundles	- (Raphael et al., 2001)
	Associated with Usher	and degeneration of	- (Smith, Lee, et al.,
	syndrome, type IF	neuroepitnella	- (O. Y. Zheng et al
	1D/E digenic (601067)		2004)
	and Deafness autosomal		
	recessive 23 (609533)		
RIBOSOMAL	- Anomalous vestibule		- (McFarren, Jayabose,
PROTEIN S26;	and semi-circular canals		Ozkaynak, Tugal, &
<i>RPS26</i> (603701)	- Associated with		Sandoval, 2007)
	Diamond-Blackfin		
	anemia 10 (613309)		
SEMAPHORIN 3E;	- Semi-circular canal	- <i>Sema3a</i> (mouse):	- (Katayama, Imai, Suto, & Voshida
<i>SEMA3E</i> (608166)	agenesis	defects in the afferent	2013)
	- Associated with	protrusions of the	- (D. M. Martin,
	CHARGE syndrome	vestibulocochiear	Sheldon, & Gorski,
SIX HOMEOPOV 1.	- Widened semicircular	_ Sirl(mouse): head	2001) - (Ceruti et al. 2002)
SIX 1101012000X 1, SIX1 (601205)	- whence schildrould	hobbing and absence	- (Erika A Bosman,
51/11 (001205)	vestibular aqueduct	of righting reflexes.	Quint, Fuchs, de
	Mondini dysplasia	inner ear agenesis:	Angelis, & Steel,
	- Associated with	truncated semi-	- (X. Li et al., 2003)
	Branchio-otic syndrome	circular canals;	- (Ruf et al., 2004)
	3 (608389) and	reduced number of	
	Deafness, autosomal	utricular hair cells;	
	dominant 23 (605192)	missing hair cells in	
		ampullae	
SMALL NUCLEAR	- Agenesis of the inner		- (Hennekam &
RIBONUCLEOPROT	ear		Golaschmeding, 1998)
EIN	- Associated with		
POLYPEPTIDES B	Cerebrocostomandibular		

AND B1: SNRPB	syndrome (CCMS)		
(182282)	(117650)		
SOLUTE CARRIER	- Delayed motor skills	- <i>Slc12a2</i> (mouse):	- (Delpire et al., 1999)
FAMILY 12.	associated with	head bobbing.	- (Dixon et al., 1999)
MEMBER 2:	vestibular dysfunction:	bidirectional circling.	- (Flagella et al., 1999)
<i>SLC12A2</i> (600840)	inability to walk	and difficulties with	- (McNeill et al.,
	- Associated with	locomotion: collapse	2020) - (Mutai et al. 2020)
	Deafness autosomal	of vestibular	(Within Ct al., 2020)
	dominant 78 (619081)	compartments and	
	Delnire-McNeill	enithelia	
	syndrome (619083) and	opiniona	
	Kilquist syndrome		
	(619080)		
SOLUTE CARRIER	- Enlarged vestibular	- Pds (mouse): head	- (Dror et al 2010)
FAMILV 26	- Enlarged Vestibular	tilting and bobbing	- (Lorraine A Everett
MEMBER A:	- Vertigo	circling unsteady	et al., 2001)
SIC 26 AA (6056A6)	- Associated with	gait and abnormal	- (Stinckens et al.,
SLC2014 (005040)	Pendred syndrome	reaching response:	2001) (Taultomata at al
	(274600) and Deafness	endolymnhatic	- (1sukamoto et al., 2003)
	autosomal recessive 4	dilation: abnormal	
	with enlarged vestibular	otolith mineralization	
	aqueduct (600791)		
SORTING NEXIN	- Sclerosis of the semi-		- (Aker et al., 2012)
$10 \cdot SNX10 (614780)$	circular canals		(11101 00 011, 2012)
10, 51/210 (014/00)	- Associated with		
	autosomal recessive		
	osteopetrosis 8 (OPTB8)		
	(615085)		
SRY-BOX 10: SOX10	- Semi-circular canal		- (Elmaleh-Bergès et
(602229)	hypoplasia or agenesis		al., 2013)
(**===*)	- Enlarged central		- (Sznajer et al., 2008)
	vestibule		
	- Atresia of the		
	vestibulocochlear nerve		
	- Associated with		
	Waardenburg syndrome.		
	type 2E, with or without		
	neurologic involvement		
	(611584); Waardenburg		
	syndrome, type 4C		
	(613266); and PCWH		
	syndrome (609136)		
TRANSCRIPTION	- Enlarged vestibule and	- <i>Ap-2</i> (mouse):	- (H. Kantarci, Edlund,
FACTOR AP2-	vestibular aqueduct	dysmorphogenesis of	Groves, & Riley,
ALPHA; TFAP2A	*	the inner ear	2015)
(107580)			

			(0, 1, 1, 1, 1)
	- Associated with	- <i>tfap2a</i> (zebrafish):	- (Schorle, Meier,
	Barnchiooculofacial	inhibition of	Buchert, Jaenisch, &
	syndrome (113620)	neurogenesis and	- (Tekin Sırmacı
		reduced neural	Yüksel-Konuk Fitoz
		maturation	& Sennaroğlu, 2009)
USH1 PROTEIN	- Delayed motor skills	- Ush1c (mouse):	- (J. Lentz, Pan, Ng,
NETWORK	associated with	splayed/disorganized	Deininger, & Keats,
COMPONENT	vestibular dysfunction;	stereociliary bundles;	(L B Dhilling at al
HARMONIN;	difficulty walking	reduced response to	-(J. B. Fininps et al., 2011)
USH1C (605242)	- Associated with Usher	auditory/vibrational	- (Smith, Pelias, et al.,
	syndrome, type 1C	stimuli, hyperactivity,	1992)
	(276904), and Deafness,	head-tossing, and	
	autosomal recessive	circling behavior	
	18A (602092)	- ush1c (zebrafish):	
		reduced number of	
		and disorganized	
		stereociliary bundles;	
		circling swimming	
		behavior and reduced	
		or abnormal evasive	
		swimming behavior	

1.6. Figures



Figure 1.6. 1. Schematic illustration of the adult human inner ear, with an emphasis on the vestibular apparatuses (not to scale). Illustrated by Emily Mackowetzky.



Figure 1.6. 2. Transverse images portraying early inner ear development. The inner ear is formed within the pre-placodal region of the ectoderm that is first segregated into the otic/epibranchial precursor domain. A portion of this domain will then give rise to the otic placode, a thickening of the endoderm that invaginates in amniotes (A) or cavitates in fish (B) to form the otocyst/otic vesicle. This vesicle will be subjected to signaling cues that confer various otic identities on the vesicle and shape it into a labyrinth structure that houses both vestibular and auditory apparatuses. Illustrated by Kevin Yoon.



Figure 1.6. 3. Axial patterning regulators of the inner ear. (A) The Fibroblast growth Factor (FGF) and Retinoic Acid (RA) signaling pathways are responsible for conferring anteroposterior identities during early inner ear development. Initially, fgf3 from the hindbrain confers anterior identities within the placode while RA, metabolized by aldh1a3 in the head mesenchyme posteroventral to the placode, promotes posterior identities. Once the otic vesicle forms, it continues to be subjected to FGF and RA signaling, particularly within the neuro-sensory domain of the vesicle; at this time, FGFs are also expressed ventral to the ear. (B) Dorsoventral patterning of the ear is regulated by the Wnt, Bone Morphogenetic Protein (BMP), and Sonic Hedgehog (SHH) signaling pathways. SHH, secreted from the floor plate of the hindbrain and the notochord, is mediated by opposing gradients of the Gli3 repressor within the dorsal epithelium of the otic vesicle and Gli2/3 activators within the ventral domain. Wnt signaling is driven by the secretion of ligands from the dorsal hindbrain, whereas BMP signaling is driven by the secretion of ligands from the dorsal hindbrain and within the otic epithelium. Both Wnt and BMP have been implicated in restricting SHH signaling to the ventromedial region of the ear; ultimately, SHH acts as a ventralizing agent within the ear while WNT and BMP act as dorsalizing agents. Illustrated by Kevin Yoon.



Figure 1.6. 4. Semi-circular canal morphogenesis. The cells that give rise to the canals originate in a lateral region adjacent to the presumptive cristae. However, there are variations between how these canals form in anamniotes, such as zebrafish and *Xenopus*, and amniotes, such as mouse and chick. (A) Canal formation in zebrafish and *Xenopus* begins with an outgrowth of protrusions that bulge inward into the otic vesicle. When these protrusions fuse, they become the pillars around which the canals are formed. (B) In amniotes, the canals are sculpted from two out-pouches, one ventral (shown above) and one horizontal. Fusion plates are formed by opposing epithelium that extend toward one another. Following fusion, these plates are resorbed through apoptosis. In the above example, this process forms the anterior and posterior canals, with the common crux situated between them. Illustrated by Kevin Yoon.

1.7 References

- Abbas, L., & Whitfield, T. T. (2010). 4 The zebrafish inner ear. In S. F. Perry, M. Ekker, A. P. Farrell, & C. J. Brauner (Eds.), *Fish Physiology* (Vol. 29, pp. 123-171): Academic Press.
- Abdelhak, S., Kalatzis, V., Heilig, R., Compain, S., Samson, D., Vincent, C., . . . Petit, C. (1997).
 A human homologue of the Drosophila eyes absent gene underlies branchio-oto-renal (BOR) syndrome and identifies a novel gene family. *Nat Genet*, 15(2), 157-164. doi:10.1038/ng0297-157
- Acampora, D., Avantaggiato, V., Tuorto, F., Barone, P., Reichert, H., Finkelstein, R., & Simeone, A. (1998). Murine Otx1 and Drosophila otd genes share conserved genetic functions required in invertebrate and vertebrate brain development. *Development*, 125(9), 1691-1702.
- Ahmed, M., Wong, E. Y., Sun, J., Xu, J., Wang, F., & Xu, P. X. (2012). Eya1-Six1 interaction is sufficient to induce hair cell fate in the cochlea by activating Atoh1 expression in cooperation with Sox2. *Dev Cell*, 22(2), 377-390. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2011.12.006
- Ahmed, M., Xu, J., & Xu, P.-X. (2012). EYA1 and SIX1 drive the neuronal developmental program in cooperation with the SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complex and SOX2 in the mammalian inner ear. *Development*, *139*(11), 1965-1977. doi:10.1242/dev.071670
- Ahmed, Z. M., Riazuddin, S., Ahmad, J., Bernstein, S. L., Guo, Y., Sabar, M. F., ... Wilcox, E. R. (2003). PCDH15 is expressed in the neurosensory epithelium of the eye and ear and mutant alleles are responsible for both USH1F and DFNB23. *Hum Mol Genet*, 12(24), 3215-3223. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddg358
- Aker, M., Rouvinski, A., Hashavia, S., Ta-Shma, A., Shaag, A., Zenvirt, S., . . . Bar-Shavit, Z. (2012). An SNX10 mutation causes malignant osteopetrosis of infancy. *Journal of medical genetics*, 49(4), 221-226.
- Alagramam, K. N., Murcia, C. L., Kwon, H. Y., Pawlowski, K. S., Wright, C. G., & Woychik, R.
 P. (2001). The mouse Ames waltzer hearing-loss mutant is caused by mutation of Pcdh15, a novel protocadherin gene. *Nat Genet*, 27(1), 99-102. doi:10.1038/83837
- Alasti, F., Sadeghi, A., Sanati, M. H., Farhadi, M., Stollar, E., Somers, T., & Van Camp, G. (2008). A mutation in HOXA2 is responsible for autosomal-recessive microtia in an Iranian family. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 82(4), 982-991.
- Alsmadi, O., Meyer, B. F., Alkuraya, F., Wakil, S., Alkayal, F., Al-Saud, H., . . . Al-Sayed, M. (2009). Syndromic congenital sensorineural deafness, microtia and microdontia resulting

from a novel homoallelic mutation in fibroblast growth factor 3 (FGF3). *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 17(1), 14-21.

- Alvarez, Y., Alonso, M. T., Vendrell, V., Zelarayan, L. C., Chamero, P., Theil, T., . . . Riethmacher, D. (2003). Requirements for FGF3 and FGF10 during inner ear formation. *Development*, 130(25), 6329-6338.
- Arima, K., Shiotsugu, J., Niu, R., Khandpur, R., Martinez, M., Shin, Y., . . . Blumberg, B. (2005). Global analysis of RAR-responsive genes in the Xenopus neurula using cDNA microarrays. *Dev Dyn*, 232(2), 414-431. doi:10.1002/dvdy.20231
- Asai, Y., Chan, D. K., Starr, C. J., Kappler, J. A., Kollmar, R., & Hudspeth, A. J. (2006). Mutation of the atrophin2 gene in the zebrafish disrupts signaling by fibroblast growth factor during development of the inner ear. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103*(24), 9069-9074. doi:10.1073/pnas.0603453103
- Aström, A., Tavakkol, A., Pettersson, U., Cromie, M., Elder, J. T., & Voorhees, J. (1991). Molecular cloning of two human cellular retinoic acid-binding proteins (CRABP). Retinoic acid-induced expression of CRABP-II but not CRABP-I in adult human skin in vivo and in skin fibroblasts in vitro. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266(26), 17662-17666.
- . Auditory and Vestibular Systems. (2005). In C. R. Noback, N. L. Strominger, R. J. Demarest, & D. A. Ruggiero (Eds.), *The Human Nervous System: Structure and Function* (pp. 285-303). Totowa, NJ: Humana Press.
- Babb-Clendenon, S., Shen, Y.-c., Liu, Q., Turner, K. E., Mills, M. S., Cook, G. W., . . . Marrs, J. A. (2006). Cadherin-2 participates in the morphogenesis of the zebrafish inner ear. *Journal of Cell Science*, 119(24), 5169-5177. doi:10.1242/jcs.03299
- Barrett, K., Barman, S., Boitano, S., & Brooks, H. (2012). Chapter 10. Hearing & equilibrium. Ganong's review of medical physiology. 24th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Bashor, M. M., & Chytil, F. (1975). Cellular retinol-binding protein. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*, 411(1), 87-96.
- Batten, M. L., Imanishi, Y., Maeda, T., Tu, D. C., Moise, A. R., Bronson, D., . . . Palczewski, K. (2004). Lecithin-retinol acyltransferase is essential for accumulation of all-trans-retinyl esters in the eye and in the liver. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *279*(11), 10422-10432.
- Battey, J. F., Jr. (2000). A genetic approach to understanding inner ear function. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *106*(12), 1431-1432. doi:10.1172/JCI11763

- Baxendale, S., & Whitfield, T. T. (2014). Chapter 3 Zebrafish Inner Ear Development and Function. In R. Romand & I. Varela-Nieto (Eds.), *Development of Auditory and Vestibular Systems* (pp. 63-105). San Diego: Academic Press.
- Begemann, G., Schilling, T. F., Rauch, G.-J., Geisler, R., & Ingham, P. W. (2001). The zebrafish neckless mutation reveals a requirement for raldh2 in mesodermal signals that pattern the hindbrain. *Development*, *128*(16), 3081-3094.
- Bell, D., Streit, A., Gorospe, I., Varela-Nieto, I., Alsina, B., & Giraldez, F. (2008). Spatial and temporal segregation of auditory and vestibular neurons in the otic placode. *Dev Biol*, 322(1), 109-120. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2008.07.011
- Berger, K. S. (2014). *The developing person through the life span* (Vol. 41): Worth Publishers New York, NY.
- Bergstrom, D. E., Gagnon, L. H., & Eicher, E. M. (1999). Genetic and physical mapping of the dreher locus on mouse chromosome 1. *Genomics*, 59(3), 291-299.
- Bernardos, R. L., Barthel, L. K., Meyers, J. R., & Raymond, P. A. (2007). Late-stage neuronal progenitors in the retina are radial Müller glia that function as retinal stem cells. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 27*(26), 7028-7040. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.1624-07.2007
- Billet, G., Germain, D., Ruf, I., de Muizon, C., & Hautier, L. (2013). The inner ear of Megatherium and the evolution of the vestibular system in sloths. *J Anat, 223*(6), 557-567. doi:10.1111/joa.12114
- Bissonnette, J. P., & Fekete, D. M. (1996). Standard atlas of the gross anatomy of the developing inner ear of the chicken. *J Comp Neurol*, *368*(4), 620-630. doi:10.1002/(sici)1096-9861(19960513)368:4<620::Aid-cne12>3.0.Co;2-1
- Blasiole, B., Canfield, V. A., Vollrath, M. A., Huss, D., Mohideen, M. A., Dickman, J. D., . . . Levenson, R. (2006). Separate Na,K-ATPase genes are required for otolith formation and semicircular canal development in zebrafish. *Dev Biol, 294*(1), 148-160. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2006.02.034
- Blasiole, B., Kabbani, N., Boehmler, W., Thisse, B., Thisse, C., Canfield, V., & Levenson, R. (2005). Neuronal calcium sensor-1 gene ncs-1a is essential for semicircular canal formation in zebrafish inner ear. *J Neurobiol*, 64(3), 285-297. doi:10.1002/neu.20138
- Bohnsack, B. L., & Kahana, A. (2013). Thyroid hormone and retinoic acid interact to regulate zebrafish craniofacial neural crest development. *Developmental Biology*, 373(2), 300-309. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2012.11.005</u>
- Bok, J., Bronner-Fraser, M., & Wu, D. K. (2005). Role of the hindbrain in dorsoventral but not anteroposterior axial specification of the inner ear. *Development*, 132(9), 2115-2124. doi:10.1242/dev.01796
- Bok, J., Dolson, D. K., Hill, P., Rüther, U., Epstein, D. J., & Wu, D. K. (2007). Opposing gradients of Gli repressor and activators mediate Shh signaling along the dorsoventral axis of the inner ear. *Development*, 134(9), 1713-1722. doi:10.1242/dev.000760
- Bok, J., Raft, S., Kong, K. A., Koo, S. K., Dräger, U. C., & Wu, D. K. (2011). Transient retinoic acid signaling confers anterior-posterior polarity to the inner ear. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(1), 161-166. doi:10.1073/pnas.1010547108
- Bolz, H., von Brederlow, B., Ramírez, A., Bryda, E. C., Kutsche, K., Nothwang, H. G., . . . Kubisch, C. (2001). Mutation of CDH23, encoding a new member of the cadherin gene family, causes Usher syndrome type 1D. *Nature Genetics*, 27(1), 108-112. doi:10.1038/83667
- Bone, Q., & Ryan, K. P. (1978). Cupular sense organs in Ciona (Tunicata: Ascidiacea). *Journal* of Zoology, 186(3), 417-429. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.1978.tb03931.x
- Bonnet, C., Louha, M., Loundon, N., Michalski, N., Verpy, E., Smagghe, L., ... Marlin, S. (2013). Biallelic nonsense mutations in the otogelin-like gene (OTOGL) in a child affected by mild to moderate hearing impairment. *Gene*, 527(2), 537-540. doi:10.1016/j.gene.2013.06.044
- Bosher, S. K., & Warren, R. L. (1968). Observations on the electrochemistry of the cochlear endolymph of the rat: a quantitative study of its electrical potential and ionic composition as determined by means of flame spectrophotometry. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B. Biological Sciences*, 171(1023), 227-247. doi:10.1098/rspb.1968.0066
- Bosman, E. A., Penn, A. C., Ambrose, J. C., Kettleborough, R., Stemple, D. L., & Steel, K. P. (2005). Multiple mutations in mouse Chd7 provide models for CHARGE syndrome. *Hum Mol Genet*, 14(22), 3463-3476. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddi375
- Bosman, E. A., Quint, E., Fuchs, H., de Angelis, M. H., & Steel, K. P. (2009). Catweasel mice: a novel role for Six1 in sensory patch development and a model for branchio-oto-renal syndrome. *Developmental Biology*, *328*(2), 285-296.
- Brigande, J. V., Kiernan, A. E., Gao, X., Iten, L. E., & Fekete, D. M. (2000). Molecular genetics of pattern formation in the inner ear: Do compartment boundaries play a role? *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97(22), 11700-11706. doi:10.1073/pnas.97.22.11700

- Brown, A. S., & Epstein, D. J. (2011). Otic ablation of smoothened reveals direct and indirect requirements for Hedgehog signaling in inner ear development. *Development (Cambridge, England)*, 138(18), 3967-3976. doi:10.1242/dev.066126
- Bruss, D. M., & Shohet, J. A. (2019). Neuroanatomy, Ear.
- Budhu, A., Gillilan, R., & Noy, N. (2001). Localization of the RAR interaction domain of cellular retinoic acid binding protein-II. *Journal of molecular biology*, *305*(4), 939-949.
- Budhu, A. S., & Noy, N. (2002). Direct channeling of retinoic acid between cellular retinoic acid-binding protein II and retinoic acid receptor sensitizes mammary carcinoma cells to retinoic acid-induced growth arrest. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 22(8), 2632-2641.
- Burk, D. T., & Willhite, C. C. (1992). Inner ear malformations induced by isotretinoin in hamster fetuses. *Teratology*, 46(2), 147-157. doi:10.1002/tera.1420460208
- Burton, Q., Cole, L. K., Mulheisen, M., Chang, W., & Wu, D. K. (2004). The role of Pax2 in mouse inner ear development. *Developmental Biology*, 272(1), 161-175. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2004.04.024
- Busch-Nentwich, E., Söllner, C., Roehl, H., & Nicolson, T. (2004). The deafness gene dfna5 is crucial for ugdh expression and HA production in the developing ear in zebrafish. *Development*, 131(4), 943-951. doi:10.1242/dev.00961
- Cai, A. Q., Radtke, K., Linville, A., Lander, A. D., Nie, Q., & Schilling, T. F. (2012). Cellular retinoic acid-binding proteins are essential for hindbrain patterning and signal robustness in zebrafish. *Development*, 139(12), 2150-2155.
- Cañestro, C., Postlethwait, J. H., Gonzàlez-Duarte, R., & Albalat, R. (2006). Is retinoic acid genetic machinery a chordate innovation? *Evolution & development*, 8(5), 394-406.
- Casimiro, M. C., Knollmann, B. C., Ebert, S. N., Vary, J. C., Greene, A. E., Franz, M. R., . . . Pfeifer, K. (2001). Targeted disruption of the Kcnq1 gene produces a mouse model of Jervell and Lange– Nielsen Syndrome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 98*(5), 2526-2531. doi:10.1073/pnas.041398998
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017). 2017 Summary of Diagnostics Among Infants Not Passing Hearing Screening. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/hearingloss/2017-data/06-diagnostics.html</u>
- Ceruti, S., Stinckens, C., Cremers, C. W., & Casselman, J. W. (2002). Temporal bone anomalies in the branchio-oto-renal syndrome: detailed computed tomographic and magnetic

resonance imaging findings. *Otol Neurotol, 23*(2), 200-207. doi:10.1097/00129492-200203000-00016

- Chambers, D., Wilson, L., Maden, M., & Lumsden, A. (2007). RALDH-independent generation of retinoic acid during vertebrate embryogenesis by CYP1B1. *Development*, 134(7), 1369-1383. doi:10.1242/dev.02815
- Chang-Chien, J., Yen, Y. C., Chien, K. H., Li, S. Y., Hsu, T. C., & Yang, J. J. (2014). The connexin 30.3 of zebrafish homologue of human connexin 26 may play similar role in the inner ear. *Hear Res*, *313*, 55-66. doi:10.1016/j.heares.2014.04.010
- Chang, W., Brigande, J. V., Fekete, D. M., & Wu, D. K. (2004). The development of semicircular canals in the inner ear: role of FGFs in sensory cristae. *Development*, 131(17), 4201-4211. doi:10.1242/dev.01292
- Chang, W., Brigande, J. V., Fekete, D. M., & Wu, D. K. (2004). The development of semicircular canals in the inner ear: role of FGFs in sensory cristae. *Development*, 131(17), 4201-4211. doi:10.1242/dev.01292
- Chang, W., Lin, Z., Kulessa, H., Hebert, J., Hogan, B. L. M., & Wu, D. K. (2008). Bmp4 is essential for the formation of the vestibular apparatus that detects angular head movements. *PLoS genetics*, 4(4), e1000050-e1000050. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1000050
- Chatzi, C., Brade, T., & Duester, G. (2011). Retinoic acid functions as a key GABAergic differentiation signal in the basal ganglia. *PLoS Biol*, 9(4), e1000609.
- Chen, J., & Nathans, J. (2007). Estrogen-related receptor beta/NR3B2 controls epithelial cell fate and endolymph production by the stria vascularis. *Dev Cell*, *13*(3), 325-337. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2007.07.011
- Chen, J. D., & Evans, R. M. (1995). A transcriptional co-repressor that interacts with nuclear hormone receptors. *Nature*, *377*(6548), 454-457. doi:10.1038/377454a0
- Chen, P., Johnson, J. E., Zoghbi, H. Y., & Segil, N. (2002). The role of Math1 in inner ear development: Uncoupling the establishment of the sensory primordium from hair cell fate determination. *Development*, 129(10), 2495-2505.
- Chole, R. A., & Quick, C. A. (1976). Temporal bone histopathology in experimental hypovitaminosis a. *The Laryngoscope*, *86*(3), 445-453. doi:https://doi.org/10.1288/00005537-197603000-00014

- Choo, D., Ward, J., Reece, A., Dou, H., Lin, Z., & Greinwald, J. (2006). Molecular mechanisms underlying inner ear patterning defects in kreisler mutants. *Developmental Biology*, 289(2), 308-317. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2005.10.007
- Cohen-Salmon, M., El-Amraoui, A., Leibovici, M., & Petit, C. (1997). Otogelin: a glycoprotein specific to the acellular membranes of the inner ear. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94(26), 14450-14455. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.26.14450
- Cohen, B. (1974). The vestibulo-ocular reflex arc. In *Vestibular System Part 1: Basic Mechanisms* (pp. 477-540): Springer.
- Cowan, C. A., Yokoyama, N., Bianchi, L. M., Henkemeyer, M., & Fritzsch, B. (2000). EphB2 guides axons at the midline and is necessary for normal vestibular function. *Neuron*, 26(2), 417-430.
- Cremers, C., & Huygen, P. (1984). Clinical features of female heterozygotes in the X-linked mixed deafness syndrome (with perilymphatic gusher during stapes surgery). *International journal of pediatric otorhinolaryngology, 6*, 179-185.
- Crovetto, M. A., Whyte, J., Sarasola, E., Rodriguez, J. A., & García-Barcina, M. J. (2012). Absence of COCH gene mutations in patients with superior semicircular canal dehiscence. *American journal of medical genetics. Part A*, 158(1), 251-253.
- Cruz, S., Shiao, J.-C., Liao, B.-K., Huang, C.-J., & Hwang, P.-P. (2009). Plasma membrane calcium ATPase required for semicircular canal formation and otolith growth in the zebrafish inner ear. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 212(5), 639-647. doi:10.1242/jeb.022798
- Cunningham, T. J., & Duester, G. (2015). Mechanisms of retinoic acid signalling and its roles in organ and limb development. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, *16*(2), 110-123. doi:10.1038/nrm3932
- Dahm, R. (2006). The Zebrafish Exposed: "See-through" mutants may hold the key to unraveling the mysteries of embryonic development. *American Scientist*, 94(5), 446-453. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/27858837</u>
- De Genaro, P., Simón, M. V., Rotstein, N. P., & Politi, L. E. (2013). Retinoic Acid Promotes Apoptosis and Differentiation in Photoreceptors by Activating the P38 MAP Kinase Pathway. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 54(5), 3143-3156. doi:10.1167/iovs.12-11049

- de Roos, K., Sonneveld, E., Compaan, B., ten Berge, D., Durston, A. J., & van der Saag, P. T. (1999). Expression of retinoic acid 4-hydroxylase (CYP26) during mouse and Xenopus laevis embryogenesis. *Mechanisms of Development*, 82(1-2), 205-211.
- Deans, M. R., Peterson, J. M., & Wong, G. W. (2010). Mammalian Otolin: a multimeric glycoprotein specific to the inner ear that interacts with otoconial matrix protein Otoconin-90 and Cerebellin-1. *PloS one*, 5(9), e12765. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0012765
- Delmaghani, S., & El-Amraoui, A. (2020). Inner Ear Gene Therapies Take Off: Current Promises and Future Challenges. *Journal of clinical medicine*, 9(7), 2309. doi:10.3390/jcm9072309
- Delpire, E., Lu, J., England, R., Dull, C., & Thorne, T. (1999). Deafness and imbalance associated with inactivation of the secretory Na-K-2Cl co-transporter. *Nature Genetics*, 22(2), 192-195. doi:10.1038/9713
- Deltour, L., Foglio, M. H., & Duester, G. (1999). Metabolic deficiencies in alcohol dehydrogenase Adh1, Adh3, and Adh4 null mutant mice: Overlapping roles of Adh1 and Adh4 in ethanol clearance and metabolism of retinol to retinoic acid. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(24), 16796-16801.
- Delva, L., Bastie, J.-N., Rochette-Egly, C., Kraïba, R., Balitrand, N., Despouy, G., . . . Chomienne, C. (1999). Physical and functional interactions between cellular retinoic acid binding protein II and the retinoic acid-dependent nuclear complex. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 19(10), 7158-7167.
- Deng, M., Pan, L., Xie, X., & Gan, L. (2010). Requirement for Lmo4 in the vestibular morphogenesis of mouse inner ear. *Developmental Biology*, 338(1), 38-49. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.11.003
- Di Palma, F., Holme, R. H., Bryda, E. C., Belyantseva, I. A., Pellegrino, R., Kachar, B., . . . Noben-Trauth, K. (2001). Mutations in Cdh23, encoding a new type of cadherin, cause stereocilia disorganization in waltzer, the mouse model for Usher syndrome type 1D. *Nat Genet*, 27(1), 103-107. doi:10.1038/83660
- Dixon, M. J., Gazzard, J., Chaudhry, S. S., Sampson, N., Schulte, B. A., & Steel, K. P. (1999). Mutation of the Na-K-Cl Co-Transporter Gene Slc12a2 Results in Deafness in Mice. *Human molecular genetics*, 8(8), 1579-1584. doi:10.1093/hmg/8.8.1579
- Dodson, K. M., Blanton, S. H., Welch, K. O., Norris, V. W., Nuzzo, R. L., Wegelin, J. A., . . . Arnos, K. S. (2011). Vestibular dysfunction in DFNB1 deafness. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 155(5), 993-1000.

- Dohlman, G. F. (1965). The Mechanism of Secretion and Absorption of Endolymph in the Vestibular Appartus. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, *59*(2-6), 275-288. doi:10.3109/00016486509124562
- Dohlman, G. F. (1980). Critical Review of the Concept of Cupula Functon. Acta Oto-Laryngologica, 90(sup376), 2-30. doi:10.3109/00016488009108886
- Dror, A. A., Politi, Y., Shahin, H., Lenz, D. R., Dossena, S., Nofziger, C., . . . Weiner, S. (2010). Calcium oxalate stone formation in the inner ear as a result of an Slc26a4 mutation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(28), 21724-21735.
- Duester, G. (2000). Families of retinoid dehydrogenases regulating vitamin A function: production of visual pigment and retinoic acid. *Eur J Biochem, 267*(14), 4315-4324. doi:10.1046/j.1432-1327.2000.01497.x
- Duester, G., Mic, F. A., & Molotkov, A. (2003). Cytosolic retinoid dehydrogenases govern ubiquitous metabolism of retinol to retinaldehyde followed by tissue-specific metabolism to retinoic acid. *Chemico-biological interactions*, 143, 201-210.
- Dupé, V., Matt, N., Garnier, J.-M., Chambon, P., Mark, M., & Ghyselinck, N. B. (2003). A newborn lethal defect due to inactivation of retinaldehyde dehydrogenase type 3 is prevented by maternal retinoic acid treatment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 100*(24), 14036-14041.
- Eccles, M. R., & Schimmenti, L. A. (1999). Renal-coloboma syndrome: a multi-system developmental disorder caused by PAX2 mutations. *Clinical Genetics*, 56(1), 1-9. doi:https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-0004.1999.560101.x
- Elmaleh-Bergès, M., Baumann, C., Noël-Pétroff, N., Sekkal, A., Couloigner, V., Devriendt, K., .
 . Pingault, V. (2013). Spectrum of temporal bone abnormalities in patients with Waardenburg syndrome and SOX10 mutations. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 34(6), 1257-1263. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A3367
- Erkman, L., McEvilly, R. J., Luo, L., Ryan, A. K., Hooshmand, F., O'connell, S. M., . . . Rosenfeld, M. G. (1996). Role of transcription factors a Brn-3.1 and Brn-3.2 in auditory and visual system development. *Nature*, 381(6583), 603-606.
- Ernest, S., Rauch, G.-J., Haffter, P., Geisler, R., Petit, C., & Nicolson, T. (2000). Mariner is defective in myosin VIIA: a zebrafish model for human hereditary deafness. *Human molecular genetics*, *9*(14), 2189-2196. doi:10.1093/hmg/9.14.2189
- Everett, L. A., Belyantseva, I. A., Noben-Trauth, K., Cantos, R., Chen, A., Thakkar, S. I., . . . Green, E. D. (2001). Targeted disruption of mouse Pds provides insight about the inner-

ear defects encountered in Pendred syndrome. *Human molecular genetics*, 10(2), 153-161.

- Everett, L. A., Belyantseva, I. A., Noben-Trauth, K., Cantos, R., Chen, A., Thakkar, S. I., . . . Green, E. D. (2001). Targeted disruption of mouse Pds provides insight about the innerear defects encountered in Pendred syndrome. *Hum Mol Genet*, 10(2), 153-161. doi:10.1093/hmg/10.2.153
- Evsen, L., Sugahara, S., Uchikawa, M., Kondoh, H., & Wu, D. K. (2013). Progression of Neurogenesis in the Inner Ear Requires Inhibition of Sox2 Transcription by Neurogenin1 and Neurod1. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(9), 3879-3890. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.4030-12.2013
- Fan, X., Molotkov, A., Manabe, S.-I., Donmoyer, C. M., Deltour, L., Foglio, M. H., ... Duester, G. (2003). Targeted disruption of Aldh1a1 (Raldh1) provides evidence for a complex mechanism of retinoic acid synthesis in the developing retina. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23(13), 4637-4648.
- Favor, J., Sandulache, R., Neuhäuser-Klaus, A., Pretsch, W., Chatterjee, B., Senft, E., . . . Spörle, R. (1996). The mouse Pax21Neu mutation is identical to a human PAX2 mutation in a family with renal-coloboma syndrome and results in developmental defects of the brain, ear, eye, and kidney. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93(24), 13870-13875.
- Fekete, D. M. (1999). Development of the vertebrate ear: insights from knockouts and mutants. *Trends Neurosci, 22*(6), 263-269. doi:10.1016/s0166-2236(98)01366-6
- Fekete, D. M., & Wu, D. K. (2002). Revisiting cell fate specification in the inner ear. *Curr Opin Neurobiol, 12*(1), 35-42. doi:10.1016/s0959-4388(02)00287-8
- Feng, Y., & Xu, Q. (2010). Pivotal role of hmx2 and hmx3 in zebrafish inner ear and lateral line development. *Developmental Biology*, 339(2), 507-518.
- Flagella, M., Clarke, L. L., Miller, M. L., Erway, L. C., Giannella, R. A., Andringa, A., . . . Shull, G. E. (1999). Mice lacking the basolateral Na-K-2Cl cotransporter have impaired epithelial chloride secretion and are profoundly deaf. *J Biol Chem*, 274(38), 26946-26955. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.38.26946
- Fortuna, V. A., Trugo, L. C., & Borojevic, R. (2001). Acyl-CoA: retinol acyltransferase (ARAT) and lecithin:retinol acyltransferase (LRAT) activation during the lipocyte phenotype induction in hepatic stellate cells. *J Nutr Biochem*, 12(11), 610-621. doi:10.1016/s0955-2863(01)00179-6

- Frenz, D. A., Liu, W., Galinovic-Schwartz, V., & Van De Water, T. R. (1996). Retinoic acidinduced embryopathy of the mouse inner ear. *Teratology*, 53(5), 292-303. doi:10.1002/(sici)1096-9926(199605)53:5<292::Aid-tera3>3.0.Co;2-3
- Freter, S., Muta, Y., Mak, S.-S., Rinkwitz, S., & Ladher, R. K. (2008). Progressive restriction of otic fate: the role of FGF and Wnt in resolving inner ear potential. *Development*, 135(20), 3415-3424. doi:10.1242/dev.026674
- Fritzsch, B., Signore, M., & Simeone, A. (2001). Otx1 null mutant mice show partial segregation of sensory epithelia comparable to lamprey ears. *Dev Genes Evol*, 211(8-9), 388-396. doi:10.1007/s004270100166
- Fujii, H., Sato, T., Kaneko, S., Gotoh, O., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y., Osawa, K., . . . Hamada, H. (1997). Metabolic inactivation of retinoic acid by a novel P450 differentially expressed in developing mouse embryos. *The EMBO Journal*, *16*(14), 4163-4173.
- Gagnon, L. H., Longo-Guess, C. M., Berryman, M., Shin, J.-B., Saylor, K. W., Yu, H., . . . Johnson, K. R. (2006). The Chloride Intracellular Channel Protein CLIC5 Is Expressed at High Levels in Hair Cell Stereocilia and Is Essential for Normal Inner Ear Function. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(40), 10188-10198. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.2166-06.2006
- Gale, E., Zile, M., & Maden, M. (1999). Hindbrain respecification in the retinoid-deficient quail. *Mechanisms of Development, 89*(1-2), 43-54.
- Geng, F.-S., Abbas, L., Baxendale, S., Holdsworth, C. J., Swanson, A. G., Slanchev, K., . . . Whitfield, T. T. (2013). Semicircular canal morphogenesis in the zebrafish inner ear requires the function of gpr126 (lauscher), an adhesion class G protein-coupled receptor gene. *Development*, 140(21), 4362-4374. doi:10.1242/dev.098061
- Gibson, F., Walsh, J., Mburu, P., Varela, A., Brown, K. A., Antonio, M., . . . Brown, S. D. M. (1995). A type VII myosin encoded by the mouse deafness gene shaker-1. *Nature*, 374(6517), 62-64. doi:10.1038/374062a0
- Goldshmit, Y., Sztal, T. E., Jusuf, P. R., Hall, T. E., Nguyen-Chi, M., & Currie, P. D. (2012). Fgf-dependent glial cell bridges facilitate spinal cord regeneration in zebrafish. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(22), 7477-7492.
- Gordon, C. T., Petit, F., Oufadem, M., Decaestecker, C., Jourdain, A.-S., Andrieux, J., ... Baumann, C. (2012). EFTUD2 haploinsufficiency leads to syndromic oesophageal atresia. *Journal of medical genetics*, 49(12), 737-746.

- Grandel, H., Lun, K., Rauch, G.-J., Rhinn, M., Piotrowski, T., Houart, C., . . . Geisler, R. (2002). Retinoic acid signalling in the zebrafish embryo is necessary during pre-segmentation stages to pattern the anterior-posterior axis of the CNS and to induce a pectoral fin bud. *Development*, 129(12), 2851-2865.
- Granström, G. (1990). Retinoid-induced ear malformations. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 103(5 (Pt 1)), 702-709. doi:10.1177/019459989010300507
- Gu, X., Xu, F., Song, W., Wang, X., Hu, P., Yang, Y., . . . Zhao, Q. (2006). A novel cytochrome P450, zebrafish Cyp26D1, is involved in metabolism of all-trans retinoic acid. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 20(7), 1661-1672.
- Gu, X., Xu, F., Wang, X., Gao, X., & Zhao, Q. (2005). Molecular cloning and expression of a novel CYP26 gene (cyp26d1) during zebrafish early development. *Gene Expression Patterns*, 5(6), 733-739.
- Gurr, B., & Moffat, N. (2001). Psychological consequences of vertigo and the effectiveness of vestibular rehabilitation for brain injury patients. *Brain Inj*, 15(5), 387-400. doi:10.1080/02699050010005904
- Haddon, C. M., & Lewis, J. H. (1991). Hyaluronan as a propellant for epithelial movement: the development of semicircular canals in the inner ear of Xenopus. *Development*, 112(2), 541-550. Retrieved from <u>https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/112/2/541.full.pdf</u>
- Hain, T. C., & Helminski, J. O. (2007). Anatomy and physiology of the normal vestibular system. *Vestibular rehabilitation*, 1(1), 2.
- Hale, L. A., Tallafuss, A., Yan, Y. L., Dudley, L., Eisen, J. S., & Postlethwait, J. H. (2006).
 Characterization of the retinoic acid receptor genes raraa, rarab and rarg during zebrafish development. *Gene Expr Patterns*, 6(5), 546-555. doi:10.1016/j.modgep.2005.10.007
- Hammond, K. L., Loynes, H. E., Folarin, A. A., Smith, J., & Whitfield, T. T. (2003). Hedgehog signalling is required for correct anteroposterior patterning of the zebrafish otic vesicle. *Development*, 130(7), 1403-1417. doi:10.1242/dev.00360
- Hammond, K. L., Loynes, H. E., Mowbray, C., Runke, G., Hammerschmidt, M., Mullins, M. C., ... Whitfield, T. T. (2009). A Late Role for bmp2b in the Morphogenesis of Semicircular Canal Ducts in the Zebrafish Inner Ear. *PloS one*, 4(2), e4368. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0004368
- Hammond, K. L., & Whitfield, T. T. (2006). The developing lamprey ear closely resembles the zebrafish otic vesicle: otx1 expression can account for all major patterning differences. *Development*, 133(7), 1347-1357. doi:10.1242/dev.02306

- Han, Y., Mu, Y., Li, X., Xu, P., Tong, J., Liu, Z., . . . Du, J. (2011). Grhl2 deficiency impairs otic development and hearing ability in a zebrafish model of the progressive dominant hearing loss DFNA28. *Human molecular genetics*, 20(16), 3213-3226.
- Hans, S., Irmscher, A., & Brand, M. (2013). Zebrafish Foxi1 provides a neuronal ground state during inner ear induction preceding the Dlx3b/4b-regulated sensory lineage. *Development*, 140(9), 1936-1945. doi:10.1242/dev.087718
- Hans, S., Liu, D., & Westerfield, M. (2004). Pax8 and Pax2a function synergistically in otic specification, downstream of the Foxi1 and Dlx3b transcription factors. *Development*, 131(20), 5091-5102. doi:10.1242/dev.01346
- Harada, Y., Tagashira, N., & Hirakawa, K. (1989). Morphological Study of the Cells in the Planum Semilunatum. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, 108(sup468), 17-21. doi:10.3109/00016488909139015
- Hartwell, R. D., England, S. J., Monk, N. A., Van Hateren, N. J., Baxendale, S., Marzo, M., . . . Whitfield, T. T. (2019). Anteroposterior patterning of the zebrafish ear through Fgf-and Hh-dependent regulation of hmx3a expression. *PLoS genetics*, 15(4), e1008051.
- Head, J. R., Gacioch, L., Pennisi, M., & Meyers, J. R. (2013). Activation of canonical Wnt/βcatenin signaling stimulates proliferation in neuromasts in the zebrafish posterior lateral line. *Dev Dyn*, 242(7), 832-846. doi:10.1002/dvdy.23973
- Helgerud, P., Petersen, L. B., & Norum, K. R. (1982). Acyl CoA:retinol acyltransferase in rat small intestine: its activity and some properties of the enzymic reaction. *J Lipid Res*, 23(4), 609-618.
- Hennekam, R., & Goldschmeding, R. (1998). Complete absence of rib ossification, micrognathia and ear anomalies: extreme expression of cerebro-costo-mandibular syndrome? *European Journal of Human Genetics, 6*(1).
- Higuchi, S., Sugahara, F., Pascual-Anaya, J., Takagi, W., Oisi, Y., & Kuratani, S. (2019). Inner ear development in cyclostomes and evolution of the vertebrate semicircular canals. *Nature*, 565(7739), 347-350. doi:10.1038/s41586-018-0782-y
- Holme, R. H., & Steel, K. P. (2002). Stereocilia defects in waltzer (Cdh23), shaker1 (Myo7a) and double waltzer/shaker1 mutant mice. *Hear Res, 169*(1-2), 13-23. doi:10.1016/s0378-5955(02)00334-9
- Hommerich, C. P. (1990). Ototoxicity of loop diuretics. Morphological and electrophysiological examinations in animal experiments. *Adv Otorhinolaryngol, 44*, 92-164.

- Hu, X., Gao, J., Liao, Y., Tang, S., & Lu, F. (2013). Retinoic acid alters the proliferation and survival of the epithelium and mesenchyme and suppresses Wnt/β-catenin signaling in developing cleft palate. *Cell Death & Disease*, 4(10), e898-e898. doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.424
- Hughes, I., Saito, M., Schlesinger, P. H., & Ornitz, D. M. (2007). Otopetrin 1 activation by purinergic nucleotides regulates intracellular calcium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104(29), 12023-12028. doi:10.1073/pnas.0705182104
- Hwang, C. H., Simeone, A., Lai, E., & Wu, D. K. (2009). Foxg1 is required for proper separation and formation of sensory cristae during inner ear development. *Developmental dynamics: an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists, 238*(11), 2725-2734.
- Igawa, H. H., Nishizawa, N., Sugihara, T., & Inuyama, Y. (2000). Inner ear abnormalities in Kabuki make-up syndrome: Report of three cases. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 92(2), 87-89.
- Isken, A., Golczak, M., Oberhauser, V., Hunzelmann, S., Driever, W., Imanishi, Y., ... von Lintig, J. (2008). RBP4 disrupts vitamin A uptake homeostasis in a STRA6-deficient animal model for Matthew-Wood syndrome. *Cell metabolism*, 7(3), 258-268.
- Janesick, A., Nguyen, T. T., Aisaki, K., Igarashi, K., Kitajima, S., Chandraratna, R. A., . . . Blumberg, B. (2014). Active repression by RARγ signaling is required for vertebrate axial elongation. *Development*, *141*(11), 2260-2270. doi:10.1242/dev.103705
- Janesick, A., Shiotsugu, J., Taketani, M., & Blumberg, B. (2012). RIPPLY3 is a retinoic acidinducible repressor required for setting the borders of the pre-placodal ectoderm. *Development*, 139(6), 1213-1224. doi:10.1242/dev.071456
- Jarvis, B. L., Johnston, M. C., & Sulik, K. K. (1990). Congenital malformations of the external, middle, and inner ear produced by isotretinoin exposure in mouse embryos. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 102(4), 391-401. doi:10.1177/019459989010200414
- Jones, G. M., & Spells, K. E. (1963). A theoretical and comparative study of the functional dependence of the semicircular canal upon its physical dimensions. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 157*, 403-419. doi:10.1098/rspb.1963.0019
- Jones, S. M., Robertson, N. G., Given, S., Giersch, A. B. S., Liberman, M. C., & Morton, C. C. (2011). Hearing and vestibular deficits in the Coch(-/-) null mouse model: comparison to the Coch(G88E/G88E) mouse and to DFNA9 hearing and balance disorder. *Hearing Research*, 272(1-2), 42-48. doi:10.1016/j.heares.2010.11.002

- Jongmans, M. C. J., Hoefsloot, L. H., van der Donk, K. P., Admiraal, R. J., Magee, A., van de Laar, I., . . . van Ravenswaaij, C. M. A. (2008). Familial CHARGE syndrome and the CHD7 gene: A recurrent missense mutation, intrafamilial recurrence and variability. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 146A(1), 43-50. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.31921
- Jurynec, M. J., Xia, R., Mackrill, J. J., Gunther, D., Crawford, T., Flanigan, K. M., . . . Grunwald, D. J. (2008). Selenoprotein N is required for ryanodine receptor calcium release channel activity in human and zebrafish muscle. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105(34), 12485-12490. doi:10.1073/pnas.0806015105
- Kantarci, H., Edlund, R. K., Groves, A. K., & Riley, B. B. (2015). Tfap2a promotes specification and maturation of neurons in the inner ear through modulation of Bmp, Fgf and notch signaling. *PLoS genetics*, *11*(3), e1005037-e1005037. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1005037
- Kantarci, S., Al-Gazali, L., Hill, R. S., Donnai, D., Black, G. C., Bieth, E., . . . Teebi, A. (2007). Mutations in LRP2, which encodes the multiligand receptor megalin, cause Donnai-Barrow and facio-oculo-acoustico-renal syndromes. *Nature Genetics*, *39*(8), 957-959.
- Kashyap, V., & Gudas, L. J. (2010). Epigenetic regulatory mechanisms distinguish retinoic acidmediated transcriptional responses in stem cells and fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem*, 285(19), 14534-14548. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.115345
- Katayama, K.-I., Imai, F., Suto, F., & Yoshida, Y. (2013). Deletion of Sema3a or plexinA1/plexinA3 Causes Defects in Sensory Afferent Projections of Statoacoustic Ganglion Neurons. 8(8), e72512. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072512

Kaufman, M. (1992). The atlas of mouse development: London: Academic Press.

- Kedishvili, N. Y., Gough, W. H., Davis, W. I., Parsons, S., Li, T. K., & Bosron, W. F. (1998).
 Effect of cellular retinol-binding protein on retinol oxidation by human class IV retinol/alcohol dehydrogenase and inhibition by ethanol. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 249*(1), 191-196. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1998.9105
- Khetarpal, U., Schuknecht, H. F., Gacek, R. R., & Holmes, L. B. (1991). Autosomal dominant sensorineural hearing loss: pedigrees, audiologic findings, and temporal bone findings in two kindreds. *Archives of Otolaryngology–Head & Neck Surgery*, *117*(9), 1032-1042.
- Kido, T., Sekitani, T., Yamashita, H., Endo, S., Masumitsu, Y., & Shimogori, H. (1991). Effects of carbonic anhydrase inhibitor on the otolithic organs of developing chick embryos. *Am J Otolaryngol, 12*(4), 191-195. doi:10.1016/0196-0709(91)90119-z

- Kiernan, A. E., Pelling, A. L., Leung, K. K., Tang, A. S., Bell, D. M., Tease, C., . . . Cheah, K. S. (2005). Sox2 is required for sensory organ development in the mammalian inner ear. *Nature*, 434(7036), 1031-1035. doi:10.1038/nature03487
- Kil, S. H., Streit, A., Brown, S. T., Agrawal, N., Collazo, A., Zile, M. H., & Groves, A. K. (2005). Distinct roles for hindbrain and paraxial mesoderm in the induction and patterning of the inner ear revealed by a study of vitamin-A-deficient quail. *Dev Biol*, 285(1), 252-271. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2005.05.044
- Killick, R., & Richardson, G. P. (1997). Antibodies to the sulphated, high molecular mass mouse tectorin stain hair bundles and the olfactory mucus layer. *Hear Res*, 103(1-2), 131-141. doi:10.1016/s0378-5955(96)00174-8
- Kim, E., Hyrc, K. L., Speck, J., Lundberg, Y. W., Salles, F. T., Kachar, B., . . . Ornitz, D. M. (2010). Regulation of cellular calcium in vestibular supporting cells by otopetrin 1. J Neurophysiol, 104(6), 3439-3450. doi:10.1152/jn.00525.2010
- Kim, E., Hyrc, K. L., Speck, J., Salles, F. T., Lundberg, Y. W., Goldberg, M. P., . . . Ornitz, D. M. (2011). Missense mutations in Otopetrin 1 affect subcellular localization and inhibition of purinergic signaling in vestibular supporting cells. *Mol Cell Neurosci, 46*(3), 655-661. doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2011.01.005
- Kim, H. M., & Wangemann, P. (2010). Failure of fluid absorption in the endolymphatic sac initiates cochlear enlargement that leads to deafness in mice lacking pendrin expression. *PloS one*, 5(11), e14041. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0014041
- Kim, H. M., & Wangemann, P. (2011). Epithelial cell stretching and luminal acidification lead to a retarded development of stria vascularis and deafness in mice lacking pendrin. *PloS* one, 6(3), e17949. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0017949
- Kimura, R., Lundquist, P. G., & Wersaell, J. (1964). SECRETORY EPITHELIAL LININGS IN THE AMPULLAE OF THE GUINEA PIG LABYRINTH. Acta Otolaryngol, 57, 517-530. doi:10.3109/00016486409137114
- Kolev, O. I., & Sergeeva, M. (2016). Vestibular disorders following different types of head and neck trauma. *Functional neurology*, *31*(2), 75-80. doi:10.11138/fneur/2016.31.2.075
- Kono, M., Goletz, P. W., & Crouch, R. K. (2008). 11-cis- and all-trans-retinols can activate rod opsin: rational design of the visual cycle. *Biochemistry*, 47(28), 7567-7571. doi:10.1021/bi800357b

- Koo, S. K., Hill, J. K., Hwang, C. H., Lin, Z. S., Millen, K. J., & Wu, D. K. (2009). Lmx1a maintains proper neurogenic, sensory, and non-sensory domains in the mammalian inner ear. *Dev Biol*, 333(1), 14-25. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.06.016
- Kopecky, B., Johnson, S., Schmitz, H., Santi, P., & Fritzsch, B. (2012). Scanning thin-sheet laser imaging microscopy elucidates details on mouse ear development. *Developmental dynamics : an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists, 241*(3), 465-480. doi:10.1002/dvdy.23736
- Koundakjian, E. J., Appler, J. L., & Goodrich, L. V. (2007). Auditory neurons make stereotyped wiring decisions before maturation of their targets. *The Journal of neuroscience : the* official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 27(51), 14078-14088. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.3765-07.2007
- Kozel, P. J., Friedman, R. A., Erway, L. C., Yamoah, E. N., Liu, L. H., Riddle, T., . . . Shull, G. E. (1998). Balance and hearing deficits in mice with a null mutation in the gene encoding plasma membrane Ca2+-ATPase isoform 2. *J Biol Chem*, 273(30), 18693-18696. doi:10.1074/jbc.273.30.18693
- Kozlowski, D. J., Whitfield, T. T., Hukriede, N. A., Lam, W. K., & Weinberg, E. S. (2005). The zebrafish dog-eared mutation disrupts eya1, a gene required for cell survival and differentiation in the inner ear and lateral line. *Developmental Biology*, 277(1), 27-41.
- Kulkarni, A. M., Rajput, K., Raglan, E., Abrams, D., & Bitner-Glindzicz, M. (2012). Is gross motor delay secondary to bilateral vestibular hypofunction in Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome? *Audiological Medicine*, 10(2), 93-98. doi:10.3109/1651386x.2012.686165
- Kurokawa, R., Söderström, M., Hörlein, A., Halachmi, S., Brown, M., Rosenfeld, M. G., & Glass, C. K. (1995). Polarity-specific activities of retinoic acid receptors determined by a co-repressor. *Nature*, 377(6548), 451-454. doi:10.1038/377451a0
- Kwak, S.-J., Phillips, B. T., Heck, R., & Riley, B. B. (2002). An expanded domain of fgf3 expression in the hindbrain of zebrafish valentino mutants results in mis-patterning of the otic vesicle. *Development, 129*(22), 5279-5287. Retrieved from <u>https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/129/22/5279.full.pdf</u>
- Kwon, H.-J., Bhat, N., Sweet, E. M., Cornell, R. A., & Riley, B. B. (2010). Identification of early requirements for preplacodal ectoderm and sensory organ development. *PLoS genetics*, 6(9), e1001133-e1001133. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1001133
- Ladher, R. K., Wright, T. J., Moon, A. M., Mansour, S. L., & Schoenwolf, G. C. (2005). FGF8 initiates inner ear induction in chick and mouse. *Genes & development*, 19(5), 603-613.

- Lalwani, A. K., Linthicum, F. H., Wilcox, E. R., Moore, J. K., Walters, F. C., San Agustin, T. B., ... Attaie, A. (1997). A five-generation family with late-onset progressive hereditary hearing impairment due to cochleosaccular degeneration. *Audiology and Neurotology*, 2(3), 139-154.
- Lalwani, A. K., Luxford, W. M., Mhatre, A. N., Attaie, A., Wilcox, E. R., & Castelein, C. M. (1999). A new locus for nonsyndromic hereditary hearing impairment, DFNA17, maps to chromosome 22 and represents a gene for cochleosaccular degeneration. *American journal of human genetics*, 64(1), 318.
- Lammer, E. J., Chen, D. T., Hoar, R. M., Agnish, N. D., Benke, P. J., Braun, J. T., . . . et al. (1985). Retinoic acid embryopathy. *N Engl J Med*, *313*(14), 837-841. doi:10.1056/nejm198510033131401
- Lawoko-Kerali, G., Rivolta, M. N., Lawlor, P., Cacciabue-Rivolta, D. I., Langton-Hewer, C., van Doorninck, J. H., & Holley, M. C. (2004). GATA3 and NeuroD distinguish auditory and vestibular neurons during development of the mammalian inner ear. *Mech Dev*, 121(3), 287-299. doi:10.1016/j.mod.2003.12.006
- Le Caignec, C., Lefevre, M., Schott, J., Chaventre, A., Gayet, M., Calais, C., & Moisan, J. (2002). Familial deafness, congenital heart defects, and posterior embryotoxon caused by cysteine substitution in the first epidermal-growth-factor–like domain of Jagged 1. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, *71*(1), 180-186.
- Lecaudey, V., Ulloa, E., Anselme, I., Stedman, A., Schneider-Maunoury, S., & Pujades, C. (2007). Role of the hindbrain in patterning the otic vesicle: A study of the zebrafish vhnf1 mutant. *Developmental Biology*, 303(1), 134-143. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2006.10.041
- Legan, P. K., Lukashkina, V. A., Goodyear, R. J., Kössi, M., Russell, I. J., & Richardson, G. P. (2000). A targeted deletion in alpha-tectorin reveals that the tectorial membrane is required for the gain and timing of cochlear feedback. *Neuron*, 28(1), 273-285. doi:10.1016/s0896-6273(00)00102-1
- Legan, P. K., Rau, A., Keen, J. N., & Richardson, G. P. (1997). The mouse tectorins. Modular matrix proteins of the inner ear homologous to components of the sperm-egg adhesion system. *J Biol Chem*, 272(13), 8791-8801. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.13.8791
- Léger, S., & Brand, M. (2002). Fgf8 and Fgf3 are required for zebrafish ear placode induction, maintenance and inner ear patterning. *Mech Dev*, 119(1), 91-108. doi:10.1016/s0925-4773(02)00343-x

- Lentz, J., Pan, F., Ng, S. S., Deininger, P., & Keats, B. (2007). Ush1c216A knock-in mouse survives Katrina. *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, 616(1-2), 139-144. doi:10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2006.11.006
- Lentz, J. J., Jodelka, F. M., Hinrich, A. J., McCaffrey, K. E., Farris, H. E., Spalitta, M. J., ... Hastings, M. L. (2013). Rescue of hearing and vestibular function by antisense oligonucleotides in a mouse model of human deafness. *Nat Med*, 19(3), 345-350. doi:10.1038/nm.3106
- Levi, L., Ziv, T., Admon, A., Levavi-Sivan, B., & Lubzens, E. (2012). Insight into molecular pathways of retinal metabolism, associated with vitellogenesis in zebrafish. *American journal of physiology-endocrinology and metabolism*, 302(6), E626-E644.
- Li, C.-M., Hoffman, H. J., Ward, B. K., Cohen, H. S., & Rine, R. M. (2016). Epidemiology of Dizziness and Balance Problems in Children in the United States: A Population-Based Study. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 171, 240-247.e243. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2015.12.002
- Li, M., Nishio, S.-y., Naruse, C., Riddell, M., Sapski, S., Katsuno, T., . . . Nakayama, M. (2020). Digenic inheritance of mutations in EPHA2 and SLC26A4 in Pendred syndrome. *Nature Communications*, 11(1), 1343. doi:10.1038/s41467-020-15198-9
- Li, X., Oghi, K. A., Zhang, J., Krones, A., Bush, K. T., Glass, C. K., . . . Rosenfeld, M. G. (2003). Eya protein phosphatase activity regulates Six1-Dach-Eya transcriptional effects in mammalian organogenesis. *Nature*, 426(6964), 247-254. doi:10.1038/nature02083
- Litsiou, A., Hanson, S., & Streit, A. (2005). A balance of FGF, BMP and WNT signalling positions the future placode territory in the head. *Development*, *132*(18), 4051. doi:10.1242/dev.01964
- Liu, D., Chu, H., Maves, L., Yan, Y.-L., Morcos, P. A., Postlethwait, J. H., & Westerfield, M. (2003). Fgf3 and Fgf8 dependent and independent transcription factors are required for otic placode specification. *Development*, 130(10), 2213-2224.
- Liu, W., Li, G., Chien, J. S., Raft, S., Zhang, H., Chiang, C., & Frenz, D. A. (2002). Sonic hedgehog regulates otic capsule chondrogenesis and inner ear development in the mouse embryo. *Dev Biol*, 248(2), 240-250. doi:10.1006/dbio.2002.0733
- Lo, W. W., Daniels, D. L., Chakeres, D. W., Linthicum, F. H., Jr., Ulmer, J. L., Mark, L. P., & Swartz, J. D. (1997). The endolymphatic duct and sac. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 18(5), 881-887.

- Löhle, E. (1985). Ultrastructural changes in the organ of Corti and in the ganglion spiral cochleae after vitamin A deficiency. *Pathol Res Pract, 179*(4-5), 560-567. doi:10.1016/s0344-0338(85)80197-7
- Lu, W., Zhou, D., Freeman, J. J., Thalmann, I., Ornitz, D. M., & Thalmann, R. (2010). In vitro effects of recombinant otoconin 90 upon calcite crystal growth. Significance of tertiary structure. *Hear Res*, 268(1-2), 172-183. doi:10.1016/j.heares.2010.05.019
- Lufkin, T., Dierich, A., LeMeur, M., Mark, M., & Chambon, P. (1991). Disruption of the Hox-1.6 homeobox gene results in defects in a region corresponding to its rostral domain of expression. *Cell*, 66(6), 1105-1119.
- Lush, M. E., & Piotrowski, T. (2014). Sensory hair cell regeneration in the zebrafish lateral line. *Dev Dyn, 243*(10), 1187-1202. doi:10.1002/dvdy.24167
- MacDonald, P. N., & Ong, D. E. (1988). Evidence for a lecithin-retinol acyltransferase activity in the rat small intestine. *J Biol Chem*, *263*(25), 12478-12482.
- MacLean, G., Abu-Abed, S., Dollé, P., Tahayato, A., Chambon, P., & Petkovich, M. (2001). Cloning of a novel retinoic-acid metabolizing cytochrome P450, Cyp26B1, and comparative expression analysis with Cyp26A1 during early murine development. *Mech Dev*, 107(1-2), 195-201. doi:10.1016/s0925-4773(01)00463-4
- Maden, M., Gale, E., Kostetskii, I., & Zile, M. (1996). Vitamin A-deficient quail embryos have half a hindbrain and other neural defects. *Curr Biol, 6*(4), 417-426. doi:10.1016/s0960-9822(02)00509-2
- Maier, E. C., & Whitfield, T. T. (2014). RA and FGF Signalling Are Required in the Zebrafish Otic Vesicle to Pattern and Maintain Ventral Otic Identities. *PLoS genetics*, 10(12), e1004858. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1004858
- Maklad, A., Reed, C., Johnson, N. S., & Fritzsch, B. (2014). Anatomy of the lamprey ear: morphological evidence for occurrence of horizontal semicircular ducts in the labyrinth of Petromyzon marinus. *Journal of anatomy*, 224(4), 432-446.
- Manolis, E. N., Yandavi, N., Nadol Jr, J. B., Eavey, R. D., McKenna, M., Rosenbaum, S., . . . Duyk, G. M. (1996). A gene for non-syndromic autosomal dominant progressive postlingual sensorineural hearing loss maps to chromosome 14q12–13. *Human molecular genetics*, 5(7), 1047-1050.
- Mansour, S. L., Goddard, J. M., & Capecchi, M. R. (1993). Mice homozygous for a targeted disruption of the proto-oncogene int-2 have developmental defects in the tail and inner

ear. *Development, 117*(1), 13-28. Retrieved from https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/117/1/13.full.pdf

- Maroon, H., Walshe, J., Mahmood, R., Kiefer, P., Dickson, C., & Mason, I. (2002). Fgf3 and Fgf8 are required together for formation of the otic placode and vesicle. *Development*, *129*(9), 2099-2108.
- Martin, D. M., Sheldon, S., & Gorski, J. L. (2001). CHARGE association with choanal atresia and inner ear hypoplasia in a child with a de novo chromosome translocation t (2; 7)(p14; q21. 11). *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, *99*(2), 115-119.
- Martin, K., & Groves, A. K. (2006). Competence of cranial ectoderm to respond to Fgf signaling suggests a two-step model of otic placode induction. *Development*, 133(5), 877-887.
- Maulding, K., Padanad, M. S., Dong, J., & Riley, B. B. (2014). Mesodermal Fgf10b cooperates with other fibroblast growth factors during induction of otic and epibranchial placodes in zebrafish. *Developmental dynamics*, 243(10), 1275-1285. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.24119
- Mazan, S., Jaillard, D., Baratte, B., & Janvier, P. (2000). Otx1 gene-controlled morphogenesis of the horizontal semicircular canal and the origin of the gnathostome characteristics. *Evol Dev*, *2*(4), 186-193. doi:10.1046/j.1525-142x.2000.00062.x
- McCarroll, M. N., Lewis, Z. R., Culbertson, M. D., Martin, B. L., Kimelman, D., & Nechiporuk, A. V. (2012). Graded levels of Pax2a and Pax8 regulate cell differentiation during sensory placode formation. *Development*, 139(15), 2740-2750. doi:10.1242/dev.076075
- McFarren, A., Jayabose, S., Ozkaynak, M. F., Tugal, O., & Sandoval, C. (2007). Cleft palate, bilateral external auditory canal atresia, and other midline defects associated with Diamond-Blackfan anemia: case report. *Journal of pediatric hematology/oncology, 29*(5), 338-340.
- McInerney, E. M., Rose, D. W., Flynn, S. E., Westin, S., Mullen, T. M., Krones, A., . . . Rosenfeld, M. G. (1998). Determinants of coactivator LXXLL motif specificity in nuclear receptor transcriptional activation. *Genes Dev*, 12(21), 3357-3368. doi:10.1101/gad.12.21.3357
- McNeill, A., Iovino, E., Mansard, L., Vache, C., Baux, D., Bedoukian, E., . . . Delpire, E. (2020). SLC12A2 variants cause a neurodevelopmental disorder or cochleovestibular defect. *Brain*, 143(8), 2380-2387. doi:10.1093/brain/awaa176
- McVean, A. (1991). The semicircular canals of the hagfish Myxine glutinosa. *Journal of Zoology, 224*(2), 213-222. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.1991.tb04800.x

- McVean, A. (2009). The semicircular canals of the hagfish Myxine glutinosa. *Journal of Zoology, 224*, 213-222. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.1991.tb04800.x
- Melnick, M., Bixler, D., Nance, W. E., Silk, K., & Yune, H. (1976). Familial branchio-oto-renal dysplasia: a new addition to the branchial arch syndromes. *Clin Genet*, *9*(1), 25-34. doi:10.1111/j.1399-0004.1976.tb01546.x
- Mescher, A. (2010). Chapter 23. The eye and ear: special sense organs. *Junqueira's basic histology: text & atlas.*
- Mic, F. A., Haselbeck, R. J., Cuenca, A. E., & Duester, G. (2002). Novel retinoic acid generating activities in the neural tube and heart identified by conditional rescue of Raldh2 null mutant mice. *Development*, *129*(9), 2271-2282.
- Miller, N. D., Nance, M. A., Wohler, E. S., Hoover-Fong, J. E., Lisi, E., Thomas, G. H., & Pevsner, J. (2009). Molecular (SNP) analyses of overlapping hemizygous deletions of 10q25. 3 to 10qter in four patients: evidence for HMX2 and HMX3 as candidate genes in hearing and vestibular function. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 149(4), 669-680.
- Millonig, J. H., Millen, K. J., & Hatten, M. E. (2000). The mouse Dreher gene Lmx1a controls formation of the roof plate in the vertebrate CNS. *Nature*, 403(6771), 764-769.
- Molotkov, A., Deltour, L., Foglio, M. H., Cuenca, A. E., & Duester, G. (2002). Distinct retinoid metabolic functions for alcohol dehydrogenase genes Adh1 and Adh4 in protection against vitamin A toxicity or deficiency revealed in double null mutant mice. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(16), 13804-13811.
- Molotkova, N., Molotkov, A., & Duester, G. (2007). Role of retinoic acid during forebrain development begins late when Raldh3 generates retinoic acid in the ventral subventricular zone. *Developmental Biology*, *303*(2), 601-610.
- Morsli, H., Choo, D., Ryan, A., Johnson, R., & Wu, D. K. (1998). Development of the Mouse Inner Ear and Origin of Its Sensory Organs. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(9), 3327-3335. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.18-09-03327.1998
- Morsli, H., Tuorto, F., Choo, D., Postiglione, M. P., Simeone, A., & Wu, D. K. (1999). Otx1 and Otx2 activities are required for the normal development of the mouse inner ear. *Development*, *126*(11), 2335-2343.
- Murayama, E., Herbomel, P., Kawakami, A., Takeda, H., & Nagasawa, H. (2005). Otolith matrix proteins OMP-1 and Otolin-1 are necessary for normal otolith growth and their correct

anchoring onto the sensory maculae. *Mech Dev, 122*(6), 791-803. doi:10.1016/j.mod.2005.03.002

- Murray, G. I., Melvin, W. T., Greenlee, W. F., & Burke, M. D. (2001). REGULATION, FUNCTION, ANDTISSUE-SPECIFICEXPRESSION OFCYTOCHROMEP450 CYP1B1. Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology, 41(1), 297-316. doi:10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.41.1.297
- Mutai, H., Wasano, K., Momozawa, Y., Kamatani, Y., Miya, F., Masuda, S., . . . Matsunaga, T. (2020). Variants encoding a restricted carboxy-terminal domain of SLC12A2 cause hereditary hearing loss in humans. *PLoS genetics*, 16(4), e1008643. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1008643
- Muto, Y., & Goodman, D. S. (1972). Vitamin A transport in rat plasma: isolation and characterization of retinol-binding protein. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 247(8), 2533-2541.
- Nakaya, K., Harbidge, D. G., Wangemann, P., Schultz, B. D., Green, E. D., Wall, S. M., & Marcus, D. C. (2007). Lack of pendrin HCO3- transport elevates vestibular endolymphatic [Ca2+] by inhibition of acid-sensitive TRPV5 and TRPV6 channels. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*, 292(5), F1314-1321. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00432.2006
- Namba, A., Abe, S., Shinkawa, H., Kimberling, W. J., & Usami, S.-i. (2001). Genetic features of hearing loss associated with ear anomalies: PDS and EYA1 mutation analysis. *Journal of human genetics*, 46(9), 518-521.
- Neuhauss, S. C., Solnica-Krezel, L., Schier, A. F., Zwartkruis, F., Stemple, D. L., Malicki, J., . . . Driever, W. (1996). Mutations affecting craniofacial development in zebrafish. *Development*, 123(1), 357-367. Retrieved from <u>https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/123/1/357.full.pdf</u>
- Nguyen, K., Hall, A. L., & Jones, J. M. (2015). Expression of myosin VIIA in the developing chick inner ear neurons. *Gene Expression Patterns*, *19*(1-2), 36-44. doi:10.1016/j.gep.2015.07.001
- Nguyen, K., Hall, A. L., & Jones, J. M. (2015). Expression of myosin VIIA in the developing chick inner ear neurons. *Gene Expr Patterns*, 19(1-2), 36-44. doi:10.1016/j.gep.2015.07.001
- Nichols, D. H., Pauley, S., Jahan, I., Beisel, K. W., Millen, K. J., & Fritzsch, B. (2008). Lmx1a is required for segregation of sensory epithelia and normal ear histogenesis and morphogenesis. *Cell and Tissue Research*, *334*(3), 339-358. doi:10.1007/s00441-008-0709-2

- Niederreither, K., Subbarayan, V., Dollé, P., & Chambon, P. (1999). Embryonic retinoic acid synthesis is essential for early mouse post-implantation development. *Nature Genetics*, 21(4), 444-448. doi:10.1038/7788
- Niederreither, K., Vermot, J., Fraulob, V., Chambon, P., & Dollé, P. (2002). Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (RALDH2)-independent patterns of retinoic acid synthesis in the mouse embryo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 99*(25), 16111-16116.
- Niederreither, K., Vermot, J., Schuhbaur, B., Chambon, P., & Dollé, P. (2000). Retinoic acid synthesis and hindbrain patterning in the mouse embryo. *Development*, 127(1), 75-85.
- Niederreither, K., Vermot, J., Schuhbaur, B., Chambon, P., & Dollé, P. (2002). Embryonic retinoic acid synthesis is required for forelimb growth and anteroposterior patterning in the mouse. *Development*, *129*(15), 3563-3574.
- Noda, T., Oki, S., Kitajima, K., Harada, T., Komune, S., & Meno, C. (2012). Restriction of Wnt signaling in the dorsal otocyst determines semicircular canal formation in the mouse embryo. *Developmental Biology*, 362(1), 83-93. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2011.11.019
- Ohta, S., & Schoenwolf, G. C. (2018). Hearing crosstalk: the molecular conversation orchestrating inner ear dorsoventral patterning. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol*, 7(1). doi:10.1002/wdev.302
- Ohta, S., Wang, B., Mansour, S. L., & Schoenwolf, G. C. (2016). BMP regulates regional gene expression in the dorsal otocyst through canonical and non-canonical intracellular pathways. *Development*, *143*(12), 2228-2237. doi:10.1242/dev.137133
- Ohyama, T., Mohamed, O. A., Taketo, M. M., Dufort, D., & Groves, A. K. (2006). Wnt signals mediate a fate decision between otic placode and epidermis. *Development*, 133(5), 865. doi:10.1242/dev.02271
- Omata, Y., Nojima, Y., Nakayama, S., Okamoto, H., Nakamura, H., & Funahashi, J. i. (2007). Role of Bone morphogenetic protein 4 in zebrafish semicircular canal development. *Development, Growth & Differentiation, 49*(9), 711-719. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-169X.2007.00964.x
- Ong, D. E., & Chytil, F. (1975). Retinoic acid-binding protein in rat tissue. Partial purification and comparison to rat tissue retinol-binding protein. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 250(15), 6113-6117.

- Ong, D. E., & Chytil, F. (1976). Changes in levels of cellular retinol-and retinoic-acid-binding proteins of liver and lung during perinatal development of rat. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 73(11), 3976-3978.
- Ono, K., Keller, J., López Ramírez, O., González Garrido, A., Zobeiri, O. A., Chang, H. H. V., . .
 Wu, D. K. (2020). Retinoic acid degradation shapes zonal development of vestibular organs and sensitivity to transient linear accelerations. *Nature Communications*, 11(1), 63. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-13710-4
- Ono, K., Sandell, L. L., Trainor, P. A., & Wu, D. K. (2020). Retinoic acid synthesis and autoregulation mediate zonal patterning of vestibular organs and inner ear morphogenesis. *Development*, 147(15), dev192070. doi:10.1242/dev.192070
- Padanad, M. S., Bhat, N., Guo, B., & Riley, B. B. (2012). Conditions that influence the response to Fgf during otic placode induction. *Developmental Biology*, *364*(1), 1-10.
- Pan, B., Askew, C., Galvin, A., Heman-Ackah, S., Asai, Y., Indzhykulian, A. A., ... Géléoc, G. S. (2017). Gene therapy restores auditory and vestibular function in a mouse model of Usher syndrome type 1c. *Nature biotechnology*, *35*(3), 264-272. doi:10.1038/nbt.3801
- Pan, N., Jahan, I., Kersigo, J., Kopecky, B., Santi, P., Johnson, S., . . . Fritzsch, B. (2011). Conditional deletion of Atoh1 using Pax2-Cre results in viable mice without differentiated cochlear hair cells that have lost most of the organ of Corti. *Hear Res*, 275(1-2), 66-80. doi:10.1016/j.heares.2010.12.002
- Pan, W., Jin, Y., Chen, J., Rottier, R. J., Steel, K. P., & Kiernan, A. E. (2013). Ectopic Expression of Activated Notch or SOX2 Reveals Similar and Unique Roles in the Development of the Sensory Cell Progenitors in the Mammalian Inner Ear. *The Journal* of Neuroscience, 33(41), 16146-16157. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.3150-12.2013
- Park, B.-Y., & Saint-Jeannet, J.-P. (2008). Hindbrain-derived Wnt and Fgf signals cooperate to specify the otic placode in Xenopus. *Developmental Biology*, 324(1), 108-121.
- Park, W.-J., Meyers, G. A., Li, X., Theda, C., Day, D., Oriow, S. J., . . . Jabs, E. W. (1995). Novel FGFR2 mutations in Crouzon and Jackson-Weiss syndromes show allelic heterogeneity and phenotypic variability. *Human molecular genetics*, 4(7), 1229-1233.
- Pasqualetti, M., Neun, R., Davenne, M., & Rijli, F. M. (2001). Retinoic acid rescues inner ear defects in Hoxal deficient mice. *Nature Genetics*, 29(1), 34-39.
- Paterson, N. F. (1949). The development of the inner ear of Xenopus laevis. *Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London*, 119(2), 269-291. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1096-3642.1949.tb00878.x</u>

- Pauley, S., Wright, T. J., Pirvola, U., Ornitz, D., Beisel, K., & Fritzsch, B. (2003). Expression and function of FGF10 in mammalian inner ear development. *Dev Dyn*, 227(2), 203-215. doi:10.1002/dvdy.10297
- Penzes, P., & Napoli, J. L. (1999). Holo-cellular retinol-binding protein: distinction of ligandbinding affinity from efficiency as substrate in retinal biosynthesis. *Biochemistry*, 38(7), 2088-2093. doi:10.1021/bi982228t
- Petko, J. A., Millimaki, B. B., Canfield, V. A., Riley, B. B., & Levenson, R. (2008). Otoc1: a novel otoconin-90 ortholog required for otolith mineralization in zebrafish. *Dev Neurobiol*, 68(2), 209-222. doi:10.1002/dneu.20587
- Petrovic, J., Formosa-Jordan, P., Luna-Escalante, J. C., Abelló, G., Ibañes, M., Neves, J., & Giraldez, F. (2014). Ligand-dependent Notch signaling strength orchestrates lateral induction and lateral inhibition in the developing inner ear. *Development*, 141(11), 2313-2324. doi:10.1242/dev.108100
- Phillips, B. T., Bolding, K., & Riley, B. B. (2001). Zebrafish fgf3 and fgf8 encode redundant functions required for otic placode induction. *Developmental Biology*, 235(2), 351-365.
- Phillips, J. B., Blanco-Sanchez, B., Lentz, J. J., Tallafuss, A., Khanobdee, K., Sampath, S., . . . Westerfield, M. (2011). Harmonin (Ush1c) is required in zebrafish Müller glial cells for photoreceptor synaptic development and function. *Dis Model Mech*, 4(6), 786-800. doi:10.1242/dmm.006429
- Pittlik, S., & Begemann, G. (2012). New sources of retinoic acid synthesis revealed by live imaging of an Aldh1a2-GFP reporter fusion protein throughout zebrafish development. *Dev Dyn, 241*(7), 1205-1216. doi:10.1002/dvdy.23805
- Pittlik, S., Domingues, S., Meyer, A., & Begemann, G. (2008). Expression of zebrafish aldh1a3 (raldh3) and absence of aldh1a1 in teleosts. *Gene Expression Patterns*, 8(3), 141-147. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gep.2007.11.003
- Poss, K. D., Wilson, L. G., & Keating, M. T. (2002). Heart regeneration in zebrafish. *Science*, 298(5601), 2188-2190. doi:10.1126/science.1077857
- Purves, D., Augustine, G., Fitzpatrick, D., Katz, L., LaMantia, A., McNamara, J., & Williams, S. (2001). The Otolith Organs: The Utricle and Sacculus. *Neuroscience*.
- Quintero-Rivera, F., Robson, C. D., Reiss, R. E., Levine, D., Benson, C. B., Mulliken, J. B., & Kimonis, V. E. (2006). Intracranial anomalies detected by imaging studies in 30 patients with Apert syndrome. *American journal of medical genetics. Part A*, 140(12), 1337.

- Radosevic, M. (2011). *Spatial control of inner ear neurogenesis by retinoic acid, Tbx1 and her genes*: Universitat Pompeu Fabra.
- Radosevic, M., Robert-Moreno, À., Coolen, M., Bally-Cuif, L., & Alsina, B. (2011). Her9 represses neurogenic fate downstream of Tbx1 and retinoic acid signaling in the inner ear. *Development*, 138(3), 397-408.
- Raft, S., Andrade, L. R., Shao, D., Akiyama, H., Henkemeyer, M., & Wu, D. K. (2014). Ephrin-B2 governs morphogenesis of endolymphatic sac and duct epithelia in the mouse inner ear. *Developmental Biology*, 390(1), 51-67.
- Raft, S., Nowotschin, S., Liao, J., & Morrow, B. E. (2004). Suppression of neural fate and control of inner ear morphogenesis by Tbx1. *Development*, 131(8), 1801-1812.
- Rajaii, F., Bitzer, Z. T., Xu, Q., & Sockanathan, S. (2008). Expression of the dominant negative retinoid receptor, RAR403, alters telencephalic progenitor proliferation, survival, and cell fate specification. *Developmental Biology*, 316(2), 371-382.
- Ramos, K. S. (1999). Redox regulation of c-Ha-ras and osteopontin signaling in vascular smooth muscle cells: implications in chemical atherogenesis. *Annual review of pharmacology* and toxicology, 39(1), 243-265.
- Raphael, Y., Kobayashi, K. N., Dootz, G. A., Beyer, L. A., Dolan, D. F., & Burmeister, M. (2001). Severe vestibular and auditory impairment in three alleles of Ames waltzer (av) mice. *Hear Res*, 151(1-2), 237-249. doi:10.1016/s0378-5955(00)00233-1
- Rau, A., Legan, P. K., & Richardson, G. P. (1999). Tectorin mRNA expression is spatially and temporally restricted during mouse inner ear development. *J Comp Neurol*, 405(2), 271-280.
- Rederstorff, M., Castets, P., Arbogast, S., Lainé, J., Vassilopoulos, S., Beuvin, M., . . . Lescure, A. (2011). Increased muscle stress-sensitivity induced by selenoprotein N inactivation in mouse: a mammalian model for SEPN1-related myopathy. *PloS one, 6*(8), e23094. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0023094
- reviewed in Kalueff, A. V., Gebhardt, M., Stewart, A. M., Cachat, J. M., Brimmer, M., Chawla, J. S., . . . Zebrafish Neuroscience Research, C. (2013). Towards a comprehensive catalog of zebrafish behavior 1.0 and beyond. *Zebrafish*, 10(1), 70-86. doi:10.1089/zeb.2012.0861
- Ribes, V., Wang, Z., Dollé, P., & Niederreither, K. (2006). Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (RALDH2)-mediated retinoic acid synthesis regulates early mouse embryonic forebrain

development by controlling FGF and sonic hedgehog signaling. *Development*, 133(2), 351-361.

- Riccomagno, M. M., Martinu, L., Mulheisen, M., Wu, D. K., & Epstein, D. J. (2002). Specification of the mammalian cochlea is dependent on Sonic hedgehog. *Genes Dev*, *16*(18), 2365-2378. doi:10.1101/gad.1013302
- Riccomagno, M. M., Takada, S., & Epstein, D. J. (2005). Wnt-dependent regulation of inner ear morphogenesis is balanced by the opposing and supporting roles of Shh. *Genes & development*, 19(13), 1612-1623. doi:10.1101/gad.1303905
- Riley, B. B., & Moorman, S. J. (2000). Development of utricular otoliths, but not saccular otoliths, is necessary for vestibular function and survival in zebrafish. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 43(4), 329-337. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-</u> <u>4695(20000615)43:4</u><329::AID-NEU2>3.0.CO;2-H
- Robertson, N. G., Cremers, C. W., Huygen, P. L., Ikezono, T., Krastins, B., Kremer, H., ... Morton, C. C. (2006). Cochlin immunostaining of inner ear pathologic deposits and proteomic analysis in DFNA9 deafness and vestibular dysfunction. *Hum Mol Genet*, 15(7), 1071-1085. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddl022
- Rochel, N., Ciesielski, F., Godet, J., Moman, E., Roessle, M., Peluso-Iltis, C., ... Mély, Y. (2011). Common architecture of nuclear receptor heterodimers on DNA direct repeat elements with different spacings. *Nature structural & molecular biology*, 18(5), 564.
- Rohacek, A. M., Bebee, T. W., Tilton, R. K., Radens, C. M., McDermott-Roe, C., Peart, N., . . . Musunuru, K. (2017). ESRP1 mutations cause hearing loss due to defects in alternative splicing that disrupt cochlear development. *Developmental cell*, 43(3), 318-331. e315.
- Romand, R., Dollé, P., & Hashino, E. (2006). Retinoid signaling in inner ear development. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 66(7), 687-704. doi:10.1002/neu.20244
- Romand, R., Hashino, E., Dollé, P., Vonesch, J. L., Chambon, P., & Ghyselinck, N. B. (2002). The retinoic acid receptors RARalpha and RARgamma are required for inner ear development. *Mech Dev*, 119(2), 213-223. doi:10.1016/s0925-4773(02)00385-4
- Romand, R., Niederreither, K., Abu-Abed, S., Petkovich, M., Fraulob, V., Hashino, E., & Dollé, P. (2004). Complementary expression patterns of retinoid acid-synthesizing and metabolizing enzymes in pre-natal mouse inner ear structures. *Gene Expression Patterns*, 4(2), 123-133. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.modgep.2003.09.006</u>

- Ross, M. D., & Pote, K. G. (1984). Some Properties of Otoconia. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences, 304*(1121), 445-452. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/2396113</u>
- Ruf, R. G., Xu, P. X., Silvius, D., Otto, E. A., Beekmann, F., Muerb, U. T., . . . Hildebrandt, F. (2004). SIX1 mutations cause branchio-oto-renal syndrome by disruption of EYA1-SIX1-DNA complexes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101(21), 8090-8095. doi:10.1073/pnas.0308475101
- Sai, X., & Ladher, R. K. (2008). FGF Signaling Regulates Cytoskeletal Remodeling during Epithelial Morphogenesis. *Current Biology*, 18(13), 976-981. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.05.049
- Sai, X., Yonemura, S., & Ladher, R. K. (2014). Junctionally restricted RhoA activity is necessary for apical constriction during phase 2 inner ear placode invagination. *Developmental Biology*, 394(2), 206-216. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2014.08.022
- Salminen, M., Meyer, B. I., Bober, E., & Gruss, P. (2000). Netrin 1 is required for semicircular canal formation in the mouse inner ear. *Development*, *127*(1), 13-22. Retrieved from https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/127/1/13.full.pdf
- Sandell, L. L., Sanderson, B. W., Moiseyev, G., Johnson, T., Mushegian, A., Young, K., . . . Trainor, P. A. (2007). RDH10 is essential for synthesis of embryonic retinoic acid and is required for limb, craniofacial, and organ development. *Genes & development, 21*(9), 1113-1124.
- Sanyanusin, P., McNoe, L. A., Sullivan, M. J., Weaver, R. G., & Eccles, M. R. (1995). Mutation of PAX2 in two siblings with renal-coloboma syndrome. *Hum Mol Genet*, 4(11), 2183-2184. doi:10.1093/hmg/4.11.2183
- Sapède, D., Dyballa, S., & Pujades, C. (2012). Cell lineage analysis reveals three different progenitor pools for neurosensory elements in the otic vesicle. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 32*(46), 16424-16434. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3686-12.2012
- Saunders, L. M., Mishra, A. K., Aman, A. J., Lewis, V. M., Toomey, M. B., Packer, J. S., . . . Trapnell, C. (2019). Thyroid hormone regulates distinct paths to maturation in pigment cell lineages. *Elife*, 8, e45181.
- Schlosser, G., & Ahrens, K. (2004). Molecular anatomy of placode development in Xenopus laevis. *Developmental Biology*, 271(2), 439-466. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2004.04.013</u>

- Schlosser, G., & Northcutt, R. G. (2000). Development of neurogenic placodes in Xenopus laevis. J Comp Neurol, 418(2), 121-146.
- Schorle, H., Meier, P., Buchert, M., Jaenisch, R., & Mitchell, P. J. (1996). Transcription factor AP-2 essential for cranial closure and craniofacial development. *Nature*, 381(6579), 235-238. doi:10.1038/381235a0
- Schraders, M., Ruiz-Palmero, L., Kalay, E., Oostrik, J., del Castillo, F. J., Sezgin, O., . . . Seco, C. Z. (2012). Mutations of the gene encoding otogelin are a cause of autosomal-recessive nonsyndromic moderate hearing impairment. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 91(5), 883-889.
- Seco, C. Z., Oonk, A. M. M., Domínguez-Ruiz, M., Draaisma, J. M. T., Gandía, M., Oostrik, J., . . . Schraders, M. (2015). Progressive hearing loss and vestibular dysfunction caused by a homozygous nonsense mutation in CLIC5. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 23(2), 189-194. doi:10.1038/ejhg.2014.83
- Sensi, A., Ceruti, S., Trevisi, P., Gualandi, F., Busi, M., Donati, I., . . . Martini, A. (2011). LAMM syndrome with middle ear dysplasia associated with compound heterozygosity for FGF3 mutations. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 155(5), 1096-1101.
- Shine, I., & Watson, J. (1967). A new syndrome of sex-linked congenital conductive deafness. In: Unpublished.
- Shiotsugu, J., Katsuyama, Y., Arima, K., Baxter, A., Koide, T., Song, J., . . . Blumberg, B. (2004). Multiple points of interaction between retinoic acid and FGF signaling during embryonic axis formation. *Development*, 131(11), 2653-2667. doi:10.1242/dev.01129
- Simmler, M.-C., Cohen-Salmon, M., El-Amraoui, A., Guillaud, L., Benichou, J.-C., Petit, C., & Panthier, J.-J. (2000). Targeted disruption of otog results in deafness and severe imbalance. *Nature Genetics*, 24(2), 139-143.
- Simmler, M. C., Cohen-Salmon, M., El-Amraoui, A., Guillaud, L., Benichou, J. C., Petit, C., & Panthier, J. J. (2000). Targeted disruption of otog results in deafness and severe imbalance. *Nat Genet*, 24(2), 139-143. doi:10.1038/72793
- Simmler, M. C., Zwaenepoel, I., Verpy, E., Guillaud, L., Elbaz, C., Petit, C., & Panthier, J. J. (2000). Twister mutant mice are defective for otogelin, a component specific to inner ear acellular membranes. *Mamm Genome*, 11(11), 960-966.
- Smith, R. J. H., Lee, E. C., Kimberling, W. J., Daiger, S. P., Pelias, M. Z., Keats, B. J. B., . . . Fielding Hejtmancik, J. (1992). Localization of two genes for usher syndrome type I to chromosome 11. *Genomics*, 14(4), 995-1002. doi:10.1016/s0888-7543(05)80122-3

- Smith, R. J. H., Pelias, M. Z., Daiger, S. P., Keats, B., Kimberling, W., & Hejtmancik, J. F. (1992). Clinical variability and genetic heterogeneity within the Acadian Usher population. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 43(6), 964-969. doi:10.1002/ajmg.1320430612
- Söllner, C., Rauch, G. J., Siemens, J., Geisler, R., Schuster, S. C., Müller, U., & Nicolson, T. (2004). Mutations in cadherin 23 affect tip links in zebrafish sensory hair cells. *Nature*, 428(6986), 955-959. doi:10.1038/nature02484
- Song, M. H., Kwon, T.-J., Kim, H. R., Jeon, J. H., Baek, J.-I., Lee, W.-S., . . . Choi, J. Y. (2013). Mutational analysis of EYA1, SIX1 and SIX5 genes and strategies for management of hearing loss in patients with BOR/BO syndrome. *PloS one*, 8(6), e67236.
- Spoor, F., Garland, T., Jr., Krovitz, G., Ryan, T. M., Silcox, M. T., & Walker, A. (2007). The primate semicircular canal system and locomotion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104(26), 10808-10812. doi:10.1073/pnas.0704250104
- Steevens, A. R., Sookiasian, D. L., Glatzer, J. C., & Kiernan, A. E. (2017). SOX2 is required for inner ear neurogenesis. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 4086. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-04315-2
- Steiner, A. B., Kim, T., Cabot, V., & Hudspeth, A. J. (2014). Dynamic gene expression by putative hair-cell progenitors during regeneration in the zebrafish lateral line. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111(14), E1393-1401. doi:10.1073/pnas.1318692111
- Steventon, B., Mayor, R., & Streit, A. (2012). Mutual repression between Gbx2 and Otx2 in sensory placodes reveals a general mechanism for ectodermal patterning. *Developmental Biology*, 367(1), 55-65.
- Stinckens, C., Huygen, P. L., Joosten, F. B., Van Camp, G., Otten, B., & Cremers, C. W. (2001). Fluctuant, progressive hearing loss associated with Menière like vertigo in three patients with the Pendred syndrome. *Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol, 61*(3), 207-215. doi:10.1016/s0165-5876(01)00573-0
- Streisinger, G. (1984). Attainment of minimal biological variability and measurements of genotoxicity: production of homozygous diploid zebra fish. *Natl Cancer Inst Monogr*, 65, 53-58.
- Streisinger, G., Walker, C., Dower, N., Knauber, D., & Singer, F. (1981). Production of clones of homozygous diploid zebra fish (Brachydanio rerio). *Nature*, 291(5813), 293-296. doi:10.1038/291293a0

- Sugden, W. W., Leonardo-Mendonça, R. C., Acuña-Castroviejo, D., & Siekmann, A. F. (2017). Genetic dissection of endothelial transcriptional activity of zebrafish aryl hydrocarbon receptors (AHRs). *PloS one, 12*(8), e0183433. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0183433
- Sznajer, Y., Coldéa, C., Meire, F., Delpierre, I., Sekhara, T., & Touraine, R. L. (2008). A de novo SOX10 mutation causing severe type 4 Waardenburg syndrome without Hirschsprung disease. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 146(8), 1038-1041.
- Tahayato, A., Dollé, P., & Petkovich, M. (2003). Cyp26C1 encodes a novel retinoic acidmetabolizing enzyme expressed in the hindbrain, inner ear, first branchial arch and tooth buds during murine development. *Gene Expression Patterns*, 3(4), 449-454.
- Tallafuss, A., Hale, L. A., Yan, Y. L., Dudley, L., Eisen, J. S., & Postlethwait, J. H. (2006). Characterization of retinoid-X receptor genes rxra, rxrba, rxrbb and rxrg during zebrafish development. *Gene Expr Patterns*, 6(5), 556-565. doi:10.1016/j.modgep.2005.10.005
- Tekin, M., Hişmi, B. Ö., Fitoz, S., Özdağ, H., Cengiz, F. B., Sırmacı, A., ... Yılmaz, S. T. (2007). Homozygous mutations in fibroblast growth factor 3 are associated with a new form of syndromic deafness characterized by inner ear agenesis, microtia, and microdontia. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 80(2), 338-344.
- Tekin, M., Öztürkmen Akay, H., Fitoz, S., Birnbaum, S., Cengiz, F., Sennaroğlu, L., . . . Şentürk, S. (2008). Homozygous FGF3 mutations result in congenital deafness with inner ear agenesis, microtia, and microdontia. *Clinical Genetics*, 73(6), 554-565.
- Tekin, M., Sırmacı, A., Yüksel-Konuk, B., Fitoz, S., & Sennaroğlu, L. (2009). A complex TFAP2A allele is associated with branchio-oculo-facial syndrome and inner ear malformation in a deaf child. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 149(3), 427-430.
- Tischfield, M. A., Bosley, T. M., Salih, M. A., Alorainy, I. A., Sener, E. C., Nester, M. J., . . . Erickson, R. P. (2005). Homozygous HOXA1 mutations disrupt human brainstem, inner ear, cardiovascular and cognitive development. *Nature Genetics*, *37*(10), 1035-1037.
- Tsai, H., Hardisty, R. E., Rhodes, C., Kiernan, A. E., Roby, P., Tymowska-Lalanne, Z., . . . Brown, S. D. (2001). The mouse slalom mutant demonstrates a role for Jagged1 in neuroepithelial patterning in the organ of Corti. *Human molecular genetics*, 10(5), 507-512.
- Tsujikawa, S., Yamashita, T., Tomoda, K., Iwai, H., Kumazawa, H., Cho, H., & Kumazawa, T. (1993). Effects of acetazolamide on acid-base balance in the endolymphatic sac of the guinea pig. *Acta Otolaryngol Suppl, 500*, 50-53. doi:10.3109/00016489309126179

- Tsukamoto, K., Suzuki, H., Harada, D., Namba, A., Abe, S., & Usami, S.-i. (2003). Distribution and frequencies of PDS (SLC26A4) mutations in Pendred syndrome and nonsyndromic hearing loss associated with enlarged vestibular aqueduct: a unique spectrum of mutations in Japanese. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, *11*(12), 916-922.
- Umesono, K., & Evans, R. M. (1989). Determinants of target gene specificity for steroid/thyroid hormone receptors. *Cell*, *57*(7), 1139-1146.
- Van de Laar, I., Dooijes, D., Hoefsloot, L., Simon, M., Hoogeboom, J., & Devriendt, K. (2007). Limb anomalies in patients with CHARGE syndrome: An expansion of the phenotype. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 143A(22), 2712-2715. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.32008
- van der Velden, Y. U., Wang, L., Querol Cano, L., & Haramis, A.-P. G. (2013). The Polycomb Group Protein Ring1b/Rnf2 Is Specifically Required for Craniofacial Development. *PloS* one, 8(9), e73997. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0073997
- Villegas, H., Merker, H. J., Helling, K., Clarke, A. H., & Scherer, H. (2001). Electron microscopic studies of ion- and H2O-transporting epithelial cells in the horizontal ampulla of the pigeon. *Histol Histopathol*, 16(4), 1161-1174. doi:10.14670/hh-16.1161
- Vissers, L. E., van Ravenswaaij, C. M., Admiraal, R., Hurst, J. A., de Vries, B. B., Janssen, I. M., . . . Hamel, B. C. (2004). Mutations in a new member of the chromodomain gene family cause CHARGE syndrome. *Nature Genetics*, 36(9), 955-957.
- Vosshall, L. B., & Carandini, M. (2009). Sensory systems. *Current opinion in neurobiology*, 19(4), 343-344. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2009.08.002
- Wackym, P. A., Friberg, U., Bagger-Sjöbäck, D., Linthicum, F. H., Friedmann, I., & Rask-Andersen, H. (1987). Human endolymphatic sac: possible mechanisms of pressure regulation. *The Journal of Laryngology & Otology*, 101(8), 768-779. doi:10.1017/s0022215100102713
- Wada, H., Saiga, H., Satoh, N., & Holland, P. W. (1998). Tripartite organization of the ancestral chordate brain and the antiquity of placodes: insights from ascidian Pax-2/5/8, Hox and Otx genes. *Development*, 125(6), 1113. Retrieved from <u>http://dev.biologists.org/content/125/6/1113.abstract</u>
- Wada, T., Wakabayashi, Y., Takahashi, S., Ushiki, T., Kikkawa, Y., Yonekawa, H., & Kominami, R. (2001). A Point Mutation in a Cadherin Gene, Cdh23, Causes Deafness in a Novel Mutant, Waltzer Mouse Niigata. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 283*(1), 113-117. doi:10.1006/bbrc.2001.4724

- Waldman, E. H., Castillo, A., & Collazo, A. (2007). Ablation studies on the developing inner ear reveal a propensity for mirror duplications. *Dev Dyn*, 236(5), 1237-1248. doi:10.1002/dvdy.21144
- Wang, T. J., Huang, C. B., Tsai, F. J., Wu, J. Y., Lai, R. B., & Hsiao, M. (2002). Mutation in the FGFR2 gene in a Taiwanese patient with Beare–Stevenson cutis gyrata syndrome. *Clinical Genetics*, 61(3), 218-221.
- Wang, W., Chan, E. K., Baron, S., Van De Water, T., & Lufkin, T. (2001). Hmx2 homeobox gene control of murine vestibular morphogenesis. *Development*, *128*(24), 5017-5029.
- Wang, W., Grimmer, J. F., Van De Water, T. R., & Lufkin, T. (2004). Hmx2 and Hmx3 homeobox genes direct development of the murine inner ear and hypothalamus and can be functionally replaced by Drosophila Hmx. *Developmental cell*, 7(3), 439-453.
- Wangemann, P. (1995). Comparison of ion transport mechanisms between vestibular dark cells and strial marginal cells. *Hearing Research*, 90(1-2), 149-157. doi:10.1016/0378-5955(95)00157-2
- Waterman, R. E., & Bell, D. H. (1984). Epithelial fusion during early semicircular canal formation in the embryonic zebrafish, Brachydanio rerio. *Anat Rec*, 210(1), 101-114. doi:10.1002/ar.1092100113
- Waterman, R. E., & Bell, D. H. (1984). Epithelial fusion during early semicircular canal formation in the embryonic zebrafish, Brachydanio rerio. *The Anatomical Record*, 210(1), 101-114.
- Waxman, J. S., & Yelon, D. (2007). Comparison of the expression patterns of newly identified zebrafish retinoic acid and retinoid X receptors. *Developmental dynamics*, 236(2), 587-595. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.21049</u>
- Weil, D., Levy, G., Sahly, I., Levi-Acobas, F., Blanchard, S., El-Amraoui, A., . . . Petit, C. (1996). Human myosin VIIA responsible for the Usher 1B syndrome: a predicted membrane-associated motor protein expressed in developing sensory epithelia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93(8), 3232-3237. doi:10.1073/pnas.93.8.3232
- Wesdorp, M., de Koning Gans, P. A., Schraders, M., Oostrik, J., Huynen, M. A., Venselaar, H., . . Voermans, N. (2018). Heterozygous missense variants of LMX1A lead to nonsyndromic hearing impairment and vestibular dysfunction. *Human genetics*, 137(5), 389-400.

- Weston, A. D., Blumberg, B., & Underhill, T. M. (2003). Active repression by unliganded retinoid receptors in development: less is sometimes more. *J Cell Biol*, 161(2), 223-228. doi:10.1083/jcb.200211117
- Wever, E. G. (1974). The Evolution of Vertebrate Hearing. In N. W. D. Keidel W.D. (Ed.), *Auditory System. Handbook of Sensory Physiology* (Vol. 5). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer.
- White, J. A., Guo, Y.-D., Baetz, K., Beckett-Jones, B., Bonasoro, J., Hsu, K. E., . . . Petkovich, M. (1996). Identification of the retinoic acid-inducible all-trans-retinoic acid 4hydroxylase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(47), 29922-29927.
- White, J. C., Highland, M., Kaiser, M., & Clagett-Dame, M. (2000). Vitamin A deficiency results in the dose-dependent acquisition of anterior character and shortening of the caudal hindbrain of the rat embryo. *Dev Biol, 220*(2), 263-284. doi:10.1006/dbio.2000.9635
- Whitfield, T. T., Granato, M., Van Eeden, F., Schach, U., Brand, M., Furutani-Seiki, M., . . . Jiang, Y.-J. (1996). Mutations affecting development of the zebrafish inner ear and lateral line. *Development*, 123(1), 241-254.
- Whitfield, T. T., Granato, M., van Eeden, F. J., Schach, U., Brand, M., Furutani-Seiki, M., . . . Nusslein-Volhard, C. (1996). Mutations affecting development of the zebrafish inner ear and lateral line. *Development*, 123(1), 241-254. Retrieved from <u>https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/123/1/241.full.pdf</u>
- Willy, P. J., & Mangelsdorf, D. J. (1998). Nuclear orphan receptors: the search for novel ligands and signaling pathways. In *Hormones and signaling* (pp. 307-358): Elsevier.
- Winata, C. L., Korzh, S., Kondrychyn, I., Zheng, W., Korzh, V., & Gong, Z. (2009). Development of zebrafish swimbladder: The requirement of Hedgehog signaling in specification and organization of the three tissue layers. *Developmental Biology*, 331(2), 222-236. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.04.035</u>
- Winbo, A., & Rydberg, A. (2015). Vestibular dysfunction is a clinical feature of the Jervell and Lange-Nielsen Syndrome. *Scandinavian Cardiovascular Journal*, 49(1), 7-13. doi:10.3109/14017431.2014.988172
- Wright, T. J., & Mansour, S. L. (2003). Fgf3 and Fgf10 are required for mouse otic placode induction. *Development*, 130(15), 3379-3390. doi:10.1242/dev.00555
- Xi, J., Yue, J., & Yang, Z. (2015). Expression profiles of retinoic acid synthetases ALDH1As and metabolic enzymes CYP26s in adult and embryonic zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Genet Mol Res*, 14(2), 3948-3956. doi:10.4238/2015.April.27.9

- Xiang, M., Gan, L., Li, D., Chen, Z.-Y., Zhou, L., O'Malley, B. W., ... Nathans, J. (1997). Essential role of POU–domain factor Brn-3c in auditory and vestibular hair cell development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 94(17), 9445-9450.
- Xu, P.-X., Adams, J., Peters, H., Brown, M. C., Heaney, S., & Maas, R. (1999). Eya1-deficient mice lack ears and kidneys and show abnormal apoptosis of organ primordia. *Nature Genetics*, 23(1), 113-117.
- Xu, P. X., Adams, J., Peters, H., Brown, M. C., Heaney, S., & Maas, R. (1999). Eya1-deficient mice lack ears and kidneys and show abnormal apoptosis of organ primordia. *Nat Genet*, 23(1), 113-117. doi:10.1038/12722
- Xu, Y., Zhang, H., Yang, H., Zhao, X., Lovas, S., & Lundberg, Y. W. (2010). Expression, functional, and structural analysis of proteins critical for otoconia development. *Dev Dyn*, 239(10), 2659-2673. doi:10.1002/dvdy.22405
- Yamamoto, P. K., de Souza, T. A., Antiorio, A. T., Zanatto, D. A., Garcia-Gomes, M. d. S. A., Alexandre-Ribeiro, S. R., . . . Massironi, S. M. (2019). Genetic and behavioral characterization of a Kmt2d mouse mutant, a new model for Kabuki Syndrome. *Genes*, *Brain and Behavior*, 18(8), e12568.
- Yang, C. H., Cheng, C. H., Chen, G. D., Liao, W. H., Chen, Y. C., Huang, K. Y., . . . Huang, C. J. (2011). Zona pellucida domain-containing protein β-tectorin is crucial for zebrafish proper inner ear development. *PloS one*, *6*(8), e23078. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0023078
- Yang, H., Zhao, X., Xu, Y., Wang, L., He, Q., & Lundberg, Y. W. (2011). Matrix recruitment and calcium sequestration for spatial specific otoconia development. *PloS one*, 6(5), e20498. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0020498
- Yariz, K. O., Duman, D., Zazo Seco, C., Dallman, J., Huang, M., Peters, T. A., ... Tekin, M. (2012). Mutations in OTOGL, encoding the inner ear protein otogelin-like, cause moderate sensorineural hearing loss. *Am J Hum Genet*, *91*(5), 872-882. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2012.09.011
- Yuan, Q., Yu, L., Shi, D., Ke, X., & Zhang, H. (2015). Anxiety and depression among patients with different types of vestibular peripheral vertigo. *Medicine*, 94(5), e453-e453. doi:10.1097/MD.0000000000453
- Zhao, Q., Dobbs-McAuliffe, B., & Linney, E. (2005). Expression of cyp26b1 during zebrafish early development. *Gene Expression Patterns*, 5(3), 363-369. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.modgep.2004.09.011

- Zhao, X., Yang, H., Yamoah, E. N., & Lundberg, Y. W. (2007). Gene targeting reveals the role of Oc90 as the essential organizer of the otoconial organic matrix. *Dev Biol*, 304(2), 508-524. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2007.01.013
- Zheng, Q. Y., Yan, D., Ouyang, X. M., Du, L. L., Yu, H., Chang, B., . . . Liu, X. Z. (2004). Digenic inheritance of deafness caused by mutations in genes encoding cadherin 23 and protocadherin 15 in mice and humans. *Human molecular genetics*, 14(1), 103-111. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddi010
- Zheng, W., Huang, L., Wei, Z. B., Silvius, D., Tang, B., & Xu, P. X. (2003). The role of Six1 in mammalian auditory system development. *Development*, 130(17), 3989-4000. doi:10.1242/dev.00628
- Zou, D., Erickson, C., Kim, E.-H., Jin, D., Fritzsch, B., & Xu, P.-X. (2008). Eya1 gene dosage critically affects the development of sensory epithelia in the mammalian inner ear. *Human molecular genetics*, 17(21), 3340-3356.
- Zou, D., Erickson, C., Kim, E. H., Jin, D., Fritzsch, B., & Xu, P. X. (2008). Eya1 gene dosage critically affects the development of sensory epithelia in the mammalian inner ear. *Hum Mol Genet*, 17(21), 3340-3356. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddn229

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Ethics statement

All zebrafish embryonic and adult strains were cared for according to the guidelines laid out by the Canadian Council for Animal Care (CCAC). This study was approved by the University of Alberta's Animal Care and Use Committee (ACUC) - Biosciences (Protocol 427).

2.2 Animal care and fish lines

The database for the transgenic fish generously supplied to us by the Kawakami lab (National Institute of Genetics, Japan) can be accessed here: https://ztrap.nig.ac.jp/ztrap/. These lines were developed by the Kawakami lab using the *Tol2*-transposon-mediated gene and enhancer trap methods previously described (Asakawa & Kawakami, 2009; Asakawa et al., 2008; Kawakami et al., 2016; Takeuchi et al., 2015). The six lines selected during our shelf screen (using the Kawakami lab nomenclature) were nkhspgff75a, nkhspgffdmc12a, nkgsaigff266c, nkgsaizgffd262a, nkgsaizgffm789a, and nkgsaizgffm1225a. The transgenic lines nkhspgff75a and *nkhspgffdmc12a* are enhancer trap constructs with Gal4FF (Also known as 'GFF'), a fusion protein of the Gal4 DNA binding domain and a tandem repeat of the VP16 transactivation domain (2xPADALDDFDLDML), under the control of a hsp70l promotor. nkgsaigff266c, nkgsaizgffd262a, nkgsaizgffm789a, and nkgsaizgffm1225a are gene trap constructs that contain the gata6 splice acceptor, GFF, and the internal ribosomal entry site of the encephalomyocarditis virus. The transposon integration sites for *nkgsaigff266c*, *nkgsaizgffd262a*, *nkgsaizgffm789a*, *nkhspgff75a*, and *nkhspgffdmc12a* have already been cloned and determined via inverse PCR by the Kawakami laboratory (Table 4.4.1). Visualization of GFF expression was achieved by outcrossing these strains to transgenic lines containing the green fluorescent protein (gfp) gene downstream a UAS recognition sequence, Tg(UAS:gfp), from the Zebrafish International Resource
Center (ZIRC; Catalog ID: ZL624). *nkhspgffdmc12a* was used for the visualization of inner ear structures at 72 hours post fertilization (hpf).

Expression of canonical Wnt signaling was analyzed with the Tg(top:gfp) canonical Wnt reporter zebrafish line supplied to us by the Dorsky lab (Dorsky, Sheldahl, & Moon, 2002). Expression of Shh signaling was analyzed with the Tg(ptc2:kaede) reporter line from the Huang lab (Huang, Xiong, Megason, & Schier, 2012). Wildtype AB and TL fish were utilized for all other experiments.

All Embryos were grown in embryo media (EM) at 28.5°C and staged according to standard morphological criteria (Kimmel, Ballard, Kimmel, Ullmann, & Schilling, 1995; Westerfield, 1995). A 20X stock solution of EM can be made from the following: 17.5g NaCl, 0.75 KCl, 2.9g CaCl-2H₂O, 0.41g KH₂PO₄ anhydrous, 4.9g MgSO₄-7H₂O, and MilliQ water up to 1 litre; when using a 1X working solution, adjust pH to 7.2-7.4 with NaHCO₃. Prior to mRNA extraction, mRNA in situ hybridization analysis, or immunohistochemical analysis, embryos or larvae were manually dechorionated using Dumont No. 5 forceps.

2.3 Pharmacological treatments

To activate retinoic acid (RA) signaling, embryos were exposed to a 5 nM solution of alltrans-RA (Sigma, St. Louis, USA). Inhibition of RA synthesis by aldehyde dehydrogenase enzymes was accomplished with 1 μ M or 5 μ M solutions of Diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB; Sigma, St. Louis, USA) (Maves & Kimmel, 2005). All compounds were dissolved in Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO; Sigma, St. Louis, USA), which was used as a solvent control. Working concentrations were diluted with EM. All embryos were treated at 28 hpf onward and grown in a darkened incubator at 28.5°C. Treatments were refreshed every 24 hours. Larvae undergoing behavioral analysis were washed with EM prior to testing.

2.4 Behavioral testing

For the behavioral assay, 5 days post fertilization (dpf) larva were individually recorded in a 24 well Corning Costar cell culture plate (Sigma, St. Louis, USA) for 10 minutes between 10.00 to 15.00h using a CCTV camera (WV-CL930; Panasonic) and the Ethovision XT10 software by Noldus (Wageningen, Netherlands). Three larvae from the control group and each treatment group were tested per plate, with a 20-minute acclimatization period prior to recording. Each 18mm diameter well was filled with 2ml EM. The sample arrangement for each plate was randomized and blinded prior to quantification of circling phenotype.

For this experiment, circling phenotype was defined as any continuous and complete 360° revolution in the horizontal plane that did not exceed 4.5mm in diameter (1/4 the diameter of a well). Left- and right-handed circles were counted individually. To account for variations in total distance travelled between samples, circling phenotype was quantified by the total number of circles (left and right) observed per 100cm travelled.

2.5 Template mRNA extraction

Template mRNA was extracted from 50-100 embryos with the RNAqueous-PCR kit (Ambion, Austin, USA). The embryos were then added to a tube containing 350µl of Lysis/Binding solution and homogenized by vortex-based agitation. After 350µl was added to the tube, embryos were again vortexed for 30 seconds (sec). This combined solution was transferred

to a filter column in a collection tube, centrifuged for 1 min at full speed, and the flow-through was discarded. 700 μ l of Wash Solution #1 was added to the column. The column in the collection tube was again centrifuged for 1 min at full speed, and the flow-through was discarded. Next, 500 μ l of Wash Solution #2/3 was added to the column in the collection tube, both of which were centrifuged 1 min at full speed, and the flow-through was discarded. The previous step was repeated once. After the column was transferred to a fresh collection tube with a lid, 40 μ l of preheated 70°C Elution Solution was carefully pipetted onto the filter cartridge within the column. The column and collection tube were then centrifuged 30 sec at full speed. The column was then discarded. At this point, the tube could be stored at -80°C prior to RNA purification.

2.6 Template mRNA purification

To remove DNA from the eluted RNA, 19µ1 diethylpyrocarbonate-treated water, 10µ1 10X DNase I Buffer (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, USA), and 1µ1 DNase I (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, USA) was added to the tube and incubated for 30 min at 37°C. RNA was then purified using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany): 350µ1 Buffer RLT + 1% β mercaptoethanol was added to the tube, which was then vortexed for 5 sec. 250µ1 100% ethanol was then added to the solution, which was mixed by pipetting. This solution was transferred to a column inside a collection tube and centrifuged for 15 sec at 10,000 revolutions per min (rpm). The flow-through was discarded. The column was transferred to a new collection tube, at which point 500µ1 of Buffer RPE was added to the column. The column and collection tube were centrifuged for 15 sec at 10,000 rpm, and the flow-through was discarded. 500µ1 of Buffer RPE was again added to the column, but this time the column and collection tube were centrifuged for 2 min at 10,000 rpm. The column was then transferred to a new collection tube and centrifuged for 1 min at full speed to remove the dead volume. The column was again transferred to a new collection tube. 10ul diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC)-treated water was carefully pipetted onto the filter cartridge, and the column and collection tube were centrifuged 1 min at 10,000 rpm. The quality and quantity of this eluted, purified RNA was assessed by spectrophotometry. RNA then was stored at -80°C.

2.7 Probe synthesis and purification for whole mount mRNA in situ hybridization

Targeted sequences for probe synthesis were either transcribed from linearized plasmid DNA containing the probe template and a T3 promoter sequence (Table 2.1) or PCR-amplified with the Superscript III One-Step Reverse Transcriptase (RT)-PCR kit with Platinum Taq DNA Polymerase (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA) to incorporate a T7 promoter sequence (Table 2.2).

To generate template DNA from a plasmid, the plasmid was linearized by digesting it with the appropriate restriction endonuclease (RE) and then purified following electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel (made with 1X Tris-EDTA buffer). After running the DNA sample on a gel, a band of the desired length was excised with a clean razor blade and placed in a 1.7mL tube. The DNA was then extracted with the QIAquick Gel Extraction kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany): 300µl of QG buffer was added to the tube, which was incubated in a water bath at 50°C for 10 min, with periodic vertexing, until the gel melted. 100µl of 100% Isopropanol was mixed into the solution by pipetting, which was then transferred to a column in a collection tube. The column and collection tube were centrifuged for 1 min at full speed, and the flow-through was discarded. 500µl QG buffer was added to the column, which was again centrifuged for 1 min at full speed. The flow-through was discarded. 750µl PE buffer was added to the filter cartridge of the column and incubated at RT for 5 min. The column was centrifuged in the collection tube for 1 min at full speed and then transferred to a new 1.7mL tube with a lid. 30-35µl of Elution Buffer was carefully pipetted onto the filter cartridge, and the column was left to stand for 1 min at RT. The column and collection tube were then centrifuged for 1 min at max speed. The eluted DNA could then be stored at -20°C.

To generate template DNA from mRNA with the Superscript III One-Step Reverse Transcriptase (RT)-PCR kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA), each reaction was set up as follows: 12.5µl of 2x Reaction mix, 8.5µl of DEPC-treated water, 1µl of 5µM forward primer, 1µl of 5µM reverse primer, 1µl of purified RNA template, and 1µl of Superscript III platinum Taq. The PCR cycle conditions were as follows: (1) 54°C for 30 min (cDNA synthesis); (2) 94°C for 2 min (denaturation); (3) 30 cycles of 94°C for 15 sec (denaturation), 55-65°C for 30 sec (primer annealing), and 68°C for 1 min/kb (extension); and (4) 68°C for 5 min (final extension). The final products were analyzed by gel electrophoresis and could be stored at -20°C.

RNA probe synthesis was then accomplished with the PCR DIG Probe Synthesis Kit from Roche (Penzberg, Germany) (Thisse & Thisse, 2008). 200-400ng of template DNA was incubated in a tube with the following: 2 µl of 10X transcription buffer (Roche), 2µl of dioxigenin (DIG) RNA labeling mix (Roche, Penzberg, Germany), 1µl RNA polymerase (T7 or T3; Roche, Penzberg, Germany), 1µl RNaseOUT (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, USA), and DEPC-treated water (up to 20µl total volume in the tube). This solution was incubated at 37°C for 1 hour. Another 1µl of the appropriate RNA polymerase was added, and the solution was again incubated at 37°C for 1 hour. To remove the template DNA, 1µl of TURBO DNase (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, USA) was added to the solution, which was then incubated at 37°C for 5 min. The reaction was stopped by adding 2µl of 0.2M EDTA (pH 8) in DEPC-treated water.

Probes were purified using a SigmaSpin[™] Sequencing Reaction Clean-Up kit (Sigma, St. Louis, USA): an empty column was placed in a collection tube and centrifuged for 2 min at 2,500

rpm. The base of the column was then removed, and the column was centrifuged in the collection tube for 2 min at 2,500 rpm. The column was then placed in a new collection tube with a lid, and the probe synthesis solution was pipetted into the column. The column and collection tube were centrifuged for 4 min at 2,500 rpm. 0.5μ l RNase OUT (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, USA) and 25 μ l DEPC-treated water were added to the collection tube to prevent degradation by RNAses. The probe was stored at -80°C. However, working 1:200 probe dilutions in DEPC-treated water could be stored at -20°C.

2.8 Whole mount mRNA in situ hybridization

Embryos were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 4 hours at RT or overnight at 4°C with gentle agitation and then dechorionated and bleached (3% H₂O₂/0.5%KOH; 15 minutes for 48 hpf embryos and 20-25 minutes for 72 hpf larvae) to remove melanin pigments. Embryos were then washed 3x 5 minutes in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and permeabilized with 10μ g/ml Proteinase K (Sigma, St. Louis, USA) for 30 minutes (Thisse & Thisse, 2008). Embryos were refixed in PFA for 20 minutes, followed by 5x 5-minute washes in phosphate buffered saline with Tween-20 (PBST). Pre-hybridization was carried out at 65°C for approximately 2 hours, and hybridization was carried out using a 1:200 probe dilution at 65°C overnight. Embryos were then washed at 65 °C under the following conditions: 5 minutes in 66% hybridization mix + 33% 2x saline sodium citrate (SSC); 5 minutes in 33% hybridization mix + 66% 2x SSC; 5 minutes in 2x SSC; 1x 20 minutes in 0.2x SSC+0.1% Tween-20; and 2x 20 minutes in 0.1x SSC, 0.1% Tween-20. Subsequently, embryos were washed at RT: 5 minutes in 66% 0.2x SSC + 33% PBST; 5 minutes in 33% 0.2x SSC + 66% PBST; and 5 minutes in PBST.

Embryos were blocked with a 2% sheep serum, 2mg/ml bovine serum albumin (BSA) solution for 1 hour and then incubated with a 1:500 dilution of primary antibody (sheep anti-DIG-AP Fab fragments; Roche) for 2 hours. 5x 15-minute PBST washes and 4x 5-minute coloration buffer (100mM Tris, pH 9.5; 50nM MgCl₂;100mM NaCl; and 0.1% Tween-20) washes were performed prior to visualization with a nitro-blue tetrazolium (NBT, 45:1000 dilution; Roche, Penzberg, Germany)/5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate (BCIP, 35:1000 dilution; Roche, Penzberg, Germany) solution. Following coloration, embryos were washed for 15 minutes in PBST (pH 5.5) and either stored overnight at 4 °C with methanol + 0.1% Tween-20 to prevent excess coloration or immediately mounted for imaging.

2.9 Immunohistochemistry: Active Caspase

Embryos were fixed in 4% PFA for 2 hours at RT with gentle agitation. To remove melanin pigments, they were then dechorionated and bleached (3% H₂O₂/0.5%KOH; 15 minutes for 48 hpf embryos and 20-25 minutes for 72 hpf larvae). Following 3x 20-minute washes with PBST, embryos were washed 1x in MilliQ + 0.1% Tween-20 for 5 minutes and then permeabilized in icecold (-20°C) acetone for 7 minutes. Embryos were again washed in MilliQ + 0.1% Tween-20 for 5 minutes prior to being blocked for 30-90 minutes in PBSDTT (PBST + 1% DMSO + 0.1% Triton X-100) + 5% goat serum (GS). They were then incubated in a solution of Anti-Active Caspase 3 (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, USA) diluted 1:400 in block for 2 hours at RT or overnight at 4°C with gentle agitation. After being rinsed 2x in PBSDTT, embryos were washed 2x for 20 minutes in PBSDTT and then incubated for 2 hours at RT or overnight at 4°C with gentle agitation in a solution of Goat anti-Rabbit IgG Alexa Flour 488 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA) and TO-PRO- 3 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA), each diluted 1:1000 in block. Finally, embryos were rinsed 2x with PBSDTT and washed 4x for 15 minutes in PBSDTT.

2.10 Immunohistochemistry: Phospho-histone H3

Embryos were fixed in 4% PFA for 2 hours at RT with gentle agitation, then dechorionated and bleached (3% $H_2O_2/0.5$ %KOH; 15 minutes for 48 hpf embryos and 20-25 minutes for 72 hpf larvae) to remove melanin pigments. They were then washed 3x 5 minutes in PBS, permeabilized with -20°C acetone for 30 minutes, and washed again 3x 5 minutes in PBST prior to antigen retrieval. This was achieved by incubating embryos in Tris-HCL, pH 9, first for 5 minutes at RT and then 15 minutes at 70°C (Inoue & Wittbrodt, 2011). Subsequently, embryos were blocked in PBS + 3% BSA + 1% GS + 0.5% Triton X-100 for 1 hour at RT. Embryos were then incubated for 2 hours at RT in a solution of Anti-phospho-histone H3 (Abcam, Cambridge, UK) diluted 1:1000 in block. Following 5x 15-minute washes in PBST, embryos were incubated for 2 hours at RT in a solution of Goat anti-Rabbit IgG Alexa Fluor 488 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA) and TO-PRO-3 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA) each diluted 1:1000 in block. Finally, embryos were washed 5x for 15 minutes in PBST.

2.11 Dil injections into the inner ear

The fabricated micropipette needles used for these injections were prepared by heating and pulling borosilicate glass capillary tubes (Sutter Instruments Inc., O.D.: 1.2mm, I.D.: 0.94mm, 10 cm length) in a micropipette puller device (Sutter Instruments Inc., Flaming/Brown P-87) and stored in a clean petri dish, mounted on a small piece of adhesive tape. 5 dpf larvae were fixed in

4% PFA for 2 hours at RT with gentle agitation and then dechorionated and bleached (3% $H_2O_2/0.5\%$ KOH) to remove melanin pigments. Larvae were washed 3x 5 minutes in PBST and then 5x 5 minutes in PBS prior to being mounted in 1% Ultrapure Low-Melting Point Agarose (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA) on a microscope slide. Then a 2mg/ml solution of DiI (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, USA), dissolved in DMSO (Sigma, St. Louis, USA), was backfilled into a prepared micropipette needle and mounted on a pressure-pulsed micro injector apparatus. Once the tip of the needle was clipped with forceps, approximately 1-2nl DiI was directly injected into the ear.

2.12 Mounting and imaging embryos

Following mRNA in situ hybridization, inner ear injections, or any immunohistochemical techniques, embryos or larvae were washed 5x for 5 minutes in PBS and mounted in 1% Ultrapure Low-Melting Point Agarose (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA). Following *in situ* hybridization, embryos or larvae were photographed with an Olympus stereoscope (Shinjuku City, Tokyo, Japan) and a QImaging micropublisher camera (Surrey, Canada). For the observation of otolith phenotypes, embryos or larvae were also photographed with an Olympus stereoscope (Shinjuku City, Tokyo, Japan) and a QImaging micropublisher camera (Surrey, Canada). For the observation of otolith phenotypes, embryos or larvae were also photographed with an Olympus stereoscope (Shinjuku City, Tokyo, Japan) and a QImaging micropublisher camera (Surrey, Canada). All other embryos or larvae were photographed with a Zeiss LSM510 confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss AG, Jena, Germany) and Zeiss Zen imaging software (Carl Zeiss AG, Jena, Germany).

Only live images of *nkgsaigff266c*, *nkgsaizgffd262a*, *nkgsaizgffm789a*, *nkgsaizgffm1225a*, *nkhspgff75a*, and *nkhspgffdmc12a* were used in this publication. As such, zebrafish embryos and larvae were transferred to a petri dish of EM containing approximately 100 mg L^{-1} tricaine methanesulfonate (MS222; Syndel, Nanaimo, Canada) (Rombough, 2007). Once anesthetized, as

determined by a lack of response to direct mechanical stimulation (i.e., a gentle prod to the head with Dumont No. 5 forceps), embryos and larvae were photographed with an Olympus stereoscope (Surrey, Canada) and Zeiss Zen imaging software (Carl Zeiss AG, Jena, Germany). Following imaging, embryos and larvae were immediately transferred to a dish of fresh EM in a 28.5°C air incubator to revitalize them.

2.13 Statistical analyses

For the behavioral assay, experimental data was analyzed using a one-way ANOVA with a post-hoc Dunn's test for pairwise comparisons between each group. For inner ear measurements made with the Imaris (Bitplane, Belfast, UK) software, data was analyzed using a one-way ANOVA with a post-hoc Holm-Sidak test for pairwise comparisons between each group. All data is reported as mean \pm SD.

2.14 Tables

Table 2.14. 1. Plasmid based probes for *in situ* hybridization.

Gene	Vector	Linearize	Promotor
aldh1a3	pSPORT	EcoRI	T3
neurod1	pCR4-TOPO	NotI	T3

Table 2.14. 2. PCR based probes for *in situ* hybridization.

Gene	Forward primer (5'-3')	Reverse primer (5'-3')	Promotor
bmp4	ATGTGGATTTCAGCGACG	AAGTAATACGACTCACTATAGGGTTG	Τ7
		AGACTGATCTGGCTC	
hapln1a	ATTGCTCTGTTTTCTGTGGC	AAGTAATACGACTCACTATAGGGGGA	Τ7
		AGTTAAGGTTGTACCGC	
has3	CACACAGAGCAGCACCATCT	AAGTAATACGACTCACTATAGGGGGA	Τ7
		TTGAGCCAACGCAGGTATC	
stm	TTGAGCATGGCACAGATG	AAGTAATACGACTCACTATAGGGAAC	Τ7
		TCCAGATCCTCATGC	
ugdh	GACGTACGGTATGGGCAAAG	AAGTAATACGACTCACTATAGGGTTG	Τ7
		ATTTCCAGCAATGGTCA	
vcana	AGGATTTCCTGCATGAGC	AAGTAATACGACTCACTATAGGGATG	Τ7
		AATGGTATGCTGGC	

2.15 References

- Asakawa, K., & Kawakami, K. (2009). The Tol2-mediated Gal4-UAS method for gene and enhancer trapping in zebrafish. *Methods*, 49(3), 275-281. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2009.01.004
- Asakawa, K., Suster, M. L., Mizusawa, K., Nagayoshi, S., Kotani, T., Urasaki, A., . . . Kawakami, K. (2008). Genetic dissection of neural circuits by Tol2 transposon-mediated Gal4 gene and enhancer trapping in zebrafish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 105*(4), 1255-1260. doi:10.1073/pnas.0704963105
- Dorsky, R. I., Sheldahl, L. C., & Moon, R. T. (2002). A transgenic Lef1/beta-catenin-dependent reporter is expressed in spatially restricted domains throughout zebrafish development. *Dev Biol, 241*(2), 229-237. doi:10.1006/dbio.2001.0515
- Huang, P., Xiong, F., Megason, S. G., & Schier, A. F. (2012). Attenuation of Notch and Hedgehog signaling is required for fate specification in the spinal cord. *PLoS genetics*, 8(6), e1002762.
- Inoue, D., & Wittbrodt, J. (2011). One for all--a highly efficient and versatile method for fluorescent immunostaining in fish embryos. *PloS one*, 6(5), e19713-e19713. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019713
- Kawakami, K., Asakawa, K., Hibi, M., Itoh, M., Muto, A., & Wada, H. (2016). Chapter Three Gal4 Driver Transgenic Zebrafish: Powerful Tools to Study Developmental Biology, Organogenesis, and Neuroscience. In N. S. Foulkes (Ed.), *Advances in Genetics* (Vol. 95, pp. 65-87): Academic Press.
- Kimmel, C. B., Ballard, W. W., Kimmel, S. R., Ullmann, B., & Schilling, T. F. (1995). Stages of embryonic development of the zebrafish. *Developmental dynamics*, 203(3), 253-310.
- Maves, L., & Kimmel, C. B. (2005). Dynamic and sequential patterning of the zebrafish posterior hindbrain by retinoic acid. *Developmental Biology*, 285(2), 593-605.
- Rombough, P. J. (2007). Ontogenetic changes in the toxicity and efficacy of the anaesthetic MS222 (tricaine methanesulfonate) in zebrafish (Danio rerio) larvae. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology, 148*(2), 463-469. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2007.06.415</u>
- Takeuchi, M., Matsuda, K., Yamaguchi, S., Asakawa, K., Miyasaka, N., Lal, P., ... Hibi, M. (2015). Establishment of Gal4 transgenic zebrafish lines for analysis of development of cerebellar neural circuitry. *Developmental Biology*, 397(1), 1-17. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2014.09.030

- Thisse, C., & Thisse, B. (2008). High-resolution in situ hybridization to whole-mount zebrafish embryos. *Nature protocols*, *3*(1), 59.
- Westerfield, M. (1995). *The zebrafish book: a guide for the laboratory use of zebrafish (Brachydanio rerio)*: University of Oregon press.

Chapter 3: A Late Role for Retinoic Acid Signaling in Inner Ear Morphogenesis and Otolith Maintenance

The equipment and software utilized in the behavioral assay was provided by Dr. Keith Tierney, with Danielle Philibert providing the necessary training. Hayley Todesco and Jainil Doshi contributed to this chapter by editing and confirming the larval traces generated by Noldus in the behavioral assay. The shelf screen from which *nkhspdmc12a* was selected for our work was performed with the help of the Kawakami laboratory at the National Institute of Genetics (Mishima, Japan).

3.1 Introduction

Sensory organs provide an organism with the ability to perceive thermal, mechanical, or chemical stimuli, either internally or in the environment, and transduce this information to the brain for interpretation and response determination (Vosshall & Carandini, 2009). Altogether, the sensory organs improve the survivability of a species by aiding in navigation, predator avoidance, and the collection of food and other resources (Dominy, Ross, & Smith, 2004). One of these organs, the vertebrate inner ear, detects motion and stabilizes the head and body during movement, (Ekdale, 2016). The inner ear is comprised of multiple components including the semi-circular canals, three orthogonally-oriented ducts that each terminate in a sac that houses a sensory epithelium sheathed by a gelatinous membrane known as cupula (Mescher, 2010). During angular accelerations of the head, the cupula presses up against the potassium-rich endolymph fluid contained within the ear, deflecting the stereocilia of the hair cells embedded within it. In addition to the semicircular canals, the inner ear contains the maculae, the two sensory epithelia housed within the central vestibule adjacent to the canals (Hain & Helminski, 2007; Purves et al., 2001). They are similarly overlain by a gelatinous mass, although this macular membrane is embedded with small calcium crystals known as otoliths or otoconia (Hain & Helminski, 2007; Purves et al., 2001). This heavy otolithic membrane shifts according to the direction of gravity or linear accelerations, the saccular along the vertical plane and the utricular along the horizontal, although the utricle alone is considered essential to vestibular function in fish while the saccule plays a more essential role in detecting auditory stimuli (Hain & Helminski, 2007; Riley & Moorman, 2000; Sisneros & Rogers, 2016). Together, these vestibular apparatuses detect a wide array of motion, though there is an incomplete understanding of the development programme behind these vestibular structures.

Inner ear development begins with the specification of the pre-placodal region along the anterior border of the neural plate and the subsequent induction of the otic placode, an ectodermal thickening that will give rise to the inner ear cell types (Arima et al., 2005; Janesick, Shiotsugu, Taketani, & Blumberg, 2012; Litsiou, Hanson, & Streit, 2005; Morsli, Choo, Ryan, Johnson, & Wu, 1998; Shiotsugu et al., 2004). This is followed by the cavitation of the otic placode in fish or its invagination in amniotes to form the otic vesicle/otocyst (Kaufman, 1992; Maroon et al., 2002; Schlosser & Northcutt, 2000). The anteroventral portion of this vesicle gives rise to the neurosensory competent domain, from which we see the delamination of the neuroblasts that will form the vestibulocochlear nerve, as well as the development of sensory hair cells and their support cells (Ahmed, Xu, & Xu, 2012; Chen, Johnson, Zoghbi, & Segil, 2002; Kiernan et al., 2005; N. Pan et al., 2011; W. Pan et al., 2013; Petrovic et al., 2014; Xu et al., 1999; Zheng et al., 2003; Zou et al., 2008). This domain will then separate into the sensory epithelia of the ear, the maculae and the cristae (Hwang, Simeone, Lai, & Wu, 2009; Nichols et al., 2008; Pauley et al., 2003). The otoliths (or otoconia) tether and grow upon the maculae, while the inner ear relies upon inductive signals originating from the cristae to form the semi-circular canals (Chang, Brigande, Fekete, & Wu, 2004; Chang et al., 2008; Hammond et al., 2009; Mansour, Goddard, & Capecchi, 1993; Omata et al., 2007; Pauley et al., 2003; Riley, Zhu, Janetopoulos, & Aufderheide, 1997; Tanimoto, Ota, Inoue, & Oda, 2011). There are, however, variations in how different species form these canals. In anamniotes like *Xenopus* and zebrafish, protrusions of the otic epithelium bulge inward and then fuse together, forming the pillars of the canals (Paterson, 1949; Robert Earle Waterman & Danny H Bell, 1984). In amniotes like chick and mice, canal morphogenesis instead begins with the formation of a vertical and horizontal out-pouch, within which opposing epithelia extend toward one another to form fusion plates (Bissonnette & Fekete, 1996; Fekete, 1999; Kopecky, Johnson,

Schmitz, Santi, & Fritzsch, 2012). Upon fusion, these plates are resorbed through apoptosis, with the canal ducts forming along the rim.

During otic development, the otic vesicle will be subjected to various signaling cues that help to pattern the non-sensory, sensory, or neuronal cell types that give rise to the vestibular structures of the inner ear. One such signaling molecule is retinoic acid (RA), a derivative of vitamin A (all-trans retinol) that controls gene expression in developing organs by binding nuclear receptors upstream target genes and generally promoting their transcription (Ghyselinck & Duester, 2019). Otic regulation of RA synthesis is undertaken by a number of enzymes expressed either within or nearby the developing ear. During prenatal development, all-trans retinol is first metabolized into all-trans retinal by the retinol dehydrogenase RDH10 (Duester, 2000; Farjo et al., 2011; Metzler & Sandell, 2016; Penzes & Napoli, 1999; Sandell, Lynn, Inman, McDowell, & Trainor, 2012; Sandell et al., 2007). It is then further metabolized into RA primarily by retinaldehyde dehydrogenases (RALDHs, also known as aldehyde dehydrogenases or ALDHs) (Niederreither, Subbarayan, Dollé, & Chambon, 1999; Niederreither, Vermot, Fraulob, Chambon, & Dollé, 2002). Studies in mice have demonstrated that there are three RALDHs responsible for RA metabolism in mammals, Raldh1, Raldh2, and Raldh3 (Niederreither et al., 1999; Niederreither et al., 2002). Raldh2 expression in the somites contributes RA to regulate target genes expressed in both the hindbrain and the early otocyst, followed shortly by the expression of all three RALDHs within the developing otic epithelium, although there are variations in the number of RALDHs and their expression patterns in other species (Gale, Zile, & Maden, 1999; Niederreither, Vermot, Schuhbaur, Chambon, & Dollé, 2000; Raymond Romand, Dollé, & Hashino, 2006; Raymond Romand et al., 2004). For example, zebrafish have only two ALDH genes, aldh1a2 and aldh1a3 (Cañestro, Postlethwait, Gonzàlez-Duarte, & Albalat, 2006; Silke

Pittlik, Domingues, Meyer, & Begemann, 2008; Xi, Yue, & Yang, 2015). *aldh1a2* is expressed in the paraxial mesoderm at 12 hours post fertilization (hpf) and both the developing somites and the head mesenchyme posteroventral to the otic placode by 15 hpf, although its expression adjacent to the developing ear only persists until 19 hpf (Begemann, Schilling, Rauch, Geisler, & Ingham, 2001; Grandel et al., 2002; Maier & Whitfield, 2014; S. Pittlik & Begemann, 2012). At this time, *aldh1a3* is expressed within the anteroventral region of the otic vesicle (Maier & Whitfield, 2014; Silke Pittlik et al., 2008). By 48 hpf, *aldh1a3* expression expands to the cristae of the semi-circular canals, the utricular (anterior) macule, and a non-sensory region of the otic epithelium known as the endolymphatic duct (an apparatus responsible for regulating inner ear pressure), being the only aldehyde dehydrogenase to provide the inner ear with RA during late otic development.

Both inadequate nutrition and high doses of vitamin A during pregnancy have been linked to severe embryological malformations of the inner ear. For example, animal models of a complete vitamin A deficiency have no otic vesicle, whereas a reduction in vitamin A results in a wide range of phenotypes including: small otic vesicles that often fail to close and sink beneath the ectoderm; hypertrophy of the otic capsule; epithelial atrophy; missing or reduced otoliths/otoconia; and an absence of the endolymphatic duct (Chole & Quick, 1976; Kil et al., 2005; Löhle, 1985; Maden, Gale, Kostetskii, & Zile, 1996; Raymond Romand et al., 2013; Wackym et al., 1987; White, Highland, Kaiser, & Clagett-Dame, 2000). Treatment with excess retinoids leads to malformations of the semi-circular canals, maculae, vestibulocochlear nerve, and cochlea (an apparatus that houses the auditory machinery of the ear) or, in the most severe cases, the complete absence of any identifiable inner ear structures (Burk & Willhite, 1992; Frenz, Liu, Galinovic-Schwartz, & Van De Water, 1996; Granström, 1990; Jarvis, Johnston, & Sulik, 1990). These abnormalities are also seen in human patients, where an exposure to retinoids during pregnancy can result in either the Mondini-Alexander defect, which includes a malformed or missing cochlea, an enlarged saccule and utricle, and missing neurons, or Michel aplasia, which is a missing or rudimentary inner ear void of discernible structures (Berger, 2014; Lammer et al., 1985).

Research in animal models utilizing mutants in the enzymes required for RA metabolism or early exogenous RA treatment have identified multiple roles for this signaling pathway during early otic development. They demonstrate that RA regulates the posterior expression of preplacodal markers and subsequently promotes the expression of negative regulators of neurogenesis within the otic vesicle (Arima et al., 2005; Bok et al., 2011; Janesick et al., 2012; Maier & Whitfield, 2014; Shiotsugu et al., 2004). It also permits the development of sensory cells within the neuro-sensory-competent domain of the otic vesicle and allows for the maturation of the otic neuroblasts, which will eventually give rise to the afferent neurons of the vestibulocochlear (VIII) cranial ganglion (Maier & Whitfield, 2014). However, though the severity of inner ear malformations that occur with misregulated RA during early embryogenesis is well documented, study of late inner ear development is complicated by the fact that the organization of early otic structures is essential for the induction of later structures. To address this problem, we used the pharmacological treatment of the RA signaling antagonist diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB) or exogenous all-trans RA to perturb the activity of this pathway during later stages of otic development in zebrafish (Bang, Sewell, & Malicki, 2001; Bever & Fekete, 2002; C. Haddon & Lewis, 1996; R. E. Waterman & D. H. Bell, 1984; T. Whitfield, 2000). In this work, embryos were treated with DEAB or excess RA from 28 hpf onward, which falls after the point that already well established RA-responsive otic markers have been studied during early stages of inner ear development (Arima et al., 2005; Bok et al., 2011; Janesick et al., 2012; Maier & Whitfield, 2014; Shiotsugu et al., 2004). Zebrafish with RA signaling perturbations display the circling behavioral

phenotype typical of animal models with inner ear malformations, demonstrating that altering late RA levels impacts inner ear function (Raymond Romand et al., 2013; T. T. Whitfield et al., 1996). Furthermore, we observe anatomical changes within the developing zebrafish inner ear, implicating RA as an important player in its morphogenesis. This is supported by changes in the expression of novel RA-responsive genes involved with the extracellular matrix or otolith formation within developing vestibular structures. Altogether, this work suggests that the RA signaling pathway plays an important role in late otic development.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Altering Retinoic Acid levels during later stages of inner ear development disrupts vestibular function

Animals models of inner ear malformations exhibit circling behavior (Alagramam et al., 1999; Bloom & Hultcrantz, 1994; Kitamura, Yagi, Yoshikawa, Ochidubo, & Kato, 1991; Lv et al., 2010; Rogers et al., 1999; Raymond Romand et al., 2013; T. T. Whitfield et al., 1996). Additionally, either an RA deficiency or a lack of RA degradation prior to inner ear development will result in vestibular dysfunction (Ono, Sandell, Trainor, & Wu, 2020; Raymond Romand et al., 2013). As late otic synthesis of RA is regulated by aldh1a3 in the utricular macula, the endolymphatic duct, and the cristae, it is likely that RA participates in the development of these vestibular structures (Supplemental Figure 3.4.1A). However, because the induction and organization of early inner ear cell types is essential for the subsequent induction of later vestibular structures, we wanted to determine a timeframe for RA agonist or antagonist treatment that would not affect the expression of RA-responsive target genes already identified in the literature. To determine an ideal timeframe, we observed the expression of a known downstream otic target of RA signaling, *neurogenic differentiation 1 (neurod1)*, which is required for the maturation of neuroblasts in the statoacoustic ganglion (Supplemental Figure 3.4.1B) (Maier & Whitfield, 2014). While early perturbations of RA signaling, such as at 20 hpf, result in changes in *neurod1* expression, treatment at 28 hpf does not. This suggests that treating embryos from 28 hpf point onward would allow for the discovery of novel behavioral, morphological, or genetic responses to changes in RA signaling.

To determine the impact of perturbations to RA signaling on the vestibular function of zebrafish within this timeframe, embryos were treated from 28 hpf onward with either exogenous

RA (5nM), to simulate increased RA signaling, or diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB), which blocks RA signaling by inhibiting the activity of the aldh1 family of RA metabolizing genes (Chute et al., 2006). While a dose of 5µM DEAB is classically used to ablate RA-signaling in zebrafish embryos, these fish display swelling around the heart, which could affect their swimming behavior. Therefore, a separate group of embryos were treated with 1µM DEAB. For this experiment, circling phenotype was defined as any continuous and complete 360° revolution on the horizontal plane that did not exceed 4.5mm in diameter (1/4 diameter of a well; also, one length of the zebrafish larva) at 5dpf, which is when zebrafish larvae are capable of mature swimming (Hernandez, Galitan, Cameron, Goodwin, & Ramakrishnan, 2018; Nicolson et al., 1998). When including all larvae (moving and stationary), the 1µM DEAB and 5nM RA treatment groups exhibited a higher rate of circling (Figure 3.4.1B; 1μ M DEAB: Q = 2.491, p = 0.038; 5μ M DEAB: Q = 0.588, p = 1.000; 5nM RA: Q = 2.550, p = 0.032). With the omittance of larvae that remained stationary during the 10-minute recording period, all treatment groups exhibited a higher rate of circling per 100cm travelled in comparison to the DMSO control (Figure 3.4.1C: 1µM DEAB: Q = 4.634, p < 0.001; 5 μ M DEAB: Q = 2.975, p = 0.009; 5nM RA: Q = 4.241, p < 0.001). There was no bias found in left- or right- handed turns during this behavioral assay (Supplemental Figure 3.4.2). As these results are consistent with vestibular dysfunction, this suggests that altering RA levels during late otic development is detrimental to vestibular function.

3.2.2 Perturbations of RA signaling during later stages of otic development impact inner ear dimensions and result in malformations of the semi-circular canals

Either the ablation of RA signaling with DEAB or exogenous RA treatment at 40% epiboly (5 hpf) in zebrafish has been shown to impact the size of the inner ear and disrupt protrusion

formation of the semi-circular canals by 50 hpf (Hans & Westerfield, 2007). Early DEAB treatment results in small otic vesicles and impaired protrusion formation, whereas exogenous RA treatment results in the formation of additional protrusions, although how this ultimately affects the shape of the pillars or the inner ear as a whole is unclear. To determine if changes in the size or shape of the inner ear continue to be made with altered RA signaling late in otic development, we decided to perform a screen at the National Institute of Genetics (Mishima, Japan) to identify zebrafish transgenic lines that could facilitate the visualization of otic tissues. This enhancer and gene trap database contains transgenic lines expressing a zebrafish optimized form of the yeast Gal4 (GFF) generated by the Kawakami laboratory in various embryonic tissues. One of these enhancer trap lines, nkhspdmc12a, expresses GFF throughout the otic epithelium at 3dpf (Supplemental Figure 3.4.3). Therefore, crossing these lines with Tg(UAS:gfp) enables the visualization of the entire inner ear. 2D confocal images were then taken of the resulting larvae at 3dpf and reconstructed into 3D models of the inner ear using the imaging software Imaris. 3 dpf was chosen for our initial analysis as this is the time at which the protrusions of the inner ear should have fused to form the pillars of the semi-circular canals, allowing us to determine if this process is disrupted with perturbations to RA signaling. We chose a second time point of 5 dpf to confirm our analysis, as this is the stage at which vestibular dysfunction was observed in our behavioral assay. However, because GFF expression throughout the otic epithelium in the *nkhspgffdmc12a* transgenic line does not extend to 5 dpf, visualization of inner ear structures was instead achieved at this stage by injecting the fluorescent lipophilic dye DiI into the ear.

Analysis of the surface area (μm^2) and volume (μm^3) of the inner ear reveals only a statistically significant increase in surface area in larvae with ablated RA signaling at 3 dpf (Figure 3.4.2A; 3 dpf RA: t = 0.0117, p = 0.991), with there being no significant changes in volume

between the different treatment groups at either stage (Figure 3.4.2B). However, there were other dimensional alterations observed between the treatment groups. While there were no significant differences in "length" along the anteroposterior (AP) axis (Figure 3.4.2C), there was a significant decrease in the "height" of the inner ear along the dorsoventral (DV) axis in exogenous RA treated larvae at both 3 dpf and 5 dpf (Figure 3.4.2D; 3 dpf RA: t = 2.458, p = 0.035; 5 dpf RA: t = 3.550, p = 0.003). Additionally, with respect to the ratio of the height along the DV axis to the length along the AP axis, there was significant increase in embryos with DEAB treatment at 3 dpf and a significant decrease in exogenous RA treated larvae at both stages (Figure 3.4.2E; 3 dpf DEAB: t = 2.328, p = 0.024; 3 dpf RA: t = 3.386, p = 0.003; 5 dpf RA: t = 3.452, p = 0.004). To summarize, these results demonstrate that perturbations to RA signaling impact the dimensions of the inner ear at 3dpf, although at 5 dpf only significantly with exogenous RA treatment.

A morphological analysis of the inner ear also revealed irregularities in pillar formation (Figure 3.4.2F; Figure 3.4.3). Both the DEAB and RA treated groups demonstrated a higher occurrence of irregularities at both stages (Figure 3.4.2F; Figure 3.4.3; 3dpf DMSO = 6.25%; 5 dpf DMSO = 0%; 3 dpf DEAB = 31.58%; 5 dpf DEAB = 30%; 3 dpf RA = 52.94%, 5 dpf RA = 50%). In the DEAB treated larvae, these irregularities are characterized as an abnormal branching pattern at the base of the pillars, typically the ventral or the posterior, which could be due to the formation of extra protrusions over the course of canal morphogenesis (Figure 3.4.3B). In the RA treated larvae, there were often multiple such branches observed at the base of the anterior, posterior, or ventral pillars (Figure 3.4.3C). This data suggests that alterations to RA signaling during later stages of inner ear development impact the morphology of the semi-circular canals.

Canal morphogenesis can be impacted by cellular processes such as proliferation, apoptosis, and migration (Hynes, 2009; Monboisse, Oudart, Ramont, Brassart-Pasco, & Maquart,

2014; Saupe et al., 2013; Sethi et al., 1999; Su, Shi, Stolow, & Shi, 1997). Both apoptosis and cell proliferation have been identified as key cellular processes that drive the formation and subsequent sculpting of the canals in vertebrates, although apoptosis has not been observed as an essential process in canal morphogenesis in zebrafish (Bissonnette & Fekete, 1996; Deng, Pan, Xie, & Gan, 2010; Fekete, 1999; Kopecky et al., 2012; Noda et al., 2012; Paterson, 1949; Salminen, Meyer, Bober, & Gruss, 2000; Robert Earle Waterman & Danny H Bell, 1984). Therefore, we wanted to determine if the changes in RA signaling could impact either of these processes. However, we found that there was no observable change in apoptosis in or around the ear in response to either pharmacological treatment (Supplemental Figure 3.4.4). Additionally, there were no observable differences in cell proliferation later in the ear at 3 dpf (Supplemental Figure 3.4.6). These results suggest that RA signaling is either directly or indirectly regulating canal morphogenesis through cellular processes other than apoptosis and cell proliferation.

3.2.3 Perturbations of RA signaling during later stages of inner ear development disrupt the expression of extracellular matrix genes

As a key signaling molecule that controls gene expression in developing organs, we wanted to identify RA-responsive genes during later stages of inner ear development (Ghyselinck & Duester, 2019). Due to our observed malformations of the semi-circular canal pillars, we decided to analyze otic markers known to be expressed within the pillars themselves or the protrusions that give rise to them. In doing so, we uncovered four novel targets of RA signaling (Figure 3.4.4). Each of these genes are implicated in reshaping the extracellular matrix (ECM) and are expressed either within the protrusions that bulge from the otic vesicle and fuse together to generate the pillars of the semi-circular canals (Figure 3.4.4A) or within the head mesenchyme adjacent to the ear. The first target we uncovered was versican a (vcana), which encodes a chondroitin sulphate proteoglycan core protein considered to be an anti-adhesion molecule (Figure 3.4.4B-C")(Ricciardelli, Sakko, Ween, Russell, & Horsfall, 2009). From 48-72 hpf, ablating RA signaling with DEAB treatment reduces the intensity of its expression at the inner ear protrusions (Figure 3.4.4B, C), whereas increasing RA signaling promotes its ectopic expression in the ventral protrusion (Figure 3.4.4B", C"). The second target we identified was hyaluronan and proteoglycan *link protein 1a (hapln1a)*, which encodes a cartilage oligomeric matrix protein essential for cartilage and bone development that stabilizes proteoglycans and hyaluronic acid in the ECM (Figure 3.4.4D-E")(Watanabe & Yamada, 1999). While hapln1a expression at 48 hpf is only altered with exogenous RA treatment, displaying a marked reduction of the area of expression within the anterior, lateral, and posterior protrusions (Figure 3.4.4D"), at 72 hpf it additionally demonstrates an expansion in the expression area within and around the ventral aspect of the ear upon DEAB treatment (Figure 3.4.4E). The third gene we found to be RA-responsive was UDPglucose 6-dehydrogenase (ugdh), which encodes a cytosolic enzyme that participates in the glycosylation of ECM components, such as heparan sulfate, hyaluronan, and chondroitin (Figure 3.4.4F-G")(Alhamoudi et al., 2020). At 48 hpf, reduced RA signaling results in ectopic ugdh expression between the anterior and posterior protrusions (Figure 3.4.4F), while increasing RA represses expression in the head mesenchyme ventral to the ear (Figure 3.4.4F"). At 72 hpf, there is an increase in the area of expression with low levels of RA (Figure 3.4.4G) and a loss of expression within the ear with high levels of RA (Figure 3.4.4G"). The final target we uncovered was hyaluronan synthase 3 (has3), a membrane-associated enzyme responsible for synthesizing hyaluronan (Figure 3.4.4H-I")(Weigel, Hascall, & Tammi, 1997). At 48 hpf, the only notable

difference in its expression is an unusual 'hooked' pattern with reduced RA signaling (Figure 3.4.4H), demonstrating expression presumably where the ventral protrusion originates as opposed to within the posterior protrusion. At 72 hpf, low levels of RA increase its expression within the ear (Figure 3.4.4I) and high levels of RA decreases its expression within the ear and around the ventral aspect of the ear (Figure 3.4.4I"). To summarize, these results demonstrate that RA signaling regulates the expression of genes encoding ECM proteins or modifying enzymes during later stages of inner ear development.

3.2.4 Perturbations of RA signaling during later stages of inner ear development disrupt the activity of other signaling pathways

RA has already been demonstrated to interact with multiple signaling pathways to regulate early otic development (Hans & Westerfield, 2007; Maier & Whitfield, 2014; Radosevic, Robert-Moreno, Coolen, Bally-Cuif, & Alsina, 2011; Thompson, Gerlach-Bank, Barald, & Koenig, 2003). As such, we wanted to determine if RA signaling continues to regulate or participate within a network of other signaling pathways during late otic development. To identify other signaling pathways that might respond to perturbations in RA signaling, we performed an *in situ* hybridization analysis of *bone morphogenetic protein 4 (bmp4)*, a critical signaling molecule of the Bone Morphogenetic (BMP) pathway (Figure 3.4.5A-A"), or monitored the expression of reporter zebrafish lines, such as Tg(top:gpf) for the canonical WNT pathway (Figure 3.4.5B-B") or Tg(ptc2:kaede) for the Sonic Hedgehog (SHH) pathway (Figure 3.4.5C-C"). Changes in the level of BMP signaling within the ear were observed, such that ablating RA signaling with DEAB resulted in a decrease in the intensity of *bmp4* expression (Figure 3.4.5A) and increasing RA signaling with exogenous RA resulted in an increase in the intensity of *bmp4* expression (Figure 3.4.5A"). We also observed a moderate decrease in the intensity of WNT signaling with lower levels of RA (Figure 3.4.5B). In contrast to this, the intensity of SHH signaling was moderately reduced with higher levels of RA (Figure 3.4.5C"). These results suggest that changes to RA signaling late in otic development are capable of altering the activity of other signaling pathways.

3.2.5 Late ablation of RA signaling results in a loss or reduction in the size of otoliths late in otic development

Studies in mice have demonstrated that a knockout of *Raldh3* (the homolog of *aldh1a3*) without RA supplementation at the onset of otoconia (otolith) formation results in fused saccular and utricular maculae and a complete loss or reduction in the number of otoconia (Raymond Romand et al., 2013). In zebrafish, the ablation of RA signaling with DEAB at 40% epiboly, well before the onset of otolith formation at 18 hpf, also results in fewer otoliths (Hans & Westerfield, 2007; Riley et al., 1997; Tanimoto et al., 2011). Alternatively, early treatment with exogenous RA results in the formation of three otoliths (Hans & Westerfield, 2007). Therefore, we wanted to determine if perturbations to RA signaling late in otic development would have an effect on otolith size or number. As seen at 3 dpf, otolith formation commences normally, with the appearance of both saccular and utricular otoliths of appropriate sizes between treatment groups (Figure 3.4.6A-B). However, observation at 5 dpf reveals that late DEAB treatment results in a loss of the utricular otolith and a smaller saccular otolith (Figure 3.4.6D). Meanwhile, exogenous RA treatment does not result in a change in otolith number or size (Figure 3.4.6F). While few RA target genes of otolith formation or maintenance in zebrafish are known, we discovered that the expression of starmaker (stm), which regulates otolith nucleation and composition, is responsive to perturbations in RA signaling (Figure 3.4.6G-L) (Kalka et al., 2019; Raymond Romand et al., 2013; Söllner et

al., 2003). Late DEAB treatment results in a reduction in the location and intensity of *stm* expression (Figure 3.4.6G, J), while late RA treatment results in an increase in the intensity of *stm* expression (Figure 3.4.6I, L). Together, these results indicate that perturbations to RA signaling disrupt otolith maintenance late in otic development.

3.3 Discussion

Previous work into the Retinoic Acid (RA) signaling pathway has demonstrated that it is essential at multiple stages during early otic development. For example, studies in Xenopus have shown that RA signaling plays an essential role in specifying the pre-placodal region (PPR) within the ectoderm where the otic placode originates, which RA accomplishes by restricting the posterior domain of *fgf8* and inducing the posterior expression of the PPR genes *tbx1* and *ripply3* (Arima et al., 2005; Janesick et al., 2012; Shiotsugu et al., 2004). Subsequently, studies in zebrafish and chick demonstrated that RA participates in anteroposterior patterning of the otic placode by promoting the posterior expression of *tbx1*, a negative regulator of neurogenesis (Bok et al., 2011; Maier & Whitfield, 2014; Radosevic, 2011; Radosevic et al., 2011; Steven Raft, Nowotschin, Liao, & Morrow, 2004). Once the placode invaginates or cavitates into the otic vesicle, RA continues to maintain anteroposterior patterning of the ear and regulates the development of sensory hair cells (Maier & Whitfield, 2014). Studies in zebrafish demonstrate that RA accomplishes this by restricting the posterior expression of *otxb1*, a transcription factor that negatively regulates neurogenesis while promoting the development of structural cells, thereby allowing the development of sensory cells. Concurrently, it continues to promote *tbx1* expression, permitting the maturation of otic neuroblasts.

Together, these studies describe multiple phases for RA in the earliest stages of otic development, which would help to explain why disruptions to RA signaling via the modification of maternal vitamin A intake or mutations in key components of this pathway lead to a range of inner ear malformations (Chole & Quick, 1976; Kil et al., 2005; Löhle, 1985; Maden et al., 1996; Niederreither et al., 1999; R. Romand et al., 2002; Raymond Romand et al., 2013; Wackym et al., 1987; White et al., 2000). However, the early disruption of a signaling pathway can produce robust

phenotypes in a tissue that obscure those that might occur later. For example, early disruptions in RA signaling can result in missing or reduced otic vesicles, which would presumably affect the later morphology of the inner ear, such as the formation of the semi-circular canals; additionally, as the sensory epithelia of the inner ear participate in both the formation of the otoliths and canals, RA's early role in sensory development could indirectly affect these processes (Maier & Whitfield, 2014; S. Raft et al., 2007; Satoh & Fekete, 2005). Therefore, while previous work helps to explain how early disruptions in RA signaling can impact the development of later vestibular structures, by treating embryos with exogenous RA or the RA antagonist diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB) beyond the timeframe that early RA-responsive targets have been studied in zebrafish, we have identified a much later phase of RA activity in the developing ear.

Our initial evidence toward another, late phrase for RA signaling in otic development first includes the disruption of vestibular function, both with a reduction or increase in RA signaling. While pharmacological treatments to whole embryos could impact the development of non-otic tissues that participate in vestibular function, the anatomical abnormalities of the inner ear observed in our work imply that this dysfunction could be attributed, at least in part, directly to perturbations in otic development. Because the precise toroidal dimensions of the semi-circular canals are essential for the endolymph fluid dynamics of the inner ear, presumably the peculiar branching formation at the base of the canal pillars observed with both a reduction or increase in RA signaling in our work, as well as the change in axial otic dimensions observed with exogenous RA treatment, might interfere with these dynamics (Kassemi, Deserranno, & Oas, 2005; Michaels, 1987; Spoor et al., 2007). However, it is questionable whether the zebrafish semi-circular canal system is capable of distinguishing angular accelerations during the timeframe analyzed in our work (Beck, Gilland, Tank, & Baker, 2004). This is largely assumed to be due to the small size of

the larval ear, in which endolymph movement would be severely constrained (Beck et al., 2004; Hullar, 2006; Muller, 1999; Rabbitt, Damiano, & Grant, 2004). In fact, canal activity is not readily detected until approximately the 1-month mark of development, at which point the inner ear has undergone significant growth and the further morphological refinement of the canals, resulting in more recognizably independent ducts (Beck et al., 2004; Bever & Fekete, 2002). Therefore, while it is unlikely that the irregular canal morphology of our larvae affects vestibular function at 5 dpf, it would be interesting to see if these malformations are sustained up to the 1-month mark and could impact the functionality of the canal system at that stage. Regardless, while previous work in zebrafish demonstrate that disruptions in RA signaling can impair the formation of the protrusions that fuse together to form the pillars of the semi-circular canals, and studies in chick demonstrate that exogenous RA can altogether inhibit the development of the canals, the complete formation of the pillars in our work suggests that from 28 hpf onward RA enters a new phase of regulating canal morphogenesis (Hans & Westerfield, 2007; Thompson et al., 2003). To summarize, our work indicates that RA participates in initial canal formation prior to 28 hpf, after which point it appears to be involved with the further sculpting of the canals.

Due to the observed abnormalities in the structure of the pillars, we wanted to confirm these morphological changes by analyzing otic markers known to be expressed within the pillars or their initial protrusions. In zebrafish and *Xenopus*, glycosaminoglycan hyaluronan production and the proper regulation of extracellular matrix (ECM) core proteins or modifying enzymes have been implicated in proper canal morphogenesis (Busch-Nentwich, Söllner, Roehl, & Nicolson, 2004; C. M. Haddon & Lewis, 1991; Maier & Whitfield, 2014; Paterson, 1949; Robert Earle Waterman & Danny H Bell, 1984). In analyzing such markers, we uncovered four novel RAresponsive targets in otic development, the ECM proteins *vcana* and *hapln1a* and the ECM modifying enzymes ugdh and has3. However, the misregulation of these genes in gpr126 mutants coincides with the failed fusion of the canal pillars (Geng et al., 2013). In contrast to this, pillar formation in our work is complete, if abnormal. Of course, while each of these genes is upregulated in gpr126 mutants, it is only with ablated RA signaling that we see an increase in hapln1a, ugdh, and has3 expression, with vcana expression alternatively decreased, and while there is a clear disruption in the expression of ECM genes with perturbations to RA signaling, this disruption is not as robust in gpr126 mutants. Because functional studies have yet to be conducted on any of these ECM genes in relation to otic development, it is difficult to decipher how the individual changes in expression of each gene could affect canal morphogenesis, although this would be an intriguing avenue for future research. Presently, we can only conclude that RA regulates the expression of novel target genes involved with the ECM that may or may not participate in sculpting of the canals during this late phase of otic development.

Because evidence that RA interacts with additional pathways during early otic development is already well documented, we wanted to know if RA is interacting with other pathways during this late phase of activity. For example, studies in chick demonstrate that early RA signaling directly downregulates *Bmp4* within the ear to inhibit canal formation, and work in zebrafish shows that SHH and RA regulate otic markers such as *tbx1* in an opposing manner (Radosevic et al., 2011; Thompson et al., 2003). RA has also been shown to directly inhibit Gli activity in some non-otic tissues, such as within neural and mesodermal progenitors, while promoting the expression of *shh* in others, such as the prechordal plate and limb buds, implicating various tissue-specific roles for RA in regulating SHH signaling (Goyette et al., 2000; Halilagic, Zile, & Studer, 2003; Power, Lancman, & Smith, 1999; Stratford, Horton, & Maden, 1996). Canonical WNT signaling is another pathway that RA is known to interact with; while RA

typically suppresses this pathway in non-otic tissues, studies in zebrafish show that RA promotes canonical *wnt8b* expression in the hindbrain to increase the competence of ectodermal cells to respond to otic induction signals (Bonney, Dennison, Wendlandt, & Siegenthaler, 2018; Hans & Westerfield, 2007; Osei-Sarfo & Gudas, 2014; Roa, Bloemen, Carels, Wagener, & Von den Hoff, 2019). Our work demonstrates that RA continues to participate within a network of various signaling pathways during this late phase of activity, where it maintains a moderately inhibitive role in regulating SHH and promotes canonical WNT activity within the developing ear. Additionally, RA conversely regulates *bmp4* expression in a positive manner at this stage, further supporting the notion that RA plays a unique role in late otic development. Determining how RA interacts with each of these pathways to regulate gene expression during this late phase of activity is another possibility for further research.

While the aberrant canal formation observed in our work already suggests a new phase for RA activity in otic development, the observed otolith phenotypes in this study demonstrate another late role for RA signaling. In our work, otolith formation initiates normally, regardless of pharmacological treatment, generating utricular and saccular otoliths of appropriate size and position within the ear. However, by 5 dpf, DEAB treated larvae are missing their utricular otoliths and display saccular otoliths that are reduced in size. What this demonstrates is that maintenance of the otoliths requires an appropriate amount of RA over the course of otic development. This could explain the behavioral abnormalities observed in our DEAB treated larvae at 5dpf, as the otoliths, particularly the utricular, is critical for vestibular function and survival at this stage (Beck et al., 2004; Riley & Moorman, 2000). A more in-depth histological and chemical analysis of the otoliths of RA treated larvae is required to definitively ascertain if they are unaltered in thickness or composition or if the development or maintenance of the underlying macular hair cells are

alternatively affected, though given that RA treated larvae also display vestibular dysfunction at 5 dpf, it is likely that they also suffer from otolith or macular abnormalities to some degree.

When considering potential RA-responsive genes that could participate in otolith maintenance at this stage, our work has demonstrated that *stm* is a candidate as it has already been implicated in promoting the nucleation of the otoliths and the preferential formation of aragonite within the developing otoliths (Kalka et al., 2019; Söllner et al., 2003). However, *stm* has not been implicated in otoconial formation in mammals and, overall, many variations exist in otolith composition, morphology, and crystalline structure between fish and other vertebrates (Campana, 1999; Campana & Neilson, 1985; Carlstrom, 1963; Mann, Parker, Ross, Skarnulis, & Williams, 1983; Ross & Pote, 1984; Salamat, Ross, & Peacor, 1980; Steyger & Wiederhold, 1995; Zhao, Yang, Yamoah, & Lundberg, 2007). Therefore, it is not clear how applicable this finding is in understanding otoconial maintenance in other species. Even so, future research could look into uncovering other RA-responsive genes potentially involved in otolith maintenance to help identify protective factors against otoconial degradation.

In conclusion, while previous work has identified crucial roles for RA signaling in early otic development, the temporal analysis undertaken in our work has identified a previously undescribed late phase of RA activity. By using late pharmacological treatments to perturb RA signaling, we have revealed that RA signaling acts during this later phase to sculpt the canals and regulate maintenance of the otoliths.

124

3.4 Figures



Figure 3.4. 1. Circling behavioral phenotype assay following pharmacological perturbations of the Retinoic Acid signaling pathway in zebrafish larvae. RA signaling was ablated from 28 hpf onward with diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB; 5μM) or increased with exogenous RA (5nM); dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was used as a solvent control. Larvae were recorded for a total of 10 minutes using a CCTV camera (WV-CL930) and the Ethovision XT10 software by Noldus (Wageningen, Netherlands). Three larvae from the control group and each treatment group were tested per 12-well plate, with a 20-minute acclimatization period prior to recording. The sample arrangement for each plate was randomized and blinded prior to quantification of circling phenotype. Circling phenotype was defined as any continuous and complete 360° revolution in the horizontal plane that did not exceed 4.5mm in diameter (1/4 the diameter of a well), which is the
approximate length of a zebrafish larva at this stage. To account for variations in total distance travelled between samples, circling phenotype was quantified by the total number of circles (left and right) observed per 100cm travelled. 50-second representative swimming traces of two 5 dpf zebrafish larvae for the control group and each treatment group (A). Total number of circles completed per 100cm, including larvae that did not move within the 10-minute recording period (B). Total number of circles completed per 100cm, omitting larvae that did not move within the 10-minute recording period, (C). Experimental data was analyzed using a one-way ANOVA with a post-hoc Dunn's test for pairwise comparisons between each group.



Figure 3.4. 2. Dimensional alterations and the occurrence of morphological irregularities in response to pharmacological perturbations of the Retinoic Acid signaling pathway in zebrafish larvae at 3 and 5 dpf. RA signaling was ablated 28 hpf onward with diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB; 5μ M) or increased with exogenous RA (5nM); dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was used as a solvent control. 3D images of these larvae were generated and measured with the Imaris (Bitplane) software. The surface area (μ m²) of the inner ear (A). The volume (μ m³) of the inner ear (B). The "length" along the anteroposterior/AP axis of the inner ear

(C). The "height" of the inner ear along the dorsoventral/DV axis (D). The ratio of the height of DV axis to the length of the AP axis (E). Percentage of larvae demonstrating pillar irregularities, described as a branching pattern at the base of the pillars (F). Experimental data was analyzed using a one-way ANOVA with a post-hoc Holm-Sidak test for pairwise comparisons between each group. Sample size for each group: 3dpf DMSO, n = 16, 5dpf DMSO, n = 7; 3dpf DEAB, n = 19; 5 dpf DEAB, n = 10; 3 dpf RA, n = 17; 5 dpf RA, n = 12.



Figure 3.4. 3. Inner ear traces representing the morphological irregularities that occur in response to pharmacological perturbations of the Retinoic Acid signaling pathway in zebrafish larvae at 3 and 5 dpf. RA signaling was ablated from 28 hpf onward with diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB; 5μ M) or increased with exogenous RA (5nM); dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was used as a solvent control. These lateral images are situated with the anterior to the left. A stack of confocal images was taken with the Zeiss Zen imaging software and the lumenal space was traced (in white) with the Imaris (Bitplane) software to generate a 3D image of the inner ear. The pillars were traced in subset of the slides from each 3D image (in red) to highlight the abnormal branching at their base (black arrows), where apparent. Inner ear traces representing the DMSO control group (A), the DEAB treated group (B), and the RA treated group (C).



Figure 3.4. 4. *In situ* hybridization analysis of the expression of the extracellular matrix proteins or regulating enzyme *vcana*, *hapln1a*, *ugdh*, and *has3* following pharmacological perturbations of the Retinoic Acid signaling pathway in zebrafish embryos. RA signaling was ablated from 28 hpf onward with diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB; 5µM) or increased with exogenous RA (5nM); dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was used as a solvent control. The anterior direction is to the left in these lateral stereoscopic images. Starting at approximately 45-48 hpf, a series of protrusions bulge into the otic vesicle and fuse together, forming the three pillars around which the semi-circular canals are formed (A). *vcana* expression within the inner ear at 48 hpf (B-B") and 72 hpf (C-C"). *hapln1a* expression within the inner ear and the head mesenchyme ventral to the otic vesicle at 48 hpf (D-D") and 72 hpf (E-E"). *ugdh* expression within the inner ear and the head mesenchyme ventral to the otic vesicle at 48 hpf (H-H") and 72 hpf (I-I"). Abbreviations: a, anterior

protrusion; dls, dorsolateral septum; l, lateral protrusion; p, posterior protrusion; v, ventral protrusion.



Figure 3.4. 5. Otic expression of BMP, WNT, and SHH signaling in and around the otic vesicle at the onset of semi-circular development at 48 hpf following pharmacological perturbations of the Retinoic Acid signaling pathway in zebrafish embryos. RA signaling was ablated from 28 hpf onward with DEAB (5μ M) or increased with exogenous RA (5nM); DMSO was used as a solvent control. These lateral images are situated with the anterior to the left. Stereoscopic images of the *in situ* hybridization analysis of the critical BMP signaling molecule, *bmp4* (A-A"). Confocal images of the *Tg(top:gpf)* zebrafish reporter line for the WNT signaling pathway (B-B"). Confocal images of the *Tg(ptc2:kaede)* zebrafish reporter line for the SHH signaling pathway (C- C"). Percentages represent the number of embryos with the described observation. Abbreviations: ac, anterior crista; ed, endolymphatic duct; lc, lateral crista; pc, posterior crista.



Figure 3.4. 6. Changes in otolith size and number in response to pharmacological perturbations of the Retinoic Acid signaling pathway in zebrafish larvae. RA signaling was ablated from 28 hpf with diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB; 5μ M) or increased with exogenous RA (5nM); dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was used as a solvent control. These lateral stereoscopic images are situated with the anterior to the left. The loss of an otolith is indicated with an arrowhead; a reduction in the size of an otolith is indicated with an arrow. Inner ear images of bleached larvae at 3 dpf (A-C). Inner ear images of bleached larvae at 5 dpf (D-F). *In situ* hybridization analysis of *stm* expression at 48 hpf (2 dpf) (G-I) and 72 hpf (3 dpf) (J-L). Abbreviations: ac, anterior crista; lc, lateral crista; pc, posterior crista; ou, otolith (utricular); os, otolith (saccular); sm, saccular macula; um, utricular macula



Supplemental Figure 3.4. 1. *In situ* hybridization analysis of *aldh1a3* and *neurod1* otic expression in zebrafish embryos. RA signaling was ablated with diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB; 5μ M) or increased with exogenous RA (5nM); dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was used as a solvent control. These stereoscopic images are situated with the anterior to the left. The white oval traces represent the position of the otic vesicle; a white arrow is used to indicate any expansion within the otic vesicle. Retinoic Acid is synthesized within the developing inner ear from 48-96 hpf by *aldh1a3*, which is expressed in the anterior (utricular) macule, the three cristae of the semi-circular canals, and the endolymphatic duct (A). Otic *neurod1* expression following perturbations to RA signaling from 28 hpf onwards (B-D) or 20 hpf onwards (E-G).



Supplemental Figure 3.4. 2. Percentage of left- and right- handed circles completed in response to pharmacological perturbations of the Retinoic Acid signaling pathway in zebrafish larvae. Larvae were recorded for a total of 10 minutes using a CCTV camera (WV-CL930) and the Ethovision XT10 software by Noldus (Wageningen, Netherlands). Three larvae from the control group and each treatment group were tested per 12-well plate, with a 20-minute acclimatization period prior to recording. The sample arrangement for each plate was randomized and blinded prior to quantification of circling phenotype. Circling phenotype was defined as any continuous and complete 360° revolution in the horizontal plane that did not exceed 4.5mm in diameter (1/4 the diameter of a well). RA signaling was ablated with DEAB (1 μ M or 5 μ M) or increased with exogenous RA (5nM); DMSO was used as a solvent control. The percentage of left handed turns for each group are as follows: DMSO = 52.9%; 1 μ M DEAB = 49.8%; 5 μ M DEAB = 51.0%; 5nM RA = 53.2%. N represents the total number of larvae included in the count; larvae that did not move within the recording period were omitted. Abbreviations: DEAB, diethylaminobenzaldehyde; DMSO, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO); RA, retinoic acid.



Supplemental Figure 3.4. 3. Otic expression of the enhancer trap *nk12aEt* (insertion line 'hspGFFDMC12A') generated by the Kawakami Lab (NIG, Japan). A stereoscopic lateral image of the inner ear at 3 dpf. Traces of a stack of confocal images taken of an inner ear generated with the Imaris (Bitplane) software (B). A 3D reconstruction of these traces for measurements of the inner ear with the Imaris (Bitplane) software (B').



Supplemental Figure 3.4. 4. Immunohistochemistry analysis of apoptosis using an activated caspase 3 antibody following perturbations of the Retinoic acid signaling pathway in zebrafish larvae (3 dpf). RA signaling was ablated with diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB; 5μ M) or increased with exogenous RA (5nM) from 28 hpf onward; dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was used as a solvent control. These confocal images are situated with the anterior to the left. Individual and merged images of an antibody against active caspase3 (green) or the nuclear counterstain To-pro-3 (magenta) in the DEAB treated (A), DMSO control (B), or exogenous RA treated (C) groups.



Supplemental Figure 3.4. 5. Immunohistochemistry analysis of cell proliferation using a phospho-histone H3 (Ser10) antibody following perturbations of the Retinoic acid signaling pathway in zebrafish larvae (2 dpf). RA signaling was ablated with diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB; 5μM) or increased with exogenous RA (5nM) from 28 hpf onward; dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was used as a solvent control. These confocal images are situated with the anterior to the left. Individual and merged images of an antibody against phospho-histone H3 (Ser 10) (green) or the nuclear counterstain To-pro-3 (magenta) in the DEAB treated group either mid-way, mediolaterally, through the otic vesicle (A) or more medially (B). Staining for phospho-histone H3 in the DMSO control group either mid-way, mediolaterally, through the otic vesicle (E) or more medially (F).



Supplemental Figure 3.4. 6. Immunohistochemistry analysis of cell proliferation using a phospho-histone H3 (Ser10) antibody following perturbations of the Retinoic acid signaling pathway in zebrafish larvae (3 dpf). RA signaling was ablated with diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB; 5μM) or increased with exogenous RA (5nM) from 28 hpf onward; dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was used as a solvent control. These confocal images are situated with the anterior to the left. Individual and merged images of an antibody against phospho-histone H3 (Ser 10) (green) or

the nuclear counterstain To-pro-3 (magenta) taken midway, mediolaterally, in the DEAB treated (A), DMSO control (B), or RA treated (C-D) groups.

3.5 References

- Ahmed, M., Xu, J., & Xu, P.-X. (2012). EYA1 and SIX1 drive the neuronal developmental program in cooperation with the SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complex and SOX2 in the mammalian inner ear. *Development*, *139*(11), 1965-1977. doi:10.1242/dev.071670
- Alagramam, K. N., Kwon, H. Y., Cacheiro, N. L., Stubbs, L., Wright, C. G., Erway, L. C., & Woychik, R. P. (1999). A new mouse insertional mutation that causes sensorineural deafness and vestibular defects. *Genetics*, 152(4), 1691-1699.
- Alhamoudi, K. M., Bhat, J., Nashabat, M. A., Alharbi, M., Alyafee, Y., Asiri, A., . . . Alfadhel, M. (2020). A missense mutation in the UGDH gene is associated with developmental delay and axial hypotonia. *Frontiers in Pediatrics*, 8, 71.
- Arima, K., Shiotsugu, J., Niu, R., Khandpur, R., Martinez, M., Shin, Y., . . . Blumberg, B. (2005). Global analysis of RAR-responsive genes in the Xenopus neurula using cDNA microarrays. *Dev Dyn*, 232(2), 414-431. doi:10.1002/dvdy.20231
- Bang, P. I., Sewell, W. F., & Malicki, J. J. (2001). Morphology and cell type heterogeneities of the inner ear epithelia in adult and juvenile zebrafish (Danio rerio). *J Comp Neurol*, 438(2), 173-190. doi:10.1002/cne.1308
- Beck, J. C., Gilland, E., Tank, D. W., & Baker, R. (2004). Quantifying the Ontogeny of Optokinetic and Vestibuloocular Behaviors in Zebrafish, Medaka, and Goldfish. *Journal* of Neurophysiology, 92(6), 3546-3561. doi:10.1152/jn.00311.2004
- Begemann, G., Schilling, T. F., Rauch, G.-J., Geisler, R., & Ingham, P. W. (2001). The zebrafish neckless mutation reveals a requirement for raldh2 in mesodermal signals that pattern the hindbrain. *Development*, *128*(16), 3081-3094.
- Berger, K. S. (2014). *The developing person through the life span* (Vol. 41): Worth Publishers New York, NY.
- Bever, M. M., & Fekete, D. M. (2002). Atlas of the developing inner ear in zebrafish. *Dev Dyn*, 223(4), 536-543. doi:10.1002/dvdy.10062
- Bissonnette, J. P., & Fekete, D. M. (1996). Standard atlas of the gross anatomy of the developing inner ear of the chicken. *J Comp Neurol*, *368*(4), 620-630. doi:10.1002/(sici)1096-9861(19960513)368:4<620::Aid-cne12>3.0.Co;2-1
- Bloom, D., & Hultcrantz, M. (1994). Vestibular morphology in relation to age and circling behavior. *Acta Otolaryngol, 114*(4), 387-392. doi:10.3109/00016489409126075

- Bok, J., Raft, S., Kong, K. A., Koo, S. K., Dräger, U. C., & Wu, D. K. (2011). Transient retinoic acid signaling confers anterior-posterior polarity to the inner ear. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(1), 161-166. doi:10.1073/pnas.1010547108
- Bonney, S., Dennison, B. J. C., Wendlandt, M., & Siegenthaler, J. A. (2018). Retinoic Acid Regulates Endothelial β-catenin Expression and Pericyte Numbers in the Developing Brain Vasculature. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 12(476). doi:10.3389/fncel.2018.00476
- Burk, D. T., & Willhite, C. C. (1992). Inner ear malformations induced by isotretinoin in hamster fetuses. *Teratology*, 46(2), 147-157. doi:10.1002/tera.1420460208
- Busch-Nentwich, E., Söllner, C., Roehl, H., & Nicolson, T. (2004). The deafness gene dfna5 is crucial for ugdh expression and HA production in the developing ear in zebrafish. *Development*, 131(4), 943-951. doi:10.1242/dev.00961
- Campana, S. E. (1999). Chemistry and composition of fish otoliths: pathways, mechanisms and applications. *Marine Ecology Progress Series, 188*, 263-297.
- Campana, S. E., & Neilson, J. D. (1985). Microstructure of fish otoliths. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 42(5), 1014-1032.
- Cañestro, C., Postlethwait, J. H., Gonzàlez-Duarte, R., & Albalat, R. (2006). Is retinoic acid genetic machinery a chordate innovation? *Evolution & development*, 8(5), 394-406.
- Carlstrom, D. (1963). A crystallographic study of vertebrate otoliths. *The Biological Bulletin*, *125*(3), 441-463.
- Chang, W., Brigande, J. V., Fekete, D. M., & Wu, D. K. (2004). The development of semicircular canals in the inner ear: role of FGFs in sensory cristae. *Development*, 131(17), 4201-4211. doi:10.1242/dev.01292
- Chang, W., Lin, Z., Kulessa, H., Hebert, J., Hogan, B. L. M., & Wu, D. K. (2008). Bmp4 is essential for the formation of the vestibular apparatus that detects angular head movements. *PLoS genetics*, 4(4), e1000050-e1000050. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1000050
- Chen, P., Johnson, J. E., Zoghbi, H. Y., & Segil, N. (2002). The role of Math1 in inner ear development: Uncoupling the establishment of the sensory primordium from hair cell fate determination. *Development*, 129(10), 2495-2505.

- Chole, R. A., & Quick, C. A. (1976). Temporal bone histopathology in experimental hypovitaminosis a. *The Laryngoscope*, *86*(3), 445-453. doi:https://doi.org/10.1288/00005537-197603000-00014
- Chute, J. P., Muramoto, G. G., Whitesides, J., Colvin, M., Safi, R., Chao, N. J., & McDonnell, D. P. (2006). Inhibition of aldehyde dehydrogenase and retinoid signaling induces the expansion of human hematopoietic stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(31), 11707-11712.
- Deng, M., Pan, L., Xie, X., & Gan, L. (2010). Requirement for Lmo4 in the vestibular morphogenesis of mouse inner ear. *Developmental Biology*, 338(1), 38-49. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.11.003
- Duester, G. (2000). Families of retinoid dehydrogenases regulating vitamin A function: production of visual pigment and retinoic acid. *Eur J Biochem*, 267(14), 4315-4324. doi:10.1046/j.1432-1327.2000.01497.x
- Ekdale, E. G. (2016). Form and function of the mammalian inner ear. *Journal of anatomy*, 228(2), 324-337. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/joa.12308</u>
- Farjo, K. M., Moiseyev, G., Nikolaeva, O., Sandell, L. L., Trainor, P. A., & Ma, J.-x. (2011). RDH10 is the primary enzyme responsible for the first step of embryonic Vitamin A metabolism and retinoic acid synthesis. *Developmental Biology*, 357(2), 347-355.
- Fekete, D. M. (1999). Development of the vertebrate ear: insights from knockouts and mutants. *Trends Neurosci, 22*(6), 263-269. doi:10.1016/s0166-2236(98)01366-6
- Frenz, D. A., Liu, W., Galinovic-Schwartz, V., & Van De Water, T. R. (1996). Retinoic acidinduced embryopathy of the mouse inner ear. *Teratology*, 53(5), 292-303. doi:10.1002/(sici)1096-9926(199605)53:5<292::Aid-tera3>3.0.Co;2-3
- Gale, E., Zile, M., & Maden, M. (1999). Hindbrain respecification in the retinoid-deficient quail. *Mechanisms of Development, 89*(1-2), 43-54.
- Geng, F.-S., Abbas, L., Baxendale, S., Holdsworth, C. J., Swanson, A. G., Slanchev, K., . . . Whitfield, T. T. (2013). Semicircular canal morphogenesis in the zebrafish inner ear requires the function of gpr126 (lauscher), an adhesion class G protein-coupled receptor gene. *Development*, 140(21), 4362-4374. doi:10.1242/dev.098061
- Ghyselinck, N. B., & Duester, G. (2019). Retinoic acid signaling pathways. *Development*, 146(13). doi:10.1242/dev.167502

- Goyette, P., Allan, D., Peschard, P., Chen, C. F., Wang, W., & Lohnes, D. (2000). Regulation of Gli Activity by All-trans Retinoic Acid in Mouse Keratinocytes. *Cancer Research*, 60(19), 5386-5389. Retrieved from <u>https://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/canres/60/19/5386.full.pdf</u>
- Grandel, H., Lun, K., Rauch, G.-J., Rhinn, M., Piotrowski, T., Houart, C., . . . Geisler, R. (2002). Retinoic acid signalling in the zebrafish embryo is necessary during pre-segmentation stages to pattern the anterior-posterior axis of the CNS and to induce a pectoral fin bud. *Development*, 129(12), 2851-2865.
- Granström, G. (1990). Retinoid-induced ear malformations. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 103(5 (Pt 1)), 702-709. doi:10.1177/019459989010300507
- Haddon, C., & Lewis, J. (1996). Early ear development in the embryo of the zebrafish, Danio rerio. *J Comp Neurol*, *365*(1), 113-128. doi:10.1002/(sici)1096-9861(19960129)365:1<113::Aid-cne9>3.0.Co;2-6
- Haddon, C. M., & Lewis, J. H. (1991). Hyaluronan as a propellant for epithelial movement: the development of semicircular canals in the inner ear of Xenopus. *Development*, 112(2), 541-550. Retrieved from <u>https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/112/2/541.full.pdf</u>
- Hain, T. C., & Helminski, J. O. (2007). Anatomy and physiology of the normal vestibular system. *Vestibular rehabilitation*, 1(1), 2.
- Halilagic, A., Zile, M. H., & Studer, M. (2003). A novel role for retinoids in patterning the avian forebrain during presomite stages. *Development*, 130(10), 2039-2050.
- Hammond, K. L., Loynes, H. E., Mowbray, C., Runke, G., Hammerschmidt, M., Mullins, M. C., ... Whitfield, T. T. (2009). A Late Role for bmp2b in the Morphogenesis of Semicircular Canal Ducts in the Zebrafish Inner Ear. *PloS one*, 4(2), e4368. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0004368
- Hans, S., & Westerfield, M. (2007). Changes in retinoic acid signaling alter otic patterning. *Development, 134*(13), 2449-2458. doi:10.1242/dev.000448
- Hernandez, R. E., Galitan, L., Cameron, J., Goodwin, N., & Ramakrishnan, L. (2018). Delay of Initial Feeding of Zebrafish Larvae Until 8 Days Postfertilization Has No Impact on Survival or Growth Through the Juvenile Stage. *Zebrafish*, 15(5), 515-518. doi:10.1089/zeb.2018.1579
- Hullar, T. E. (2006). Semicircular canal geometry, afferent sensitivity, and animal behavior. *The Anatomical Record Part A: Discoveries in Molecular, Cellular, and Evolutionary*

Biology: An Official Publication of the American Association of Anatomists, 288(4), 466-472.

- Hwang, C. H., Simeone, A., Lai, E., & Wu, D. K. (2009). Foxg1 is required for proper separation and formation of sensory cristae during inner ear development. *Developmental dynamics:* an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists, 238(11), 2725-2734.
- Hynes, R. O. (2009). The extracellular matrix: not just pretty fibrils. *Science*, *326*(5957), 1216-1219. doi:10.1126/science.1176009
- Janesick, A., Shiotsugu, J., Taketani, M., & Blumberg, B. (2012). RIPPLY3 is a retinoic acidinducible repressor required for setting the borders of the pre-placodal ectoderm. *Development*, 139(6), 1213-1224. doi:10.1242/dev.071456
- Jarvis, B. L., Johnston, M. C., & Sulik, K. K. (1990). Congenital malformations of the external, middle, and inner ear produced by isotretinoin exposure in mouse embryos. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 102(4), 391-401. doi:10.1177/019459989010200414
- Kalka, M., Markiewicz, N., Ptak, M., Sone, E. D., Ożyhar, A., Dobryszycki, P., & Wojtas, M. (2019). In vivo and in vitro analysis of starmaker activity in zebrafish otolith biomineralization. *The FASEB Journal*, 33(6), 6877-6886. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201802268R</u>
- Kassemi, M., Deserranno, D., & Oas, J. G. (2005). Fluid–structural interactions in the inner ear. *Computers & Structures*, 83(2), 181-189. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compstruc.2004.08.001</u>
- Kaufman, M. (1992). The atlas of mouse development: London: Academic Press.
- Kiernan, A. E., Pelling, A. L., Leung, K. K., Tang, A. S., Bell, D. M., Tease, C., . . . Cheah, K. S. (2005). Sox2 is required for sensory organ development in the mammalian inner ear. *Nature*, 434(7036), 1031-1035. doi:10.1038/nature03487
- Kil, S. H., Streit, A., Brown, S. T., Agrawal, N., Collazo, A., Zile, M. H., & Groves, A. K. (2005). Distinct roles for hindbrain and paraxial mesoderm in the induction and patterning of the inner ear revealed by a study of vitamin-A-deficient quail. *Dev Biol*, 285(1), 252-271. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2005.05.044
- Kitamura, K., Yagi, M., Yoshikawa, Y., Ochidubo, F., & Kato, M. (1991). Vestibular pathology in a new-mutant mouse. *Acta Otolaryngol Suppl, 481*, 121-124. doi:10.3109/00016489109131362

- Kopecky, B., Johnson, S., Schmitz, H., Santi, P., & Fritzsch, B. (2012). Scanning thin-sheet laser imaging microscopy elucidates details on mouse ear development. *Developmental dynamics : an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists, 241*(3), 465-480. doi:10.1002/dvdy.23736
- Lammer, E. J., Chen, D. T., Hoar, R. M., Agnish, N. D., Benke, P. J., Braun, J. T., . . . et al. (1985). Retinoic acid embryopathy. *N Engl J Med*, *313*(14), 837-841. doi:10.1056/nejm198510033131401
- Litsiou, A., Hanson, S., & Streit, A. (2005). A balance of FGF, BMP and WNT signalling positions the future placode territory in the head. *Development*, 132(18), 4051. doi:10.1242/dev.01964
- Löhle, E. (1985). Ultrastructural changes in the organ of Corti and in the ganglion spiral cochleae after vitamin A deficiency. *Pathol Res Pract, 179*(4-5), 560-567. doi:10.1016/s0344-0338(85)80197-7
- Lv, K., Huang, H., Lu, Y., Qin, C., Li, Z., & Feng, J. Q. (2010). Circling behavior developed in Dmp1 null mice is due to bone defects in the vestibular apparatus. *International journal* of biological sciences, 6(6), 537-545. doi:10.7150/ijbs.6.537
- Maden, M., Gale, E., Kostetskii, I., & Zile, M. (1996). Vitamin A-deficient quail embryos have half a hindbrain and other neural defects. *Curr Biol, 6*(4), 417-426. doi:10.1016/s0960-9822(02)00509-2
- Maier, E. C., & Whitfield, T. T. (2014). RA and FGF Signalling Are Required in the Zebrafish Otic Vesicle to Pattern and Maintain Ventral Otic Identities. *PLoS genetics*, 10(12), e1004858. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1004858
- Mann, S., Parker, S. B., Ross, M. D., Skarnulis, A. J., & Williams, R. J. (1983). The ultrastructure of the calcium carbonate balance organs of the inner ear: an ultra-high resolution electron microscopy study. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 218*(1213), 415-424. doi:10.1098/rspb.1983.0048
- Mansour, S. L., Goddard, J. M., & Capecchi, M. R. (1993). Mice homozygous for a targeted disruption of the proto-oncogene int-2 have developmental defects in the tail and inner ear. *Development*, 117(1), 13-28. Retrieved from <u>https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/117/1/13.full.pdf</u>
- Maroon, H., Walshe, J., Mahmood, R., Kiefer, P., Dickson, C., & Mason, I. (2002). Fgf3 and Fgf8 are required together for formation of the otic placode and vesicle. *Development*, *129*(9), 2099-2108.

- Mescher, A. (2010). Chapter 23. The eye and ear: special sense organs. Junqueira's basic histology: text & atlas.
- Metzler, M. A., & Sandell, L. L. (2016). Enzymatic metabolism of vitamin A in developing vertebrate embryos. *Nutrients*, 8(12), 812.
- Michaels, L. (1987). Malformations and Congenital Lesions of the Inner Ear. In *Ear, Nose and Throat Histopathology* (pp. 77-87): Springer.
- Monboisse, J. C., Oudart, J. B., Ramont, L., Brassart-Pasco, S., & Maquart, F. X. (2014). Matrikines from basement membrane collagens: a new anti-cancer strategy. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1840(8), 2589-2598. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.12.029
- Morsli, H., Choo, D., Ryan, A., Johnson, R., & Wu, D. K. (1998). Development of the Mouse Inner Ear and Origin of Its Sensory Organs. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(9), 3327-3335. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.18-09-03327.1998
- Muller, M. (1999). Size limitations in semicircular duct systems. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 198(3), 405-437.
- Nichols, D. H., Pauley, S., Jahan, I., Beisel, K. W., Millen, K. J., & Fritzsch, B. (2008). Lmx1a is required for segregation of sensory epithelia and normal ear histogenesis and morphogenesis. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 334(3), 339-358. doi:10.1007/s00441-008-0709-2
- Nicolson, T., Rüsch, A., Friedrich, R. W., Granato, M., Ruppersberg, J. P., & Nüsslein-Volhard, C. (1998). Genetic Analysis of Vertebrate Sensory Hair Cell Mechanosensation: the Zebrafish Circler Mutants. *Neuron*, 20(2), 271-283. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80455-9</u>
- Niederreither, K., Subbarayan, V., Dollé, P., & Chambon, P. (1999). Embryonic retinoic acid synthesis is essential for early mouse post-implantation development. *Nature Genetics*, 21(4), 444-448. doi:10.1038/7788
- Niederreither, K., Vermot, J., Fraulob, V., Chambon, P., & Dollé, P. (2002). Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (RALDH2)-independent patterns of retinoic acid synthesis in the mouse embryo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 99*(25), 16111-16116.
- Niederreither, K., Vermot, J., Schuhbaur, B., Chambon, P., & Dollé, P. (2000). Retinoic acid synthesis and hindbrain patterning in the mouse embryo. *Development*, *127*(1), 75-85.
- Noda, T., Oki, S., Kitajima, K., Harada, T., Komune, S., & Meno, C. (2012). Restriction of Wnt signaling in the dorsal otocyst determines semicircular canal formation in the mouse

embryo. *Developmental Biology*, *362*(1), 83-93. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2011.11.019</u>

- Omata, Y., Nojima, Y., Nakayama, S., Okamoto, H., Nakamura, H., & Funahashi, J. i. (2007). Role of Bone morphogenetic protein 4 in zebrafish semicircular canal development. *Development, Growth & Differentiation, 49*(9), 711-719. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-169X.2007.00964.x
- Ono, K., Sandell, L. L., Trainor, P. A., & Wu, D. K. (2020). Retinoic acid synthesis and autoregulation mediate zonal patterning of vestibular organs and inner ear morphogenesis. *Development*, *147*(15), dev192070. doi:10.1242/dev.192070
- Osei-Sarfo, K., & Gudas, L. J. (2014). Retinoic acid suppresses the canonical Wnt signaling pathway in embryonic stem cells and activates the noncanonical Wnt signaling pathway. *Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio), 32*(8), 2061-2071. doi:10.1002/stem.1706
- Pan, N., Jahan, I., Kersigo, J., Kopecky, B., Santi, P., Johnson, S., . . . Fritzsch, B. (2011). Conditional deletion of Atoh1 using Pax2-Cre results in viable mice without differentiated cochlear hair cells that have lost most of the organ of Corti. *Hear Res*, 275(1-2), 66-80. doi:10.1016/j.heares.2010.12.002
- Pan, W., Jin, Y., Chen, J., Rottier, R. J., Steel, K. P., & Kiernan, A. E. (2013). Ectopic Expression of Activated Notch or SOX2 Reveals Similar and Unique Roles in the Development of the Sensory Cell Progenitors in the Mammalian Inner Ear. *The Journal* of Neuroscience, 33(41), 16146-16157. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.3150-12.2013
- Paterson, N. F. (1949). The development of the inner ear of Xenopus laevis. *Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London, 119*(2), 269-291. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1096-3642.1949.tb00878.x</u>
- Pauley, S., Wright, T. J., Pirvola, U., Ornitz, D., Beisel, K., & Fritzsch, B. (2003). Expression and function of FGF10 in mammalian inner ear development. *Dev Dyn*, 227(2), 203-215. doi:10.1002/dvdy.10297
- Penzes, P., & Napoli, J. L. (1999). Holo-cellular retinol-binding protein: distinction of ligandbinding affinity from efficiency as substrate in retinal biosynthesis. *Biochemistry*, 38(7), 2088-2093. doi:10.1021/bi982228t
- Petrovic, J., Formosa-Jordan, P., Luna-Escalante, J. C., Abelló, G., Ibañes, M., Neves, J., & Giraldez, F. (2014). Ligand-dependent Notch signaling strength orchestrates lateral induction and lateral inhibition in the developing inner ear. *Development*, 141(11), 2313-2324. doi:10.1242/dev.108100

- Pittlik, S., & Begemann, G. (2012). New sources of retinoic acid synthesis revealed by live imaging of an Aldh1a2-GFP reporter fusion protein throughout zebrafish development. *Dev Dyn, 241*(7), 1205-1216. doi:10.1002/dvdy.23805
- Pittlik, S., Domingues, S., Meyer, A., & Begemann, G. (2008). Expression of zebrafish aldh1a3 (raldh3) and absence of aldh1a1 in teleosts. *Gene Expression Patterns*, 8(3), 141-147. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gep.2007.11.003
- Power, S. C., Lancman, J., & Smith, S. M. (1999). Retinoic acid is essential for shh/hoxd signaling during rat limb outgrowth but not for limb initiation. *Developmental dynamics*, 216(4-5), 469-480. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-</u> 0177(199912)216:4/5<469::AID-DVDY15>3.0.CO;2-3
- Purves, D., Augustine, G., Fitzpatrick, D., Katz, L., LaMantia, A., McNamara, J., & Williams, S. (2001). The Otolith Organs: The Utricle and Sacculus. *Neuroscience*.
- Rabbitt, R. D., Damiano, E. R., & Grant, J. W. (2004). Biomechanics of the semicircular canals and otolith organs. In *The vestibular system* (pp. 153-201): Springer.
- Radosevic, M. (2011). *Spatial control of inner ear neurogenesis by retinoic acid, Tbx1 and her genes*: Universitat Pompeu Fabra.
- Radosevic, M., Robert-Moreno, À., Coolen, M., Bally-Cuif, L., & Alsina, B. (2011). Her9 represses neurogenic fate downstream of Tbx1 and retinoic acid signaling in the inner ear. *Development*, 138(3), 397-408.
- Raft, S., Koundakjian, E. J., Quinones, H., Jayasena, C. S., Goodrich, L. V., Johnson, J. E., . . . Groves, A. K. (2007). Cross-regulation of Ngn1 and Math1 coordinates the production of neurons and sensory hair cells during inner ear development. *Development*, 134(24), 4405-4415. doi:10.1242/dev.009118
- Raft, S., Nowotschin, S., Liao, J., & Morrow, B. E. (2004). Suppression of neural fate and control of inner ear morphogenesis by Tbx1. *Development*, 131(8), 1801-1812.
- Ricciardelli, C., Sakko, A. J., Ween, M. P., Russell, D. L., & Horsfall, D. J. (2009). The biological role and regulation of versican levels in cancer. *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews*, 28(1-2), 233.
- Riley, B. B., & Moorman, S. J. (2000). Development of utricular otoliths, but not saccular otoliths, is necessary for vestibular function and survival in zebrafish. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 43(4), 329-337. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-</u> <u>4695(20000615)43:4</u><329::AID-NEU2>3.0.CO;2-H

- Riley, B. B., Zhu, C., Janetopoulos, C., & Aufderheide, K. J. (1997). A Critical Period of Ear Development Controlled by Distinct Populations of Ciliated Cells in the Zebrafish. *Developmental Biology*, 191(2), 191-201. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1997.8736</u>
- Roa, L. A., Bloemen, M., Carels, C. E. L., Wagener, F. A. D. T. G., & Von den Hoff, J. W. (2019). Retinoic acid disrupts osteogenesis in pre-osteoblasts by down-regulating WNT signaling. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, *116*, 105597. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2019.105597</u>
- Rogers, M. J., Fleming, J., Kiernan, B. W., Mburu, P., Varela, A., Brown, S. D., & Steel, K. P. (1999). Genetic mapping of the whirler mutation. *Mamm Genome*, 10(5), 513-519. doi:10.1007/s003359901032
- Romand, R., Dollé, P., & Hashino, E. (2006). Retinoid signaling in inner ear development. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 66(7), 687-704. doi:10.1002/neu.20244
- Romand, R., Hashino, E., Dollé, P., Vonesch, J. L., Chambon, P., & Ghyselinck, N. B. (2002). The retinoic acid receptors RARalpha and RARgamma are required for inner ear development. *Mech Dev*, 119(2), 213-223. doi:10.1016/s0925-4773(02)00385-4
- Romand, R., Krezel, W., Beraneck, M., Cammas, L., Fraulob, V., Messaddeq, N., . . . Dollé, P. (2013). Retinoic acid deficiency impairs the vestibular function. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(13), 5856-5866.
- Romand, R., Niederreither, K., Abu-Abed, S., Petkovich, M., Fraulob, V., Hashino, E., & Dollé, P. (2004). Complementary expression patterns of retinoid acid-synthesizing and metabolizing enzymes in pre-natal mouse inner ear structures. *Gene Expression Patterns*, 4(2), 123-133. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.modgep.2003.09.006</u>
- Ross, M. D., & Pote, K. G. (1984). Some properties of otoconia. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 304(1121), 445-452. doi:10.1098/rstb.1984.0038
- Salamat, M. S., Ross, M. D., & Peacor, D. R. (1980). Otoconial formation in the fetal rat. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol*, *89*(3 Pt 1), 229-238. doi:10.1177/000348948008900308
- Salminen, M., Meyer, B. I., Bober, E., & Gruss, P. (2000). Netrin 1 is required for semicircular canal formation in the mouse inner ear. *Development*, *127*(1), 13-22. Retrieved from https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/127/1/13.full.pdf
- Sandell, L. L., Lynn, M. L., Inman, K. E., McDowell, W., & Trainor, P. A. (2012). RDH10 oxidation of Vitamin A is a critical control step in synthesis of retinoic acid during mouse embryogenesis. *PloS one*, 7(2), e30698.

- Sandell, L. L., Sanderson, B. W., Moiseyev, G., Johnson, T., Mushegian, A., Young, K., . . . Trainor, P. A. (2007). RDH10 is essential for synthesis of embryonic retinoic acid and is required for limb, craniofacial, and organ development. *Genes & development*, 21(9), 1113-1124.
- Satoh, T., & Fekete, D. M. (2005). Clonal analysis of the relationships between mechanosensory cells and the neurons that innervate them in the chicken ear. *Development*, 132(7), 1687-1697. doi:10.1242/dev.01730
- Saupe, F., Schwenzer, A., Jia, Y., Gasser, I., Spenlé, C., Langlois, B., . . . Orend, G. (2013). Tenascin-C downregulates wnt inhibitor dickkopf-1, promoting tumorigenesis in a neuroendocrine tumor model. *Cell Rep*, 5(2), 482-492. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2013.09.014
- Schlosser, G., & Northcutt, R. G. (2000). Development of neurogenic placodes in Xenopus laevis. J Comp Neurol, 418(2), 121-146.
- Sethi, T., Rintoul, R. C., Moore, S. M., MacKinnon, A. C., Salter, D., Choo, C., . . . Haslett, C. (1999). Extracellular matrix proteins protect small cell lung cancer cells against apoptosis: a mechanism for small cell lung cancer growth and drug resistance in vivo. *Nat Med*, 5(6), 662-668. doi:10.1038/9511
- Shiotsugu, J., Katsuyama, Y., Arima, K., Baxter, A., Koide, T., Song, J., ... Blumberg, B. (2004). Multiple points of interaction between retinoic acid and FGF signaling during embryonic axis formation. *Development*, 131(11), 2653-2667. doi:10.1242/dev.01129
- Sisneros, J. A., & Rogers, P. H. (2016). Directional Hearing and Sound Source Localization in Fishes. In (pp. 121-155): Springer International Publishing.
- Söllner, C., Burghammer, M., Busch-Nentwich, E., Berger, J., Schwarz, H., Riekel, C., & Nicolson, T. (2003). Control of crystal size and lattice formation by starmaker in otolith biomineralization. *Science*, 302(5643), 282-286.
- Spoor, F., Garland, T., Jr., Krovitz, G., Ryan, T. M., Silcox, M. T., & Walker, A. (2007). The primate semicircular canal system and locomotion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104(26), 10808-10812. doi:10.1073/pnas.0704250104
- Steyger, P. S., & Wiederhold, M. L. (1995). Visualization of newt aragonitic otoconial matrices using transmission electron microscopy. *Hear Res*, 92(1-2), 184-191. doi:10.1016/0378-5955(95)00221-9
- Stratford, T., Horton, C., & Maden, M. (1996). Retinoic acid is required for the initiation of outgrowth in the chick limb bud. *Current Biology*, 6(9), 1124-1133.

- Su, Y., Shi, Y., Stolow, M. A., & Shi, Y. B. (1997). Thyroid hormone induces apoptosis in primary cell cultures of tadpole intestine: cell type specificity and effects of extracellular matrix. *J Cell Biol*, 139(6), 1533-1543. doi:10.1083/jcb.139.6.1533
- Tanimoto, M., Ota, Y., Inoue, M., & Oda, Y. (2011). Origin of Inner Ear Hair Cells: Morphological and Functional Differentiation from Ciliary Cells into Hair Cells in Zebrafish Inner Ear. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(10), 3784-3794. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.5554-10.2011
- Thompson, D. L., Gerlach-Bank, L. M., Barald, K. F., & Koenig, R. J. (2003). Retinoic acid repression of bone morphogenetic protein 4 in inner ear development. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23(7), 2277-2286. doi:10.1128/mcb.23.7.2277-2286.2003
- Vosshall, L. B., & Carandini, M. (2009). Sensory systems. *Current opinion in neurobiology*, 19(4), 343-344. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2009.08.002
- Wackym, P. A., Friberg, U., Bagger-Sjöbäck, D., Linthicum, F. H., Friedmann, I., & Rask-Andersen, H. (1987). Human endolymphatic sac: possible mechanisms of pressure regulation. *The Journal of Laryngology & Otology*, 101(8), 768-779. doi:10.1017/s0022215100102713
- Watanabe, H., & Yamada, Y. (1999). Mice lacking link protein develop dwarfism and craniofacial abnormalities. *Nature Genetics*, 21, 225-229.
- Waterman, R. E., & Bell, D. H. (1984). Epithelial fusion during early semicircular canal formation in the embryonic zebrafish, Brachydanio rerio. *Anat Rec*, 210(1), 101-114. doi:10.1002/ar.1092100113
- Waterman, R. E., & Bell, D. H. (1984). Epithelial fusion during early semicircular canal formation in the embryonic zebrafish, Brachydanio rerio. *The Anatomical Record*, 210(1), 101-114.
- Weigel, P. H., Hascall, V. C., & Tammi, M. (1997). Hyaluronan synthases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(22), 13997-14000.
- White, J. C., Highland, M., Kaiser, M., & Clagett-Dame, M. (2000). Vitamin A deficiency results in the dose-dependent acquisition of anterior character and shortening of the caudal hindbrain of the rat embryo. *Dev Biol, 220*(2), 263-284. doi:10.1006/dbio.2000.9635
- Whitfield, T. (2000). The zebrafish anatomical dictionary. Entry on the inner ear, sensory patches, hair cells, semicircular canals, otoliths, statoacoustic ganglion and lateral line. *ZFIN. Available at: <u>http://zfin.</u> org/zf_info/anatomy/dict/current. html.*

- Whitfield, T. T., Granato, M., van Eeden, F. J., Schach, U., Brand, M., Furutani-Seiki, M., . . . Nusslein-Volhard, C. (1996). Mutations affecting development of the zebrafish inner ear and lateral line. *Development*, 123(1), 241-254. Retrieved from <u>https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/123/1/241.full.pdf</u>
- Xi, J., Yue, J., & Yang, Z. (2015). Expression profiles of retinoic acid synthetases ALDH1As and metabolic enzymes CYP26s in adult and embryonic zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Genet Mol Res, 14*(2), 3948-3956. doi:10.4238/2015.April.27.9
- Xu, P. X., Adams, J., Peters, H., Brown, M. C., Heaney, S., & Maas, R. (1999). Eya1-deficient mice lack ears and kidneys and show abnormal apoptosis of organ primordia. *Nat Genet*, 23(1), 113-117. doi:10.1038/12722
- Zhao, X., Yang, H., Yamoah, E. N., & Lundberg, Y. W. (2007). Gene targeting reveals the role of Oc90 as the essential organizer of the otoconial organic matrix. *Dev Biol*, 304(2), 508-524. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2007.01.013
- Zheng, W., Huang, L., Wei, Z. B., Silvius, D., Tang, B., & Xu, P. X. (2003). The role of Six1 in mammalian auditory system development. *Development*, 130(17), 3989-4000. doi:10.1242/dev.00628
- Zou, D., Erickson, C., Kim, E. H., Jin, D., Fritzsch, B., & Xu, P. X. (2008). Eya1 gene dosage critically affects the development of sensory epithelia in the mammalian inner ear. *Hum Mol Genet*, 17(21), 3340-3356. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddn229

Chapter 4: Utilizing the Gal4:UAS system to visualize vestibular features of the vertebrate inner ear

4.1 Introduction

The inner ear is a fluid-filled organ that is essential for the perception of motion and gravity. It contains two specialized apparatuses that enable the detection of different accelerations of the head, both of which appear across vertebrates (Abbas & Whitfield, 2010; Ekdale, 2016). Angular accelerations are detected by the semi-circular canals, three orthogonally-oriented ducts that each terminate in a sac housing a sensory epithelium known as the crista ampullaris (Mescher, 2010). The hair cells of this epithelium are sheathed in a gelatinous mass called cupula that is deflected by the fluid in the ear during rotational motions of the head. Linear accelerations and gravity are instead detected by the maculae, which are two sensory epithelia housed in the central vestibule of the inner ear adjacent to the semi-circular canals (Hain & Helminski, 2007; Purves et al., 2001). These epithelia are overlain by an otolithic membrane, a gelatinous mass imbedded with small calcium crystallites called otoliths or otoconia (Hain & Helminski, 2007; Purves et al., 2001). The macula that senses accelerations along the horizontal plane is known as the utricle, whereas the macula that senses accelerations along the vertical plane is called the saccule, although in fish the utricle is shown to be the only macula critical to vestibular function, with the saccule playing more of a role in detecting auditory stimuli (Hain & Helminski, 2007; Riley & Moorman, 2000; Sisneros & Rogers, 2016).

Some headway has been made over the years in understanding the primary morphological steps behind the developmental programme of the inner ear and its vestibular apparatuses. For example, we know that it begins with an ectodermal thickening along the anterior border of the neural plate that will give rise to the otic placode, the source of the various inner ear cell types. This placode then cavitates in fish or invaginates in amniotes to form a hollow organ known as the otic vesicle (Kaufman, 1992; Kwon, Bhat, Sweet, Cornell, & Riley, 2010; Maroon et al., 2002;

McCarroll et al., 2012; Ohyama, Mohamed, Taketo, Dufort, & Groves, 2006; Schlosser & Northcutt, 2000; Steventon, Mayor, & Streit, 2012). The anteroventral portion of this vesicle gives rise to the neuro-sensory competent domain, the region from which the neuroblasts of the vestibulocochlear nerve delaminate and where sensory hair cells and their support cells originate (Ahmed, Xu, & Xu, 2012; Chen, Johnson, Zoghbi, & Segil, 2002; A. E. Kiernan et al., 2005; N. Pan et al., 2011; W. Pan et al., 2013; Petrovic et al., 2014; Xu et al., 1999; Zheng et al., 2003; Zou et al., 2008). As otic development progresses, this domain separates into the various sensory epithelia of the inner ear, the maculae and the cristae (Hwang, Simeone, Lai, & Wu, 2009; Nichols et al., 2008; Pauley et al., 2003). It is upon the maculae that the otoliths or otoconia then tether and grow, and it is with the aid of signaling cues from the cristae that the formation of semi-circular canals is then induced, although canal morphogenesis varies between species (Chang, Brigande, Fekete, & Wu, 2004; Chang et al., 2008; Hammond et al., 2009; Mansour, Goddard, & Capecchi, 1993; Omata et al., 2007; Pauley et al., 2003; Riley, Zhu, Janetopoulos, & Aufderheide, 1997; Tanimoto, Ota, Inoue, & Oda, 2011). In zebrafish and *Xenopus*, protrusions of the otic epithelium protrude into the vesicle and fuse together to generate the pillars of the canals (Paterson, 1949; Robert Earle Waterman & Danny H Bell, 1984). In amniotes, canal morphogenesis begins with the formation of two out-pouches, one vertical and one horizontal (J. P. Bissonnette & D. M. Fekete, 1996; Fekete, 1999; Kopecky, Johnson, Schmitz, Santi, & Fritzsch, 2012). Opposing epithelial within each out-pouch extend toward one another to form fusion plates, which are resorbed through apoptosis to create the canal ducts along the rim, the anterior and posterior canals from the vertical out-pouch and the lateral canal from the horizontal.

Although the fundamental steps of otic development have been identified, there is still a gap in our knowledge concerning all the genetic factors involved in these morphological processes,

a field of research that is hindered by the lack of a fast and reliable way to measure the inner ear or visualize key otic structures. Current methods include the generation of 2D images taken by a camera affixed to a microscope, usually with the aid of more specialized microscope techniques like differential interference contrast microscopy to capture the finer details of specific inner ear cell types or features (Hans & Westerfield, 2007; Ryan D Hartwell et al., 2019; Kawashima et al., 2011; Whitfield, Riley, Chiang, & Phillips, 2002). The observation of key inner ear features can also be accomplished by the *in situ* hybridization analysis of genes known to be expressed in specific tissues (Geng et al., 2013; Hans & Westerfield, 2007). However, this method requires that the target transcripts be of a high enough copy number to allow for detection and relies on the unaltered expression pattern of these genes under the conditions studied, requiring previous knowledge of their regulation (Gall & Pardue, 1969; Harrison, Conkie, Paul, & Jones, 1973; Jones & Robertson, 1970). Additionally, both techniques do not allow for the generation of a 3D model of the ear, making them ill-suited for visualizing and measuring the inner ear as a whole.

Other methods exist that allow for modelling of the entire inner ear. These include the reconstruction of inner ear images captured with computed tomography, magnetic resonance imaging, or in histological sections, although these are time-consuming and expensive techniques (Agarwal, Singh, Ghuman, Sharma, & Lahiri, 2014; Jun et al., 2005; Kendi, Arikan, & Koc, 2005; Rau, Würfel, Lenarz, & Majdani, 2013). A more inexpensive method is the paint-fill technique, whereby an opaque marker, such as white gloss paint, can be injected directly into the inner ear with a needle pulled from a capillary tube (John P Bissonnette & Donna M Fekete, 1996; Amy E. Kiernan, 2006; Martin & Swanson, 1993; Miller Bever, Jean, & Fekete, 2003). However, this method also suffers from its share of drawbacks. Injections into the ear at later stages of inner ear development can be hindered by the formation of cartilage or bone around the ear, and these

injection sites are prone to leakage if the needle is too large (Amy E. Kiernan, 2006). Furthermore, injecting the inner ear with an opaque substance can inadvertently obscure internal otic features, such as with zebrafish, whose semi-circular canals form from the inward growth of protrusions toward a central point within otic vesicle (R. E. Waterman & D. H. Bell, 1984).

An inexpensive and elegant solution to this problem would be the use of fluorescent markers that label either the entire otic epithelium or select features of the inner ear, of which 2D confocal images could be reconstructed into 3D images and measured by modeling software, such as Imaris, Amira, or Fiji (Bloch et al., 2019; Ethell & Cameron, 2014; Goetz et al., 2014; Packard et al., 2017). However, an obstacle to this solution is the development of genetic tools that drive visual reporters in unique spatial patterns within the inner ear. Of course, several methods already exist for the *in vivo* observation and spatiotemporal manipulation of gene expression in vertebrate and invertebrate models. One of the most well known is the GAL4-UAS system, which uses a yeast transcription activator protein (Gal4)—which, alone, is lacking the necessary regulatory elements for its own transcription—and its targeted upstream activator sequence (UAS) to drive the expression of a target gene, such as a fluorescent reporter (Brand & Perrimon, 1993; Duffy, 2002; Kakidani & Ptashne, 1988; Webster, Jin, Green, Hollis, & Chambon, 1988). Therefore, utilizing the Tol2 transposon system, which uses a transposase to facilitate the random insertion of foreign DNA into the genome, gene traps, where the insertion is made within a gene locus, and enhancer traps, where the insertion is made within the region of an enhancer's influence, can be generated to drive Gal4 expression in a temporal and tissue specific manner, as determined by the endogenous spatiotemporal regulatory elements or behaviors of the targeted gene or enhancer (Koga, Iida, Hori, Shimada, & Shima, 2006; Stuart, McMurray, & Westerfield, 1988). In doing so, crossing these lines with those possessing a target gene downstream UAS will confer that same

spatiotemporal specificity on its expression in the resulting progeny. This precise mechanism has already been used by the Kawakami laboratory at the National Institute of Genetics (NIG) in Mishima, Japan, to generate a gene and enhancer trap database of zebrafish transgenic lines expressing 'GFF,' a fusion protein of the Gal4 DNA binding domain and a tandem repeat of the VP16 transactivation domain that is more strongly expressed in zebrafish (Asakawa & Kawakami, 2009; Asakawa et al., 2008; Kawakami et al., 2016). They have so far generated many lines that express GFF in various embryonic tissues, including the developing inner ear.

In this paper, we describe the otic expression profile of six zebrafish transgenic lines, four gene traps and two enhancer traps, analyzed during a screen of the NIG database. These lines express GFF in distinct otic structures, such as the cristae, the maculae, the semi-circular canals, and broadly throughout the otic epithelium. Together, these lines enable the visualization of key structures and can aid future research involving the manipulation of target gene expression in a spatial manner within the developing inner ear.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Shelf screen analysis

The database at the NIG (accessible here: <u>https://ztrap.nig.ac.jp/ztrap/</u>) currently hosts 130 zebrafish transgenic lines that display GFF expression in otic tissue. In order to identify what we would consider to be the most beneficial strains for visualizing otic development, we adhered to the following criteria during our screen. First, we wanted to isolate strains that demonstrated otic expression of GFF from 24 hpf until 5 days post fertilization (5 dpf). This timeframe was chosen because it overlaps many morphological processes in the developing zebrafish ear, such as the separation of the sensory epithelia, otolith formation, and morphogenesis of the semi-circular canals. 5 dpf is also the stage at which the swim bladder has developed and zebrafish larva are capable of mature swimming, coinciding with the observation of behaviours indicative of vestibular dysfunction, such as circling, looping, and rolling (Hernandez, Galitan, Cameron, Goodwin, & Ramakrishnan, 2018; Nicolson et al., 1998). Second, we selected for strains that strongly expressed GFF in distinct otic structures or cell types relevant to vestibular function, such as within the sensory epithelia, like the cristae or the maculae, or the epithelia involved in canal morphogenesis, such as the protrusions that fuse to form the pillars of canals. This was to facilitate the observation of malformations in any of these tissues that might correlate with vestibular dysfunction. Additionally, we wanted to identify strains that alternatively demonstrated strong GFF expression throughout the otic epithelium, which would allow for modeling of the entire inner ear. This would enable the observation of gross malformations in the size or shape of the inner ear and allow for more precise computational measurements of the inner ear, such as with respect to its volume, lumenal surface area, and axial dimensions.

Through our shelf screen, we identified four gene traps (*nkgsaigff266c*, *nkgsaizgffd262a*, *nkgsaizgffm789a*, and *nkgsaizgffm1225a*) and two enhancer traps (*nkhspgff75a* and *nkhspgffdmc12a*) of interest that fulfilled our criteria. We describe their unique otic expression patterns in further detail below.

4.2.2 nkgsaigff266c

Through inverse PCR, the Kawakami laboratory at the NIG has already identified this transgenic line as a gene trap of *UDP-glucose 6-dehydrogenase* (*ugdh*) (Table 4.4.1). The enzyme encoded by this gene converts UDP-glucose to UDP-glucuronic acid, an obligate precursor for the biosynthesis of glycosaminoglycans, such as hyaluronan, heparan sulfate, and chondroitin sulfate (Casale & Crane, 2019; Egger, Chaikuad, Kavanagh, Oppermann, & Nidetzky, 2011; Egger et al., 2012). Previous work in zebrafish has shown that a loss of *ugdh* expression within the protrusions of the semi-circular canals coincides with a reduction of hyaluronan production, resulting in malformed protrusions that often fail to fuse (Busch-Nentwich, Söllner, Roehl, & Nicolson, 2004; Geng et al., 2013). Outside the inner ear, *ugdh* expression is observed from approximately 30 to 48 hpf in the fin bud, pectoral fin, pharyngeal arches, mandibular arch skeleton, muscle precursor adaxial cells, and heart tube (Busch-Nentwich et al., 2004; Walsh & Stainier, 2001).

In *nkgsaigff266c*, GFF expression in the developing ear reflects what is seen in the literature from 3-5 dpf (Table 4.4.1; Figure 4.5.1)(Busch-Nentwich et al., 2004; Geng et al., 2013). At both 3 dpf and 4 dpf, GFF is evident at the leading edge of the anterior, posterior, and ventral protrusions (Figure 4.5.1A-B'). At 5 dpf, expression is also evident within the ventral otic epithelium (Figure 4.5.1C-C'). However, from 3-5 dpf, there is additional expression in what appears to be the anterior lateral line ganglia (Figure 4.5.1A-C'). Because the *in situ* hybridization
analysis of gene expression requires a target transcript be of a high enough copy number to allow for detection, *ugdh* expression in the anterior lateral line ganglia might have been missed in previous research.

4.2.3 nkgsaizgffd262a

nkgsaizgffd262a has already been identified by the NIG as a gene trap of *otogelin* (*otog*) (Table 4.4.1). The protein encoded by this gene is a glycoprotein expressed in the hair cells and support cells of the sensory epithelia, as well as their acellular membranes (Cohen-Salmon, El-Amraoui, Leibovici, & Petit, 1997; Stooke-Vaughan, Obholzer, Baxendale, Megason, & Whitfield, 2015). Previous work has identified it as an essential component in the adherence of otolith precursor cells to the tether hair cells of the presumptive maculae, a crucial step in otolith seeding (Riley et al., 1997; Stooke-Vaughan et al., 2015). The *in situ* hybridization analysis of *otog* expression localizes it only to the developing inner ear, placing it in the presumptive maculae at the anterior and posterior poles of the otic vesicle from approximately 10 to 24 hpf (Schwarzer, Spieß, Brand, & Hans, 2017; Stooke-Vaughan et al., 2015). From 24 hpf to 4 dpf, the literature also describes the expression of *otog* in all three cristae and both maculae (Stooke-Vaughan et al., 2015).

The expression of GFF in *nkgsaizgffd262a* closely resembles *otog* expression in the literature (Table 4.4.1; Figure 4.5.2)(Schwarzer et al., 2017; Stooke-Vaughan et al., 2015). At 24 hpf, GFF is faintly expressed at the anterior and posterior poles of the otic vesicle (Figure 4.5.2A). At 48 hpf, this expression is localized to the anterior, posterior, and lateral crista primordia and the utricular macula (Figure 4.5.2B-B'). At 3, 4, and 5 dpf, expression persists in the anterior, posterior, and lateral crista and utricular macula and is also now evident at the dorsal edge of the saccule

(Figure 4.5.2C-E'). In extending our observations to 5 dpf, beyond which *otog* expression is analyzed in the literature, we also note novel *otog* expression within the eye, heart, and musculature of the torso.

4.2.4 nkgsaizgffm789a

nkgsaizgffm789a has been determined by the NIG to be a gene trap of *carbonic anhydrase* (*cahz*) (Table 4.4.1). Zebrafish *cahz* is homologous to the carbonic anhydrases found in other species, most closely resembling *CA2* in humans (Ito et al., 2013; Peterson, Tu, & Linser, 1997). *cahz* belongs to a family of zinc metalloenzymes responsible for the reversible interconversion between CO_2 and HCO_3^- , a crucial process in maintaining an alkaline endolymph pH, which directly contributes to proper otoconial/otolith composition (Maren, 1984; Peterson et al., 1997; Silverman & Lindskog, 1988). Previous work has found that *cahz* is faintly expressed in numerous cell types and tissues from the 1-cell stage up until 5 dpf in zebrafish, but it is most strongly expressed in the yolk, brain, retina, blood, pancreas, and spinal cord (Gilmour, Thomas, Esbaugh, & Perry, 2009; Greenhough et al., 2018; Kudoh et al., 2001; Li et al., 2015; Lin et al., 2008; Rauch et al., 2003).

With our analysis of *nkgsaizgffm789a*, we provide a more detailed description of *cahz*, particularly within the inner ear. From 24-48 hpf, GFF is broadly expressed throughout the otic epithelium, as well as the yolk (Table 4.4.1; Figure 4.5.3A-B). At 48 hpf, it is also evident outside the ear in the eye, brain, and spinal cord, where it persists until at least 5 dpf. By 3 dpf, this widespread expression is weaker, although it is more noticeable in some structures, such as the semi-circular canals (Figure 4.5.3C-D). At this time, it is also more strongly expressed in the anterior, posterior, and lateral cristae, as well the utricle. Widespread expression in the otic

epithelium continues to decrease at 4-5 dpf, although it is still strongly expressed in the cristae and the utricle (Figure 4.5.3E-G). By 4 dpf, expression outside the ear is also evident in the pancreas.

4.2.5 nkgsaizgffm1225a

While the insertion locus of *nkgsaizgffm1225a* has yet to be determined, GFF expression is evident in sensory and non-sensory otic tissues from 3-5 dpf (Table 4.4.1; Figure 4.5.4). At 3 dpf, GFF is expressed in the semi-circular canals, localized to the leading edge of the protrusions, where they fuse, most strongly between the lateral protrusion and the anterior and posterior protrusions (Figure 4.5.4A). Expression in the semi-circular canals continues into 4 dpf, although it is now additionally evident in what appears to be the anterior crista and possibly an anterior portion of the utricle, as well as within the otic epithelium near or at the dorsolateral septum, the partition between the anterior and posterior canals (Figure 4.5.4B). At 5dpf, GFF expression is strong in the utricle and faint within the anterior, posterior, and lateral cristae (Figure 4.5.4C-D). Additionally, expression is still evident either near or at the dorsolateral septum (Figure 4.5.4C). From 3-5 dpf, GFF expression is also weakly evident outside the ear in the eye, gut, brain, and spinal cord.

4.2.6 nkhspgff75a

The insertion for the *nkhspgff75a* enhancer trap line has been found on Chromosome 20, region 9,009,953-9,010,133 (Table 4.4.1). At 24 hpf, GFP expression is evident within the anteroventral and posterior otic vesicle, as well as in the skin and heart (Figure 4.5.5A). At 48 hpf, it is expressed in the anterior, posterior, and lateral crista primordia and the utricle (Figure 4.5.5B).

It is also still evident in the heart and skin. From 3-5 dpf, expression continues in the three cristae and the utricle, and it is weakly expressed in the saccule (Figure 4.5.5C-G'). From 3-4 dpf, it is also evident outside the ear in the heart, neuromasts of the lateral line system, retina, and musculature of the torso, although this expression pattern of GFF does not extend to 5 dpf.

4.2.7 nkhspgffdmc12a

The insertion for the *nkhspgffdmc12a* enhancer trap line has been found on Chromosome 12: 43,435,503-43,435,993 (Table 4.4.1). At 24 hpf, GFF expression is evident throughout the otic vesicle (Figure 4.5.6A). From 48 hpf to 5 dpf, GFF continues to be expressed throughout the otic epithelium, although it is significantly weaker at 5 dpf (Figure 4.5.6B-G). From 24 hpf to 5 dpf, it is also expressed strongly throughout the eye and weakly throughout the rest of the body.

4.3 Discussion

Though headway has been made in our understanding of the primary morphological steps behind the developmental programme of the inner ear, this field of research suffers from the lack of a fast and reliable way to measure the inner ear or visualize key otic structures, especially those responsible for vestibular function. Currently, the visualization of the inner ear is usually carried out with microscope techniques that generate only 2D images or the reconstruction of a 3D model of the inner ear with methods that are often laborious and time-consuming, such as magnetic resonance imaging, computed tomography, or the paint-fill technique (Agarwal et al., 2014; John P Bissonnette & Donna M Fekete, 1996; Ryan D. Hartwell et al., 2019; Jun et al., 2005; Kawashima et al., 2011; Kendi et al., 2005; Amy E. Kiernan, 2006; Martin & Swanson, 1993; Miller Bever et al., 2003; Rau et al., 2013; Whitfield et al., 2002). A possible solution to this problem is the utilization of a system that could drive target gene expression, such as a visual reporter, either throughout the otic epithelium or in distinct otic features. This would then enable more detailed measurements of the inner ear when used in conjunction with remodeling software or allow for the live time-lapse analysis of morphogenetic processes involving only specific otic features.

The Gal4/UAS system is a powerful tool for driving the expression of transgenes in a spatial and temporal manner during embryogenesis in invertebrate and vertebrate models. By utilizing the Tol2 transposon system, several gene and enhancer trap lines driving an optimized form of Gal4 (GFF) in a time and tissue specific manner have been made available by the Kawakami Laboratory at the National Institute of Genetics in Japan (accessible here: https://ztrap.nig.ac.jp/ztrap/). Each of the transgenic zebrafish selected in our screen of this database can be used for the targeted expression of fluorescent reporters to observe the

morphogenesis of inner ear structures during later stages of development. For example, both *nkgsaigff266c* and *nkgsaizgffm1225a* express GFF in the protrusions of the semi-circular canals. These transgenic lines would therefore be useful in visualizing the shape and number of these protrusions, as well as performing a time-lapse of the fusion of these protrusions as they give rise to the pillars of the canals. Additionally, because these lines are not limited to driving the tissue specific expression of visual reporters, they can also be used to drive the overexpression of genes normally transcribed in the protrusions or constructs that interfere with their transcription, translation, or activity (Chavous, Jackson, & O'Connor, 2001; Elefant & Palter, 1999; Hara et al., 2017; Scheer & Campos-Ortega, 1999). This would allow, for example, the targeted manipulation of genes localized in or around the protrusions, such as *hapln1a*, *versicana*, *versicanb*, *col2a1a*, or *has3*, which have not yet been investigated regarding their independent roles in semi-circular canal morphogenesis (Busch-Nentwich et al., 2004; Geng et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2015; Sarmah et al., 2010; van der Velden, Wang, Querol Cano, & Haramis, 2013).

There are additional avenues of research into semi-circular canal morphogenesis and other otic developmental processes made possible by the transgenic lines described in this paper. For example, *nkgsaizgffd262a*, *nkgsaizgffm789a*, *nkgsaizgffm1225a*, and *nkhspgff75a* express GFF in the cristae of the semi-circular canals and the utricle, with the addition of the saccule in *nkgsaizgffd262a* and *nkhspgff75a*. These sensory epithelia originate from one large sensory domain present early in otic development; in fact, the separation of this domain into the various sensory epithelia precedes many important morphological processes in the development of the inner ear. For example, given their role in inducing the formation of the canal ducts, the improper separation, size, or positioning of the cristae is likely to affect canal morphogenesis, such as what is seen in studies investigating the improper separation of cristae and lack of canals in *Fgf10^{-/-}*

chicks (Chang et al., 2004; Chang et al., 2008; Hammond et al., 2009; Omata et al., 2007). Not only do these transgenic lines allow for the observation of malformations involving cristae separation, size, or position under certain conditions, but they can also be used for the genetic manipulation of suspected inducers of canal morphogenesis and their potential downstream targets within the cristae.

Of course, these lines are not limited to research involving canal morphogenesis. Given the macular expression of GFF in nkgsaizgffd262a, nkgsaizgffm789a, nkgsaizgffm1225a, and *nkhspgff75a*, these lines can therefore facilitate research in the generation or tethering of the otoliths, the otolithic membranes, or the cupulae. For example, *nkgsaizgffd262a* represents a line carrying an insertion in *otogelin*, a gene that is responsible for tethering the cupulae and otolithic membranes to their underlying sensory epithelia (Stooke-Vaughan et al., 2015). GFF is therefore expressed in the same cells that express *otogelin*, such as hair cells, tether cells (precocious hair cells upon which the otolith precursor particles form), and the surrounding epithelial cells. Potential candidate genes involved with the generation, tethering, or maintenance of the cupulae, otolithic membranes, or otoliths can therefore be investigated by *nkgsaizgffd262a*, as well as nkgsaizgffm789a, nkgsaizgffm1225a, and nkhspgff75a. Furthermore, these transgenics can also be used to further research into the regenerative abilities of teleost hair cells, which have been studied in great detail in the maculae (Lombarte, Yan, Popper, Chang, & Platt, 1993; Smith, Coffin, Miller, & Popper, 2006; Sun, Lin, & Smith, 2011). Mammalian hair cells typically do not regenerate following trauma caused by ototoxic agents or noise, and the loss of inner ear hair cells is a common cause of peripheral vestibular disorders (Desmadryl, Dechesne, & Raymond, 1992; Lysakowski, 1999; Nadol Jr, 1993; Stone, Oesterle, & Rubel, 1998). These lines can therefore facilitate the investigation of candidate genes potentially involved with hair cell regeneration.

Finally, some of these transgenic lines can be used to measure the volume, lumenal surface area, or dimensions of the inner ear, as its size and shape can have a direct effect on its internal fluid dynamics and, by extension, vestibular function (Kassemi, Deserranno, & Oas, 2005; Michaels, 1987; Spoor et al., 2007). *nkgsaizgffm789a* demonstrates strong GFF expression throughout the inner ear from 24 hpf to at least 3 dpf, enough so that the protrusions and pillars of the semi-circular canals are easily visible. *nkhspgffdmc12a* likewise demonstrates strong expression throughout the otic epithelium, at least until 4 dpf. 2D confocal images of either of these lines can be reconstructed into 3D images and measured by software such as Imaris, Fiji, or Amira, which have already been used to model the brain, heart, and vasculature in zebrafish (Bloch et al., 2019; Ethell & Cameron, 2014; Goetz et al., 2014; Packard et al., 2017).

In conclusion, the transgenic lines described here demonstrate the expression of GFF in key vestibular structures over the course of inner ear development, from at least 24 hpf until 5 dpf. Therefore, they provide an opportunity to visualize these structures or manipulate the expression of target genes in a spatial manner, particularly at later stages of development, facilitating future research of several areas within the field of otic development.

4.4 Tables

Table 4.4. 1. Summary of insertion locus and otic expression patterns (24 hpf - 5 dpf) for Gal4 (GFF) driver transgenic zebrafish generated by the Kawakami laboratory at the National Institute of Genetics (NIG), Japan.

Line names	Transgenic type	Locus (gene)	Otic expression pattern
nkgsaigff266c	Gene trap	Chromosome 1: 23,294,023- 23,293,351 (<i>ugdh</i>)	 Ventral otic epithelium Semi-circular canals (protrusions)
nkgsaizgffd262a,	Gene trap	Chromosome 7: 39,536,010- 39,536,409 (<i>otog</i>)	 Anterior and posterior otic epithelium Anterior, posterior, lateral crista primordia Anterior, posterior, lateral cristae Utricular and saccular otoliths/maculae
nkgsaizgffm789a	Gene trap	Chromosome 2: 29,195,642- 29,196,354 (<i>cahz</i>)	 Throughout otic epithelium Anterior, posterior, lateral cristae Utricle
nkgsaizgffm1225a	Gene trap	Undetermined	 Semi-circular canals (protrusions, particularly where the anterior and posterior fuse with the lateral) Anterior, posterior, lateral cristae Utricle Otic epithelium near or at the dorsolateral septum
nkhspgff75a	Enhancer trap	Chromosome 20: 9,009,953-9,010,133	 Anterior and posterior otic epithelium Anterior, posterior, lateral crista primordium Anterior, posterior, lateral cristae, Utricle Possibly saccule

nkhspgffdmc12a	Enhancer trap	Chromosome 12:	 Throughout otic
		43,435,503-	epithelium
		43,435,993	

4.5 Figures



Figure 4.5. 1. Otic expression of the gene trap line *nkgsaigff266c*, which represents an insertion in *ugdh*. The anterior direction is to the left in these lateral images. Images A, B, and C are visualized solely with fluorescent microscopy; images A', B', and C' are additionally back lit with a halogen lightbulb to aid visualization of GFF expression in relation to overall otic anatomy. Expression is evident at 3 dpf (A-A') and 4 dpf (B-B') in the pillars of the semi-circular canals at the leading end of each of the (anterior, lateral, posterior, and ventral) protrusions, where they fuse; however, unlike previous descriptions of *ugdh*, expression also appears in the anterior lateral line ganglia. At 5dpf, expression is evident in the ventral otic epithelium (C-C'). Abbreviations: all, anterior lateral line ganglia; ap, anterior protrusion/fusion point; pp, posterior protrusion/fusion point.



Figure 4.5. 2. Otic expression of the gene trap line *nkgsaizgffd262a*, which represents an insertion in *otog*. The anterior direction is to the left in these lateral images (upward in dorsal images, where specified). Images A, B, C, D, and E are visualized solely with fluorescent microscopy; images B', C', and D' are additionally back lit with a halogen lightbulb to aid visualization of GFF expression in relation to overall otic anatomy. At 24 hpf, expression is evident at the anterior and posterior poles of the otic vesicle (A). At 48 hpf, expression is localized to the anterior, posterior, and lateral crista primordia and the utricular macula (B-B'). At 3 dpf (C-C'), 4 dpf (D, dorsal view), and 5 dpf (E-E'), expression persists in the anterior, posterior, and lateral crista; pc, posterior crista; ppl, posterior pole; s, saccule; u, utricle.



Figure 4.5. 3. Otic expression of the gene trap line *nkgsaizgffm789a*, which represents an insertion in *cahz*. The anterior direction is to the left in lateral images (upward in dorsal images, where specified). Images A, B, C, D, E, F, and G are visualized solely with fluorescent microscopy; image F' is additionally back lit with a halogen lightbulb to aid in visualizing GFF expression in relation to overall otic anatomy. At 24 hpf (A) and 48 hpf (B) there is broad expression throughout the otic vesicle/epithelium. At 3dpf, expression is still evident throughout the ear, but it is weaker in some areas, most notably in the dorsal region of the ear, and stronger in others, such as the cristae and utricle (C lateral view; D, dorsal view). Broad expression continues to decrease at 4 dpf (E) and 5 dpf (F-F', lateral view; G, dorsal view), but remains strong in the cristae and utricle. Abbreviations: ac, anterior crista; lc, lateral crista; ov, otic vesicle; pc, posterior crista; u, utricle.



Figure 4.5. 4. Otic expression of the gene trap line *nkgsaizgffm1225a.* The anterior direction is to the left in lateral images (upward in dorsal images, where specified). Images A, B, C, and D are visualized solely with fluorescent microscopy; image C' is additionally back lit with a halogen lightbulb to aid visualization of GFF expression in relation to overall otic anatomy. Expression is evident at 3 dpf in the pillars of the semi-circular canals where the anterior and posterior fuse with the lateral (A). Expression is still evident at 4 dpf in the pillars of the canal and is additionally in the anterior crista, utricle, and epithelium at or near the dorsolateral septum (B). At 5dpf, expression is evident in the cristae, the utricle, and at or near the dorsolateral septum (C-C', lateral view; D, dorsal view). Abbreviations: ac, anterior crista; ap, anterior protrusion/fusion point; dls, dorsolateral septum; lc, lateral crista; pc, posterior crista pp, posterior protrusion/fusion point; u, utricle.



Figure 4.5. 5. Otic expression of the enhancer trap line *nkhspgff75a.* The anterior direction is to the left in lateral images (upward in dorsal images, where specified). Images A, B, C, D, E, F, and G are visualized solely with fluorescent microscopy; images D', E', F', and G' are additionally back lit with a halogen lightbulb to aid visualization of GFF expression in relation to overall otic anatomy. At 24 hpf, expression is evident within the anteroventral and posterior otic vesicle (A). At 48 hpf, expression is evident in the crista primordia and the utricle (B). From 3 dpf (C, lateral; D-D', dorsal), 4 dpf (E-E'), and 5 dpf (F, lateral; G-G') expression is evident in the cristae, the utricle, and weakly in the saccule (Figure C-G'). Abbreviations: av, anteroventral otic vesicle; ac, anterior crista; lc, lateral crista; p, posterior otic vesicle; pc, posterior crista; s, saccule; u, utricle.



Figure 4.5. 6. Otic expression of the enhancer trap line *nkhspgffdmc12a.* The anterior direction is to the left in lateral images (upward in dorsal images, where specified). At 24 hpf, expression is evident throughout the otic vesicle (A). A 48 hpf (B), 3 dpf (C, lateral; D, dorsal), and 4 dpf (E), expression is throughout the ear. At 5 dpf, this broad expression is still evident but weaker (F, lateral view; G, dorsal view). Abbreviations: ov, otic vesicle

4.6 References

- Abbas, L., & Whitfield, T. T. (2010). 4 The zebrafish inner ear. In S. F. Perry, M. Ekker, A. P. Farrell, & C. J. Brauner (Eds.), *Fish Physiology* (Vol. 29, pp. 123-171): Academic Press.
- Agarwal, S. K., Singh, S., Ghuman, S. S., Sharma, S., & Lahiri, A. K. (2014). Radiological assessment of the Indian children with congenital sensorineural hearing loss. *International journal of otolaryngology, 2014.*
- Ahmed, M., Xu, J., & Xu, P.-X. (2012). EYA1 and SIX1 drive the neuronal developmental program in cooperation with the SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complex and SOX2 in the mammalian inner ear. *Development*, *139*(11), 1965-1977. doi:10.1242/dev.071670
- Asakawa, K., & Kawakami, K. (2009). The Tol2-mediated Gal4-UAS method for gene and enhancer trapping in zebrafish. *Methods*, 49(3), 275-281. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2009.01.004
- Asakawa, K., Suster, M. L., Mizusawa, K., Nagayoshi, S., Kotani, T., Urasaki, A., . . . Kawakami, K. (2008). Genetic dissection of neural circuits by Tol2 transposon-mediated Gal4 gene and enhancer trapping in zebrafish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 105*(4), 1255-1260. doi:10.1073/pnas.0704963105
- Bissonnette, J. P., & Fekete, D. M. (1996). Standard atlas of the gross anatomy of the developing inner ear of the chicken. *J Comp Neurol*, *368*(4), 620-630. doi:10.1002/(sici)1096-9861(19960513)368:4<620::Aid-cne12>3.0.Co;2-1
- Bissonnette, J. P., & Fekete, D. M. (1996). Standard atlas of the gross anatomy of the developing inner ear of the chicken. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *368*(4), 620-630.
- Bloch, S., Thomas, M., Colin, I., Galant, S., Machado, E., Affaticati, P., . . . Yamamoto, K. (2019). Mesencephalic origin of the inferior lobe in zebrafish. *BMC Biology*, 17(1), 22. doi:10.1186/s12915-019-0631-y
- Brand, A. H., & Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. *Development*, *118*(2), 401-415.
- Busch-Nentwich, E., Söllner, C., Roehl, H., & Nicolson, T. (2004). The deafness gene dfna5 is crucial for ugdh expression and HA production in the developing ear in zebrafish. *Development*, 131(4), 943-951.

Casale, J., & Crane, J. S. (2019). Biochemistry, Glycosaminoglycans.

- Chang, W., Brigande, J. V., Fekete, D. M., & Wu, D. K. (2004). The development of semicircular canals in the inner ear: role of FGFs in sensory cristae. *Development*, 131(17), 4201-4211. doi:10.1242/dev.01292
- Chang, W., Lin, Z., Kulessa, H., Hebert, J., Hogan, B. L. M., & Wu, D. K. (2008). Bmp4 is essential for the formation of the vestibular apparatus that detects angular head movements. *PLoS genetics*, 4(4), e1000050-e1000050. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1000050
- Chavous, D. A., Jackson, F. R., & O'Connor, C. M. (2001). Extension of the Drosophila lifespan by overexpression of a protein repair methyltransferase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 98*(26), 14814-14818. doi:10.1073/pnas.251446498
- Chen, P., Johnson, J. E., Zoghbi, H. Y., & Segil, N. (2002). The role of Math1 in inner ear development: Uncoupling the establishment of the sensory primordium from hair cell fate determination. *Development*, 129(10), 2495-2505.
- Cohen-Salmon, M., El-Amraoui, A., Leibovici, M., & Petit, C. (1997). Otogelin: a glycoprotein specific to the acellular membranes of the inner ear. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(26), 14450-14455. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.26.14450
- Desmadryl, G., Dechesne, C., & Raymond, J. (1992). Recent Aspects of Development of the Vestibular Sense Organs and their Innervation Development of Auditory and Vestibular System 2. *Romand R*.
- Duffy, J. B. (2002). GAL4 system in drosophila: A fly geneticist's swiss army knife. genesis, 34.
- Egger, S., Chaikuad, A., Kavanagh, K. L., Oppermann, U., & Nidetzky, B. (2011). Structure and mechanism of human UDP-glucose 6-dehydrogenase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(27), 23877-23887.
- Egger, S., Chaikuad, A., Klimacek, M., Kavanagh, K. L., Oppermann, U., & Nidetzky, B. (2012). Structural and kinetic evidence that catalytic reaction of human UDP-glucose 6dehydrogenase involves covalent thiohemiacetal and thioester enzyme intermediates. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(3), 2119-2129.
- Ekdale, E. G. (2016). Form and function of the mammalian inner ear. *Journal of anatomy*, 228(2), 324-337. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/joa.12308

- Elefant, F., & Palter, K. B. (1999). Tissue-specific expression of dominant negative mutant Drosophila HSC70 causes developmental defects and lethality. *Molecular biology of the cell, 10*(7), 2101-2117. doi:10.1091/mbc.10.7.2101
- Ethell, D. W., & Cameron, D. J. (2014). Imaging and 3D reconstruction of cerebrovascular structures in embryonic zebrafish. *Journal of visualized experiments: JoVE*(86).
- Fekete, D. M. (1999). Development of the vertebrate ear: insights from knockouts and mutants. *Trends Neurosci, 22*(6), 263-269. doi:10.1016/s0166-2236(98)01366-6
- Gall, J. G., & Pardue, M. L. (1969). Formation and detection of RNA-DNA hybrid molecules in cytological preparations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 63(2), 378-383. doi:10.1073/pnas.63.2.378
- Geng, F.-S., Abbas, L., Baxendale, S., Holdsworth, C. J., Swanson, A. G., Slanchev, K., . . . Whitfield, T. T. (2013). Semicircular canal morphogenesis in the zebrafish inner ear requires the function of gpr126 (lauscher), an adhesion class G protein-coupled receptor gene. *Development*, 140(21), 4362-4374. doi:10.1242/dev.098061
- Gilmour, K., Thomas, K., Esbaugh, A., & Perry, S. (2009). Carbonic anhydrase expression and CO2 excretion during early development in zebrafish Danio rerio. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 212(23), 3837-3845.
- Goetz, J. G., Steed, E., Ferreira, R. R., Roth, S., Ramspacher, C., Boselli, F., ... Vermot, J. (2014). Endothelial cilia mediate low flow sensing during zebrafish vascular development. *Cell Rep*, 6(5), 799-808. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2014.01.032
- Greenhough, A., Bagley, C., Heesom, K. J., Gurevich, D. B., Gay, D., Bond, M., . . . Sansom, O. J. (2018). Cancer cell adaptation to hypoxia involves a HIF-GPRC5A-YAP axis. *EMBO molecular medicine*, 10(11), e8699.
- Hain, T. C., & Helminski, J. O. (2007). Anatomy and physiology of the normal vestibular system. *Vestibular rehabilitation*, 1(1), 2.
- Hammond, K. L., Loynes, H. E., Mowbray, C., Runke, G., Hammerschmidt, M., Mullins, M. C., ... Whitfield, T. T. (2009). A Late Role for bmp2b in the Morphogenesis of Semicircular Canal Ducts in the Zebrafish Inner Ear. *PloS one*, 4(2), e4368. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0004368
- Hans, S., & Westerfield, M. (2007). Changes in retinoic acid signaling alter otic patterning. *Development*, 134(13), 2449-2458. doi:10.1242/dev.000448

- Hara, C., Morishita, K., Takayanagi-Kiya, S., Mikami, A., Uchino, K., Sakurai, T., . . . Kiya, T. (2017). Refinement of ectopic protein expression through the GAL4/UAS system in Bombyx mori: application to behavioral and developmental studies. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 11795. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-12102-2
- Harrison, P. R., Conkie, D., Paul, J., & Jones, K. (1973). Localisation of cellular globin messenger RNA by in situ hybridisation to complementary DNA. *FEBS Letters*, 32(1), 109-112. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(73)80749-5</u>
- Hartwell, R. D., England, S. J., Monk, N. A., Van Hateren, N. J., Baxendale, S., Marzo, M., . . .
 Whitfield, T. T. (2019). Anteroposterior patterning of the zebrafish ear through Fgf-and Hh-dependent regulation of hmx3a expression. *PLoS genetics*, *15*(4), e1008051.
- Hartwell, R. D., England, S. J., Monk, N. A. M., Van Hateren, N. J., Baxendale, S., Marzo, M., . . Whitfield, T. T. (2019). Anteroposterior patterning of the zebrafish ear through Fgfand Hh-dependent regulation of hmx3a expression. *PLoS genetics*, 15(4), e1008051. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1008051
- Hernandez, R. E., Galitan, L., Cameron, J., Goodwin, N., & Ramakrishnan, L. (2018). Delay of Initial Feeding of Zebrafish Larvae Until 8 Days Postfertilization Has No Impact on Survival or Growth Through the Juvenile Stage. *Zebrafish*, 15(5), 515-518. doi:10.1089/zeb.2018.1579
- Hwang, C. H., Simeone, A., Lai, E., & Wu, D. K. (2009). Foxg1 is required for proper separation and formation of sensory cristae during inner ear development. *Developmental dynamics: an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists, 238*(11), 2725-2734.
- Ito, Y., Kobayashi, S., Nakamura, N., Esaki, M., Miyagi, H., Hoshijima, K., & Hirose, S. (2013). Close Association of Carbonic Anhydrase (CA2a and CA15a), Na+/H+ Exchanger (Nhe3b), and Ammonia Transporter Rhcg1 in Zebrafish Ionocytes Responsible for Na+ Uptake. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 4(59). doi:10.3389/fphys.2013.00059
- Jones, K. W., & Robertson, F. W. (1970). Localisation of reiterated nucleotide sequences in Drosophila and mouse by in situ hybridisation of complementary RNA. *Chromosoma*, 31(3), 331-345. doi:10.1007/bf00321229
- Jun, B. C., Song, S. W., Cho, J. E., Park, C. S., Lee, D. H., Chang, K. H., & Yeo, S. W. (2005). Three-dimensional reconstruction based on images from spiral high-resolution computed tomography of the temporal bone: anatomy and clinical application. *J Laryngol Otol*, 119(9), 693-698. doi:10.1258/0022215054797862
- Kakidani, H., & Ptashne, M. (1988). GAL4 activates gene expression in mammalian cells. *Cell*, *52*(2), 161-167. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(88)90504-1

- Kassemi, M., Deserranno, D., & Oas, J. G. (2005). Fluid–structural interactions in the inner ear. *Computers & Structures*, 83(2), 181-189. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compstruc.2004.08.001
- Kaufman, M. (1992). The atlas of mouse development: London: Academic Press.
- Kawakami, K., Asakawa, K., Hibi, M., Itoh, M., Muto, A., & Wada, H. (2016). Chapter Three -Gal4 Driver Transgenic Zebrafish: Powerful Tools to Study Developmental Biology, Organogenesis, and Neuroscience. In N. S. Foulkes (Ed.), *Advances in Genetics* (Vol. 95, pp. 65-87): Academic Press.
- Kawashima, Y., Géléoc, G. S., Kurima, K., Labay, V., Lelli, A., Asai, Y., . . . Holt, J. R. (2011). Mechanotransduction in mouse inner ear hair cells requires transmembrane channel–like genes. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *121*(12), 4796-4809.
- Kendi, T. K., Arikan, O. K., & Koc, C. (2005). Volume of components of labyrinth: magnetic resonance imaging study. *Otology & Neurotology*, *26*(4), 778-781.
- Kiernan, A. E. (2006). The paintfill method as a tool for analyzing the three-dimensional structure of the inner ear. *Brain Research*, 1091(1), 270-276. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2006.02.037</u>
- Kiernan, A. E., Pelling, A. L., Leung, K. K., Tang, A. S., Bell, D. M., Tease, C., . . . Cheah, K. S. (2005). Sox2 is required for sensory organ development in the mammalian inner ear. *Nature*, 434(7036), 1031-1035. doi:10.1038/nature03487
- Koga, A., Iida, A., Hori, H., Shimada, A., & Shima, A. (2006). Vertebrate DNA transposon as a natural mutator: the medaka fish Tol2 element contributes to genetic variation without recognizable traces. *Mol Biol Evol*, 23(7), 1414-1419. doi:10.1093/molbev/msl003
- Kopecky, B., Johnson, S., Schmitz, H., Santi, P., & Fritzsch, B. (2012). Scanning thin-sheet laser imaging microscopy elucidates details on mouse ear development. *Developmental dynamics : an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists, 241*(3), 465-480. doi:10.1002/dvdy.23736
- Kudoh, T., Tsang, M., Hukriede, N. A., Chen, X., Dedekian, M., Clarke, C. J., . . . Toyama, R. (2001). A gene expression screen in zebrafish embryogenesis. *Genome research*, 11(12), 1979-1987.
- Kwon, H.-J., Bhat, N., Sweet, E. M., Cornell, R. A., & Riley, B. B. (2010). Identification of early requirements for preplacodal ectoderm and sensory organ development. *PLoS genetics*, 6(9), e1001133-e1001133. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1001133

- Lee, H.-C., Lo, H.-C., Lo, D.-M., Su, M.-Y., Hu, J.-R., Wu, C.-C., . . . Tsai, H.-J. (2015). Amiodarone Induces Overexpression of Similar to Versican b to Repress the EGFR/Gsk3b/Snail Signaling Axis during Cardiac Valve Formation of Zebrafish Embryos. *PloS one, 10*(12), e0144751. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0144751
- Li, W.-H., Zhou, L., Li, Z., Wang, Y., Shi, J.-T., Yang, Y.-J., & Gui, J.-F. (2015). Zebrafish Lbhlike is required for Otx2-mediated photoreceptor differentiation. *International journal of biological sciences*, 11(6), 688.
- Lin, T.-Y., Liao, B.-K., Horng, J.-L., Yan, J.-J., Hsiao, C.-D., & Hwang, P.-P. (2008). Carbonic anhydrase 2-like a and 15a are involved in acid-base regulation and Na+ uptake in zebrafish H+-ATPase-rich cells. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 294(5), C1250-C1260.
- Lombarte, A., Yan, H. Y., Popper, A. N., Chang, J. S., & Platt, C. (1993). Damage and regeneration of hair cell ciliary bundles in a fish ear following treatment with gentamicin. *Hearing Research*, *64*(2), 166-174. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5955(93)90002-I
- Lysakowski, A. (1999). Development of synaptic innervation in the rodent utricle. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 871, 422.
- Mansour, S. L., Goddard, J. M., & Capecchi, M. R. (1993). Mice homozygous for a targeted disruption of the proto-oncogene int-2 have developmental defects in the tail and inner ear. *Development*, 117(1), 13-28. Retrieved from https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/117/1/13.full.pdf
- Maren, T. H. (1984). The General Physiology of Reactions Catalyzed by Carbonic Anhydrase and Their Inhibition by Sulfonamides a. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 429(1), 568-579.
- Maroon, H., Walshe, J., Mahmood, R., Kiefer, P., Dickson, C., & Mason, I. (2002). Fgf3 and Fgf8 are required together for formation of the otic placode and vesicle. *Development*, *129*(9), 2099-2108.
- Martin, P., & Swanson, G. J. (1993). Descriptive and experimental analysis of the epithelial remodellings that control semicircular canal formation in the developing mouse inner ear. *Developmental Biology*, *159*(2), 549-558.
- McCarroll, M. N., Lewis, Z. R., Culbertson, M. D., Martin, B. L., Kimelman, D., & Nechiporuk, A. V. (2012). Graded levels of Pax2a and Pax8 regulate cell differentiation during sensory placode formation. *Development*, 139(15), 2740-2750. doi:10.1242/dev.076075

- Mescher, A. (2010). Chapter 23. The eye and ear: special sense organs. *Junqueira's basic histology: text & atlas.*
- Michaels, L. (1987). Malformations and Congenital Lesions of the Inner Ear. In *Ear, Nose and Throat Histopathology* (pp. 77-87): Springer.
- Miller Bever, M., Jean, Y. Y., & Fekete, D. M. (2003). Three-dimensional morphology of inner ear development in Xenopus laevis. *Developmental dynamics: an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists, 227*(3), 422-430.
- Nadol Jr, J. B. (1993). Hearing loss. New England Journal of Medicine, 329(15), 1092-1102.
- Nichols, D. H., Pauley, S., Jahan, I., Beisel, K. W., Millen, K. J., & Fritzsch, B. (2008). Lmx1a is required for segregation of sensory epithelia and normal ear histogenesis and morphogenesis. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 334(3), 339-358. doi:10.1007/s00441-008-0709-2
- Nicolson, T., Rüsch, A., Friedrich, R. W., Granato, M., Ruppersberg, J. P., & Nüsslein-Volhard, C. (1998). Genetic Analysis of Vertebrate Sensory Hair Cell Mechanosensation: the Zebrafish Circler Mutants. *Neuron*, 20(2), 271-283. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80455-9</u>
- Ohyama, T., Mohamed, O. A., Taketo, M. M., Dufort, D., & Groves, A. K. (2006). Wnt signals mediate a fate decision between otic placode and epidermis. *Development*, 133(5), 865. doi:10.1242/dev.02271
- Omata, Y., Nojima, Y., Nakayama, S., Okamoto, H., Nakamura, H., & Funahashi, J. i. (2007). Role of Bone morphogenetic protein 4 in zebrafish semicircular canal development. *Development, Growth & Differentiation, 49*(9), 711-719. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-169X.2007.00964.x
- Packard, R. R. S., Baek, K. I., Beebe, T., Jen, N., Ding, Y., Shi, F., . . . Hsiai, T. K. (2017). Automated Segmentation of Light-Sheet Fluorescent Imaging to Characterize Experimental Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiac Injury and Repair. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 8603. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-09152-x
- Pan, N., Jahan, I., Kersigo, J., Kopecky, B., Santi, P., Johnson, S., . . . Fritzsch, B. (2011). Conditional deletion of Atoh1 using Pax2-Cre results in viable mice without differentiated cochlear hair cells that have lost most of the organ of Corti. *Hear Res*, 275(1-2), 66-80. doi:10.1016/j.heares.2010.12.002
- Pan, W., Jin, Y., Chen, J., Rottier, R. J., Steel, K. P., & Kiernan, A. E. (2013). Ectopic Expression of Activated Notch or SOX2 Reveals Similar and Unique Roles in the

Development of the Sensory Cell Progenitors in the Mammalian Inner Ear. *The Journal* of Neuroscience, 33(41), 16146-16157. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.3150-12.2013

- Paterson, N. F. (1949). The development of the inner ear of Xenopus laevis. *Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London, 119*(2), 269-291. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1096-3642.1949.tb00878.x</u>
- Pauley, S., Wright, T. J., Pirvola, U., Ornitz, D., Beisel, K., & Fritzsch, B. (2003). Expression and function of FGF10 in mammalian inner ear development. *Dev Dyn*, 227(2), 203-215. doi:10.1002/dvdy.10297
- Peterson, R. E., Tu, C., & Linser, P. J. (1997). Isolation and Characterization of a Carbonic Anhydrase Homologue from the Zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Journal of Molecular Evolution*, 44(4), 432-439. doi:10.1007/PL00006163
- Petrovic, J., Formosa-Jordan, P., Luna-Escalante, J. C., Abelló, G., Ibañes, M., Neves, J., & Giraldez, F. (2014). Ligand-dependent Notch signaling strength orchestrates lateral induction and lateral inhibition in the developing inner ear. *Development*, 141(11), 2313-2324. doi:10.1242/dev.108100
- Purves, D., Augustine, G., Fitzpatrick, D., Katz, L., LaMantia, A., McNamara, J., & Williams, S. (2001). The Otolith Organs: The Utricle and Sacculus. *Neuroscience*.
- Rau, T. S., Würfel, W., Lenarz, T., & Majdani, O. (2013). Three-dimensional histological specimen preparation for accurate imaging and spatial reconstruction of the middle and inner ear. *Int J Comput Assist Radiol Surg*, 8(4), 481-509. doi:10.1007/s11548-013-0825-7
- Rauch, G., Lyons, D., Middendorf, I., Friedlander, B., Arana, N., Reyes, T., & Talbot, W. (2003). Submission and curation of gene expression data. *ZFIN direct data submission*.
- Riley, B. B., & Moorman, S. J. (2000). Development of utricular otoliths, but not saccular otoliths, is necessary for vestibular function and survival in zebrafish. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 43(4), 329-337. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-</u> <u>4695(20000615)43:4</u><329::AID-NEU2>3.0.CO;2-H
- Riley, B. B., Zhu, C., Janetopoulos, C., & Aufderheide, K. J. (1997). A Critical Period of Ear Development Controlled by Distinct Populations of Ciliated Cells in the Zebrafish. *Developmental Biology*, 191(2), 191-201. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1997.8736</u>
- Sarmah, S., Barrallo-Gimeno, A., Melville, D. B., Topczewski, J., Solnica-Krezel, L., & Knapik, E. W. (2010). Sec24D-Dependent Transport of Extracellular Matrix Proteins Is Required

for Zebrafish Skeletal Morphogenesis. *PloS one, 5*(4), e10367. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0010367

- Scheer, N., & Campos-Ortega, J. A. (1999). Use of the Gal4-UAS technique for targeted gene expression in the zebrafish. *Mechanisms of Development*, 80(2), 153-158. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4773(98)00209-3</u>
- Schlosser, G., & Northcutt, R. G. (2000). Development of neurogenic placodes in Xenopus laevis. J Comp Neurol, 418(2), 121-146.
- Schwarzer, S., Spieß, S., Brand, M., & Hans, S. (2017). Dlx3b/4b is required for early-born but not later-forming sensory hair cells during zebrafish inner ear development. *Biology Open*, 6(9), 1270-1278. doi:10.1242/bio.026211
- Silverman, D. N., & Lindskog, S. (1988). The catalytic mechanism of carbonic anhydrase: implications of a rate-limiting protolysis of water. *Accounts of Chemical Research*, 21(1), 30-36.
- Sisneros, J. A., & Rogers, P. H. (2016). Directional Hearing and Sound Source Localization in Fishes. In (pp. 121-155): Springer International Publishing.
- Smith, M. E., Coffin, A. B., Miller, D. L., & Popper, A. N. (2006). Anatomical and functional recovery of the goldfish (Carassius auratus) ear following noise exposure. *J Exp Biol*, 209(Pt 21), 4193-4202. doi:10.1242/jeb.02490
- Spoor, F., Garland, T., Jr., Krovitz, G., Ryan, T. M., Silcox, M. T., & Walker, A. (2007). The primate semicircular canal system and locomotion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104(26), 10808-10812. doi:10.1073/pnas.0704250104
- Steventon, B., Mayor, R., & Streit, A. (2012). Mutual repression between Gbx2 and Otx2 in sensory placodes reveals a general mechanism for ectodermal patterning. *Developmental Biology*, 367(1), 55-65.
- Stone, J. S., Oesterle, E. C., & Rubel, E. W. (1998). Recent insights into regeneration of auditory and vestibular hair cells. *Current opinion in neurology*, 11(1), 17-24.
- Stooke-Vaughan, G. A., Obholzer, N. D., Baxendale, S., Megason, S. G., & Whitfield, T. T. (2015). Otolith tethering in the zebrafish otic vesicle requires Otogelin and α-Tectorin. *Development*, 142(6), 1137-1145. doi:10.1242/dev.116632
- Stuart, G. W., McMurray, J. V., & Westerfield, M. (1988). Replication, integration and stable germ-line transmission of foreign sequences injected into early zebrafish embryos. *Development*, 103(2), 403-412.

- Sun, H., Lin, C. H., & Smith, M. E. (2011). Growth hormone promotes hair cell regeneration in the zebrafish (Danio rerio) inner ear following acoustic trauma. *PloS one*, 6(11), e28372. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0028372
- Tanimoto, M., Ota, Y., Inoue, M., & Oda, Y. (2011). Origin of Inner Ear Hair Cells: Morphological and Functional Differentiation from Ciliary Cells into Hair Cells in Zebrafish Inner Ear. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(10), 3784-3794. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.5554-10.2011
- van der Velden, Y. U., Wang, L., Querol Cano, L., & Haramis, A.-P. G. (2013). The Polycomb Group Protein Ring1b/Rnf2 Is Specifically Required for Craniofacial Development. *PloS* one, 8(9), e73997. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0073997
- Walsh, E. C., & Stainier, D. Y. (2001). UDP-glucose dehydrogenase required for cardiac valve formation in zebrafish. *Science*, 293(5535), 1670-1673.
- Waterman, R. E., & Bell, D. H. (1984). Epithelial fusion during early semicircular canal formation in the embryonic zebrafish, Brachydanio rerio. *The Anatomical Record*, 210(1), 101-114.
- Waterman, R. E., & Bell, D. H. (1984). Epithelial fusion during early semicircular canal formation in the embryonic zebrafish, Brachydanio rerio. *Anat Rec*, 210(1), 101-114. doi:10.1002/ar.1092100113
- Webster, N., Jin, J. R., Green, S., Hollis, M., & Chambon, P. (1988). The yeast UASG is a transcriptional enhancer in human HeLa cells in the presence of the GAL4 transactivator. *Cell*, *52*(2), 169-178. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(88)90505-3
- Whitfield, T. T., Riley, B. B., Chiang, M.-Y., & Phillips, B. (2002). Development of the zebrafish inner ear. *Developmental dynamics*, 223(4), 427-458. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.10073</u>
- Xu, P. X., Adams, J., Peters, H., Brown, M. C., Heaney, S., & Maas, R. (1999). Eya1-deficient mice lack ears and kidneys and show abnormal apoptosis of organ primordia. *Nat Genet*, 23(1), 113-117. doi:10.1038/12722
- Zheng, W., Huang, L., Wei, Z. B., Silvius, D., Tang, B., & Xu, P. X. (2003). The role of Six1 in mammalian auditory system development. *Development*, 130(17), 3989-4000. doi:10.1242/dev.00628
- Zou, D., Erickson, C., Kim, E. H., Jin, D., Fritzsch, B., & Xu, P. X. (2008). Eya1 gene dosage critically affects the development of sensory epithelia in the mammalian inner ear. *Hum Mol Genet*, 17(21), 3340-3356. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddn229

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Directions

Previous research has identified several causative factors contributing to the agenesis or dysgenesis of inner ear structures, such as those required for vestibular function. However, a large body of this work has relied on research involving disruptions to the expression or activity of genes implicated in the earliest stages of otic development, including those involved with the metabolism of Retinoic Acid (RA), a crucial signaling molecule in embryogenesis (Karen Niederreither, Subbarayan, Dollé, & Chambon, 1999; Ono, Keller, et al., 2020; Ono, Sandell, Trainor, & Wu, 2020). To investigate the role RA plays in later stages of otic development in the absence of earlier disruptions to this signaling pathway, we observed for changes in inner ear morphogenesis following late exposure to an RA agonist or antagonist in zebrafish, which share similar anatomy and function of their vestibular apparatuses to other vertebrates (Abbas & Whitfield, 2010; Baxendale & Whitfield, 2014). By utilizing this method, we identified a late role for RA signaling in canal morphogenesis and otolith maintenance. To aid future research in the analysis of later stages of inner ear development, we also performed a shelf screen at the National Institute of Genetics in Japan to analyze zebrafish gene or enhancer trap lines expressing a zebrafish-optimized form of yeast Gal4 in various tissues of the developing ear. We then identified six transgenic lines that could be used to visualize distinct vestibular features of the inner ear or manipulate target gene expression in these structures.

5.1. Retinoic acid signaling in later stages of inner ear development

Many studies approach research into congenital disorders with the intention of determining the key disrupted function of the gene(s) presumed to be responsible for a given disease phenotype. However, while a fraction of genes can appear to control a single characteristic or biological process, more complicated genetic phenomena can impede research into determining the various roles that a gene might play in the development of a disease phenotype. For example, a pleiotropic gene can affect two or more seemingly unrelated traits, either because the product it encodes is utilized in different ways or because it encodes multiple gene products (He & Zhang, 2006; Plate, 1910). Epistasis can further confound these studies given the many ways in which the phenotype generated by mutations in one gene can depend in a complicated way on the phenotype generated by others (Bateson, 1902). Both of these phenomena touch upon the difficulty in determining how many genes are implicated in a particular phenotype, which genes are involved, and how their gene products might interact to generate that phenotype. This process is further complicated by the spatiotemporal variations in the expression of a gene, which can confound our understanding of its function between different tissues or developmental stages.

However, these complications are not always taken into consideration when determining the full array of biological functions that a gene product can perform, either alone or in participation with others. For example, while lethal mutations or mutations that result in the initial agenesis or dysgenesis of certain tissues are useful in identifying essential genes in embryogenesis, they can prevent the analysis of gene function at later stages of development. A more detailed example is *sine oculis* (*so*), a member of the SIX family of transcription factors required for eye development discovered during an enhancer trap screen in Drosophila (Cheyette et al., 1994). Mutations in *so* demonstrate an increase in cell death within the eye primordia and result in eyeless flies, preventing the identification of other potential functions of this gene at later stages of eye development. It was only through the later use of a conditional gene knockout generated with the Flp-FRT site-directed recombination system in differentiated cells that the postmitoic roles for *so* could be ascertained, such as its requirement in cone cell development and interommatidial bristle differentiation (Jin et al., 2016). Studies such as these emphasize the need for utilizing tools to analyze the full array of a gene's function, particularly at later stages of a tissue's development, in the absence of any earlier defects generated by that gene's dysfunction.

Of course, this difficulty in determining late phenotypes in embryogenesis is not restricted to single genes. A few key signaling pathways act repeatedly in different tissues and at different developmental stages to control the expression of a large suite of genes. The benefit to an organism in utilizing cell signaling pathways during embryogenesis is that they independently often target the same subset of genes responsible for the same biological process in different tissues across development, ensuring that these gene are expressed together precisely when and where they need to be. A disadvantage to this is that the misregulated expression of a few of these target genes could result in embryonic death or produce early and robust phenotypes in a tissue that obscure those that might appear later. Therefore, disturbances to a signaling pathway can have multiple downstream effects, making it difficult to elucidate the many transcriptional targets of a signaling pathway over the course of a tissue's development and hindering the identification of which targets are the true causative factors behind certain disease phenotypes.

This problem applies to the Retinoic Acid (RA) signaling pathway, which utilizes RA, a derivative of vitamin A, to control gene expression (Ghyselinck & Duester, 2019). The discovery of this pathway began in the late 1950s, where it was observed that administering large doses of vitamin A to mammals during pregnancy had widespread teratogenic effects on their offspring (Cohlan, 1953; Giroud & Martinet, 1959). These initial experiments demonstrated that an overexposure to retinoids resulted in a lower birth rate and malformations of the head, such as a cleft palate, an enlargement of the tongue, an extrusion of the brain, and gross defects of the eye, already implicating it in the development of various embryonic tissues (Cohlan, 1953). Since then, further research has uncovered the more precise biological processes that the RA signaling

pathway is involved in, such as proliferation, apoptosis, and differentiation, and determined that it partakes in the development of several additional tissues (Clagett-Dame & DeLuca, 2002; Clagett-Dame & Knutson, 2011; Collop et al., 2006; Diez del Corral et al., 2003; Encinas, Iglesias, Llecha, & Comella, 1999; Falasca, Favale, Gualandi, Maietta, & Devirgiliis, 1998; Glover, Renaud, & Rijli, 2006; Jimenez-Lara, Clarke, Altucci, & Gronemeyer, 2004; Kelley, Turner, & Reh, 1994; Kholodenko et al., 2007; Lin et al., 2010; Lupo et al., 2011; Maden, Gale, Kostetskii, & Zile, 1996; K. Niederreither et al., 2001; Oström et al., 2008; van Noesel & Versteeg, 2004; Wolf, 2008; Zhang, Satyamoorthy, Herlyn, & Rosdahl, 2003). This includes the vertebrate inner ear, where previous work demonstrates that an overexposure to retinoids can lead to inner ear defects ranging from an otic vesicle/otocyst void of identifiable vestibular structures to more singular malformations of the semi-circular canals, maculae, and vestibulocochlear nerve (Burk & Willhite, 1992; Frenz, Liu, Galinovic-Schwartz, & Van De Water, 1996; Granström, 1990; Jarvis, Johnston, & Sulik, 1990). Animal models of vitamin A deficiency also present a range of vestibular defects, from no otic vesicle to misplaced or enlarged otic vesicles, epithelial atrophy, and missing or reduced otoliths (Chole & Quick, 1976; Kil et al., 2005; Romand et al., 2013; White, Highland, Kaiser, & Clagett-Dame, 2000). However, given the number of otic phenotypes generated by disruptions to the RA pathway, it is not sufficient to assume that these are merely the downstream consequences of earlier perturbations to the developmental programme of the inner ear.

For example, pharmacological treatments in zebrafish at 40% epiboly, near the end of the Blastula period, demonstrate that a reduction in RA signaling results in smaller otic vesicles, smaller and fewer otoliths, and reduced or 'impaired' protrusions of the semi-circular canals, whereas an overexposure to RA results in an enlarged vesicle and a greater number of both otoliths and protrusions (Hans & Westerfield, 2007). It might therefore be assumed that canal

malformations and protrusion defects can be partially attributed to the size of the vesicle, given that an early role for RA is determining the number of cells that are competent to adopt an otic fate. At least with respect to smaller otic vesicles, a reduction in the size of the otic epithelium might not allow for a large enough dedicated region for the development of these protrusions or the epithelium responsible for separating them, resulting in fewer protrusions overall. Additionally, canal malformations might be attributed to the fact that RA signaling restricts *otx1b* expression in the otic vesicle, a transcription factor that has been implicated in the evolution of the third (lateral) semi-circular canal (Hammond & Whitfield, 2006; Maier & Whitfield, 2014). However, because otx1b is expected to promote the formation of a third canal, it is therefore curious that an early reduction in RA signaling in zebrafish results in fewer protrusions, while treatment with excess RA instead increases the number of protrusions (Hans & Westerfield, 2007). Considering it was only recently discovered that there is expression of *OtxA* within the ventral domain of the otic vesicle in lamprey, which lack a lateral canal, this then suggests that the OTX family of transcription factors are not the sole factors responsible for the development of additional canals (Higuchi et al., 2019). This has left a gap in the literature for understanding the precise mechanism by which RA signaling is involved in canal morphogenesis.

The search for RA-responsive factors that impact semi-circular canal morphogenesis is therefore aided by our work. We determined that embryos treated with RA agonists or antagonists from 28 hpf onward continue to demonstrate malformations of the canals, indicating that the dysgenesis of these vestibular structures observed with either a vitamin A deficiency or an overexposure to retinoids are not only due to early disruptions to this pathway during otic development. These phenotypes include both the peculiar branching formation observed with a reduction or increase in RA signaling, as well as a change in the axial ratio observed with excess RA exposure. Our work also identified RA-responsive genes known to be involved in remodeling of the extracellular matrix that could be contributing to our observed canal phenotypes, *hapln1a*, *has3*, *ugdh*, and *vcana* (Cañibano-Hernández et al., 2019; Gesteira et al., 2017; Goodwin, Ahmed, & Xia, 2019; Takabe et al., 2015; Teoh, Ogrodzinski, & Lunt, 2020). As these genes have yet to be investigated for their individual roles in canal morphogenesis, a possible avenue of future research is the observation for canal phenotypes in the independent mutant models of these genes or following their overexpression.

However, the link between the canal phenotypes observed in our work and late perturbations to RA signaling represent only one example of a novel role for RA signaling in later stages of otic development. Previous work demonstrates that early disruptions of RA signaling also result in otolith defects, those being a reduction in the size and number of otoliths with ablated RA signaling and an increase in the number of otoliths with increased RA signaling (Hans & Westerfield, 2007; Romand et al., 2013). There are many reasons why these phenotypes may occur. For example, previous research has found that RA promotes sensory fates in the anteroventral sensory domain of the otic vesicle, which gives rise to the support cells and sensory hair cells that comprise the sensory epithelia of the inner ear, including the maculae (Maier & Whitfield, 2014; Raft et al., 2007; Satoh & Fekete, 2005). It is upon the kinocilia of the first hair cells that appear in the presumptive utricular and saccular maculae that otolith precursor particles tether and growth, a process that begins at approximately 18 hpf in zebrafish (Riley, Zhu, Janetopoulos, & Aufderheide, 1997; Tanimoto, Ota, Inoue, & Oda, 2011). Seeding particles continue to coalesce with these precursor particles, greatly increasing the size of the otoliths until 24 hpf, at which point their growth rate decreases by approximately 90% (Riley et al., 1997). Because disruptions to RA signaling could impact the timing of hair cell development and number of hair cells that appear in the sensory domain, this could interfere with the initial tethering and formation of the otoliths. Additionally, early disruptions to RA signaling have demonstrated that a reduction in RA results in the failed separation between the utricle and the saccule, implying that the reduced number of otoliths could be attributed to there being only one fused maculae upon which an otolith can form (Ono, Sandell, et al., 2020; Romand et al., 2013). The loss of otoconia with RA deficiency could also be attributed to the reduced expression of *Otopetrin1*, an RA-responsive gene responsible for calcium regulation during otolith mineralization (Kim et al., 2010; Romand et al., 2013). However, these collective works implicitly suggest that these otolith defects are due to early disruptions in RA signaling.

Our work demonstrates that otolith defects can also be a result of later disruptions to RA signaling during otic development, particularly the reduction in otolith size and number observed with vitamin A deficiency. Through our work, we have shown that treating embryos with RA agonists or antagonists from 28 hpf onward bypasses both the initial formation of the otoliths and the period of their highest growth rate, thereby allowing for the identification of RA-responsive factors that are involved in otolith maintenance. We determined that one potentially contributing factor in this process is *starmaker (stm)*, which is already known to be involved with otolith nucleation and regulation of otolith composition (Kalka et al., 2019; Söllner et al., 2003). Curiously, it is difficult to discern if *stm* expression is responsive to early perturbations in RA signaling, at least until 28 hpf, as early research into this pathway's role in otic patterning used *stm* expression to mark the initial size of the otic vesicle (Hans & Westerfield, 2007). Unlike previous work, we observe a noticeable decrease in the intensity of *stm* expression rather than merely a reduction in the 'area' of expression, a phenotype that is presumably the indirect effect of a

reduction in inner ear size, implying that *stm* might be uniquely RA-responsive at later stages of otic development.

In conclusion, our work emphasizes the importance of studying the role genetic factors, such as the RA signaling pathway, play at later stages of development without disrupting their expression or activity at earlier stages. However, because the independent analysis of known otic markers via *in situ* hybridization does not reveal the full scope of biological processes that RA signaling regulates, a more prudent search for late RA-responsive transcriptional targets could be achieved through the RNA-sequence (RNA-seq) analysis of dissected ears comparing wild type larvae to those treated with either an RA agonist or antagonist. Additionally, while we found no changes in apoptosis or cell proliferation over the course of canal morphogenesis, other biological processes, such as cell adhesion, migration, survival, or differentiation, should be investigated between treatment groups to better determine how changes in RA signaling generate the canal malformations observed in our work.

5.2. The utilization of transgenic lines in the visualization of vestibular structures

One of the difficulties in studying otic development is the lack of a reliable way to visualize and measure inner ear structures. While robust phenotypes that disrupt the size or shape of the whole inner ear or key internal structures can be observed under a stereoscope or by more specialized techniques, like differential interference contrast microscopy, often only 2D images can be generated of these features (Hans & Westerfield, 2007; Whitfield, Riley, Chiang, & Phillips, 2002). Paint-filling the inner ear is a popular technique for generating 3D models of the lumenal space, but this is a laborious technique that can require multiple injection sites into the ear, which are prone to leakage, and does not allow for the greatest resolution of small inner ear features
(Bissonnette & Fekete, 1996; Kiernan, 2006; Martin & Swanson, 1993; Miller Bever, Jean, & Fekete, 2003). Finally, while the *in situ* hybridization analysis of genes known to be expressed in specific otic structures can allow for the observation of key structures or cell types, this method is also laborious and time-consuming, and it requires that the target transcripts be of a high enough copy number to allow for detection (Gall & Pardue, 1969; Harrison, Conkie, Paul, & Jones, 1973; Jones & Robertson, 1970). Furthermore, this method relies on the unaltered expression pattern of these genes under the conditions studied, requiring previous knowledge of their regulation. Therefore, there is a need for the development of genetic tools that would allow for a more easy and precise way to visualize inner ear structures.

Currently, a popular method for the *in vivo* observation of gene expression or the morphogenesis of select tissues in vertebrate and invertebrate models is the Gal4-UAS system, which uses a yeast transcription activator protein (Gal4) and its targeted upstream activator sequence (UAS) to drive the expression of a target gene, such as a visual reporter like GFP (Brand & Perrimon, 1993; Duffy, 2002; Kakidani & Ptashne, 1988; Webster, Jin, Green, Hollis, & Chambon, 1988). The Kawakami laboratory at the National Institute of Genetics (Japan) has utilized the Tol2 transposon system to generate various gene and enhancer trap lines in zebrafish that drive Gal4 expression in a temporal and tissue specific manner. Therefore, we performed a screen at their institute to identify transgenic lines with distinct otic Gal4 expression patterns, with the intent of describing strains that could be used by zebrafish researchers to visualize key inner ear structures, particularly at later stages of development.

During this screen, we were particularly interested in identifying strains with expression during later stages of otic development, particularly from 24 hpf to 5 dpf, to facilitate the observation of the key vestibular apparatuses that form and are refined during this timeframe. One of the enhancer traps selected in this screen, *nkhspgffdmc12a*, demonstrated strong expression throughout the otic epithelium, especially in the protrusions of the semi-circular canals and the fused pillars. In Chapter 3, we demonstrated that by using imaging software like Imaris, reliable 3D reconstructions of the lumenal space of the inner ear could be made from confocal images of this transgenic line, at least at 3 dpf. We also identified transgenic lines, such as the gene traps *nkgsaigff266c* and *nkgsaizgffm1225a*, that demonstrate expression at the protrusions of the semi-circular canals, allowing for the more precise analysis of protrusion formation and fusion. *nkgsaizgffm1225a*, as well as *nkgsaizgffd262a*, *nkgsaizgffm789a*, and *nkhspgff75a*, demonstrate expression in the sensory epithelia of the inner ear, promoting their use in visualizing the separation of these epithelia over the course of otic development and their resulting size and position. Their macular expression could also facilitate research concerning the formation of the otoliths or otolithic membranes.

While our initial intent was to identify and describe strains that could allow for a more simplified method of visualizing key inner ear structures, these strains can also be used for the targeted manipulation of genes localized in the described tissues. These transgenic lines therefore lend themselves toward studies that require the more refined spatial regulation of target genes.

5.3. References

Abbas, L., & Whitfield, T. T. (2010). 4 - The zebrafish inner ear. In S. F. Perry, M. Ekker, A. P. Farrell, & C. J. Brauner (Eds.), *Fish Physiology* (Vol. 29, pp. 123-171): Academic Press.

Bateson, W. (1902). Mendel's principles of heredity: A defence: University press.

- Baxendale, S., & Whitfield, T. T. (2014). Chapter 3 Zebrafish Inner Ear Development and Function. In R. Romand & I. Varela-Nieto (Eds.), *Development of Auditory and Vestibular Systems* (pp. 63-105). San Diego: Academic Press.
- Bissonnette, J. P., & Fekete, D. M. (1996). Standard atlas of the gross anatomy of the developing inner ear of the chicken. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *368*(4), 620-630.
- Brand, A. H., & Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. *Development*, 118(2), 401-415.
- Burk, D. T., & Willhite, C. C. (1992). Inner ear malformations induced by isotretinoin in hamster fetuses. *Teratology*, 46(2), 147-157. doi:10.1002/tera.1420460208
- Cañibano-Hernández, A., Saenz del Burgo, L., Espona-Noguera, A., Orive, G., Hernández, R. M., Ciriza, J., & Pedraz, J. L. (2019). Hyaluronic acid enhances cell survival of encapsulated insulin-producing cells in alginate-based microcapsules. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 557, 192-198. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.12.062
- Cheyette, B. N. R., Green, P. J., Martin, K., Garren, H., Hartenstein, V., & Zipursky, S. L. (1994). The drosophila sine oculis locus encodes a homeodomain-containing protein required for the development of the entire visual system. *Neuron*, 12(5), 977-996. doi:10.1016/0896-6273(94)90308-5
- Chole, R. A., & Quick, C. A. (1976). Temporal bone histopathology in experimental hypovitaminosis a. *The Laryngoscope*, *86*(3), 445-453. doi:https://doi.org/10.1288/00005537-197603000-00014
- Clagett-Dame, M., & DeLuca, H. F. (2002). The role of vitamin A in mammalian reproduction and embryonic development. *Annu Rev Nutr, 22*, 347-381. doi:10.1146/annurev.nutr.22.010402.102745E
- Clagett-Dame, M., & Knutson, D. (2011). Vitamin A in reproduction and development. *Nutrients*, *3*(4), 385-428. doi:10.3390/nu3040385

- Cohlan, S. Q. (1953). Excessive intake of vitamin A as a cause of congenital anomalies in the rat. *Science*, *117*(3046), 535-536. doi:10.1126/science.117.3046.535
- Collop, A. H., Broomfield, J. A., Chandraratna, R. A., Yong, Z., Deimling, S. J., Kolker, S. J., . .
 Drysdale, T. A. (2006). Retinoic acid signaling is essential for formation of the heart tube in Xenopus. *Dev Biol*, 291(1), 96-109. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2005.12.018
- Diez del Corral, R., Olivera-Martinez, I., Goriely, A., Gale, E., Maden, M., & Storey, K. (2003). Opposing FGF and retinoid pathways control ventral neural pattern, neuronal differentiation, and segmentation during body axis extension. *Neuron*, 40(1), 65-79. doi:10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00565-8
- Duffy, J. B. (2002). GAL4 system in drosophila: A fly geneticist's swiss army knife. genesis, 34.
- Encinas, M., Iglesias, M., Llecha, N., & Comella, J. (1999). Extracellular-regulated kinases and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase are involved in brain-derived neurotrophic factor-mediated survival and neuritogenesis of the neuroblastoma cell line SH-SY5Y. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 73(4), 1409-1421.
- Falasca, L., Favale, A., Gualandi, G., Maietta, G., & Devirgiliis, L. C. (1998). Retinoic acid treatment induces apoptosis or expression of a more differentiated phenotype on different fractions of cultured fetal rat hepatocytes. *Hepatology*, 28(3), 727-737.
- Frenz, D. A., Liu, W., Galinovic-Schwartz, V., & Van De Water, T. R. (1996). Retinoic acidinduced embryopathy of the mouse inner ear. *Teratology*, 53(5), 292-303. doi:10.1002/(sici)1096-9926(199605)53:5<292::Aid-tera3>3.0.Co;2-3
- Gall, J. G., & Pardue, M. L. (1969). Formation and detection of RNA-DNA hybrid molecules in cytological preparations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 63(2), 378-383. doi:10.1073/pnas.63.2.378
- Gesteira, T. F., Sun, M., Coulson-Thomas, Y. M., Yamaguchi, Y., Yeh, L.-K., Hascall, V., & Coulson-Thomas, V. J. (2017). Hyaluronan Rich Microenvironment in the Limbal Stem Cell Niche Regulates Limbal Stem Cell Differentiation. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 58(11), 4407-4421. doi:10.1167/iovs.17-22326
- Ghyselinck, N. B., & Duester, G. (2019). Retinoic acid signaling pathways. *Development*, 146(13). doi:10.1242/dev.167502
- Giroud, A., & Martinet, M. (1959). [Teratogenesis by hypervitaminosis A in the rat, the mouse, the guinea pig and the rabbit]. *Arch Fr Pediatr, 16*, 971-975.

- Glover, J. C., Renaud, J. S., & Rijli, F. M. (2006). Retinoic acid and hindbrain patterning. J Neurobiol, 66(7), 705-725. doi:10.1002/neu.20272
- Goodwin, C. R., Ahmed, A. K., & Xia, S. (2019). UDP-α-D-glucose 6-dehydrogenase: a promising target for glioblastoma. *Oncotarget*, *10*(16), 1542-1543. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.26670
- Granström, G. (1990). Retinoid-induced ear malformations. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 103(5 (Pt 1)), 702-709. doi:10.1177/019459989010300507
- Hammond, K. L., & Whitfield, T. T. (2006). The developing lamprey ear closely resembles the zebrafish otic vesicle: otx1 expression can account for all major patterning differences. *Development*, 133(7), 1347-1357. doi:10.1242/dev.02306
- Hans, S., & Westerfield, M. (2007). Changes in retinoic acid signaling alter otic patterning. *Development*, 134(13), 2449-2458. doi:10.1242/dev.000448
- Harrison, P. R., Conkie, D., Paul, J., & Jones, K. (1973). Localisation of cellular globin messenger RNA by in situ hybridisation to complementary DNA. *FEBS Letters*, 32(1), 109-112. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(73)80749-5</u>
- He, X., & Zhang, J. (2006). Toward a molecular understanding of pleiotropy. *Genetics*, 173(4), 1885-1891. doi:10.1534/genetics.106.060269
- Higuchi, S., Sugahara, F., Pascual-Anaya, J., Takagi, W., Oisi, Y., & Kuratani, S. (2019). Inner ear development in cyclostomes and evolution of the vertebrate semicircular canals. *Nature*, *565*(7739), 347-350. doi:10.1038/s41586-018-0782-y
- Jarvis, B. L., Johnston, M. C., & Sulik, K. K. (1990). Congenital malformations of the external, middle, and inner ear produced by isotretinoin exposure in mouse embryos. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 102(4), 391-401. doi:10.1177/019459989010200414
- Jimenez-Lara, A., Clarke, N., Altucci, L., & Gronemeyer, H. (2004). Retinoic-acid-induced apoptosis in leukemia cells. *Trends in molecular medicine*, *10*(10), 508-515.
- Jin, M., Eblimit, A., Pulikkathara, M., Corr, S., Chen, R., & Mardon, G. (2016). Conditional knockout of retinal determination genes in differentiating cells in Drosophila. *The FEBS Journal*, 283(15), 2754-2766. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.13772</u>
- Jones, K. W., & Robertson, F. W. (1970). Localisation of reiterated nucleotide sequences in Drosophila and mouse by in situ hybridisation of complementary RNA. *Chromosoma*, *31*(3), 331-345. doi:10.1007/bf00321229

- Kakidani, H., & Ptashne, M. (1988). GAL4 activates gene expression in mammalian cells. *Cell*, *52*(2), 161-167. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(88)90504-1
- Kalka, M., Markiewicz, N., Ptak, M., Sone, E. D., Ożyhar, A., Dobryszycki, P., & Wojtas, M. (2019). In vivo and in vitro analysis of starmaker activity in zebrafish otolith biomineralization. *The FASEB Journal*, 33(6), 6877-6886. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201802268R</u>
- Kelley, M. W., Turner, J. K., & Reh, T. A. (1994). Retinoic acid promotes differentiation of photoreceptors in vitro. *Development*, *120*(8), 2091-2102.
- Kholodenko, R., Kholodenko, I., Sorokin, V., Tolmazova, A., Sazonova, O., & Buzdin, A. (2007). Anti-apoptotic effect of retinoic acid on retinal progenitor cells mediated by a protein kinase A-dependent mechanism. *Cell research*, 17(2), 151-162.
- Kiernan, A. E. (2006). The paintfill method as a tool for analyzing the three-dimensional structure of the inner ear. *Brain Research*, 1091(1), 270-276. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2006.02.037</u>
- Kil, S. H., Streit, A., Brown, S. T., Agrawal, N., Collazo, A., Zile, M. H., & Groves, A. K. (2005). Distinct roles for hindbrain and paraxial mesoderm in the induction and patterning of the inner ear revealed by a study of vitamin-A-deficient quail. *Dev Biol*, 285(1), 252-271. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2005.05.044
- Kim, E., Hyrc, K. L., Speck, J., Lundberg, Y. W., Salles, F. T., Kachar, B., . . . Ornitz, D. M. (2010). Regulation of cellular calcium in vestibular supporting cells by otopetrin 1. J Neurophysiol, 104(6), 3439-3450. doi:10.1152/jn.00525.2010
- Lin, S. C., Dollé, P., Ryckebüsch, L., Noseda, M., Zaffran, S., Schneider, M. D., & Niederreither, K. (2010). Endogenous retinoic acid regulates cardiac progenitor differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 107(20), 9234-9239. doi:10.1073/pnas.0910430107
- Lupo, G., Gestri, G., O'Brien, M., Denton, R. M., Chandraratna, R. A., Ley, S. V., ... Wilson, S. W. (2011). Retinoic acid receptor signaling regulates choroid fissure closure through independent mechanisms in the ventral optic cup and periocular mesenchyme. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(21), 8698-8703. doi:10.1073/pnas.1103802108
- Maden, M., Gale, E., Kostetskii, I., & Zile, M. (1996). Vitamin A-deficient quail embryos have half a hindbrain and other neural defects. *Curr Biol, 6*(4), 417-426. doi:10.1016/s0960-9822(02)00509-2

- Maier, E. C., & Whitfield, T. T. (2014). RA and FGF Signalling Are Required in the Zebrafish Otic Vesicle to Pattern and Maintain Ventral Otic Identities. *PLoS genetics*, 10(12), e1004858. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1004858
- Martin, P., & Swanson, G. J. (1993). Descriptive and experimental analysis of the epithelial remodellings that control semicircular canal formation in the developing mouse inner ear. *Developmental Biology*, *159*(2), 549-558.
- Miller Bever, M., Jean, Y. Y., & Fekete, D. M. (2003). Three-dimensional morphology of inner ear development in Xenopus laevis. *Developmental dynamics: an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists*, 227(3), 422-430.
- Niederreither, K., Subbarayan, V., Dollé, P., & Chambon, P. (1999). Embryonic retinoic acid synthesis is essential for early mouse post-implantation development. *Nature Genetics*, 21(4), 444-448.
- Niederreither, K., Vermot, J., Messaddeq, N., Schuhbaur, B., Chambon, P., & Dollé, P. (2001). Embryonic retinoic acid synthesis is essential for heart morphogenesis in the mouse. *Development*, 128(7), 1019-1031.
- Ono, K., Keller, J., López Ramírez, O., González Garrido, A., Zobeiri, O. A., Chang, H. H. V., . .
 Wu, D. K. (2020). Retinoic acid degradation shapes zonal development of vestibular organs and sensitivity to transient linear accelerations. *Nature Communications*, 11(1), 63. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-13710-4
- Ono, K., Sandell, L. L., Trainor, P. A., & Wu, D. K. (2020). Retinoic acid synthesis and autoregulation mediate zonal patterning of vestibular organs and inner ear morphogenesis. *Development*, 147(15), dev192070. doi:10.1242/dev.192070
- Oström, M., Loffler, K. A., Edfalk, S., Selander, L., Dahl, U., Ricordi, C., . . . Edlund, H. (2008). Retinoic acid promotes the generation of pancreatic endocrine progenitor cells and their further differentiation into beta-cells. *PloS one*, *3*(7), e2841. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002841
- Plate, L. (1910). Genetics and evolution. *Festschrift Zum Sechzigsten Geburtstag Richard Hertwigs (in German)*, 536-610.
- Raft, S., Koundakjian, E. J., Quinones, H., Jayasena, C. S., Goodrich, L. V., Johnson, J. E., . . . Groves, A. K. (2007). Cross-regulation of Ngn1 and Math1 coordinates the production of neurons and sensory hair cells during inner ear development. *Development*, 134(24), 4405-4415. doi:10.1242/dev.009118

- Riley, B. B., Zhu, C., Janetopoulos, C., & Aufderheide, K. J. (1997). A Critical Period of Ear Development Controlled by Distinct Populations of Ciliated Cells in the Zebrafish. *Developmental Biology*, 191(2), 191-201. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1997.8736</u>
- Romand, R., Krezel, W., Beraneck, M., Cammas, L., Fraulob, V., Messaddeq, N., . . . Dollé, P. (2013). Retinoic acid deficiency impairs the vestibular function. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(13), 5856-5866.
- Satoh, T., & Fekete, D. M. (2005). Clonal analysis of the relationships between mechanosensory cells and the neurons that innervate them in the chicken ear. *Development*, 132(7), 1687-1697. doi:10.1242/dev.01730
- Söllner, C., Burghammer, M., Busch-Nentwich, E., Berger, J., Schwarz, H., Riekel, C., & Nicolson, T. (2003). Control of crystal size and lattice formation by starmaker in otolith biomineralization. *Science*, 302(5643), 282-286.
- Takabe, P., Bart, G., Ropponen, A., Rilla, K., Tammi, M., Tammi, R., & Pasonen-Seppänen, S. (2015). Hyaluronan synthase 3 (HAS3) overexpression downregulates MV3 melanoma cell proliferation, migration and adhesion. *Exp Cell Res*, 337(1), 1-15. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2015.07.026
- Tanimoto, M., Ota, Y., Inoue, M., & Oda, Y. (2011). Origin of Inner Ear Hair Cells: Morphological and Functional Differentiation from Ciliary Cells into Hair Cells in Zebrafish Inner Ear. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(10), 3784-3794. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.5554-10.2011
- Teoh, S. T., Ogrodzinski, M. P., & Lunt, S. Y. (2020). UDP-Glucose 6-Dehydrogenase Knockout Impairs Migration and Decreases in vivo Metastatic Ability of Breast Cancer Cells. *bioRxiv*, 2020.2005.2030.125419. doi:10.1101/2020.05.30.125419
- van Noesel, M. M., & Versteeg, R. (2004). Pediatric neuroblastomas: genetic and epigenetic 'danse macabre'. *Gene*, 325, 1-15.
- Webster, N., Jin, J. R., Green, S., Hollis, M., & Chambon, P. (1988). The yeast UASG is a transcriptional enhancer in human HeLa cells in the presence of the GAL4 transactivator. *Cell*, *52*(2), 169-178. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(88)90505-3
- White, J. C., Highland, M., Kaiser, M., & Clagett-Dame, M. (2000). Vitamin A deficiency results in the dose-dependent acquisition of anterior character and shortening of the caudal hindbrain of the rat embryo. *Dev Biol, 220*(2), 263-284. doi:10.1006/dbio.2000.9635

- Whitfield, T. T., Riley, B. B., Chiang, M.-Y., & Phillips, B. (2002). Development of the zebrafish inner ear. *Developmental dynamics*, 223(4), 427-458. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.10073</u>
- Wolf, G. (2008). Retinoic acid as cause of cell proliferation or cell growth inhibition depending on activation of one of two different nuclear receptors. *Nutr Rev, 66*(1), 55-59. doi:10.1111/j.1753-4887.2007.00006.x
- Zhang, H., Satyamoorthy, K., Herlyn, M., & Rosdahl, I. (2003). All- trans retinoic acid (atRA) differentially induces apoptosis in matched primary and metastatic melanoma cells a speculation on damage effect of atRA via mitochondrial dysfunction and cell cycle redistribution. *Carcinogenesis*, 24(2), 185-191. doi:10.1093/carcin/24.2.185

Compiled references

- Abbas, L., & Whitfield, T. T. (2010). 4 The zebrafish inner ear. In S. F. Perry, M. Ekker, A. P. Farrell, & C. J. Brauner (Eds.), *Fish Physiology* (Vol. 29, pp. 123-171): Academic Press.
- Abdelhak, S., Kalatzis, V., Heilig, R., Compain, S., Samson, D., Vincent, C., . . . Petit, C. (1997).
 A human homologue of the Drosophila eyes absent gene underlies branchio-oto-renal (BOR) syndrome and identifies a novel gene family. *Nat Genet*, 15(2), 157-164. doi:10.1038/ng0297-157
- Acampora, D., Avantaggiato, V., Tuorto, F., Barone, P., Reichert, H., Finkelstein, R., & Simeone, A. (1998). Murine Otx1 and Drosophila otd genes share conserved genetic functions required in invertebrate and vertebrate brain development. *Development*, 125(9), 1691-1702.
- Agarwal, S. K., Singh, S., Ghuman, S. S., Sharma, S., & Lahiri, A. K. (2014). Radiological assessment of the Indian children with congenital sensorineural hearing loss. *International journal of otolaryngology, 2014*.
- Ahmed, M., Wong, E. Y., Sun, J., Xu, J., Wang, F., & Xu, P. X. (2012). Eya1-Six1 interaction is sufficient to induce hair cell fate in the cochlea by activating Atoh1 expression in cooperation with Sox2. *Dev Cell*, 22(2), 377-390. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2011.12.006
- Ahmed, M., Xu, J., & Xu, P.-X. (2012). EYA1 and SIX1 drive the neuronal developmental program in cooperation with the SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complex and SOX2 in the mammalian inner ear. *Development*, *139*(11), 1965-1977. doi:10.1242/dev.071670
- Ahmed, Z. M., Riazuddin, S., Ahmad, J., Bernstein, S. L., Guo, Y., Sabar, M. F., . . . Wilcox, E. R. (2003). PCDH15 is expressed in the neurosensory epithelium of the eye and ear and mutant alleles are responsible for both USH1F and DFNB23. *Hum Mol Genet*, *12*(24), 3215-3223. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddg358
- Aker, M., Rouvinski, A., Hashavia, S., Ta-Shma, A., Shaag, A., Zenvirt, S., . . . Bar-Shavit, Z. (2012). An SNX10 mutation causes malignant osteopetrosis of infancy. *Journal of medical genetics*, 49(4), 221-226.
- Alagramam, K. N., Kwon, H. Y., Cacheiro, N. L., Stubbs, L., Wright, C. G., Erway, L. C., & Woychik, R. P. (1999). A new mouse insertional mutation that causes sensorineural deafness and vestibular defects. *Genetics*, 152(4), 1691-1699.
- Alagramam, K. N., Murcia, C. L., Kwon, H. Y., Pawlowski, K. S., Wright, C. G., & Woychik, R. P. (2001). The mouse Ames waltzer hearing-loss mutant is caused by mutation of Pcdh15, a novel protocadherin gene. *Nat Genet*, 27(1), 99-102. doi:10.1038/83837
- Alasti, F., Sadeghi, A., Sanati, M. H., Farhadi, M., Stollar, E., Somers, T., & Van Camp, G. (2008). A mutation in HOXA2 is responsible for autosomal-recessive microtia in an Iranian family. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 82(4), 982-991.

- Alhamoudi, K. M., Bhat, J., Nashabat, M. A., Alharbi, M., Alyafee, Y., Asiri, A., . . . Alfadhel, M. (2020). A missense mutation in the UGDH gene is associated with developmental delay and axial hypotonia. *Frontiers in Pediatrics*, 8, 71.
- Alsmadi, O., Meyer, B. F., Alkuraya, F., Wakil, S., Alkayal, F., Al-Saud, H., . . . Al-Sayed, M. (2009). Syndromic congenital sensorineural deafness, microtia and microdontia resulting from a novel homoallelic mutation in fibroblast growth factor 3 (FGF3). *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 17(1), 14-21.
- Alvarez, Y., Alonso, M. T., Vendrell, V., Zelarayan, L. C., Chamero, P., Theil, T., . . . Riethmacher, D. (2003). Requirements for FGF3 and FGF10 during inner ear formation. *Development*, 130(25), 6329-6338.
- Arima, K., Shiotsugu, J., Niu, R., Khandpur, R., Martinez, M., Shin, Y., . . . Blumberg, B. (2005). Global analysis of RAR-responsive genes in the Xenopus neurula using cDNA microarrays. *Dev Dyn*, 232(2), 414-431. doi:10.1002/dvdy.20231
- Asai, Y., Chan, D. K., Starr, C. J., Kappler, J. A., Kollmar, R., & Hudspeth, A. J. (2006). Mutation of the atrophin2 gene in the zebrafish disrupts signaling by fibroblast growth factor during development of the inner ear. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103*(24), 9069-9074. doi:10.1073/pnas.0603453103
- Asakawa, K., & Kawakami, K. (2009). The Tol2-mediated Gal4-UAS method for gene and enhancer trapping in zebrafish. *Methods*, 49(3), 275-281. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2009.01.004
- Asakawa, K., Suster, M. L., Mizusawa, K., Nagayoshi, S., Kotani, T., Urasaki, A., . . . Kawakami, K. (2008). Genetic dissection of neural circuits by Tol2 transposon-mediated Gal4 gene and enhancer trapping in zebrafish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 105*(4), 1255-1260. doi:10.1073/pnas.0704963105
- Aström, A., Tavakkol, A., Pettersson, U., Cromie, M., Elder, J. T., & Voorhees, J. (1991). Molecular cloning of two human cellular retinoic acid-binding proteins (CRABP). Retinoic acid-induced expression of CRABP-II but not CRABP-I in adult human skin in vivo and in skin fibroblasts in vitro. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266(26), 17662-17666.
- Auditory and Vestibular Systems. (2005). In C. R. Noback, N. L. Strominger, R. J. Demarest, & D. A. Ruggiero (Eds.), *The Human Nervous System: Structure and Function* (pp. 285-303). Totowa, NJ: Humana Press.
- Babb-Clendenon, S., Shen, Y.-c., Liu, Q., Turner, K. E., Mills, M. S., Cook, G. W., . . . Marrs, J. A. (2006). Cadherin-2 participates in the morphogenesis of the zebrafish inner ear. *Journal of Cell Science*, 119(24), 5169-5177. doi:10.1242/jcs.03299
- Bang, P. I., Sewell, W. F., & Malicki, J. J. (2001). Morphology and cell type heterogeneities of the inner ear epithelia in adult and juvenile zebrafish (Danio rerio). *J Comp Neurol*, 438(2), 173-190. doi:10.1002/cne.1308

- Barrett, K., Barman, S., Boitano, S., & Brooks, H. (2012). Chapter 10. Hearing & equilibrium. Ganong's review of medical physiology. 24th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Bashor, M. M., & Chytil, F. (1975). Cellular retinol-binding protein. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*, 411(1), 87-96.
- Bateson, W. (1902). Mendel's principles of heredity: A defence: University press.
- Batten, M. L., Imanishi, Y., Maeda, T., Tu, D. C., Moise, A. R., Bronson, D., . . . Palczewski, K. (2004). Lecithin-retinol acyltransferase is essential for accumulation of all-trans-retinyl esters in the eye and in the liver. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(11), 10422-10432.
- Battey, J. F., Jr. (2000). A genetic approach to understanding inner ear function. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *106*(12), 1431-1432. doi:10.1172/JCI11763
- Baxendale, S., & Whitfield, T. T. (2014). Chapter 3 Zebrafish Inner Ear Development and Function. In R. Romand & I. Varela-Nieto (Eds.), *Development of Auditory and Vestibular Systems* (pp. 63-105). San Diego: Academic Press.
- Beck, J. C., Gilland, E., Tank, D. W., & Baker, R. (2004). Quantifying the Ontogeny of Optokinetic and Vestibuloocular Behaviors in Zebrafish, Medaka, and Goldfish. *Journal* of Neurophysiology, 92(6), 3546-3561. doi:10.1152/jn.00311.2004
- Begemann, G., Schilling, T. F., Rauch, G.-J., Geisler, R., & Ingham, P. W. (2001). The zebrafish neckless mutation reveals a requirement for raldh2 in mesodermal signals that pattern the hindbrain. *Development*, *128*(16), 3081-3094.
- Bell, D., Streit, A., Gorospe, I., Varela-Nieto, I., Alsina, B., & Giraldez, F. (2008). Spatial and temporal segregation of auditory and vestibular neurons in the otic placode. *Dev Biol*, 322(1), 109-120. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2008.07.011
- Berger, K. S. (2014). *The developing person through the life span* (Vol. 41): Worth Publishers New York, NY.
- Bergstrom, D. E., Gagnon, L. H., & Eicher, E. M. (1999). Genetic and physical mapping of the dreher locus on mouse chromosome 1. *Genomics*, 59(3), 291-299.
- Bernardos, R. L., Barthel, L. K., Meyers, J. R., & Raymond, P. A. (2007). Late-stage neuronal progenitors in the retina are radial Müller glia that function as retinal stem cells. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 27*(26), 7028-7040. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.1624-07.2007
- Bever, M. M., & Fekete, D. M. (2002). Atlas of the developing inner ear in zebrafish. *Dev Dyn*, 223(4), 536-543. doi:10.1002/dvdy.10062
- Billet, G., Germain, D., Ruf, I., de Muizon, C., & Hautier, L. (2013). The inner ear of Megatherium and the evolution of the vestibular system in sloths. *J Anat, 223*(6), 557-567. doi:10.1111/joa.12114

- Bissonnette, J. P., & Fekete, D. M. (1996). Standard atlas of the gross anatomy of the developing inner ear of the chicken. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *368*(4), 620-630.
- Blasiole, B., Canfield, V. A., Vollrath, M. A., Huss, D., Mohideen, M. A., Dickman, J. D., . . . Levenson, R. (2006). Separate Na,K-ATPase genes are required for otolith formation and semicircular canal development in zebrafish. *Dev Biol, 294*(1), 148-160. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2006.02.034
- Blasiole, B., Kabbani, N., Boehmler, W., Thisse, B., Thisse, C., Canfield, V., & Levenson, R. (2005). Neuronal calcium sensor-1 gene ncs-1a is essential for semicircular canal formation in zebrafish inner ear. *J Neurobiol*, 64(3), 285-297. doi:10.1002/neu.20138
- Bloch, S., Thomas, M., Colin, I., Galant, S., Machado, E., Affaticati, P., . . . Yamamoto, K. (2019). Mesencephalic origin of the inferior lobe in zebrafish. *BMC Biology*, 17(1), 22. doi:10.1186/s12915-019-0631-y
- Bloom, D., & Hultcrantz, M. (1994). Vestibular morphology in relation to age and circling behavior. *Acta Otolaryngol, 114*(4), 387-392. doi:10.3109/00016489409126075
- Bohnsack, B. L., & Kahana, A. (2013). Thyroid hormone and retinoic acid interact to regulate zebrafish craniofacial neural crest development. *Developmental Biology*, 373(2), 300-309. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2012.11.005</u>
- Bok, J., Bronner-Fraser, M., & Wu, D. K. (2005). Role of the hindbrain in dorsoventral but not anteroposterior axial specification of the inner ear. *Development*, 132(9), 2115-2124. doi:10.1242/dev.01796
- Bok, J., Dolson, D. K., Hill, P., Rüther, U., Epstein, D. J., & Wu, D. K. (2007). Opposing gradients of Gli repressor and activators mediate Shh signaling along the dorsoventral axis of the inner ear. *Development*, 134(9), 1713-1722. doi:10.1242/dev.000760
- Bok, J., Raft, S., Kong, K. A., Koo, S. K., Dräger, U. C., & Wu, D. K. (2011). Transient retinoic acid signaling confers anterior-posterior polarity to the inner ear. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(1), 161-166. doi:10.1073/pnas.1010547108
- Bolz, H., von Brederlow, B., Ramírez, A., Bryda, E. C., Kutsche, K., Nothwang, H. G., . . . Kubisch, C. (2001). Mutation of CDH23, encoding a new member of the cadherin gene family, causes Usher syndrome type 1D. *Nature Genetics*, 27(1), 108-112. doi:10.1038/83667
- Bone, Q., & Ryan, K. P. (1978). Cupular sense organs in Ciona (Tunicata: Ascidiacea). *Journal* of Zoology, 186(3), 417-429. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.1978.tb03931.x
- Bonnet, C., Louha, M., Loundon, N., Michalski, N., Verpy, E., Smagghe, L., ... Marlin, S. (2013). Biallelic nonsense mutations in the otogelin-like gene (OTOGL) in a child affected by mild to moderate hearing impairment. *Gene*, 527(2), 537-540. doi:10.1016/j.gene.2013.06.044

- Bonney, S., Dennison, B. J. C., Wendlandt, M., & Siegenthaler, J. A. (2018). Retinoic Acid Regulates Endothelial β-catenin Expression and Pericyte Numbers in the Developing Brain Vasculature. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 12(476). doi:10.3389/fncel.2018.00476
- Bosher, S. K., & Warren, R. L. (1968). Observations on the electrochemistry of the cochlear endolymph of the rat: a quantitative study of its electrical potential and ionic composition as determined by means of flame spectrophotometry. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B. Biological Sciences*, 171(1023), 227-247. doi:10.1098/rspb.1968.0066
- Bosman, E. A., Penn, A. C., Ambrose, J. C., Kettleborough, R., Stemple, D. L., & Steel, K. P. (2005). Multiple mutations in mouse Chd7 provide models for CHARGE syndrome. *Hum Mol Genet*, 14(22), 3463-3476. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddi375
- Bosman, E. A., Quint, E., Fuchs, H., de Angelis, M. H., & Steel, K. P. (2009). Catweasel mice: a novel role for Six1 in sensory patch development and a model for branchio-oto-renal syndrome. *Developmental Biology*, *328*(2), 285-296.
- Brand, A. H., & Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. *Development*, *118*(2), 401-415.
- Brigande, J. V., Kiernan, A. E., Gao, X., Iten, L. E., & Fekete, D. M. (2000). Molecular genetics of pattern formation in the inner ear: Do compartment boundaries play a role? *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97(22), 11700-11706. doi:10.1073/pnas.97.22.11700
- Brown, A. S., & Epstein, D. J. (2011). Otic ablation of smoothened reveals direct and indirect requirements for Hedgehog signaling in inner ear development. *Development* (*Cambridge, England*), 138(18), 3967-3976. doi:10.1242/dev.066126
- Bruss, D. M., & Shohet, J. A. (2019). Neuroanatomy, Ear.
- Budhu, A., Gillilan, R., & Noy, N. (2001). Localization of the RAR interaction domain of cellular retinoic acid binding protein-II. *Journal of molecular biology*, *305*(4), 939-949.
- Budhu, A. S., & Noy, N. (2002). Direct channeling of retinoic acid between cellular retinoic acid-binding protein II and retinoic acid receptor sensitizes mammary carcinoma cells to retinoic acid-induced growth arrest. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 22(8), 2632-2641.
- Burk, D. T., & Willhite, C. C. (1992). Inner ear malformations induced by isotretinoin in hamster fetuses. *Teratology*, 46(2), 147-157. doi:10.1002/tera.1420460208
- Burton, Q., Cole, L. K., Mulheisen, M., Chang, W., & Wu, D. K. (2004). The role of Pax2 in mouse inner ear development. *Developmental Biology*, 272(1), 161-175. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2004.04.024

- Busch-Nentwich, E., Söllner, C., Roehl, H., & Nicolson, T. (2004b). The deafness gene dfna5 is crucial for ugdh expression and HA production in the developing ear in zebrafish. *Development*, 131(4), 943-951.
- Cai, A. Q., Radtke, K., Linville, A., Lander, A. D., Nie, Q., & Schilling, T. F. (2012). Cellular retinoic acid-binding proteins are essential for hindbrain patterning and signal robustness in zebrafish. *Development*, 139(12), 2150-2155.
- Campana, S. E. (1999). Chemistry and composition of fish otoliths: pathways, mechanisms and applications. *Marine Ecology Progress Series, 188*, 263-297.
- Campana, S. E., & Neilson, J. D. (1985). Microstructure of fish otoliths. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 42(5), 1014-1032.
- Cañestro, C., Postlethwait, J. H., Gonzàlez-Duarte, R., & Albalat, R. (2006). Is retinoic acid genetic machinery a chordate innovation? *Evolution & development*, 8(5), 394-406.
- Cañibano-Hernández, A., Saenz del Burgo, L., Espona-Noguera, A., Orive, G., Hernández, R. M., Ciriza, J., & Pedraz, J. L. (2019). Hyaluronic acid enhances cell survival of encapsulated insulin-producing cells in alginate-based microcapsules. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 557, 192-198. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.12.062
- Carlstrom, D. (1963). A crystallographic study of vertebrate otoliths. *The Biological Bulletin*, *125*(3), 441-463.
- Casale, J., & Crane, J. S. (2019). Biochemistry, Glycosaminoglycans.
- Casimiro, M. C., Knollmann, B. C., Ebert, S. N., Vary, J. C., Greene, A. E., Franz, M. R., . . . Pfeifer, K. (2001). Targeted disruption of the Kcnq1 gene produces a mouse model of Jervell and Lange– Nielsen Syndrome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 98*(5), 2526-2531. doi:10.1073/pnas.041398998
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017). 2017 Summary of Diagnostics Among Infants Not Passing Hearing Screening. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/hearingloss/2017-data/06-diagnostics.html
- Ceruti, S., Stinckens, C., Cremers, C. W., & Casselman, J. W. (2002). Temporal bone anomalies in the branchio-oto-renal syndrome: detailed computed tomographic and magnetic resonance imaging findings. *Otol Neurotol*, *23*(2), 200-207. doi:10.1097/00129492-200203000-00016
- Chambers, D., Wilson, L., Maden, M., & Lumsden, A. (2007). RALDH-independent generation of retinoic acid during vertebrate embryogenesis by CYP1B1. *Development*, 134(7), 1369-1383. doi:10.1242/dev.02815

- Chang-Chien, J., Yen, Y. C., Chien, K. H., Li, S. Y., Hsu, T. C., & Yang, J. J. (2014). The connexin 30.3 of zebrafish homologue of human connexin 26 may play similar role in the inner ear. *Hear Res*, *313*, 55-66. doi:10.1016/j.heares.2014.04.010
- Chang, W., Brigande, J. V., Fekete, D. M., & Wu, D. K. (2004). The development of semicircular canals in the inner ear: role of FGFs in sensory cristae. *Development*, 131(17), 4201-4211. doi:10.1242/dev.01292
- Chang, W., Lin, Z., Kulessa, H., Hebert, J., Hogan, B. L. M., & Wu, D. K. (2008). Bmp4 is essential for the formation of the vestibular apparatus that detects angular head movements. *PLoS genetics*, 4(4), e1000050-e1000050. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1000050
- Chatzi, C., Brade, T., & Duester, G. (2011). Retinoic acid functions as a key GABAergic differentiation signal in the basal ganglia. *PLoS Biol*, 9(4), e1000609.
- Chavous, D. A., Jackson, F. R., & O'Connor, C. M. (2001). Extension of the Drosophila lifespan by overexpression of a protein repair methyltransferase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98(26), 14814-14818. doi:10.1073/pnas.251446498
- Chen, J., & Nathans, J. (2007). Estrogen-related receptor beta/NR3B2 controls epithelial cell fate and endolymph production by the stria vascularis. *Dev Cell*, *13*(3), 325-337. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2007.07.011
- Chen, J. D., & Evans, R. M. (1995). A transcriptional co-repressor that interacts with nuclear hormone receptors. *Nature*, 377(6548), 454-457. doi:10.1038/377454a0
- Chen, P., Johnson, J. E., Zoghbi, H. Y., & Segil, N. (2002). The role of Math1 in inner ear development: Uncoupling the establishment of the sensory primordium from hair cell fate determination. *Development*, 129(10), 2495-2505.
- Cheyette, B. N. R., Green, P. J., Martin, K., Garren, H., Hartenstein, V., & Zipursky, S. L. (1994). The drosophila sine oculis locus encodes a homeodomain-containing protein required for the development of the entire visual system. *Neuron*, 12(5), 977-996. doi:10.1016/0896-6273(94)90308-5
- Chole, R. A., & Quick, C. A. (1976). Temporal bone histopathology in experimental hypovitaminosis a. *The Laryngoscope*, *86*(3), 445-453. doi:https://doi.org/10.1288/00005537-197603000-00014
- Choo, D., Ward, J., Reece, A., Dou, H., Lin, Z., & Greinwald, J. (2006). Molecular mechanisms underlying inner ear patterning defects in kreisler mutants. *Developmental Biology*, 289(2), 308-317. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2005.10.007
- Chute, J. P., Muramoto, G. G., Whitesides, J., Colvin, M., Safi, R., Chao, N. J., & McDonnell, D. P. (2006). Inhibition of aldehyde dehydrogenase and retinoid signaling induces the expansion of human hematopoietic stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(31), 11707-11712.

- Clagett-Dame, M., & DeLuca, H. F. (2002). The role of vitamin A in mammalian reproduction and embryonic development. *Annu Rev Nutr, 22*, 347-381. doi:10.1146/annurev.nutr.22.010402.102745E
- Clagett-Dame, M., & Knutson, D. (2011). Vitamin A in reproduction and development. *Nutrients*, *3*(4), 385-428. doi:10.3390/nu3040385
- Cohen-Salmon, M., El-Amraoui, A., Leibovici, M., & Petit, C. (1997a). Otogelin: a glycoprotein specific to the acellular membranes of the inner ear. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(26), 14450-14455. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.26.14450
- Cohen-Salmon, M., El-Amraoui, A., Leibovici, M., & Petit, C. (1997b). Otogelin: a glycoprotein specific to the acellular membranes of the inner ear. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94(26), 14450-14455. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.26.14450
- Cohen, B. (1974). The vestibulo-ocular reflex arc. In *Vestibular System Part 1: Basic Mechanisms* (pp. 477-540): Springer.
- Cohlan, S. Q. (1953). Excessive intake of vitamin A as a cause of congenital anomalies in the rat. *Science*, *117*(3046), 535-536. doi:10.1126/science.117.3046.535
- Collop, A. H., Broomfield, J. A., Chandraratna, R. A., Yong, Z., Deimling, S. J., Kolker, S. J., . .
 Drysdale, T. A. (2006). Retinoic acid signaling is essential for formation of the heart tube in Xenopus. *Dev Biol, 291*(1), 96-109. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2005.12.018
- Cowan, C. A., Yokoyama, N., Bianchi, L. M., Henkemeyer, M., & Fritzsch, B. (2000). EphB2 guides axons at the midline and is necessary for normal vestibular function. *Neuron*, 26(2), 417-430.
- Cremers, C., & Huygen, P. (1984). Clinical features of female heterozygotes in the X-linked mixed deafness syndrome (with perilymphatic gusher during stapes surgery). *International journal of pediatric otorhinolaryngology, 6*, 179-185.
- Crovetto, M. A., Whyte, J., Sarasola, E., Rodriguez, J. A., & García-Barcina, M. J. (2012). Absence of COCH gene mutations in patients with superior semicircular canal dehiscence. *American journal of medical genetics. Part A*, 158(1), 251-253.
- Cruz, S., Shiao, J.-C., Liao, B.-K., Huang, C.-J., & Hwang, P.-P. (2009). Plasma membrane calcium ATPase required for semicircular canal formation and otolith growth in the zebrafish inner ear. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 212(5), 639-647. doi:10.1242/jeb.022798
- Cunningham, T. J., & Duester, G. (2015). Mechanisms of retinoic acid signalling and its roles in organ and limb development. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 16*(2), 110-123. doi:10.1038/nrm3932

- Dahm, R. (2006). The Zebrafish Exposed: "See-through" mutants may hold the key to unraveling the mysteries of embryonic development. *American Scientist*, *94*(5), 446-453. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/27858837
- De Genaro, P., Simón, M. V., Rotstein, N. P., & Politi, L. E. (2013). Retinoic Acid Promotes Apoptosis and Differentiation in Photoreceptors by Activating the P38 MAP Kinase Pathway. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 54(5), 3143-3156. doi:10.1167/iovs.12-11049
- de Roos, K., Sonneveld, E., Compaan, B., ten Berge, D., Durston, A. J., & van der Saag, P. T. (1999). Expression of retinoic acid 4-hydroxylase (CYP26) during mouse and Xenopus laevis embryogenesis. *Mechanisms of Development*, 82(1-2), 205-211.
- Deans, M. R., Peterson, J. M., & Wong, G. W. (2010). Mammalian Otolin: a multimeric glycoprotein specific to the inner ear that interacts with otoconial matrix protein Otoconin-90 and Cerebellin-1. *PloS one*, 5(9), e12765. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0012765
- Delmaghani, S., & El-Amraoui, A. (2020). Inner Ear Gene Therapies Take Off: Current Promises and Future Challenges. *Journal of clinical medicine*, 9(7), 2309. doi:10.3390/jcm9072309
- Delpire, E., Lu, J., England, R., Dull, C., & Thorne, T. (1999). Deafness and imbalance associated with inactivation of the secretory Na-K-2Cl co-transporter. *Nature Genetics*, 22(2), 192-195. doi:10.1038/9713
- Deltour, L., Foglio, M. H., & Duester, G. (1999). Metabolic deficiencies in alcohol dehydrogenase Adh1, Adh3, and Adh4 null mutant mice: Overlapping roles of Adh1 and Adh4 in ethanol clearance and metabolism of retinol to retinoic acid. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(24), 16796-16801.
- Delva, L., Bastie, J.-N., Rochette-Egly, C., Kraïba, R., Balitrand, N., Despouy, G., . . . Chomienne, C. (1999). Physical and functional interactions between cellular retinoic acid binding protein II and the retinoic acid-dependent nuclear complex. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 19(10), 7158-7167.
- Deng, M., Pan, L., Xie, X., & Gan, L. (2010). Requirement for Lmo4 in the vestibular morphogenesis of mouse inner ear. *Developmental Biology*, 338(1), 38-49. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.11.003
- Desmadryl, G., Dechesne, C., & Raymond, J. (1992). Recent Aspects of Development of the Vestibular Sense Organs and their Innervation Development of Auditory and Vestibular System 2. *Romand R*.
- Di Palma, F., Holme, R. H., Bryda, E. C., Belyantseva, I. A., Pellegrino, R., Kachar, B., . . . Noben-Trauth, K. (2001). Mutations in Cdh23, encoding a new type of cadherin, cause stereocilia disorganization in waltzer, the mouse model for Usher syndrome type 1D. *Nat Genet*, 27(1), 103-107. doi:10.1038/83660

- Diez del Corral, R., Olivera-Martinez, I., Goriely, A., Gale, E., Maden, M., & Storey, K. (2003). Opposing FGF and retinoid pathways control ventral neural pattern, neuronal differentiation, and segmentation during body axis extension. *Neuron, 40*(1), 65-79. doi:10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00565-8
- Dixon, M. J., Gazzard, J., Chaudhry, S. S., Sampson, N., Schulte, B. A., & Steel, K. P. (1999). Mutation of the Na-K-Cl Co-Transporter Gene Slc12a2 Results in Deafness in Mice. *Human molecular genetics*, 8(8), 1579-1584. doi:10.1093/hmg/8.8.1579
- Dodson, K. M., Blanton, S. H., Welch, K. O., Norris, V. W., Nuzzo, R. L., Wegelin, J. A., ... Arnos, K. S. (2011). Vestibular dysfunction in DFNB1 deafness. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 155(5), 993-1000.
- Dohlman, G. F. (1965). The Mechanism of Secretion and Absorption of Endolymph in the Vestibular Appartus. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, *59*(2-6), 275-288. doi:10.3109/00016486509124562
- Dohlman, G. F. (1980). Critical Review of the Concept of Cupula Functon. Acta Oto-Laryngologica, 90(sup376), 2-30. doi:10.3109/00016488009108886
- Dorsky, R. I., Sheldahl, L. C., & Moon, R. T. (2002). A transgenic Lef1/beta-catenin-dependent reporter is expressed in spatially restricted domains throughout zebrafish development. *Dev Biol, 241*(2), 229-237. doi:10.1006/dbio.2001.0515
- Dror, A. A., Politi, Y., Shahin, H., Lenz, D. R., Dossena, S., Nofziger, C., . . . Weiner, S. (2010). Calcium oxalate stone formation in the inner ear as a result of an Slc26a4 mutation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(28), 21724-21735.
- Duester, G. (2000). Families of retinoid dehydrogenases regulating vitamin A function: production of visual pigment and retinoic acid. *Eur J Biochem, 267*(14), 4315-4324. doi:10.1046/j.1432-1327.2000.01497.x
- Duester, G., Mic, F. A., & Molotkov, A. (2003). Cytosolic retinoid dehydrogenases govern ubiquitous metabolism of retinol to retinaldehyde followed by tissue-specific metabolism to retinoic acid. *Chemico-biological interactions*, 143, 201-210.
- Duffy, J. B. (2002). GAL4 system in drosophila: A fly geneticist's swiss army knife. genesis, 34.
- Dupé, V., Matt, N., Garnier, J.-M., Chambon, P., Mark, M., & Ghyselinck, N. B. (2003). A newborn lethal defect due to inactivation of retinaldehyde dehydrogenase type 3 is prevented by maternal retinoic acid treatment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 100*(24), 14036-14041.
- Eccles, M. R., & Schimmenti, L. A. (1999). Renal-coloboma syndrome: a multi-system developmental disorder caused by PAX2 mutations. *Clinical Genetics*, 56(1), 1-9. doi:https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-0004.1999.560101.x

- Egger, S., Chaikuad, A., Kavanagh, K. L., Oppermann, U., & Nidetzky, B. (2011). Structure and mechanism of human UDP-glucose 6-dehydrogenase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(27), 23877-23887.
- Egger, S., Chaikuad, A., Klimacek, M., Kavanagh, K. L., Oppermann, U., & Nidetzky, B. (2012). Structural and kinetic evidence that catalytic reaction of human UDP-glucose 6dehydrogenase involves covalent thiohemiacetal and thioester enzyme intermediates. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(3), 2119-2129.
- Ekdale, E. G. (2016). Form and function of the mammalian inner ear. *Journal of anatomy*, 228(2), 324-337. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/joa.12308
- Elefant, F., & Palter, K. B. (1999). Tissue-specific expression of dominant negative mutant Drosophila HSC70 causes developmental defects and lethality. *Molecular biology of the cell, 10*(7), 2101-2117. doi:10.1091/mbc.10.7.2101
- Elmaleh-Bergès, M., Baumann, C., Noël-Pétroff, N., Sekkal, A., Couloigner, V., Devriendt, K., . . Pingault, V. (2013). Spectrum of temporal bone abnormalities in patients with Waardenburg syndrome and SOX10 mutations. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 34(6), 1257-1263. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A3367
- Encinas, M., Iglesias, M., Llecha, N., & Comella, J. (1999). Extracellular-regulated kinases and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase are involved in brain-derived neurotrophic factor-mediated survival and neuritogenesis of the neuroblastoma cell line SH-SY5Y. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 73(4), 1409-1421.
- Erkman, L., McEvilly, R. J., Luo, L., Ryan, A. K., Hooshmand, F., O'connell, S. M., . . . Rosenfeld, M. G. (1996). Role of transcription factors a Brn-3.1 and Brn-3.2 in auditory and visual system development. *Nature*, 381(6583), 603-606.
- Ernest, S., Rauch, G.-J., Haffter, P., Geisler, R., Petit, C., & Nicolson, T. (2000). Mariner is defective in myosin VIIA: a zebrafish model for human hereditary deafness. *Human molecular genetics*, *9*(14), 2189-2196. doi:10.1093/hmg/9.14.2189
- Ethell, D. W., & Cameron, D. J. (2014). Imaging and 3D reconstruction of cerebrovascular structures in embryonic zebrafish. *Journal of visualized experiments: JoVE*(86).
- Everett, L. A., Belyantseva, I. A., Noben-Trauth, K., Cantos, R., Chen, A., Thakkar, S. I., . . . Green, E. D. (2001). Targeted disruption of mouse Pds provides insight about the innerear defects encountered in Pendred syndrome. *Human molecular genetics*, 10(2), 153-161.
- Evsen, L., Sugahara, S., Uchikawa, M., Kondoh, H., & Wu, D. K. (2013). Progression of Neurogenesis in the Inner Ear Requires Inhibition of Sox2 Transcription by Neurogenin1 and Neurod1. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(9), 3879-3890. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.4030-12.2013

- Falasca, L., Favale, A., Gualandi, G., Maietta, G., & Devirgiliis, L. C. (1998). Retinoic acid treatment induces apoptosis or expression of a more differentiated phenotype on different fractions of cultured fetal rat hepatocytes. *Hepatology*, 28(3), 727-737.
- Fan, X., Molotkov, A., Manabe, S.-I., Donmoyer, C. M., Deltour, L., Foglio, M. H., . . . Duester, G. (2003). Targeted disruption of Aldh1a1 (Raldh1) provides evidence for a complex mechanism of retinoic acid synthesis in the developing retina. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23(13), 4637-4648.
- Farjo, K. M., Moiseyev, G., Nikolaeva, O., Sandell, L. L., Trainor, P. A., & Ma, J.-x. (2011). RDH10 is the primary enzyme responsible for the first step of embryonic Vitamin A metabolism and retinoic acid synthesis. *Developmental Biology*, 357(2), 347-355.
- Favor, J., Sandulache, R., Neuhäuser-Klaus, A., Pretsch, W., Chatterjee, B., Senft, E., . . . Spörle, R. (1996). The mouse Pax21Neu mutation is identical to a human PAX2 mutation in a family with renal-coloboma syndrome and results in developmental defects of the brain, ear, eye, and kidney. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93(24), 13870-13875.
- Fekete, D. M. (1999). Development of the vertebrate ear: insights from knockouts and mutants. *Trends Neurosci, 22*(6), 263-269. doi:10.1016/s0166-2236(98)01366-6
- Fekete, D. M., & Wu, D. K. (2002). Revisiting cell fate specification in the inner ear. *Curr Opin Neurobiol, 12*(1), 35-42. doi:10.1016/s0959-4388(02)00287-8
- Feng, Y., & Xu, Q. (2010). Pivotal role of hmx2 and hmx3 in zebrafish inner ear and lateral line development. *Developmental Biology*, 339(2), 507-518.
- Flagella, M., Clarke, L. L., Miller, M. L., Erway, L. C., Giannella, R. A., Andringa, A., . . . Shull, G. E. (1999). Mice lacking the basolateral Na-K-2Cl cotransporter have impaired epithelial chloride secretion and are profoundly deaf. *J Biol Chem*, 274(38), 26946-26955. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.38.26946
- Fortuna, V. A., Trugo, L. C., & Borojevic, R. (2001). Acyl-CoA: retinol acyltransferase (ARAT) and lecithin:retinol acyltransferase (LRAT) activation during the lipocyte phenotype induction in hepatic stellate cells. *J Nutr Biochem*, 12(11), 610-621. doi:10.1016/s0955-2863(01)00179-6
- Frenz, D. A., Liu, W., Galinovic-Schwartz, V., & Van De Water, T. R. (1996). Retinoic acidinduced embryopathy of the mouse inner ear. *Teratology*, 53(5), 292-303. doi:10.1002/(sici)1096-9926(199605)53:5<292::Aid-tera3>3.0.Co;2-3
- Freter, S., Muta, Y., Mak, S.-S., Rinkwitz, S., & Ladher, R. K. (2008). Progressive restriction of otic fate: the role of FGF and Wnt in resolving inner ear potential. *Development*, 135(20), 3415-3424. doi:10.1242/dev.026674

- Fritzsch, B., Signore, M., & Simeone, A. (2001). Otx1 null mutant mice show partial segregation of sensory epithelia comparable to lamprey ears. *Dev Genes Evol, 211*(8-9), 388-396. doi:10.1007/s004270100166
- Fujii, H., Sato, T., Kaneko, S., Gotoh, O., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y., Osawa, K., . . . Hamada, H. (1997). Metabolic inactivation of retinoic acid by a novel P450 differentially expressed in developing mouse embryos. *The EMBO Journal*, *16*(14), 4163-4173.
- Gagnon, L. H., Longo-Guess, C. M., Berryman, M., Shin, J.-B., Saylor, K. W., Yu, H., . . . Johnson, K. R. (2006). The Chloride Intracellular Channel Protein CLIC5 Is Expressed at High Levels in Hair Cell Stereocilia and Is Essential for Normal Inner Ear Function. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(40), 10188-10198. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.2166-06.2006
- Gale, E., Zile, M., & Maden, M. (1999). Hindbrain respecification in the retinoid-deficient quail. *Mechanisms of Development, 89*(1-2), 43-54.
- Gall, J. G., & Pardue, M. L. (1969). Formation and detection of RNA-DNA hybrid molecules in cytological preparations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 63(2), 378-383. doi:10.1073/pnas.63.2.378
- Geng, F.-S., Abbas, L., Baxendale, S., Holdsworth, C. J., Swanson, A. G., Slanchev, K., . . . Whitfield, T. T. (2013). Semicircular canal morphogenesis in the zebrafish inner ear requires the function of gpr126 (lauscher), an adhesion class G protein-coupled receptor gene. *Development*, 140(21), 4362-4374. doi:10.1242/dev.098061
- Gesteira, T. F., Sun, M., Coulson-Thomas, Y. M., Yamaguchi, Y., Yeh, L.-K., Hascall, V., & Coulson-Thomas, V. J. (2017). Hyaluronan Rich Microenvironment in the Limbal Stem Cell Niche Regulates Limbal Stem Cell Differentiation. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 58(11), 4407-4421. doi:10.1167/iovs.17-22326
- Ghyselinck, N. B., & Duester, G. (2019). Retinoic acid signaling pathways. *Development*, 146(13). doi:10.1242/dev.167502
- Gibson, F., Walsh, J., Mburu, P., Varela, A., Brown, K. A., Antonio, M., . . . Brown, S. D. M. (1995). A type VII myosin encoded by the mouse deafness gene shaker-1. *Nature*, *374*(6517), 62-64. doi:10.1038/374062a0
- Gilmour, K., Thomas, K., Esbaugh, A., & Perry, S. (2009). Carbonic anhydrase expression and CO2 excretion during early development in zebrafish Danio rerio. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 212(23), 3837-3845.
- Giroud, A., & Martinet, M. (1959). [Teratogenesis by hypervitaminosis A in the rat, the mouse, the guinea pig and the rabbit]. *Arch Fr Pediatr*, *16*, 971-975.
- Glover, J. C., Renaud, J. S., & Rijli, F. M. (2006). Retinoic acid and hindbrain patterning. J Neurobiol, 66(7), 705-725. doi:10.1002/neu.20272

- Goetz, J. G., Steed, E., Ferreira, R. R., Roth, S., Ramspacher, C., Boselli, F., ... Vermot, J. (2014). Endothelial cilia mediate low flow sensing during zebrafish vascular development. *Cell Rep*, 6(5), 799-808. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2014.01.032
- Goldshmit, Y., Sztal, T. E., Jusuf, P. R., Hall, T. E., Nguyen-Chi, M., & Currie, P. D. (2012). Fgf-dependent glial cell bridges facilitate spinal cord regeneration in zebrafish. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(22), 7477-7492.
- Goodwin, C. R., Ahmed, A. K., & Xia, S. (2019). UDP-α-D-glucose 6-dehydrogenase: a promising target for glioblastoma. *Oncotarget*, *10*(16), 1542-1543. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.26670
- Gordon, C. T., Petit, F., Oufadem, M., Decaestecker, C., Jourdain, A.-S., Andrieux, J., ... Baumann, C. (2012). EFTUD2 haploinsufficiency leads to syndromic oesophageal atresia. *Journal of medical genetics*, 49(12), 737-746.
- Goyette, P., Allan, D., Peschard, P., Chen, C. F., Wang, W., & Lohnes, D. (2000). Regulation of Gli Activity by All-trans Retinoic Acid in Mouse Keratinocytes. *Cancer Research*, 60(19), 5386-5389. Retrieved from https://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/canres/60/19/5386.full.pdf
- Grandel, H., Lun, K., Rauch, G.-J., Rhinn, M., Piotrowski, T., Houart, C., . . . Geisler, R. (2002). Retinoic acid signalling in the zebrafish embryo is necessary during pre-segmentation stages to pattern the anterior-posterior axis of the CNS and to induce a pectoral fin bud. *Development*, 129(12), 2851-2865.
- Granström, G. (1990). Retinoid-induced ear malformations. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 103(5 (Pt 1)), 702-709. doi:10.1177/019459989010300507
- Greenhough, A., Bagley, C., Heesom, K. J., Gurevich, D. B., Gay, D., Bond, M., . . . Sansom, O. J. (2018). Cancer cell adaptation to hypoxia involves a HIF-GPRC5A-YAP axis. *EMBO molecular medicine*, 10(11), e8699.
- Gu, X., Xu, F., Song, W., Wang, X., Hu, P., Yang, Y., . . . Zhao, Q. (2006). A novel cytochrome P450, zebrafish Cyp26D1, is involved in metabolism of all-trans retinoic acid. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 20(7), 1661-1672.
- Gu, X., Xu, F., Wang, X., Gao, X., & Zhao, Q. (2005). Molecular cloning and expression of a novel CYP26 gene (cyp26d1) during zebrafish early development. *Gene Expression Patterns*, 5(6), 733-739. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.modgep.2005.04.005
- Gurr, B., & Moffat, N. (2001). Psychological consequences of vertigo and the effectiveness of vestibular rehabilitation for brain injury patients. *Brain Inj*, 15(5), 387-400. doi:10.1080/02699050010005904
- Haddon, C., & Lewis, J. (1996). Early ear development in the embryo of the zebrafish, Danio rerio. *J Comp Neurol*, *365*(1), 113-128.

- Haddon, C. M., & Lewis, J. H. (1991). Hyaluronan as a propellant for epithelial movement: the development of semicircular canals in the inner ear of Xenopus. *Development*, 112(2), 541-550. Retrieved from https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/112/2/541.full.pdf
- Hain, T. C., & Helminski, J. O. (2007). Anatomy and physiology of the normal vestibular system. *Vestibular rehabilitation*, 1(1), 2.
- Hale, L. A., Tallafuss, A., Yan, Y. L., Dudley, L., Eisen, J. S., & Postlethwait, J. H. (2006).
 Characterization of the retinoic acid receptor genes raraa, rarab and rarg during zebrafish development. *Gene Expr Patterns*, 6(5), 546-555. doi:10.1016/j.modgep.2005.10.007
- Halilagic, A., Zile, M. H., & Studer, M. (2003). A novel role for retinoids in patterning the avian forebrain during presomite stages. *Development*, 130(10), 2039-2050.
- Hammond, K. L., Loynes, H. E., Folarin, A. A., Smith, J., & Whitfield, T. T. (2003). Hedgehog signalling is required for correct anteroposterior patterning of the zebrafish otic vesicle. *Development*, 130(7), 1403-1417. doi:10.1242/dev.00360
- Hammond, K. L., Loynes, H. E., Mowbray, C., Runke, G., Hammerschmidt, M., Mullins, M. C., ... Whitfield, T. T. (2009). A Late Role for bmp2b in the Morphogenesis of Semicircular Canal Ducts in the Zebrafish Inner Ear. *PloS one*, 4(2), e4368. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0004368
- Hammond, K. L., & Whitfield, T. T. (2006). The developing lamprey ear closely resembles the zebrafish otic vesicle: otx1 expression can account for all major patterning differences. *Development*, 133(7), 1347-1357. doi:10.1242/dev.02306
- Han, Y., Mu, Y., Li, X., Xu, P., Tong, J., Liu, Z., . . . Du, J. (2011). Grhl2 deficiency impairs otic development and hearing ability in a zebrafish model of the progressive dominant hearing loss DFNA28. *Human molecular genetics*, 20(16), 3213-3226.
- Hans, S., Irmscher, A., & Brand, M. (2013). Zebrafish Foxi1 provides a neuronal ground state during inner ear induction preceding the Dlx3b/4b-regulated sensory lineage. *Development*, 140(9), 1936-1945. doi:10.1242/dev.087718
- Hans, S., Liu, D., & Westerfield, M. (2004). Pax8 and Pax2a function synergistically in otic specification, downstream of the Foxi1 and Dlx3b transcription factors. *Development*, 131(20), 5091-5102. doi:10.1242/dev.01346
- Hans, S., & Westerfield, M. (2007). Changes in retinoic acid signaling alter otic patterning. *Development, 134*(13), 2449-2458. doi:10.1242/dev.000448
- Hara, C., Morishita, K., Takayanagi-Kiya, S., Mikami, A., Uchino, K., Sakurai, T., . . . Kiya, T. (2017). Refinement of ectopic protein expression through the GAL4/UAS system in Bombyx mori: application to behavioral and developmental studies. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 11795. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-12102-2

- Harada, Y., Tagashira, N., & Hirakawa, K. (1989). Morphological Study of the Cells in the Planum Semilunatum. Acta Oto-Laryngologica, 108(sup468), 17-21. doi:10.3109/00016488909139015
- Harrison, P. R., Conkie, D., Paul, J., & Jones, K. (1973). Localisation of cellular globin messenger RNA by in situ hybridisation to complementary DNA. *FEBS Letters*, 32(1), 109-112. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(73)80749-5
- Hartwell, R. D., England, S. J., Monk, N. A., Van Hateren, N. J., Baxendale, S., Marzo, M., . . . Whitfield, T. T. (2019). Anteroposterior patterning of the zebrafish ear through Fgf-and Hh-dependent regulation of hmx3a expression. *PLoS genetics*, 15(4), e1008051.
- He, X., & Zhang, J. (2006). Toward a molecular understanding of pleiotropy. *Genetics*, 173(4), 1885-1891. doi:10.1534/genetics.106.060269
- Head, J. R., Gacioch, L., Pennisi, M., & Meyers, J. R. (2013). Activation of canonical Wnt/βcatenin signaling stimulates proliferation in neuromasts in the zebrafish posterior lateral line. *Dev Dyn*, 242(7), 832-846. doi:10.1002/dvdy.23973
- Helgerud, P., Petersen, L. B., & Norum, K. R. (1982). Acyl CoA:retinol acyltransferase in rat small intestine: its activity and some properties of the enzymic reaction. *J Lipid Res*, 23(4), 609-618.
- Hennekam, R., & Goldschmeding, R. (1998). Complete absence of rib ossification, micrognathia and ear anomalies: extreme expression of cerebro-costo-mandibular syndrome? *European Journal of Human Genetics, 6*(1).
- Hernandez, R. E., Galitan, L., Cameron, J., Goodwin, N., & Ramakrishnan, L. (2018). Delay of Initial Feeding of Zebrafish Larvae Until 8 Days Postfertilization Has No Impact on Survival or Growth Through the Juvenile Stage. *Zebrafish*, 15(5), 515-518. doi:10.1089/zeb.2018.1579
- Higuchi, S., Sugahara, F., Pascual-Anaya, J., Takagi, W., Oisi, Y., & Kuratani, S. (2019). Inner ear development in cyclostomes and evolution of the vertebrate semicircular canals. *Nature*, *565*(7739), 347-350. doi:10.1038/s41586-018-0782-y
- Holme, R. H., & Steel, K. P. (2002). Stereocilia defects in waltzer (Cdh23), shaker1 (Myo7a) and double waltzer/shaker1 mutant mice. *Hear Res*, 169(1-2), 13-23. doi:10.1016/s0378-5955(02)00334-9
- Hommerich, C. P. (1990). Ototoxicity of loop diuretics. Morphological and electrophysiological examinations in animal experiments. *Adv Otorhinolaryngol, 44*, 92-164.
- Hu, X., Gao, J., Liao, Y., Tang, S., & Lu, F. (2013). Retinoic acid alters the proliferation and survival of the epithelium and mesenchyme and suppresses Wnt/β-catenin signaling in developing cleft palate. *Cell Death & Disease*, 4(10), e898-e898. doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.424

- Huang, P., Xiong, F., Megason, S. G., & Schier, A. F. (2012). Attenuation of Notch and Hedgehog signaling is required for fate specification in the spinal cord. *PLoS genetics*, 8(6), e1002762.
- Hughes, I., Saito, M., Schlesinger, P. H., & Ornitz, D. M. (2007). Otopetrin 1 activation by purinergic nucleotides regulates intracellular calcium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104(29), 12023-12028. doi:10.1073/pnas.0705182104
- Hullar, T. E. (2006). Semicircular canal geometry, afferent sensitivity, and animal behavior. The Anatomical Record Part A: Discoveries in Molecular, Cellular, and Evolutionary Biology: An Official Publication of the American Association of Anatomists, 288(4), 466-472.
- Hwang, C. H., Simeone, A., Lai, E., & Wu, D. K. (2009). Foxg1 is required for proper separation and formation of sensory cristae during inner ear development. *Developmental dynamics: an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists, 238*(11), 2725-2734.
- Hynes, R. O. (2009). The extracellular matrix: not just pretty fibrils. *Science*, *326*(5957), 1216-1219. doi:10.1126/science.1176009
- Igawa, H. H., Nishizawa, N., Sugihara, T., & Inuyama, Y. (2000). Inner ear abnormalities in Kabuki make-up syndrome: Report of three cases. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 92(2), 87-89.
- Inoue, D., & Wittbrodt, J. (2011). One for all--a highly efficient and versatile method for fluorescent immunostaining in fish embryos. *PloS one*, 6(5), e19713-e19713. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019713
- Isken, A., Golczak, M., Oberhauser, V., Hunzelmann, S., Driever, W., Imanishi, Y., ... von Lintig, J. (2008). RBP4 disrupts vitamin A uptake homeostasis in a STRA6-deficient animal model for Matthew-Wood syndrome. *Cell metabolism*, 7(3), 258-268.
- Ito, Y., Kobayashi, S., Nakamura, N., Esaki, M., Miyagi, H., Hoshijima, K., & Hirose, S. (2013). Close Association of Carbonic Anhydrase (CA2a and CA15a), Na+/H+ Exchanger (Nhe3b), and Ammonia Transporter Rhcg1 in Zebrafish Ionocytes Responsible for Na+ Uptake. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 4(59). doi:10.3389/fphys.2013.00059
- Janesick, A., Nguyen, T. T., Aisaki, K., Igarashi, K., Kitajima, S., Chandraratna, R. A., . . . Blumberg, B. (2014). Active repression by RARγ signaling is required for vertebrate axial elongation. *Development*, *141*(11), 2260-2270. doi:10.1242/dev.103705
- Janesick, A., Shiotsugu, J., Taketani, M., & Blumberg, B. (2012). RIPPLY3 is a retinoic acidinducible repressor required for setting the borders of the pre-placodal ectoderm. *Development*, 139(6), 1213-1224. doi:10.1242/dev.071456
- Jarvis, B. L., Johnston, M. C., & Sulik, K. K. (1990). Congenital malformations of the external, middle, and inner ear produced by isotretinoin exposure in mouse embryos. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 102(4), 391-401. doi:10.1177/019459989010200414

- Jimenez-Lara, A., Clarke, N., Altucci, L., & Gronemeyer, H. (2004). Retinoic-acid-induced apoptosis in leukemia cells. *Trends in molecular medicine*, *10*(10), 508-515.
- Jin, M., Eblimit, A., Pulikkathara, M., Corr, S., Chen, R., & Mardon, G. (2016). Conditional knockout of retinal determination genes in differentiating cells in Drosophila. *The FEBS Journal*, 283(15), 2754-2766. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.13772
- Jones, G. M., & Spells, K. E. (1963). A theoretical and comparative study of the functional dependence of the semicircular canal upon its physical dimensions. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 157*, 403-419. doi:10.1098/rspb.1963.0019
- Jones, K. W., & Robertson, F. W. (1970). Localisation of reiterated nucleotide sequences in Drosophila and mouse by in situ hybridisation of complementary RNA. *Chromosoma*, 31(3), 331-345. doi:10.1007/bf00321229
- Jones, S. M., Robertson, N. G., Given, S., Giersch, A. B. S., Liberman, M. C., & Morton, C. C. (2011). Hearing and vestibular deficits in the Coch(-/-) null mouse model: comparison to the Coch(G88E/G88E) mouse and to DFNA9 hearing and balance disorder. *Hearing Research*, 272(1-2), 42-48. doi:10.1016/j.heares.2010.11.002
- Jongmans, M. C. J., Hoefsloot, L. H., van der Donk, K. P., Admiraal, R. J., Magee, A., van de Laar, I., . . . van Ravenswaaij, C. M. A. (2008). Familial CHARGE syndrome and the CHD7 gene: A recurrent missense mutation, intrafamilial recurrence and variability. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 146A(1), 43-50. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.31921
- Jun, B. C., Song, S. W., Cho, J. E., Park, C. S., Lee, D. H., Chang, K. H., & Yeo, S. W. (2005). Three-dimensional reconstruction based on images from spiral high-resolution computed tomography of the temporal bone: anatomy and clinical application. *J Laryngol Otol*, 119(9), 693-698. doi:10.1258/0022215054797862
- Jurynec, M. J., Xia, R., Mackrill, J. J., Gunther, D., Crawford, T., Flanigan, K. M., ... Grunwald, D. J. (2008). Selenoprotein N is required for ryanodine receptor calcium release channel activity in human and zebrafish muscle. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105(34), 12485-12490. doi:10.1073/pnas.0806015105
- Kakidani, H., & Ptashne, M. (1988). GAL4 activates gene expression in mammalian cells. *Cell*, *52*(2), 161-167. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(88)90504-1
- Kalka, M., Markiewicz, N., Ptak, M., Sone, E. D., Ożyhar, A., Dobryszycki, P., & Wojtas, M. (2019). In vivo and in vitro analysis of starmaker activity in zebrafish otolith biomineralization. *The FASEB Journal*, 33(6), 6877-6886. doi:https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201802268R
- Kalueff, A. V., Gebhardt, M., Stewart, A. M., Cachat, J. M., Brimmer, M., Chawla, J. S., . . . Zebrafish Neuroscience Research, C. (2013). Towards a comprehensive catalog of zebrafish behavior 1.0 and beyond. *Zebrafish*, 10(1), 70-86. doi:10.1089/zeb.2012.0861

- Kantarci, H., Edlund, R. K., Groves, A. K., & Riley, B. B. (2015). Tfap2a promotes specification and maturation of neurons in the inner ear through modulation of Bmp, Fgf and notch signaling. *PLoS genetics*, *11*(3), e1005037-e1005037. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1005037
- Kantarci, S., Al-Gazali, L., Hill, R. S., Donnai, D., Black, G. C., Bieth, E., . . . Teebi, A. (2007). Mutations in LRP2, which encodes the multiligand receptor megalin, cause Donnai-Barrow and facio-oculo-acoustico-renal syndromes. *Nature Genetics*, *39*(8), 957-959.
- Kashyap, V., & Gudas, L. J. (2010). Epigenetic regulatory mechanisms distinguish retinoic acidmediated transcriptional responses in stem cells and fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem*, 285(19), 14534-14548. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.115345
- Kassemi, M., Deserranno, D., & Oas, J. G. (2005). Fluid–structural interactions in the inner ear. *Computers & Structures*, 83(2), 181-189. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compstruc.2004.08.001
- Katayama, K.-I., Imai, F., Suto, F., & Yoshida, Y. (2013). Deletion of Sema3a or plexinA1/plexinA3 Causes Defects in Sensory Afferent Projections of Statoacoustic Ganglion Neurons. 8(8), e72512. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072512
- Kaufman, M. (1992). The atlas of mouse development: London: Academic Press.
- Kawakami, K., Asakawa, K., Hibi, M., Itoh, M., Muto, A., & Wada, H. (2016). Chapter Three -Gal4 Driver Transgenic Zebrafish: Powerful Tools to Study Developmental Biology, Organogenesis, and Neuroscience. In N. S. Foulkes (Ed.), *Advances in Genetics* (Vol. 95, pp. 65-87): Academic Press.
- Kawashima, Y., Géléoc, G. S., Kurima, K., Labay, V., Lelli, A., Asai, Y., . . . Holt, J. R. (2011). Mechanotransduction in mouse inner ear hair cells requires transmembrane channel–like genes. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *121*(12), 4796-4809.
- Kedishvili, N. Y., Gough, W. H., Davis, W. I., Parsons, S., Li, T. K., & Bosron, W. F. (1998).
 Effect of cellular retinol-binding protein on retinol oxidation by human class IV retinol/alcohol dehydrogenase and inhibition by ethanol. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 249*(1), 191-196. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1998.9105
- Kelley, M. W., Turner, J. K., & Reh, T. A. (1994). Retinoic acid promotes differentiation of photoreceptors in vitro. *Development*, 120(8), 2091-2102.
- Kendi, T. K., Arikan, O. K., & Koc, C. (2005). Volume of components of labyrinth: magnetic resonance imaging study. *Otology & Neurotology*, *26*(4), 778-781.
- Khetarpal, U., Schuknecht, H. F., Gacek, R. R., & Holmes, L. B. (1991). Autosomal dominant sensorineural hearing loss: pedigrees, audiologic findings, and temporal bone findings in two kindreds. *Archives of Otolaryngology–Head & Neck Surgery*, *117*(9), 1032-1042.

- Kholodenko, R., Kholodenko, I., Sorokin, V., Tolmazova, A., Sazonova, O., & Buzdin, A. (2007). Anti-apoptotic effect of retinoic acid on retinal progenitor cells mediated by a protein kinase A-dependent mechanism. *Cell research*, 17(2), 151-162.
- Kido, T., Sekitani, T., Yamashita, H., Endo, S., Masumitsu, Y., & Shimogori, H. (1991). Effects of carbonic anhydrase inhibitor on the otolithic organs of developing chick embryos. *Am J Otolaryngol, 12*(4), 191-195. doi:10.1016/0196-0709(91)90119-z
- Kiernan, A. E. (2006). The paintfill method as a tool for analyzing the three-dimensional structure of the inner ear. *Brain Research*, 1091(1), 270-276. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2006.02.037
- Kiernan, A. E., Pelling, A. L., Leung, K. K., Tang, A. S., Bell, D. M., Tease, C., . . . Cheah, K. S. (2005). Sox2 is required for sensory organ development in the mammalian inner ear. *Nature*, 434(7036), 1031-1035. doi:10.1038/nature03487
- Kil, S. H., Streit, A., Brown, S. T., Agrawal, N., Collazo, A., Zile, M. H., & Groves, A. K. (2005). Distinct roles for hindbrain and paraxial mesoderm in the induction and patterning of the inner ear revealed by a study of vitamin-A-deficient quail. *Dev Biol*, 285(1), 252-271. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2005.05.044
- Killick, R., & Richardson, G. P. (1997). Antibodies to the sulphated, high molecular mass mouse tectorin stain hair bundles and the olfactory mucus layer. *Hear Res*, 103(1-2), 131-141. doi:10.1016/s0378-5955(96)00174-8
- Kim, E., Hyrc, K. L., Speck, J., Lundberg, Y. W., Salles, F. T., Kachar, B., . . . Ornitz, D. M. (2010). Regulation of cellular calcium in vestibular supporting cells by otopetrin 1. J Neurophysiol, 104(6), 3439-3450. doi:10.1152/jn.00525.2010
- Kim, E., Hyrc, K. L., Speck, J., Salles, F. T., Lundberg, Y. W., Goldberg, M. P., . . . Ornitz, D. M. (2011). Missense mutations in Otopetrin 1 affect subcellular localization and inhibition of purinergic signaling in vestibular supporting cells. *Mol Cell Neurosci*, 46(3), 655-661. doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2011.01.005
- Kim, H. M., & Wangemann, P. (2010). Failure of fluid absorption in the endolymphatic sac initiates cochlear enlargement that leads to deafness in mice lacking pendrin expression. *PloS one*, 5(11), e14041. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0014041
- Kim, H. M., & Wangemann, P. (2011). Epithelial cell stretching and luminal acidification lead to a retarded development of stria vascularis and deafness in mice lacking pendrin. *PloS* one, 6(3), e17949. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0017949
- Kimmel, C. B., Ballard, W. W., Kimmel, S. R., Ullmann, B., & Schilling, T. F. (1995). Stages of embryonic development of the zebrafish. *Developmental dynamics*, 203(3), 253-310.
- Kimura, R., Lundquist, P. G., & Wersaell, J. (1964). Secretory epithelial linings in the ampullae of the guines pig labyrinth. *Acta Otolaryngol*, 57, 517-530. doi:10.3109/00016486409137114

- Kitamura, K., Yagi, M., Yoshikawa, Y., Ochidubo, F., & Kato, M. (1991). Vestibular pathology in a new-mutant mouse. *Acta Otolaryngol Suppl, 481*, 121-124. doi:10.3109/00016489109131362
- Koga, A., Iida, A., Hori, H., Shimada, A., & Shima, A. (2006). Vertebrate DNA transposon as a natural mutator: the medaka fish Tol2 element contributes to genetic variation without recognizable traces. *Mol Biol Evol*, 23(7), 1414-1419. doi:10.1093/molbev/msl003
- Kolev, O. I., & Sergeeva, M. (2016). Vestibular disorders following different types of head and neck trauma. *Functional neurology*, *31*(2), 75-80. doi:10.11138/fneur/2016.31.2.075
- Kono, M., Goletz, P. W., & Crouch, R. K. (2008). 11-cis- and all-trans-retinols can activate rod opsin: rational design of the visual cycle. *Biochemistry*, 47(28), 7567-7571. doi:10.1021/bi800357b
- Koo, S. K., Hill, J. K., Hwang, C. H., Lin, Z. S., Millen, K. J., & Wu, D. K. (2009). Lmx1a maintains proper neurogenic, sensory, and non-sensory domains in the mammalian inner ear. *Dev Biol*, 333(1), 14-25. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.06.016
- Kopecky, B., Johnson, S., Schmitz, H., Santi, P., & Fritzsch, B. (2012). Scanning thin-sheet laser imaging microscopy elucidates details on mouse ear development. *Developmental dynamics : an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists, 241*(3), 465-480. doi:10.1002/dvdy.23736
- Koundakjian, E. J., Appler, J. L., & Goodrich, L. V. (2007). Auditory neurons make stereotyped wiring decisions before maturation of their targets. *The Journal of neuroscience : the* official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 27(51), 14078-14088. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.3765-07.2007
- Kozel, P. J., Friedman, R. A., Erway, L. C., Yamoah, E. N., Liu, L. H., Riddle, T., . . . Shull, G. E. (1998). Balance and hearing deficits in mice with a null mutation in the gene encoding plasma membrane Ca2+-ATPase isoform 2. *J Biol Chem*, 273(30), 18693-18696. doi:10.1074/jbc.273.30.18693
- Kozlowski, D. J., Whitfield, T. T., Hukriede, N. A., Lam, W. K., & Weinberg, E. S. (2005). The zebrafish dog-eared mutation disrupts eya1, a gene required for cell survival and differentiation in the inner ear and lateral line. *Developmental Biology*, 277(1), 27-41.
- Kudoh, T., Tsang, M., Hukriede, N. A., Chen, X., Dedekian, M., Clarke, C. J., . . . Toyama, R. (2001). A gene expression screen in zebrafish embryogenesis. *Genome research*, 11(12), 1979-1987.
- Kulkarni, A. M., Rajput, K., Raglan, E., Abrams, D., & Bitner-Glindzicz, M. (2012). Is gross motor delay secondary to bilateral vestibular hypofunction in Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome? *Audiological Medicine*, *10*(2), 93-98. doi:10.3109/1651386x.2012.686165

- Kurokawa, R., Söderström, M., Hörlein, A., Halachmi, S., Brown, M., Rosenfeld, M. G., & Glass, C. K. (1995). Polarity-specific activities of retinoic acid receptors determined by a co-repressor. *Nature*, 377(6548), 451-454. doi:10.1038/377451a0
- Kwak, S.-J., Phillips, B. T., Heck, R., & Riley, B. B. (2002). An expanded domain of fgf3 expression in the hindbrain of zebrafish valentino mutants results in mis-patterning of the otic vesicle. *Development*, 129(22), 5279-5287. Retrieved from https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/129/22/5279.full.pdf
- Kwon, H.-J., Bhat, N., Sweet, E. M., Cornell, R. A., & Riley, B. B. (2010). Identification of early requirements for preplacodal ectoderm and sensory organ development. *PLoS genetics*, 6(9), e1001133-e1001133. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1001133
- Ladher, R. K., Wright, T. J., Moon, A. M., Mansour, S. L., & Schoenwolf, G. C. (2005). FGF8 initiates inner ear induction in chick and mouse. *Genes & development*, 19(5), 603-613.
- Lalwani, A. K., Linthicum, F. H., Wilcox, E. R., Moore, J. K., Walters, F. C., San Agustin, T. B., ... Attaie, A. (1997). A five-generation family with late-onset progressive hereditary hearing impairment due to cochleosaccular degeneration. *Audiology and Neurotology*, 2(3), 139-154.
- Lalwani, A. K., Luxford, W. M., Mhatre, A. N., Attaie, A., Wilcox, E. R., & Castelein, C. M. (1999). A new locus for nonsyndromic hereditary hearing impairment, DFNA17, maps to chromosome 22 and represents a gene for cochleosaccular degeneration. *American journal of human genetics*, 64(1), 318.
- Lammer, E. J., Chen, D. T., Hoar, R. M., Agnish, N. D., Benke, P. J., Braun, J. T., . . . et al. (1985). Retinoic acid embryopathy. *N Engl J Med*, *313*(14), 837-841. doi:10.1056/nejm198510033131401
- Lawoko-Kerali, G., Rivolta, M. N., Lawlor, P., Cacciabue-Rivolta, D. I., Langton-Hewer, C., van Doorninck, J. H., & Holley, M. C. (2004). GATA3 and NeuroD distinguish auditory and vestibular neurons during development of the mammalian inner ear. *Mech Dev*, 121(3), 287-299. doi:10.1016/j.mod.2003.12.006
- Le Caignec, C., Lefevre, M., Schott, J., Chaventre, A., Gayet, M., Calais, C., & Moisan, J. (2002). Familial deafness, congenital heart defects, and posterior embryotoxon caused by cysteine substitution in the first epidermal-growth-factor–like domain of Jagged 1. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 71(1), 180-186.
- Lecaudey, V., Ulloa, E., Anselme, I., Stedman, A., Schneider-Maunoury, S., & Pujades, C. (2007). Role of the hindbrain in patterning the otic vesicle: A study of the zebrafish vhnfl mutant. *Developmental Biology*, 303(1), 134-143. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2006.10.041
- Lee, H.-C., Lo, H.-C., Lo, D.-M., Su, M.-Y., Hu, J.-R., Wu, C.-C., . . . Tsai, H.-J. (2015). Amiodarone Induces Overexpression of Similar to Versican b to Repress the

EGFR/Gsk3b/Snail Signaling Axis during Cardiac Valve Formation of Zebrafish Embryos. *PloS one*, *10*(12), e0144751. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0144751

- Legan, P. K., Lukashkina, V. A., Goodyear, R. J., Kössi, M., Russell, I. J., & Richardson, G. P. (2000). A targeted deletion in alpha-tectorin reveals that the tectorial membrane is required for the gain and timing of cochlear feedback. *Neuron*, 28(1), 273-285. doi:10.1016/s0896-6273(00)00102-1
- Legan, P. K., Rau, A., Keen, J. N., & Richardson, G. P. (1997). The mouse tectorins. Modular matrix proteins of the inner ear homologous to components of the sperm-egg adhesion system. *J Biol Chem*, 272(13), 8791-8801. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.13.8791
- Léger, S., & Brand, M. (2002). Fgf8 and Fgf3 are required for zebrafish ear placode induction, maintenance and inner ear patterning. *Mech Dev*, 119(1), 91-108. doi:10.1016/s0925-4773(02)00343-x
- Lentz, J., Pan, F., Ng, S. S., Deininger, P., & Keats, B. (2007). Ush1c216A knock-in mouse survives Katrina. *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, 616(1-2), 139-144. doi:10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2006.11.006
- Lentz, J. J., Jodelka, F. M., Hinrich, A. J., McCaffrey, K. E., Farris, H. E., Spalitta, M. J., . . . Hastings, M. L. (2013). Rescue of hearing and vestibular function by antisense oligonucleotides in a mouse model of human deafness. *Nat Med*, 19(3), 345-350. doi:10.1038/nm.3106
- Levi, L., Ziv, T., Admon, A., Levavi-Sivan, B., & Lubzens, E. (2012). Insight into molecular pathways of retinal metabolism, associated with vitellogenesis in zebrafish. *American journal of physiology-endocrinology and metabolism, 302*(6), E626-E644.
- Li, C.-M., Hoffman, H. J., Ward, B. K., Cohen, H. S., & Rine, R. M. (2016). Epidemiology of Dizziness and Balance Problems in Children in the United States: A Population-Based Study. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 171, 240-247.e243. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2015.12.002
- Li, M., Nishio, S.-y., Naruse, C., Riddell, M., Sapski, S., Katsuno, T., . . . Nakayama, M. (2020). Digenic inheritance of mutations in EPHA2 and SLC26A4 in Pendred syndrome. *Nature Communications*, 11(1), 1343. doi:10.1038/s41467-020-15198-9
- Li, W.-H., Zhou, L., Li, Z., Wang, Y., Shi, J.-T., Yang, Y.-J., & Gui, J.-F. (2015). Zebrafish Lbhlike is required for Otx2-mediated photoreceptor differentiation. *International journal of biological sciences*, 11(6), 688.
- Li, X., Oghi, K. A., Zhang, J., Krones, A., Bush, K. T., Glass, C. K., . . . Rosenfeld, M. G. (2003). Eya protein phosphatase activity regulates Six1-Dach-Eya transcriptional effects in mammalian organogenesis. *Nature*, 426(6964), 247-254. doi:10.1038/nature02083
- Lin, S. C., Dollé, P., Ryckebüsch, L., Noseda, M., Zaffran, S., Schneider, M. D., & Niederreither, K. (2010). Endogenous retinoic acid regulates cardiac progenitor

differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 107*(20), 9234-9239. doi:10.1073/pnas.0910430107

- Lin, T.-Y., Liao, B.-K., Horng, J.-L., Yan, J.-J., Hsiao, C.-D., & Hwang, P.-P. (2008). Carbonic anhydrase 2-like a and 15a are involved in acid-base regulation and Na+ uptake in zebrafish H+-ATPase-rich cells. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 294(5), C1250-C1260.
- Litsiou, A., Hanson, S., & Streit, A. (2005). A balance of FGF, BMP and WNT signalling positions the future placode territory in the head. *Development*, 132(18), 4051. doi:10.1242/dev.01964
- Liu, D., Chu, H., Maves, L., Yan, Y.-L., Morcos, P. A., Postlethwait, J. H., & Westerfield, M. (2003). Fgf3 and Fgf8 dependent and independent transcription factors are required for otic placode specification. *Development*, 130(10), 2213-2224.
- Liu, W., Li, G., Chien, J. S., Raft, S., Zhang, H., Chiang, C., & Frenz, D. A. (2002). Sonic hedgehog regulates otic capsule chondrogenesis and inner ear development in the mouse embryo. *Dev Biol*, 248(2), 240-250. doi:10.1006/dbio.2002.0733
- Lo, W. W., Daniels, D. L., Chakeres, D. W., Linthicum, F. H., Jr., Ulmer, J. L., Mark, L. P., & Swartz, J. D. (1997). The endolymphatic duct and sac. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 18(5), 881-887.
- Löhle, E. (1985). Ultrastructural changes in the organ of Corti and in the ganglion spiral cochleae after vitamin A deficiency. *Pathol Res Pract, 179*(4-5), 560-567. doi:10.1016/s0344-0338(85)80197-7
- Lombarte, A., Yan, H. Y., Popper, A. N., Chang, J. S., & Platt, C. (1993). Damage and regeneration of hair cell ciliary bundles in a fish ear following treatment with gentamicin. *Hearing Research*, 64(2), 166-174. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5955(93)90002-I
- Lu, W., Zhou, D., Freeman, J. J., Thalmann, I., Ornitz, D. M., & Thalmann, R. (2010). In vitro effects of recombinant otoconin 90 upon calcite crystal growth. Significance of tertiary structure. *Hear Res*, 268(1-2), 172-183. doi:10.1016/j.heares.2010.05.019
- Lufkin, T., Dierich, A., LeMeur, M., Mark, M., & Chambon, P. (1991). Disruption of the Hox-1.6 homeobox gene results in defects in a region corresponding to its rostral domain of expression. *Cell*, *66*(6), 1105-1119.
- Lupo, G., Gestri, G., O'Brien, M., Denton, R. M., Chandraratna, R. A., Ley, S. V., . . . Wilson, S. W. (2011). Retinoic acid receptor signaling regulates choroid fissure closure through independent mechanisms in the ventral optic cup and periocular mesenchyme. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(21), 8698-8703. doi:10.1073/pnas.1103802108
- Lush, M. E., & Piotrowski, T. (2014). Sensory hair cell regeneration in the zebrafish lateral line. *Dev Dyn, 243*(10), 1187-1202. doi:10.1002/dvdy.24167

- Lv, K., Huang, H., Lu, Y., Qin, C., Li, Z., & Feng, J. Q. (2010). Circling behavior developed in Dmp1 null mice is due to bone defects in the vestibular apparatus. *International journal* of biological sciences, 6(6), 537-545. doi:10.7150/ijbs.6.537
- Lysakowski, A. (1999). Development of synaptic innervation in the rodent utricle. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 871,* 422.
- MacDonald, P. N., & Ong, D. E. (1988). Evidence for a lecithin-retinol acyltransferase activity in the rat small intestine. *J Biol Chem*, *263*(25), 12478-12482.
- MacLean, G., Abu-Abed, S., Dollé, P., Tahayato, A., Chambon, P., & Petkovich, M. (2001). Cloning of a novel retinoic-acid metabolizing cytochrome P450, Cyp26B1, and comparative expression analysis with Cyp26A1 during early murine development. *Mech Dev*, 107(1-2), 195-201. doi:10.1016/s0925-4773(01)00463-4
- Maden, M., Gale, E., Kostetskii, I., & Zile, M. (1996). Vitamin A-deficient quail embryos have half a hindbrain and other neural defects. *Curr Biol*, *6*(4), 417-426. doi:10.1016/s0960-9822(02)00509-2
- Maier, E. C., & Whitfield, T. T. (2014). RA and FGF Signalling Are Required in the Zebrafish Otic Vesicle to Pattern and Maintain Ventral Otic Identities. *PLoS genetics*, 10(12), e1004858. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1004858
- Maklad, A., Reed, C., Johnson, N. S., & Fritzsch, B. (2014). Anatomy of the lamprey ear: morphological evidence for occurrence of horizontal semicircular ducts in the labyrinth of Petromyzon marinus. *Journal of anatomy*, 224(4), 432-446.
- Mann, S., Parker, S. B., Ross, M. D., Skarnulis, A. J., & Williams, R. J. (1983). The ultrastructure of the calcium carbonate balance organs of the inner ear: an ultra-high resolution electron microscopy study. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 218*(1213), 415-424. doi:10.1098/rspb.1983.0048
- Manolis, E. N., Yandavi, N., Nadol Jr, J. B., Eavey, R. D., McKenna, M., Rosenbaum, S., . . . Duyk, G. M. (1996). A gene for non-syndromic autosomal dominant progressive postlingual sensorineural hearing loss maps to chromosome 14q12–13. *Human molecular genetics*, 5(7), 1047-1050.
- Mansour, S. L., Goddard, J. M., & Capecchi, M. R. (1993). Mice homozygous for a targeted disruption of the proto-oncogene int-2 have developmental defects in the tail and inner ear. *Development*, 117(1), 13-28. Retrieved from https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/117/1/13.full.pdf
- Maren, T. H. (1984). The General Physiology of Reactions Catalyzed by Carbonic Anhydrase and Their Inhibition by Sulfonamides a. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 429(1), 568-579.

- Maroon, H., Walshe, J., Mahmood, R., Kiefer, P., Dickson, C., & Mason, I. (2002). Fgf3 and Fgf8 are required together for formation of the otic placode and vesicle. *Development*, *129*(9), 2099-2108.
- Martin, D. M., Sheldon, S., & Gorski, J. L. (2001). CHARGE association with choanal atresia and inner ear hypoplasia in a child with a de novo chromosome translocation t (2; 7)(p14; q21. 11). *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, *99*(2), 115-119.
- Martin, K., & Groves, A. K. (2006). Competence of cranial ectoderm to respond to Fgf signaling suggests a two-step model of otic placode induction. *Development*, 133(5), 877-887.
- Martin, P., & Swanson, G. J. (1993). Descriptive and experimental analysis of the epithelial remodellings that control semicircular canal formation in the developing mouse inner ear. *Developmental Biology*, *159*(2), 549-558.
- Maulding, K., Padanad, M. S., Dong, J., & Riley, B. B. (2014). Mesodermal Fgf10b cooperates with other fibroblast growth factors during induction of otic and epibranchial placodes in zebrafish. *Developmental dynamics*, 243(10), 1275-1285. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.24119
- Maves, L., & Kimmel, C. B. (2005). Dynamic and sequential patterning of the zebrafish posterior hindbrain by retinoic acid. *Developmental Biology*, 285(2), 593-605.
- Mazan, S., Jaillard, D., Baratte, B., & Janvier, P. (2000). Otx1 gene-controlled morphogenesis of the horizontal semicircular canal and the origin of the gnathostome characteristics. *Evol Dev*, *2*(4), 186-193. doi:10.1046/j.1525-142x.2000.00062.x
- McCarroll, M. N., Lewis, Z. R., Culbertson, M. D., Martin, B. L., Kimelman, D., & Nechiporuk, A. V. (2012). Graded levels of Pax2a and Pax8 regulate cell differentiation during sensory placode formation. *Development*, 139(15), 2740-2750. doi:10.1242/dev.076075
- McFarren, A., Jayabose, S., Ozkaynak, M. F., Tugal, O., & Sandoval, C. (2007). Cleft palate, bilateral external auditory canal atresia, and other midline defects associated with Diamond-Blackfan anemia: case report. *Journal of pediatric hematology/oncology, 29*(5), 338-340.
- McInerney, E. M., Rose, D. W., Flynn, S. E., Westin, S., Mullen, T. M., Krones, A., . . . Rosenfeld, M. G. (1998). Determinants of coactivator LXXLL motif specificity in nuclear receptor transcriptional activation. *Genes Dev*, 12(21), 3357-3368. doi:10.1101/gad.12.21.3357
- McNeill, A., Iovino, E., Mansard, L., Vache, C., Baux, D., Bedoukian, E., . . . Delpire, E. (2020). SLC12A2 variants cause a neurodevelopmental disorder or cochleovestibular defect. *Brain*, 143(8), 2380-2387. doi:10.1093/brain/awaa176
- McVean, A. (1991). The semicircular canals of the hagfish Myxine glutinosa. *Journal of Zoology, 224*(2), 213-222. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.1991.tb04800.x
- McVean, A. (2009). The semicircular canals of the hagfish Myxine glutinosa. *Journal of Zoology, 224*, 213-222. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.1991.tb04800.x
- Melnick, M., Bixler, D., Nance, W. E., Silk, K., & Yune, H. (1976). Familial branchio-oto-renal dysplasia: a new addition to the branchial arch syndromes. *Clin Genet*, *9*(1), 25-34. doi:10.1111/j.1399-0004.1976.tb01546.x
- Mescher, A. (2010). Chapter 23. The eye and ear: special sense organs. *Junqueira's basic histology: text & atlas*.
- Metzler, M. A., & Sandell, L. L. (2016). Enzymatic metabolism of vitamin A in developing vertebrate embryos. *Nutrients*, 8(12), 812.
- Mic, F. A., Haselbeck, R. J., Cuenca, A. E., & Duester, G. (2002). Novel retinoic acid generating activities in the neural tube and heart identified by conditional rescue of Raldh2 null mutant mice. *Development*, 129(9), 2271-2282.
- Michaels, L. (1987). Malformations and Congenital Lesions of the Inner Ear. In *Ear, Nose and Throat Histopathology* (pp. 77-87): Springer.
- Miller Bever, M., Jean, Y. Y., & Fekete, D. M. (2003). Three-dimensional morphology of inner ear development in Xenopus laevis. *Developmental dynamics: an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists, 227*(3), 422-430.
- Miller, N. D., Nance, M. A., Wohler, E. S., Hoover-Fong, J. E., Lisi, E., Thomas, G. H., & Pevsner, J. (2009). Molecular (SNP) analyses of overlapping hemizygous deletions of 10q25. 3 to 10qter in four patients: evidence for HMX2 and HMX3 as candidate genes in hearing and vestibular function. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 149(4), 669-680.
- Millonig, J. H., Millen, K. J., & Hatten, M. E. (2000). The mouse Dreher gene Lmx1a controls formation of the roof plate in the vertebrate CNS. *Nature*, 403(6771), 764-769.
- Molotkov, A., Deltour, L., Foglio, M. H., Cuenca, A. E., & Duester, G. (2002). Distinct retinoid metabolic functions for alcohol dehydrogenase genes Adh1 and Adh4 in protection against vitamin A toxicity or deficiency revealed in double null mutant mice. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(16), 13804-13811.
- Molotkova, N., Molotkov, A., & Duester, G. (2007). Role of retinoic acid during forebrain development begins late when Raldh3 generates retinoic acid in the ventral subventricular zone. *Developmental Biology*, *303*(2), 601-610.
- Monboisse, J. C., Oudart, J. B., Ramont, L., Brassart-Pasco, S., & Maquart, F. X. (2014). Matrikines from basement membrane collagens: a new anti-cancer strategy. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1840(8), 2589-2598. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.12.029

- Morsli, H., Choo, D., Ryan, A., Johnson, R., & Wu, D. K. (1998). Development of the Mouse Inner Ear and Origin of Its Sensory Organs. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(9), 3327-3335. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.18-09-03327.1998
- Morsli, H., Tuorto, F., Choo, D., Postiglione, M. P., Simeone, A., & Wu, D. K. (1999). Otx1 and Otx2 activities are required for the normal development of the mouse inner ear. *Development*, *126*(11), 2335-2343.
- Muller, M. (1999). Size limitations in semicircular duct systems. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 198(3), 405-437.
- Murayama, E., Herbomel, P., Kawakami, A., Takeda, H., & Nagasawa, H. (2005). Otolith matrix proteins OMP-1 and Otolin-1 are necessary for normal otolith growth and their correct anchoring onto the sensory maculae. *Mech Dev*, 122(6), 791-803. doi:10.1016/j.mod.2005.03.002
- Murray, G. I., Melvin, W. T., Greenlee, W. F., & Burke, M. D. (2001). REGULATION, FUNCTION, ANDTISSUE-SPECIFICEXPRESSION OFCYTOCHROMEP450 CYP1B1. Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology, 41(1), 297-316. doi:10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.41.1.297
- Mutai, H., Wasano, K., Momozawa, Y., Kamatani, Y., Miya, F., Masuda, S., . . . Matsunaga, T. (2020). Variants encoding a restricted carboxy-terminal domain of SLC12A2 cause hereditary hearing loss in humans. *PLoS genetics*, 16(4), e1008643. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1008643
- Muto, Y., & Goodman, D. S. (1972). Vitamin A transport in rat plasma: isolation and characterization of retinol-binding protein. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 247(8), 2533-2541.
- Nadol Jr, J. B. (1993). Hearing loss. New England Journal of Medicine, 329(15), 1092-1102.
- Nakaya, K., Harbidge, D. G., Wangemann, P., Schultz, B. D., Green, E. D., Wall, S. M., & Marcus, D. C. (2007). Lack of pendrin HCO3- transport elevates vestibular endolymphatic [Ca2+] by inhibition of acid-sensitive TRPV5 and TRPV6 channels. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*, 292(5), F1314-1321. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00432.2006
- Namba, A., Abe, S., Shinkawa, H., Kimberling, W. J., & Usami, S.-i. (2001). Genetic features of hearing loss associated with ear anomalies: PDS and EYA1 mutation analysis. *Journal of human genetics*, 46(9), 518-521.
- Neuhauss, S. C., Solnica-Krezel, L., Schier, A. F., Zwartkruis, F., Stemple, D. L., Malicki, J., . . . Driever, W. (1996). Mutations affecting craniofacial development in zebrafish. *Development*, 123(1), 357-367. Retrieved from https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/123/1/357.full.pdf

- Nguyen, K., Hall, A. L., & Jones, J. M. (2015). Expression of myosin VIIA in the developing chick inner ear neurons. *Gene Expr Patterns*, 19(1-2), 36-44. doi:10.1016/j.gep.2015.07.001
- Nguyen, K., Hall, A. L., & Jones, J. M. (2015). Expression of myosin VIIA in the developing chick inner ear neurons. *Gene Expression Patterns*, *19*(1-2), 36-44. doi:10.1016/j.gep.2015.07.001
- Nichols, D. H., Pauley, S., Jahan, I., Beisel, K. W., Millen, K. J., & Fritzsch, B. (2008). Lmx1a is required for segregation of sensory epithelia and normal ear histogenesis and morphogenesis. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 334(3), 339-358. doi:10.1007/s00441-008-0709-2
- Nicolson, T., Rüsch, A., Friedrich, R. W., Granato, M., Ruppersberg, J. P., & Nüsslein-Volhard, C. (1998). Genetic Analysis of Vertebrate Sensory Hair Cell Mechanosensation: the Zebrafish Circler Mutants. *Neuron*, 20(2), 271-283. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80455-9
- Niederreither, K., Subbarayan, V., Dollé, P., & Chambon, P. (1999). Embryonic retinoic acid synthesis is essential for early mouse post-implantation development. *Nature Genetics*, 21(4), 444-448. doi:10.1038/7788
- Niederreither, K., Vermot, J., Fraulob, V., Chambon, P., & Dollé, P. (2002). Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (RALDH2)-independent patterns of retinoic acid synthesis in the mouse embryo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *99*(25), 16111-16116.
- Niederreither, K., Vermot, J., Messaddeq, N., Schuhbaur, B., Chambon, P., & Dollé, P. (2001). Embryonic retinoic acid synthesis is essential for heart morphogenesis in the mouse. *Development*, 128(7), 1019-1031.
- Niederreither, K., Vermot, J., Schuhbaur, B., Chambon, P., & Dollé, P. (2000). Retinoic acid synthesis and hindbrain patterning in the mouse embryo. *Development*, *127*(1), 75-85.
- Niederreither, K., Vermot, J., Schuhbaur, B., Chambon, P., & Dollé, P. (2002). Embryonic retinoic acid synthesis is required for forelimb growth and anteroposterior patterning in the mouse. *Development*, *129*(15), 3563-3574.
- Noda, T., Oki, S., Kitajima, K., Harada, T., Komune, S., & Meno, C. (2012). Restriction of Wnt signaling in the dorsal otocyst determines semicircular canal formation in the mouse embryo. *Developmental Biology*, 362(1), 83-93. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2011.11.019
- Ohta, S., & Schoenwolf, G. C. (2018). Hearing crosstalk: the molecular conversation orchestrating inner ear dorsoventral patterning. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol*, 7(1). doi:10.1002/wdev.302

- Ohta, S., Wang, B., Mansour, S. L., & Schoenwolf, G. C. (2016). BMP regulates regional gene expression in the dorsal otocyst through canonical and non-canonical intracellular pathways. *Development*, *143*(12), 2228-2237. doi:10.1242/dev.137133
- Ohyama, T., Mohamed, O. A., Taketo, M. M., Dufort, D., & Groves, A. K. (2006). Wnt signals mediate a fate decision between otic placode and epidermis. *Development*, 133(5), 865. doi:10.1242/dev.02271
- Omata, Y., Nojima, Y., Nakayama, S., Okamoto, H., Nakamura, H., & Funahashi, J. i. (2007). Role of Bone morphogenetic protein 4 in zebrafish semicircular canal development. *Development, Growth & Differentiation, 49*(9), 711-719. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-169X.2007.00964.x
- Ong, D. E., & Chytil, F. (1975). Retinoic acid-binding protein in rat tissue. Partial purification and comparison to rat tissue retinol-binding protein. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 250(15), 6113-6117.
- Ong, D. E., & Chytil, F. (1976). Changes in levels of cellular retinol-and retinoic-acid-binding proteins of liver and lung during perinatal development of rat. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 73(11), 3976-3978.
- Ono, K., Keller, J., López Ramírez, O., González Garrido, A., Zobeiri, O. A., Chang, H. H. V., . .
 Wu, D. K. (2020). Retinoic acid degradation shapes zonal development of vestibular organs and sensitivity to transient linear accelerations. *Nature Communications*, 11(1), 63. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-13710-4
- Ono, K., Sandell, L. L., Trainor, P. A., & Wu, D. K. (2020). Retinoic acid synthesis and autoregulation mediate zonal patterning of vestibular organs and inner ear morphogenesis. *Development*, *147*(15), dev192070. doi:10.1242/dev.192070
- Osei-Sarfo, K., & Gudas, L. J. (2014). Retinoic acid suppresses the canonical Wnt signaling pathway in embryonic stem cells and activates the noncanonical Wnt signaling pathway. *Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio), 32*(8), 2061-2071. doi:10.1002/stem.1706
- Oström, M., Loffler, K. A., Edfalk, S., Selander, L., Dahl, U., Ricordi, C., . . . Edlund, H. (2008). Retinoic acid promotes the generation of pancreatic endocrine progenitor cells and their further differentiation into beta-cells. *PloS one*, *3*(7), e2841. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002841
- Packard, R. R. S., Baek, K. I., Beebe, T., Jen, N., Ding, Y., Shi, F., . . . Hsiai, T. K. (2017). Automated Segmentation of Light-Sheet Fluorescent Imaging to Characterize Experimental Doxorubicin-Induced Cardiac Injury and Repair. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 8603. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-09152-x
- Padanad, M. S., Bhat, N., Guo, B., & Riley, B. B. (2012). Conditions that influence the response to Fgf during otic placode induction. *Developmental Biology*, 364(1), 1-10.

- Pan, B., Askew, C., Galvin, A., Heman-Ackah, S., Asai, Y., Indzhykulian, A. A., ... Géléoc, G. S. (2017). Gene therapy restores auditory and vestibular function in a mouse model of Usher syndrome type 1c. *Nature biotechnology*, *35*(3), 264-272. doi:10.1038/nbt.3801
- Pan, N., Jahan, I., Kersigo, J., Kopecky, B., Santi, P., Johnson, S., . . . Fritzsch, B. (2011). Conditional deletion of Atoh1 using Pax2-Cre results in viable mice without differentiated cochlear hair cells that have lost most of the organ of Corti. *Hear Res*, 275(1-2), 66-80. doi:10.1016/j.heares.2010.12.002
- Pan, W., Jin, Y., Chen, J., Rottier, R. J., Steel, K. P., & Kiernan, A. E. (2013). Ectopic Expression of Activated Notch or SOX2 Reveals Similar and Unique Roles in the Development of the Sensory Cell Progenitors in the Mammalian Inner Ear. *The Journal* of Neuroscience, 33(41), 16146-16157. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.3150-12.2013
- Park, B.-Y., & Saint-Jeannet, J.-P. (2008). Hindbrain-derived Wnt and Fgf signals cooperate to specify the otic placode in Xenopus. *Developmental Biology*, *324*(1), 108-121.
- Park, W.-J., Meyers, G. A., Li, X., Theda, C., Day, D., Oriow, S. J., . . . Jabs, E. W. (1995). Novel FGFR2 mutations in Crouzon and Jackson-Weiss syndromes show allelic heterogeneity and phenotypic variability. *Human molecular genetics*, 4(7), 1229-1233.
- Pasqualetti, M., Neun, R., Davenne, M., & Rijli, F. M. (2001). Retinoic acid rescues inner ear defects in Hoxal deficient mice. *Nature Genetics*, 29(1), 34-39.
- Paterson, N. F. (1949). The development of the inner ear of Xenopus laevis. *Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London, 119*(2), 269-291. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1096-3642.1949.tb00878.x
- Pauley, S., Wright, T. J., Pirvola, U., Ornitz, D., Beisel, K., & Fritzsch, B. (2003). Expression and function of FGF10 in mammalian inner ear development. *Dev Dyn*, 227(2), 203-215. doi:10.1002/dvdy.10297
- Penzes, P., & Napoli, J. L. (1999). Holo-cellular retinol-binding protein: distinction of ligandbinding affinity from efficiency as substrate in retinal biosynthesis. *Biochemistry*, 38(7), 2088-2093. doi:10.1021/bi982228t
- Peterson, R. E., Tu, C., & Linser, P. J. (1997). Isolation and Characterization of a Carbonic Anhydrase Homologue from the Zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Journal of Molecular Evolution*, 44(4), 432-439. doi:10.1007/PL00006163
- Petko, J. A., Millimaki, B. B., Canfield, V. A., Riley, B. B., & Levenson, R. (2008). Otoc1: a novel otoconin-90 ortholog required for otolith mineralization in zebrafish. *Dev Neurobiol*, 68(2), 209-222. doi:10.1002/dneu.20587
- Petrovic, J., Formosa-Jordan, P., Luna-Escalante, J. C., Abelló, G., Ibañes, M., Neves, J., & Giraldez, F. (2014). Ligand-dependent Notch signaling strength orchestrates lateral induction and lateral inhibition in the developing inner ear. *Development*, 141(11), 2313-2324. doi:10.1242/dev.108100

- Phillips, B. T., Bolding, K., & Riley, B. B. (2001). Zebrafish fgf3 and fgf8 encode redundant functions required for otic placode induction. *Developmental Biology*, 235(2), 351-365.
- Phillips, J. B., Blanco-Sanchez, B., Lentz, J. J., Tallafuss, A., Khanobdee, K., Sampath, S., . . . Westerfield, M. (2011). Harmonin (Ush1c) is required in zebrafish Müller glial cells for photoreceptor synaptic development and function. *Dis Model Mech*, 4(6), 786-800. doi:10.1242/dmm.006429
- Pittlik, S., & Begemann, G. (2012). New sources of retinoic acid synthesis revealed by live imaging of an Aldh1a2-GFP reporter fusion protein throughout zebrafish development. *Dev Dyn, 241*(7), 1205-1216. doi:10.1002/dvdy.23805
- Pittlik, S., Domingues, S., Meyer, A., & Begemann, G. (2008). Expression of zebrafish aldh1a3 (raldh3) and absence of aldh1a1 in teleosts. *Gene Expression Patterns*, 8(3), 141-147. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gep.2007.11.003
- Plate, L. (1910). Genetics and evolution. *Festschrift Zum Sechzigsten Geburtstag Richard Hertwigs (in German)*, 536-610.
- Poss, K. D., Wilson, L. G., & Keating, M. T. (2002). Heart regeneration in zebrafish. *Science*, 298(5601), 2188-2190. doi:10.1126/science.1077857
- Power, S. C., Lancman, J., & Smith, S. M. (1999). Retinoic acid is essential for shh/hoxd signaling during rat limb outgrowth but not for limb initiation. *Developmental dynamics*, 216(4-5), 469-480.
- Purves, D., Augustine, G., Fitzpatrick, D., Katz, L., LaMantia, A., McNamara, J., & Williams, S. (2001). The Otolith Organs: The Utricle and Sacculus. *Neuroscience*.
- Quintero-Rivera, F., Robson, C. D., Reiss, R. E., Levine, D., Benson, C. B., Mulliken, J. B., & Kimonis, V. E. (2006). Intracranial anomalies detected by imaging studies in 30 patients with Apert syndrome. *American journal of medical genetics. Part A*, 140(12), 1337.
- Rabbitt, R. D., Damiano, E. R., & Grant, J. W. (2004). Biomechanics of the semicircular canals and otolith organs. In *The vestibular system* (pp. 153-201): Springer.
- Radosevic, M. (2011). *Spatial control of inner ear neurogenesis by retinoic acid, Tbx1 and her genes*: Universitat Pompeu Fabra.
- Radosevic, M., Robert-Moreno, A., Coolen, M., Bally-Cuif, L., & Alsina, B. (2011). Her9 represses neurogenic fate downstream of Tbx1 and retinoic acid signaling in the inner ear. *Development*, *138*(3), 397-408.
- Raft, S., Andrade, L. R., Shao, D., Akiyama, H., Henkemeyer, M., & Wu, D. K. (2014). Ephrin-B2 governs morphogenesis of endolymphatic sac and duct epithelia in the mouse inner ear. *Developmental Biology*, 390(1), 51-67.

- Raft, S., Koundakjian, E. J., Quinones, H., Jayasena, C. S., Goodrich, L. V., Johnson, J. E., ... Groves, A. K. (2007). Cross-regulation of Ngn1 and Math1 coordinates the production of neurons and sensory hair cells during inner ear development. *Development*, 134(24), 4405-4415. doi:10.1242/dev.009118
- Raft, S., Nowotschin, S., Liao, J., & Morrow, B. E. (2004). Suppression of neural fate and control of inner ear morphogenesis by Tbx1. *Development*, 131(8), 1801-1812.
- Rajaii, F., Bitzer, Z. T., Xu, Q., & Sockanathan, S. (2008). Expression of the dominant negative retinoid receptor, RAR403, alters telencephalic progenitor proliferation, survival, and cell fate specification. *Developmental Biology*, 316(2), 371-382.
- Ramos, K. S. (1999). Redox regulation of c-Ha-ras and osteopontin signaling in vascular smooth muscle cells: implications in chemical atherogenesis. *Annual review of pharmacology* and toxicology, 39(1), 243-265.
- Raphael, Y., Kobayashi, K. N., Dootz, G. A., Beyer, L. A., Dolan, D. F., & Burmeister, M. (2001). Severe vestibular and auditory impairment in three alleles of Ames waltzer (av) mice. *Hear Res*, 151(1-2), 237-249. doi:10.1016/s0378-5955(00)00233-1
- Rau, A., Legan, P. K., & Richardson, G. P. (1999). Tectorin mRNA expression is spatially and temporally restricted during mouse inner ear development. *J Comp Neurol*, 405(2), 271-280.
- Rau, T. S., Würfel, W., Lenarz, T., & Majdani, O. (2013). Three-dimensional histological specimen preparation for accurate imaging and spatial reconstruction of the middle and inner ear. *Int J Comput Assist Radiol Surg*, 8(4), 481-509. doi:10.1007/s11548-013-0825-7
- Rauch, G., Lyons, D., Middendorf, I., Friedlander, B., Arana, N., Reyes, T., & Talbot, W. (2003). Submission and curation of gene expression data. *ZFIN direct data submission*.
- Rederstorff, M., Castets, P., Arbogast, S., Lainé, J., Vassilopoulos, S., Beuvin, M., . . . Lescure, A. (2011). Increased muscle stress-sensitivity induced by selenoprotein N inactivation in mouse: a mammalian model for SEPN1-related myopathy. *PloS one, 6*(8), e23094. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0023094
- Ribes, V., Wang, Z., Dollé, P., & Niederreither, K. (2006). Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (RALDH2)-mediated retinoic acid synthesis regulates early mouse embryonic forebrain development by controlling FGF and sonic hedgehog signaling. *Development*, 133(2), 351-361.
- Ricciardelli, C., Sakko, A. J., Ween, M. P., Russell, D. L., & Horsfall, D. J. (2009). The biological role and regulation of versican levels in cancer. *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews*, 28(1-2), 233.

- Riccomagno, M. M., Martinu, L., Mulheisen, M., Wu, D. K., & Epstein, D. J. (2002). Specification of the mammalian cochlea is dependent on Sonic hedgehog. *Genes Dev*, *16*(18), 2365-2378. doi:10.1101/gad.1013302
- Riccomagno, M. M., Takada, S., & Epstein, D. J. (2005). Wnt-dependent regulation of inner ear morphogenesis is balanced by the opposing and supporting roles of Shh. *Genes & development*, 19(13), 1612-1623. doi:10.1101/gad.1303905
- Riley, B. B., & Moorman, S. J. (2000). Development of utricular otoliths, but not saccular otoliths, is necessary for vestibular function and survival in zebrafish. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 43(4), 329-337.
- Riley, B. B., Zhu, C., Janetopoulos, C., & Aufderheide, K. J. (1997). A Critical Period of Ear Development Controlled by Distinct Populations of Ciliated Cells in the Zebrafish. *Developmental Biology*, 191(2), 191-201. doi:https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1997.8736
- Roa, L. A., Bloemen, M., Carels, C. E. L., Wagener, F. A. D. T. G., & Von den Hoff, J. W. (2019). Retinoic acid disrupts osteogenesis in pre-osteoblasts by down-regulating WNT signaling. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, *116*, 105597. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2019.105597
- Robertson, N. G., Cremers, C. W., Huygen, P. L., Ikezono, T., Krastins, B., Kremer, H., . . . Morton, C. C. (2006). Cochlin immunostaining of inner ear pathologic deposits and proteomic analysis in DFNA9 deafness and vestibular dysfunction. *Hum Mol Genet*, 15(7), 1071-1085. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddl022
- Rochel, N., Ciesielski, F., Godet, J., Moman, E., Roessle, M., Peluso-Iltis, C., . . . Mély, Y. (2011). Common architecture of nuclear receptor heterodimers on DNA direct repeat elements with different spacings. *Nature structural & molecular biology*, 18(5), 564.
- Rogers, M. J., Fleming, J., Kiernan, B. W., Mburu, P., Varela, A., Brown, S. D., & Steel, K. P. (1999). Genetic mapping of the whirler mutation. *Mamm Genome*, 10(5), 513-519. doi:10.1007/s003359901032
- Rohacek, A. M., Bebee, T. W., Tilton, R. K., Radens, C. M., McDermott-Roe, C., Peart, N., . . . Musunuru, K. (2017). ESRP1 mutations cause hearing loss due to defects in alternative splicing that disrupt cochlear development. *Developmental cell*, 43(3), 318-331. e315.
- Romand, R., Dollé, P., & Hashino, E. (2006). Retinoid signaling in inner ear development. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 66(7), 687-704. doi:10.1002/neu.20244
- Romand, R., Hashino, E., Dollé, P., Vonesch, J. L., Chambon, P., & Ghyselinck, N. B. (2002). The retinoic acid receptors RARalpha and RARgamma are required for inner ear development. *Mech Dev*, 119(2), 213-223. doi:10.1016/s0925-4773(02)00385-4
- Romand, R., Krezel, W., Beraneck, M., Cammas, L., Fraulob, V., Messaddeq, N., . . . Dollé, P. (2013). Retinoic acid deficiency impairs the vestibular function. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(13), 5856-5866.

- Romand, R., Niederreither, K., Abu-Abed, S., Petkovich, M., Fraulob, V., Hashino, E., & Dollé, P. (2004). Complementary expression patterns of retinoid acid-synthesizing and metabolizing enzymes in pre-natal mouse inner ear structures. *Gene Expression Patterns*, 4(2), 123-133. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.modgep.2003.09.006
- Rombough, P. J. (2007). Ontogenetic changes in the toxicity and efficacy of the anaesthetic MS222 (tricaine methanesulfonate) in zebrafish (Danio rerio) larvae. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology, 148*(2), 463-469. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2007.06.415
- Ross, M. D., & Pote, K. G. (1984). Some Properties of Otoconia. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences, 304*(1121), 445-452. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2396113
- Ross, M. D., & Pote, K. G. (1984). Some properties of otoconia. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, *304*(1121), 445-452. doi:10.1098/rstb.1984.0038
- Ruf, R. G., Xu, P. X., Silvius, D., Otto, E. A., Beekmann, F., Muerb, U. T., . . . Hildebrandt, F. (2004). SIX1 mutations cause branchio-oto-renal syndrome by disruption of EYA1-SIX1-DNA complexes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101(21), 8090-8095. doi:10.1073/pnas.0308475101
- Sai, X., & Ladher, R. K. (2008). FGF Signaling Regulates Cytoskeletal Remodeling during Epithelial Morphogenesis. *Current Biology*, 18(13), 976-981. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.05.049
- Sai, X., Yonemura, S., & Ladher, R. K. (2014). Junctionally restricted RhoA activity is necessary for apical constriction during phase 2 inner ear placode invagination. *Developmental Biology*, 394(2), 206-216. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2014.08.022
- Salamat, M. S., Ross, M. D., & Peacor, D. R. (1980). Otoconial formation in the fetal rat. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol*, *89*(3 Pt 1), 229-238. doi:10.1177/000348948008900308
- Salminen, M., Meyer, B. I., Bober, E., & Gruss, P. (2000). Netrin 1 is required for semicircular canal formation in the mouse inner ear. *Development*, 127(1), 13-22. Retrieved from https://dev.biologists.org/content/develop/127/1/13.full.pdf
- Sandell, L. L., Lynn, M. L., Inman, K. E., McDowell, W., & Trainor, P. A. (2012). RDH10 oxidation of Vitamin A is a critical control step in synthesis of retinoic acid during mouse embryogenesis. *PloS one*, 7(2), e30698.
- Sandell, L. L., Sanderson, B. W., Moiseyev, G., Johnson, T., Mushegian, A., Young, K., . . . Trainor, P. A. (2007). RDH10 is essential for synthesis of embryonic retinoic acid and is required for limb, craniofacial, and organ development. *Genes & development, 21*(9), 1113-1124.

- Sanyanusin, P., McNoe, L. A., Sullivan, M. J., Weaver, R. G., & Eccles, M. R. (1995). Mutation of PAX2 in two siblings with renal-coloboma syndrome. *Hum Mol Genet*, 4(11), 2183-2184. doi:10.1093/hmg/4.11.2183
- Sapède, D., Dyballa, S., & Pujades, C. (2012). Cell lineage analysis reveals three different progenitor pools for neurosensory elements in the otic vesicle. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 32*(46), 16424-16434. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3686-12.2012
- Sarmah, S., Barrallo-Gimeno, A., Melville, D. B., Topczewski, J., Solnica-Krezel, L., & Knapik, E. W. (2010). Sec24D-Dependent Transport of Extracellular Matrix Proteins Is Required for Zebrafish Skeletal Morphogenesis. *PloS one*, 5(4), e10367. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0010367
- Satoh, T., & Fekete, D. M. (2005). Clonal analysis of the relationships between mechanosensory cells and the neurons that innervate them in the chicken ear. *Development*, 132(7), 1687-1697. doi:10.1242/dev.01730
- Saunders, L. M., Mishra, A. K., Aman, A. J., Lewis, V. M., Toomey, M. B., Packer, J. S., . . . Trapnell, C. (2019). Thyroid hormone regulates distinct paths to maturation in pigment cell lineages. *Elife*, 8, e45181.
- Saupe, F., Schwenzer, A., Jia, Y., Gasser, I., Spenlé, C., Langlois, B., . . . Orend, G. (2013). Tenascin-C downregulates wnt inhibitor dickkopf-1, promoting tumorigenesis in a neuroendocrine tumor model. *Cell Rep*, 5(2), 482-492. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2013.09.014
- Scheer, N., & Campos-Ortega, J. A. (1999). Use of the Gal4-UAS technique for targeted gene expression in the zebrafish. *Mechanisms of Development*, 80(2), 153-158. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4773(98)00209-3
- Schlosser, G., & Ahrens, K. (2004). Molecular anatomy of placode development in Xenopus laevis. *Developmental Biology*, 271(2), 439-466. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2004.04.013
- Schlosser, G., & Northcutt, R. G. (2000). Development of neurogenic placodes in Xenopus laevis. *J Comp Neurol*, 418(2), 121-146.
- Schorle, H., Meier, P., Buchert, M., Jaenisch, R., & Mitchell, P. J. (1996). Transcription factor AP-2 essential for cranial closure and craniofacial development. *Nature*, 381(6579), 235-238. doi:10.1038/381235a0
- Schraders, M., Ruiz-Palmero, L., Kalay, E., Oostrik, J., del Castillo, F. J., Sezgin, O., . . . Seco, C. Z. (2012). Mutations of the gene encoding otogelin are a cause of autosomal-recessive nonsyndromic moderate hearing impairment. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 91(5), 883-889.

- Schwarzer, S., Spieß, S., Brand, M., & Hans, S. (2017). Dlx3b/4b is required for early-born but not later-forming sensory hair cells during zebrafish inner ear development. *Biology Open*, 6(9), 1270-1278. doi:10.1242/bio.026211
- Seco, C. Z., Oonk, A. M. M., Domínguez-Ruiz, M., Draaisma, J. M. T., Gandía, M., Oostrik, J., . . Schraders, M. (2015). Progressive hearing loss and vestibular dysfunction caused by a homozygous nonsense mutation in CLIC5. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 23(2), 189-194. doi:10.1038/ejhg.2014.83
- Sensi, A., Ceruti, S., Trevisi, P., Gualandi, F., Busi, M., Donati, I., . . . Martini, A. (2011). LAMM syndrome with middle ear dysplasia associated with compound heterozygosity for FGF3 mutations. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 155(5), 1096-1101.
- Sethi, T., Rintoul, R. C., Moore, S. M., MacKinnon, A. C., Salter, D., Choo, C., . . . Haslett, C. (1999). Extracellular matrix proteins protect small cell lung cancer cells against apoptosis: a mechanism for small cell lung cancer growth and drug resistance in vivo. *Nat Med*, 5(6), 662-668. doi:10.1038/9511
- Shine, I., & Watson, J. (1967). A new syndrome of sex-linked congenital conductive deafness. In: Unpublished.
- Shiotsugu, J., Katsuyama, Y., Arima, K., Baxter, A., Koide, T., Song, J., . . . Blumberg, B. (2004). Multiple points of interaction between retinoic acid and FGF signaling during embryonic axis formation. *Development*, 131(11), 2653-2667. doi:10.1242/dev.01129
- Silverman, D. N., & Lindskog, S. (1988). The catalytic mechanism of carbonic anhydrase: implications of a rate-limiting protolysis of water. Accounts of Chemical Research, 21(1), 30-36.
- Simmler, M. C., Cohen-Salmon, M., El-Amraoui, A., Guillaud, L., Benichou, J. C., Petit, C., & Panthier, J. J. (2000). Targeted disruption of otog results in deafness and severe imbalance. *Nat Genet*, 24(2), 139-143. doi:10.1038/72793
- Simmler, M. C., Zwaenepoel, I., Verpy, E., Guillaud, L., Elbaz, C., Petit, C., & Panthier, J. J. (2000). Twister mutant mice are defective for otogelin, a component specific to inner ear acellular membranes. *Mamm Genome*, 11(11), 960-966.
- Sisneros, J. A., & Rogers, P. H. (2016). Directional Hearing and Sound Source Localization in Fishes. In (pp. 121-155): Springer International Publishing.
- Smith, M. E., Coffin, A. B., Miller, D. L., & Popper, A. N. (2006). Anatomical and functional recovery of the goldfish (Carassius auratus) ear following noise exposure. *J Exp Biol*, 209(Pt 21), 4193-4202. doi:10.1242/jeb.02490
- Smith, R. J. H., Lee, E. C., Kimberling, W. J., Daiger, S. P., Pelias, M. Z., Keats, B. J. B., . . . Fielding Hejtmancik, J. (1992). Localization of two genes for usher syndrome type I to chromosome 11. *Genomics*, 14(4), 995-1002. doi:10.1016/s0888-7543(05)80122-3

- Smith, R. J. H., Pelias, M. Z., Daiger, S. P., Keats, B., Kimberling, W., & Hejtmancik, J. F. (1992). Clinical variability and genetic heterogeneity within the Acadian Usher population. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 43(6), 964-969. doi:10.1002/ajmg.1320430612
- Söllner, C., Burghammer, M., Busch-Nentwich, E., Berger, J., Schwarz, H., Riekel, C., & Nicolson, T. (2003). Control of crystal size and lattice formation by starmaker in otolith biomineralization. *Science*, 302(5643), 282-286.
- Söllner, C., Rauch, G. J., Siemens, J., Geisler, R., Schuster, S. C., Müller, U., & Nicolson, T. (2004). Mutations in cadherin 23 affect tip links in zebrafish sensory hair cells. *Nature*, 428(6986), 955-959. doi:10.1038/nature02484
- Song, M. H., Kwon, T.-J., Kim, H. R., Jeon, J. H., Baek, J.-I., Lee, W.-S., . . . Choi, J. Y. (2013). Mutational analysis of EYA1, SIX1 and SIX5 genes and strategies for management of hearing loss in patients with BOR/BO syndrome. *PloS one*, 8(6), e67236.
- Spoor, F., Garland, T., Jr., Krovitz, G., Ryan, T. M., Silcox, M. T., & Walker, A. (2007). The primate semicircular canal system and locomotion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104(26), 10808-10812. doi:10.1073/pnas.0704250104
- Steevens, A. R., Sookiasian, D. L., Glatzer, J. C., & Kiernan, A. E. (2017). SOX2 is required for inner ear neurogenesis. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 4086. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-04315-2
- Steiner, A. B., Kim, T., Cabot, V., & Hudspeth, A. J. (2014). Dynamic gene expression by putative hair-cell progenitors during regeneration in the zebrafish lateral line. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111(14), E1393-1401. doi:10.1073/pnas.1318692111
- Steventon, B., Mayor, R., & Streit, A. (2012). Mutual repression between Gbx2 and Otx2 in sensory placodes reveals a general mechanism for ectodermal patterning. *Developmental Biology*, 367(1), 55-65.
- Steyger, P. S., & Wiederhold, M. L. (1995). Visualization of newt aragonitic otoconial matrices using transmission electron microscopy. *Hear Res*, 92(1-2), 184-191. doi:10.1016/0378-5955(95)00221-9
- Stinckens, C., Huygen, P. L., Joosten, F. B., Van Camp, G., Otten, B., & Cremers, C. W. (2001). Fluctuant, progressive hearing loss associated with Menière like vertigo in three patients with the Pendred syndrome. *Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol, 61*(3), 207-215. doi:10.1016/s0165-5876(01)00573-0
- Stone, J. S., Oesterle, E. C., & Rubel, E. W. (1998). Recent insights into regeneration of auditory and vestibular hair cells. *Current opinion in neurology*, 11(1), 17-24.
- Stooke-Vaughan, G. A., Obholzer, N. D., Baxendale, S., Megason, S. G., & Whitfield, T. T. (2015). Otolith tethering in the zebrafish otic vesicle requires Otogelin and α-Tectorin. *Development*, 142(6), 1137-1145. doi:10.1242/dev.116632

- Stratford, T., Horton, C., & Maden, M. (1996). Retinoic acid is required for the initiation of outgrowth in the chick limb bud. *Current Biology*, 6(9), 1124-1133.
- Streisinger, G. (1984). Attainment of minimal biological variability and measurements of genotoxicity: production of homozygous diploid zebra fish. *Natl Cancer Inst Monogr*, 65, 53-58.
- Streisinger, G., Walker, C., Dower, N., Knauber, D., & Singer, F. (1981). Production of clones of homozygous diploid zebra fish (Brachydanio rerio). *Nature*, 291(5813), 293-296. doi:10.1038/291293a0
- Stuart, G. W., McMurray, J. V., & Westerfield, M. (1988). Replication, integration and stable germ-line transmission of foreign sequences injected into early zebrafish embryos. *Development*, 103(2), 403-412.
- Su, Y., Shi, Y., Stolow, M. A., & Shi, Y. B. (1997). Thyroid hormone induces apoptosis in primary cell cultures of tadpole intestine: cell type specificity and effects of extracellular matrix. *J Cell Biol*, 139(6), 1533-1543. doi:10.1083/jcb.139.6.1533
- Sugden, W. W., Leonardo-Mendonça, R. C., Acuña-Castroviejo, D., & Siekmann, A. F. (2017). Genetic dissection of endothelial transcriptional activity of zebrafish aryl hydrocarbon receptors (AHRs). *PloS one*, *12*(8), e0183433. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0183433
- Sun, H., Lin, C. H., & Smith, M. E. (2011). Growth hormone promotes hair cell regeneration in the zebrafish (Danio rerio) inner ear following acoustic trauma. *PloS one*, 6(11), e28372. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0028372
- Sznajer, Y., Coldéa, C., Meire, F., Delpierre, I., Sekhara, T., & Touraine, R. L. (2008). A de novo SOX10 mutation causing severe type 4 Waardenburg syndrome without Hirschsprung disease. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 146(8), 1038-1041.
- Tahayato, A., Dollé, P., & Petkovich, M. (2003). Cyp26C1 encodes a novel retinoic acidmetabolizing enzyme expressed in the hindbrain, inner ear, first branchial arch and tooth buds during murine development. *Gene Expression Patterns*, *3*(4), 449-454.
- Takabe, P., Bart, G., Ropponen, A., Rilla, K., Tammi, M., Tammi, R., & Pasonen-Seppänen, S. (2015). Hyaluronan synthase 3 (HAS3) overexpression downregulates MV3 melanoma cell proliferation, migration and adhesion. *Exp Cell Res*, 337(1), 1-15. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2015.07.026
- Takeuchi, M., Matsuda, K., Yamaguchi, S., Asakawa, K., Miyasaka, N., Lal, P., ... Hibi, M. (2015). Establishment of Gal4 transgenic zebrafish lines for analysis of development of cerebellar neural circuitry. *Developmental Biology*, 397(1), 1-17. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2014.09.030
- Tallafuss, A., Hale, L. A., Yan, Y. L., Dudley, L., Eisen, J. S., & Postlethwait, J. H. (2006). Characterization of retinoid-X receptor genes rxra, rxrba, rxrbb and rxrg during zebrafish development. *Gene Expr Patterns*, 6(5), 556-565. doi:10.1016/j.modgep.2005.10.005

- Tanimoto, M., Ota, Y., Inoue, M., & Oda, Y. (2011). Origin of Inner Ear Hair Cells: Morphological and Functional Differentiation from Ciliary Cells into Hair Cells in Zebrafish Inner Ear. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(10), 3784-3794. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.5554-10.2011
- Tekin, M., Hişmi, B. Ö., Fitoz, S., Özdağ, H., Cengiz, F. B., Sırmacı, A., ... Yılmaz, S. T. (2007). Homozygous mutations in fibroblast growth factor 3 are associated with a new form of syndromic deafness characterized by inner ear agenesis, microtia, and microdontia. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 80(2), 338-344.
- Tekin, M., Öztürkmen Akay, H., Fitoz, S., Birnbaum, S., Cengiz, F., Sennaroğlu, L., . . . Şentürk, S. (2008). Homozygous FGF3 mutations result in congenital deafness with inner ear agenesis, microtia, and microdontia. *Clinical Genetics*, 73(6), 554-565.
- Tekin, M., Sırmacı, A., Yüksel-Konuk, B., Fitoz, S., & Sennaroğlu, L. (2009). A complex TFAP2A allele is associated with branchio-oculo-facial syndrome and inner ear malformation in a deaf child. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 149(3), 427-430.
- Teoh, S. T., Ogrodzinski, M. P., & Lunt, S. Y. (2020). UDP-Glucose 6-Dehydrogenase Knockout Impairs Migration and Decreases in vivo Metastatic Ability of Breast Cancer Cells. *bioRxiv*, 2020.2005.2030.125419. doi:10.1101/2020.05.30.125419
- Thisse, C., & Thisse, B. (2008). High-resolution in situ hybridization to whole-mount zebrafish embryos. *Nature protocols*, *3*(1), 59.
- Thompson, D. L., Gerlach-Bank, L. M., Barald, K. F., & Koenig, R. J. (2003). Retinoic acid repression of bone morphogenetic protein 4 in inner ear development. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23(7), 2277-2286. doi:10.1128/mcb.23.7.2277-2286.2003
- Tischfield, M. A., Bosley, T. M., Salih, M. A., Alorainy, I. A., Sener, E. C., Nester, M. J., ... Erickson, R. P. (2005). Homozygous HOXA1 mutations disrupt human brainstem, inner ear, cardiovascular and cognitive development. *Nature Genetics*, *37*(10), 1035-1037.
- Tsai, H., Hardisty, R. E., Rhodes, C., Kiernan, A. E., Roby, P., Tymowska-Lalanne, Z., . . . Brown, S. D. (2001). The mouse slalom mutant demonstrates a role for Jagged1 in neuroepithelial patterning in the organ of Corti. *Human molecular genetics*, 10(5), 507-512.
- Tsujikawa, S., Yamashita, T., Tomoda, K., Iwai, H., Kumazawa, H., Cho, H., & Kumazawa, T. (1993). Effects of acetazolamide on acid-base balance in the endolymphatic sac of the guinea pig. *Acta Otolaryngol Suppl, 500*, 50-53. doi:10.3109/00016489309126179
- Tsukamoto, K., Suzuki, H., Harada, D., Namba, A., Abe, S., & Usami, S.-i. (2003). Distribution and frequencies of PDS (SLC26A4) mutations in Pendred syndrome and nonsyndromic hearing loss associated with enlarged vestibular aqueduct: a unique spectrum of mutations in Japanese. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, *11*(12), 916-922.

- Umesono, K., & Evans, R. M. (1989). Determinants of target gene specificity for steroid/thyroid hormone receptors. *Cell*, *57*(7), 1139-1146.
- Van de Laar, I., Dooijes, D., Hoefsloot, L., Simon, M., Hoogeboom, J., & Devriendt, K. (2007). Limb anomalies in patients with CHARGE syndrome: An expansion of the phenotype. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 143A(22), 2712-2715. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.32008
- van der Velden, Y. U., Wang, L., Querol Cano, L., & Haramis, A.-P. G. (2013). The Polycomb Group Protein Ring1b/Rnf2 Is Specifically Required for Craniofacial Development. *PloS* one, 8(9), e73997. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0073997
- van Noesel, M. M., & Versteeg, R. (2004). Pediatric neuroblastomas: genetic and epigenetic 'danse macabre'. *Gene, 325*, 1-15.
- Villegas, H., Merker, H. J., Helling, K., Clarke, A. H., & Scherer, H. (2001). Electron microscopic studies of ion- and H2O-transporting epithelial cells in the horizontal ampulla of the pigeon. *Histol Histopathol*, 16(4), 1161-1174. doi:10.14670/hh-16.1161
- Vissers, L. E., van Ravenswaaij, C. M., Admiraal, R., Hurst, J. A., de Vries, B. B., Janssen, I. M., . . . Hamel, B. C. (2004). Mutations in a new member of the chromodomain gene family cause CHARGE syndrome. *Nature Genetics*, 36(9), 955-957.
- Vosshall, L. B., & Carandini, M. (2009). Sensory systems. *Current opinion in neurobiology*, 19(4), 343-344. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2009.08.002
- Wackym, P. A., Friberg, U., Bagger-Sjöbäck, D., Linthicum, F. H., Friedmann, I., & Rask-Andersen, H. (1987). Human endolymphatic sac: possible mechanisms of pressure regulation. *The Journal of Laryngology & Otology*, 101(8), 768-779. doi:10.1017/s0022215100102713
- Wada, H., Saiga, H., Satoh, N., & Holland, P. W. (1998). Tripartite organization of the ancestral chordate brain and the antiquity of placodes: insights from ascidian Pax-2/5/8, Hox and Otx genes. *Development*, 125(6), 1113. Retrieved from http://dev.biologists.org/content/125/6/1113.abstract
- Wada, T., Wakabayashi, Y., Takahashi, S., Ushiki, T., Kikkawa, Y., Yonekawa, H., & Kominami, R. (2001). A Point Mutation in a Cadherin Gene, Cdh23, Causes Deafness in a Novel Mutant, Waltzer Mouse Niigata. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 283*(1), 113-117. doi:10.1006/bbrc.2001.4724
- Waldman, E. H., Castillo, A., & Collazo, A. (2007). Ablation studies on the developing inner ear reveal a propensity for mirror duplications. *Dev Dyn*, 236(5), 1237-1248. doi:10.1002/dvdy.21144
- Walsh, E. C., & Stainier, D. Y. (2001). UDP-glucose dehydrogenase required for cardiac valve formation in zebrafish. *Science*, 293(5535), 1670-1673.

- Wang, T. J., Huang, C. B., Tsai, F. J., Wu, J. Y., Lai, R. B., & Hsiao, M. (2002). Mutation in the FGFR2 gene in a Taiwanese patient with Beare–Stevenson cutis gyrata syndrome. *Clinical Genetics*, 61(3), 218-221.
- Wang, W., Chan, E. K., Baron, S., Van De Water, T., & Lufkin, T. (2001). Hmx2 homeobox gene control of murine vestibular morphogenesis. *Development*, *128*(24), 5017-5029.
- Wang, W., Grimmer, J. F., Van De Water, T. R., & Lufkin, T. (2004). Hmx2 and Hmx3 homeobox genes direct development of the murine inner ear and hypothalamus and can be functionally replaced by Drosophila Hmx. *Developmental cell*, 7(3), 439-453.
- Wangemann, P. (1995). Comparison of ion transport mechanisms between vestibular dark cells and strial marginal cells. *Hearing Research*, 90(1-2), 149-157. doi:10.1016/0378-5955(95)00157-2
- Watanabe, H., & Yamada, Y. (1999). Mice lacking link protein develop dwarfism and craniofacial abnormalities. *Nature Genetics*, 21, 225-229.
- Waterman, R. E., & Bell, D. H. (1984). Epithelial fusion during early semicircular canal formation in the embryonic zebrafish, Brachydanio rerio. *The Anatomical Record*, 210(1), 101-114.
- Waxman, J. S., & Yelon, D. (2007). Comparison of the expression patterns of newly identified zebrafish retinoic acid and retinoid X receptors. *Developmental dynamics*, 236(2), 587-595. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.21049
- Webster, N., Jin, J. R., Green, S., Hollis, M., & Chambon, P. (1988). The yeast UASG is a transcriptional enhancer in human HeLa cells in the presence of the GAL4 transactivator. *Cell*, *52*(2), 169-178. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(88)90505-3
- Weigel, P. H., Hascall, V. C., & Tammi, M. (1997). Hyaluronan synthases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(22), 13997-14000.
- Weil, D., Levy, G., Sahly, I., Levi-Acobas, F., Blanchard, S., El-Amraoui, A., . . . Petit, C. (1996). Human myosin VIIA responsible for the Usher 1B syndrome: a predicted membrane-associated motor protein expressed in developing sensory epithelia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93(8), 3232-3237. doi:10.1073/pnas.93.8.3232
- Wesdorp, M., de Koning Gans, P. A., Schraders, M., Oostrik, J., Huynen, M. A., Venselaar, H., . . Voermans, N. (2018). Heterozygous missense variants of LMX1A lead to nonsyndromic hearing impairment and vestibular dysfunction. *Human genetics*, 137(5), 389-400.
- Westerfield, M. (1995). *The zebrafish book: a guide for the laboratory use of zebrafish* (*Brachydanio rerio*): University of Oregon press.

- Weston, A. D., Blumberg, B., & Underhill, T. M. (2003). Active repression by unliganded retinoid receptors in development: less is sometimes more. J Cell Biol, 161(2), 223-228. doi:10.1083/jcb.200211117
- Wever, E. G. (1974). The Evolution of Vertebrate Hearing. In N. W. D. Keidel W.D. (Ed.), *Auditory System. Handbook of Sensory Physiology* (Vol. 5). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer.
- White, J. A., Guo, Y.-D., Baetz, K., Beckett-Jones, B., Bonasoro, J., Hsu, K. E., . . . Petkovich, M. (1996). Identification of the retinoic acid-inducible all-trans-retinoic acid 4hydroxylase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(47), 29922-29927.
- White, J. C., Highland, M., Kaiser, M., & Clagett-Dame, M. (2000). Vitamin A deficiency results in the dose-dependent acquisition of anterior character and shortening of the caudal hindbrain of the rat embryo. *Dev Biol, 220*(2), 263-284. doi:10.1006/dbio.2000.9635
- Whitfield, T. (2000). The zebrafish anatomical dictionary. Entry on the inner ear, sensory patches, hair cells, semicircular canals, otoliths, statoacoustic ganglion and lateral line. *ZFIN. Available at: http://zfin.org/zf_info/anatomy/dict/current.html.*
- Whitfield, T. T., Granato, M., Van Eeden, F., Schach, U., Brand, M., Furutani-Seiki, M., . . . Jiang, Y.-J. (1996). Mutations affecting development of the zebrafish inner ear and lateral line. *Development*, 123(1), 241-254.
- Whitfield, T. T., Riley, B. B., Chiang, M.-Y., & Phillips, B. (2002). Development of the zebrafish inner ear. *Developmental dynamics*, 223(4), 427-458. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.10073
- Willy, P. J., & Mangelsdorf, D. J. (1998). Nuclear orphan receptors: the search for novel ligands and signaling pathways. In *Hormones and signaling* (pp. 307-358): Elsevier.
- Winata, C. L., Korzh, S., Kondrychyn, I., Zheng, W., Korzh, V., & Gong, Z. (2009).
 Development of zebrafish swimbladder: The requirement of Hedgehog signaling in specification and organization of the three tissue layers. *Developmental Biology*, 331(2), 222-236. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.04.035
- Winbo, A., & Rydberg, A. (2015). Vestibular dysfunction is a clinical feature of the Jervell and Lange-Nielsen Syndrome. Scandinavian Cardiovascular Journal, 49(1), 7-13. doi:10.3109/14017431.2014.988172
- Wolf, G. (2008). Retinoic acid as cause of cell proliferation or cell growth inhibition depending on activation of one of two different nuclear receptors. *Nutr Rev, 66*(1), 55-59. doi:10.1111/j.1753-4887.2007.00006.x
- Wright, T. J., & Mansour, S. L. (2003). Fgf3 and Fgf10 are required for mouse otic placode induction. *Development*, 130(15), 3379-3390. doi:10.1242/dev.00555

- Xi, J., Yue, J., & Yang, Z. (2015). Expression profiles of retinoic acid synthetases ALDH1As and metabolic enzymes CYP26s in adult and embryonic zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Genet Mol Res, 14*(2), 3948-3956. doi:10.4238/2015.April.27.9
- Xiang, M., Gan, L., Li, D., Chen, Z.-Y., Zhou, L., O'Malley, B. W., . . . Nathans, J. (1997). Essential role of POU–domain factor Brn-3c in auditory and vestibular hair cell development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 94(17), 9445-9450.
- Xu, P.-X., Adams, J., Peters, H., Brown, M. C., Heaney, S., & Maas, R. (1999). Eya1-deficient mice lack ears and kidneys and show abnormal apoptosis of organ primordia. *Nature Genetics*, 23(1), 113-117.
- Xu, Y., Zhang, H., Yang, H., Zhao, X., Lovas, S., & Lundberg, Y. W. (2010). Expression, functional, and structural analysis of proteins critical for otoconia development. *Dev Dyn*, 239(10), 2659-2673. doi:10.1002/dvdy.22405
- Yamamoto, P. K., de Souza, T. A., Antiorio, A. T., Zanatto, D. A., Garcia-Gomes, M. d. S. A., Alexandre-Ribeiro, S. R., . . . Massironi, S. M. (2019). Genetic and behavioral characterization of a Kmt2d mouse mutant, a new model for Kabuki Syndrome. *Genes*, *Brain and Behavior*, 18(8), e12568.
- Yang, C. H., Cheng, C. H., Chen, G. D., Liao, W. H., Chen, Y. C., Huang, K. Y., . . . Huang, C. J. (2011). Zona pellucida domain-containing protein β-tectorin is crucial for zebrafish proper inner ear development. *PloS one*, *6*(8), e23078. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0023078
- Yang, H., Zhao, X., Xu, Y., Wang, L., He, Q., & Lundberg, Y. W. (2011). Matrix recruitment and calcium sequestration for spatial specific otoconia development. *PloS one*, 6(5), e20498. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0020498
- Yariz, K. O., Duman, D., Zazo Seco, C., Dallman, J., Huang, M., Peters, T. A., ... Tekin, M. (2012). Mutations in OTOGL, encoding the inner ear protein otogelin-like, cause moderate sensorineural hearing loss. *Am J Hum Genet*, *91*(5), 872-882. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2012.09.011
- Yuan, Q., Yu, L., Shi, D., Ke, X., & Zhang, H. (2015). Anxiety and depression among patients with different types of vestibular peripheral vertigo. *Medicine*, 94(5), e453-e453. doi:10.1097/MD.0000000000453
- Zhang, H., Satyamoorthy, K., Herlyn, M., & Rosdahl, I. (2003). All- trans retinoic acid (atRA) differentially induces apoptosis in matched primary and metastatic melanoma cells a speculation on damage effect of atRA via mitochondrial dysfunction and cell cycle redistribution. *Carcinogenesis*, 24(2), 185-191. doi:10.1093/carcin/24.2.185
- Zhao, Q., Dobbs-McAuliffe, B., & Linney, E. (2005). Expression of cyp26b1 during zebrafish early development. *Gene Expression Patterns*, 5(3), 363-369. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.modgep.2004.09.011

- Zhao, X., Yang, H., Yamoah, E. N., & Lundberg, Y. W. (2007). Gene targeting reveals the role of Oc90 as the essential organizer of the otoconial organic matrix. *Dev Biol*, 304(2), 508-524. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2007.01.013
- Zheng, Q. Y., Yan, D., Ouyang, X. M., Du, L. L., Yu, H., Chang, B., . . . Liu, X. Z. (2004). Digenic inheritance of deafness caused by mutations in genes encoding cadherin 23 and protocadherin 15 in mice and humans. *Human molecular genetics*, 14(1), 103-111. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddi010
- Zheng, W., Huang, L., Wei, Z. B., Silvius, D., Tang, B., & Xu, P. X. (2003). The role of Six1 in mammalian auditory system development. *Development*, 130(17), 3989-4000. doi:10.1242/dev.00628
- Zou, D., Erickson, C., Kim, E.-H., Jin, D., Fritzsch, B., & Xu, P.-X. (2008). Eya1 gene dosage critically affects the development of sensory epithelia in the mammalian inner ear. *Human molecular genetics*, 17(21), 3340-3356.